UNRAVELING ARRHYTHMOGENESIS in CARDIAC SURGERY

Elisabeth M.J.P. Mouws

COLOFON

Layout & cover design:Design Your ThesisPrinting:Ridderprint B.V.ISBN:978-94-6375-068-4

www.designyourthesis.com www.ridderprint.nl

Copyright © 2018 by Elisabeth M. J. P. Mouws.

All rights reserved. Any unauthorized reprint or use of this material is prohibited. No part of this thesis may be reproduced, stored or transmitted in any form or by any means, without written permission of the author or, when appropriate, of the publishers of the publications.

UNRAVELING ARRHYTHMOGENESIS IN CARDIAC SURGERY

ONTRAFELEN VAN ARITMOGENESE IN HARTCHIRURGIE

PROEFSCHRIFT

ter verkrijging van de graad van doctor aan de Erasmus Universiteit Rotterdam op gezag van de rector magnificus

Prof. dr. R.C.M.E. Engels

en volgens besluit van het College voor Promoties. De openbare verdediging zal plaatsvinden op

vrijdag 23 november 2018 om 9:30 uur

Elisabeth Maria Johanna Petronella Mouws geboren te Bergen op Zoom

Erasmus University Rotterdam

Ezafuns

PROMOTIECOMMISSIE:

Promotoren:	Prof. dr. A.J.J.C. Bogers
	Prof. dr. N.M.S. de Groot

Overige leden: Prof. dr. J.W. Roos-Hesselink Prof. dr. ir. H. Boersma Prof. dr. R.J.M. Klautz

Financial support by the Dutch Heart Foundation for the publication of this thesis is gratefully acknowledged.

CONTENTS

	List of Abbreviations	9
01	General Introduction and Outline of the Thesis Elisabeth M.J.P. Mouws	13
02	Early Ventricular Tachyarrhythmias after Coronary Artery Bypass Grafting Surgery: Is It a Real Burden? Elisabeth M.J.P. Mouws*, Ameeta Yaksh*, Paul Knops, Charles Kik, Eric Boersma, Ad J.J.C. Bogers, Natasja M.S. de Groot (*shared first authorship) JOURNAL OF CARDIOLOGY. 2017; 70(3):263-270	45
03	Coexistence of Brady- and Tachyarrhythmias in Patients with Congenital Heart Disease Elisabeth M.J.P. Mouws, Danny Veen, Christophe P. Teuwen, Tanwier T.T.K. Ramdjan, Paul Knops, Marjolein van Reeven, Jolien W. Roos-Hesselink, Ad J.J.C. Bogers, Natasja M.S. de Groot SUBMITTED	69
04	Unrepaired Tetralogy of Fallot in a 61 Year Old Woman: a Rare Example of Excellent Natural Palliation Elisabeth M.J.P. Mouws, Natasja M.S. de Groot, Ad J.J.C. Bogers CHIRURGIA. 2017; 30(6):247-250	87
05	Coexistence of Tachyarrhythmias in Patients with Tetralogy of Fallot Elisabeth M.J.P. Mouws, Jolien W. Roos-Hesselink, Ad J.J.C. Bogers, Natasja M.S. de Groot HEART RHYTHM. 2018; 15(4):503-511	95
06	Progression of Late Post-Operative Atrial Fibrillation in Patients with Tetralogy of Fallot Tanwier T.T.K. Ramdjan*, Elisabeth M.J.P. Mouws*, Christophe P. Teuwen, Gustaf S. Sitorus, Charlotte A. Houck, Jolien W Roos-Hesselink, Ad J.J.C. Bogers, Natasja M.S. de Groot (*shared first authorship)	119

JOURNAL OF CARDIOVASCOLAR ELECTROPHTSIOLOGI. 2018; 29(1):50-

07	Tetralogy of Fallot in the Current Era: a Bright Future Ahead? Elisabeth M.J.P. Mouws, Natasja M.S. de Groot, Pieter C. van de Woestijne, Peter L. de Jong, Wim A. Helbing, Ingrid M. van Beynum, Ad J.J.C. Bogers SUBMITTED	139
08	Atrial Tachyarrhythmia in Congenital Heart Disease: Beyond The Suture Lines Elisabeth M.J.P. Mouws, Natasja M.S. de Groot CIRCULATION: ARRHYTHMIA & ELECTROPHYSIOLOGY. 2017; 10(9). PII: E005697	161
09	Concomitant Arrhythmia Surgery in Patients with Congenital Heart Disease Tanwier T.T.K. Ramdjan*, Elisabeth M.J.P. Mouws*, Charles Kik Jolien, W. Roos- Hesselink, Ad J.J.C. Bogers, Natasja M.S. de Groot (*shared first authorship) INTERACTIVE CARDIOVASCULAR AND THORACIC SURGERY, JUNE 2018	169
10	Intra-Operative Mapping of the Atria: the First Step towards Individualization of Atrial Fibrillation Therapy? Charles Kik, Elisabeth M.J.P. Mouws, Ad J.J.C. Bogers, Natasja M.S. de Groot EXPERT REVIEW OF CARDIOVASCULAR THERAPY. 2017; 15(7):537-545	189
11	Impact of Ischemic and Valvular Heart Disease on Atrial Excitation: A High- Resolution Epicardial Mapping Study Elisabeth M.J.P. Mouws, Eva A.H. Lanters, Christophe P. Teuwen, Lisette J.M.E. van der Does, Charles Kik, Paul Knops, Ameeta Yaksh, Jos A. Bekkers, Ad J.J.C. Bogers, Natasja M.S. de Groot JOURNAL OF THE AMERICAN HEART ASSOCIATION. 2018; 7(6). PII: E008331	211
12	Conduction Properties across Bachmann's Bundle during Sinus Rhythm: Impact of Underlying Heart Disease and Previous Atrial Fibrillation Christophe P. Teuwen, Lisette J.M.E. van der Does, Charles Kik, Elisabeth M.J.P. Mouws, Eva A.H. Lanters, Paul Knops, Yannick J.H.J. Taverne, Ad J.J.C. Bogers, Natasja M.S. de Groot SUBMITTED	235
13	Epicardial Breakthrough Waves during Sinus Rhythm: Depiction of the Arrhythmogenic Substrate? Elisabeth M.J.P Mouws, Eva A.H. Lanters, Christophe P. Teuwen, Lisette J.M.E. van der Does, Charles Kik, Paul Knops, Jos A. Bekkers, Ad J.J.C. Bogers, Natasja M.S. de Groot CIRCULATION: ARRHYTHMIA & ELECTROPHYSIOLOGY, 2017: 10(9). PII: E005145	255

14	Quantification of the Arrhythmogenic Effects of Spontaneous Atrial Extrasystole using High-Resolution Epicardial Mapping Christophe P. Teuwen, Charles Kik, Lisette J.M.E. van der Does, Eva A.H. Lanters, Paul Knops, Elisabeth M.J.P. Mouws, Ad J.J.C. Bogers, Natasja M.S. de Groot CIRCULATION: ARRHYTHMIA & ELECTROPHYSIOLOGY 2018; 11(1). PII: E005745	279
15	Impact of the Arrhythmogenic Potential of Long Lines of Conduction Slowing at the Pulmonary Vein Area Elisabeth M.J.P. Mouws, Lisette J.M.E. van der Does, Charles Kik, Eva A.H. Lanters, Christophe P. Teuwen, Paul Knops, Ad J.J.C. Bogers, Natasja M.S. de Groot SUBMITTED	303
16	Novel Insights in the Activation Patterns at the Pulmonary Vein Area Elisabeth M.J.P. Mouws, Charles Kik, Lisette J.M.E. van der Does, Eva A.H. Lanters, Christophe P. Teuwen, Paul Knops, Ad J.J.C. Bogers, Natasja M.S. de Groot SUBMITTED	325
17	General Discussion Elisabeth M.J.P. Mouws	347
18	English Summary Elisabeth M.J.P. Mouws	379
19	Nederlandse Samenvatting Elisabeth M.J.P. Mouws	393
20	Appendices List of Publications PhD portfolio About the Author Dankwoord	409 415 419 421

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

1-VD	Single vessel disease
2-VD	Double vessel disease
3-VD	Triple vessel disease
95%CI	95% confidence interval
AAD	Antiarrhythmic drugs
AARCC	Alliance for adult research in congenital cardiology
ACE	Angiotensin converting enzyme
AES	Atrial extrasystoles
AF	Atrial fibrillation
AFL	Atrial flutter
AG-II	Angiotensin-II
APVR	Anomalous pulmonary venous return
ASD	Atrial septal defect
AT	Atrial tachycardia
AVCB (-I, -II, -III)	Atrioventricular conduction block (first, second, third degree)
AVD	Aortic valve disease
В	Regression coefficient for linear regression
BAV	Bicuspid aortic valve
BB	Bachmann's bundle
BMI	Body mass index (kg/m2)
BSA	Body surface area (m2)
CA	Conduction abnormalities
CABG	Coronary artery bypass grafting surgery
CAD	Coronary artery disease
CAVSD	Complete atrioventricular septum defect
СВ	Conduction block (< 17cm/s)
ccTGA	Congenitally corrected transposition of the great arteries
CD	Conduction delay (< 29cm/s)
CDCB	Conduction delay and conduction block connected to each other
CHD	Congenital heart disease
CL	Cycle length
CoA	Aortic coarctation
COPD	Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease
Cpz-files	Compoz-files
CRYO	Cryothermal
CVA	Cerebrovascular accident
DCRV	Double chambered right ventricle
DORV	Double outlet right ventricle
EB	Epicardial breakthrough, see also EBW
EBW	Epicardial breakthrough wave
ECG	Electrocardiograph
ECV	Electrical cardioversion
EEA	Endo-epicardial asynchrony
ESC	European Society of Cardiology
h	Hour

HIFU	High intensity focused ultrasound
HR	Hazard ratio
HRS	Heart Rhythm Society
Hz	Herz
IART	Intra-atrial reentrant tachycardia
ICD	Implantable cardioverter defibrillator
ICV	Inferior caval vein
IHD	Ischemic heart disease
(i)VHD	(Ischemic and) valvular heart disease
IIC	Inferior intercaval
IL	Inferolateral
IQR	Interquartile range
ISHNE	International Society for Holter and Noninvasive Electrocardiology
JET	Junctional ectopic tachycardia
LA	Left atrium
LAA	Left atrial appendage
LAD	Left anterior descending artery
LAVG	Left atrioventricular groove
LGE-MRI	Late gadolinium enhancement magnetic resonance imaging
LM+1-VD	Left main artery + single vessel disease
LM+2-VD	Left main artery + double vessel disease
LM+3-VD	Left main artery + triple vessel disease
LV	Left ventricle
LVA	Low voltage area
LVEF	Left ventricular ejection fraction
LVF	Left ventricular function
max	Maximum
mcg	Microgram
mg	Milligram
min	Minimum
MRI	Millicecond
m\/	Millivelt
MVD	Millivoit
MWA	Microwaye
nsVT	Non-sustained ventricular tachycardia
NYHA	New York Heart Association
OHCA	Out of hospital cardiac arrest
OR	Odds ratio
p10	10th percentile
p90	90th percentile
PA	Pulmonary atresia
pAVSD	Partial atrioventricular septal defect/ ASD primum
PM	Pacemaker
PR	Pulmonary regurgitation
PS	Pulmonary stenosis

10

PV	Pulmonary valve (context dependent)
PV	Pulmonary veins (context dependent)
PVA	Pulmonary vein area, (i.e. left atrial posterior and inferior wall)
PVC	Premature ventricular complex (ventricular premature beat)
PVD	Pulmonary valve disease
PVI	Pulmonary vein isolation
PVL	Pulmonary vein left
PVR	Pulmonary vein right
RA	Right atrium
RAA	Right atrial appendage
RBBB	Right bundle branch block
RF	Radiofrequency
RV	Right ventricle
RVEDV	Right ventricular end diastolic volume
RVEF	Right ventricular ejection fraction
RVF	Right ventricular function
RVOT	Right ventricular outflow tract
s	Second
SCD	Sudden cardiac death
SCV	Superior caval vein
SD	Standard deviation
SIC	Superior intercaval
SL	Superolateral
SNBW	Sinus node breakthrough wave
SND	Sinus node dysfunction
SR	Sinus rhythm
SVcouplet	Supraventricular couplet
SVPB	Supraventricular premature beat
SVrun	Supraventricular run
SVT	Supraventricular tachycardia
sVT	Sustained ventricular tachycardia
ТА	Truncus arteriosus
ТАР	Transannular patch
TGA	Transposition of the great arteries
ТоҒ	Tetralogy of Fallot
UVH	Univentricular heart
Vcouplet	Ventricular couplet
VD	Ventricular dysrhythmia
VF	Ventricular fibrillation
VHD	Valvular heart disease
VPB	Ventricular premature beat
Vrun	Ventricular run
VSD	Ventricular septum defect
VT	Ventricular tachycardia
VTA	Ventricular tachyarrhythmia





GENERAL INTRODUCTION AND OUTLINE OF THE THESIS

Elisabeth M.J.P. Mouws

GENERAL INTRODUCTION

As the life expectancy of our population continues to increase, the incidence of arrhythmias will continue to increase as well. The main subject of this thesis is the development, time course and underlying mechanisms of supraventricular and ventricular tachyarrhythmias, including atrial fibrillation (AF), other supraventricular tachyarrhythmias, ventricular tachycardia (VT) and ventricular fibrillation (VF).

In this chapter, epidemiology and characteristics of various tachyarrhythmias will be briefly discussed, as well as their incidence among specific patient populations. In addition, an overview of the current treatment modalities for atrial fibrillation and their limitations is provided. Subsequently, several studies contributing to the physiological and pathophysiological understanding of sinus rhythm and arrhythmia development will be summarized and an outline of this thesis and its corresponding aims will be provided.

Atrial fibrillation

At present, AF is the most common tachyarrhythmia and is even becoming a worldwide epidemic. Prevalence varies from 3% in the population \geq 20-years increasing up to 10% of the population \geq 70-years.^{1–5} The upper panel of Figure 1 displays the prevalence of AF as reported in a large Dutch cohort study; AF prevalence increased from 0.7% in 55-59 year olds to 17.8% of the population \geq 85years.² At present, the lifetime risk for development of AF is 25% in 40-year old adults³ and estimates are that by 2030, the European Union will count 14–17 million AF patients, with 120,000–215,000 newly diagnosed patients per year.⁵

AF is characterized by rapid and irregular atrial activation and diagnosis usually entails an electrocardiogram (ECG) or rhythm strip demonstrating irregular R-R intervals, no distinct p-wave and an atrial cycle length that is usually less than 200ms, as shown in the lower panel of Figure 1.⁶⁻⁹ Based on previous literature, sustained AF is defined as episodes lasting for at least 30 seconds.⁵

Several classification systems exist for AF, yet for this thesis, the most common classification following the current guidelines for the management of patients with AF was used.⁵ Paroxysmal AF is defined as AF that terminates spontaneously or with intervention within 7 days of onset. Persistent AF is defined as a continuous AF episode that is sustained beyond 7 days and long-standing persistent AF is defined as a continuous AF episode lasting beyond 12 months. The term permanent AF is used when the presence of the AF is accepted by the patient and physician, and no further attempts are made to either restore or maintain

sinus rhythm. Hence, this term represents a therapeutic attitude of both the patient and their physician and does not necessarily reflect a more severe pathophysiological attribute of the AF.



Figure 1. Atrial fibrillation

Upper panel: prevalence of AF per age category as reported in a large Dutch cohort study.

Lower panel: Electrocardiogram showing AF with a ventricular frequency of 72bpm; note the rapid and irregular atrial activation without discrete identifiable p-waves on the surface electrocardiogram.

Supraventricular tachyarrhythmia

Besides AF, various other supraventricular tachyarrhythmia exist that are often referred to by the umbrella term supraventricular tachycardia (SVT). The estimated prevalence of SVT in the general population is 2.29 per 1,000 persons.¹⁰ In the United States, approximately 89,000 people are newly diagnosed with paroxysmal SVT each year, resulting in a total number of 570,000 patients.¹⁰

SVT include tachyarrhythmias involving the His bundle or the tissue above, i.e. inappropriate sinus tachycardia, focal and multifocal atrial tachycardia (AT), macroreentrant AT, junctional tachycardia, AV-nodal reentry tachycardia, and various forms of accessory pathway-mediated reentrant tachycardias.¹¹

In this thesis, SVT generally included either focal AT, or macroreentrant AT consisting of atrial flutter or intra-atrial reentrant tachycardia. Focal AT arises from a localized site within the atrium and is generally characterized by a regular, organized atrial activity with discrete p-waves.¹¹ Multifocal AT is characterized by an irregular rhythm with 3 or more distinct p-wave morphologies activating the atria at different rates.¹¹

Macroreentrant AT consists of typical and atypical atrial flutter (AFL). Typical AFL is also known as cavotricuspid isthmus-dependent flutter.¹¹ Figure 2 provides a schematic view of the reentry pathway of a typical AFL, in which the AT propagates in a counter-clockwise fashion around the tricuspid annulus, proceeding superiorly along the atrial septum, inferiorly along the right atrial wall, and through the cavotricuspid isthmus between the tricuspid valve annulus and the Eustachian valve and ridge.¹¹ This activation sequence produces predominantly negative "saw tooth" flutter waves on the ECG in leads 2, 3, and aVF and a late positive deflection in V1.¹¹ Figure 2 also displays the 4 ECG characteristics of a typical counter-clockwise AFL, including a slowly descending component, a rapid negative deflection, a sharp upstroke and a minor overshoot. Most often, the atrial rate is around 300bpm. In case of a clockwise propagation through the above described pathway, also called reverse typical AFL, flutter waves are positive in the inferior leads and negative in V1.¹¹ In addition, there are atypical AFL, which do not involve the cavotricuspid isthmus. Often the reentrant circuit involves the mitral valve annular or scar tissue. Mostly, these arrhythmia will be referred to as intra-atrial reentrant tachycardia (IART).¹¹

Ventricular tachyarrhythmia

Approximately 25% of deaths due to cardiovascular disease is comprised of sudden cardiac death (SCD).¹² The risk of SCD increases with age since the incidence of coronary artery disease also increases with age.¹³ SCD rates vary from 1.40 per 100,000 person-years in women to 6.68 per 100,000 person-years in men.¹³ An important cause of SCD are ventricular tachyarrhythmias, including ventricular tachycardia (VT) and ventricular fibrillation (VF).

VT are the most common broad complex tachyarrhythmia which can be distinguished from SVT with aberrancy by, among other factors, AV-dissociation, extreme axis deviation with a positive QRS in aVR and absence of a typical right or left bundle branch block (RBBB, LBBB) pattern, as shown in the upper panel of Figure 3.



Figure 2. Typical cavotricuspid isthmus dependent atrial flutter.

Upper panel: Electrocardiogram showing a typical atrial flutter with 2:1 block. ECG characteristics of a typical atrial flutter include 1) a slowly descending component, 2) a rapid negative deflection, 3) a sharp upstroke and 4) a minor overshoot. Lower panel: schematic representation of the reentry pathway of a typical atrial flutter. The conduction propagates in a counter-clockwise fashion around the tricuspid annulus, proceeding superiorly along the atrial septum, inferiorly along the right atrial wall, and through the cavotricuspid isthmus between the tricuspid valve annulus and the Eustachian valve and ridge.

SCV: superior caval vein, ICV: inferior caval vein, CTI: cavotricuspid isthmus.



Figure 3. Ventricular tachycardia

Upper panel: Electrocardiogram showing a ventricular tachycardia with a frequency of 166bpm. Lower panel: Catheter ablation of a VT in a patient with a left ventricular aneurysm (LVA). Mapping during VT revealed the earliest activation relative to the onset of the QRS complex within the aneurysm. The VT terminated during RF application (RF).

RV: right ventricle, LV: left ventricle

Most often they arise from the ventricular outflow tracts.^{14–17} The right ventricular outflow tract is the most common origin of idiopathic VT, accounting for 70% of cases.¹⁷ Other observed origins of VT consist of the left ventricular outflow tract^{18–20}, the sinuses of Valsalva^{21,22}, the epicardial myocardium^{18,20,23}, the aorta-mitral continuity²⁴, the great cardiac veins^{18,20} and the pulmonary trunk.²⁵ VT arising from the outflow tract often occur in patients with structurally normal hearts and have a focal mechanism secondary to automaticity, micro-reentry or triggered activity.²⁶ In addition, specific congenital defects may cause VT to occur as well. The lower panel of Figure 5 displays an example of catheter ablation of a VT in a 19-year-old male patient with a surgically corrected congenital left ventricular aneurysm who developed non-sustained VT which progressed to sustained VTs within 3 years. Mapping during VT revealed the earliest activation relative to the onset of the QRS complex within the aneurysm. The VT terminated during radiofrequency ablation.

Aside from VT, VF may occur, presenting as an irregular broad complex tachycardia on surface ECG. Several studies have investigated the mechanisms of VF development. In the structurally normal heart, it has been reported that VF is maintained by a small number of stable reentrant sources.

Underlying heart disease and arrhythmia development

Coronary artery disease

To date, coronary artery disease (CAD) is the most common cardiovascular disease worldwide.²⁷ In the Netherlands, the prevalence of CAD is estimated at approximately 740,000 patients.²⁸ In 2016, 38,000 patients presented with newly diagnosed pectoral angina, another 69,000 patients had an acute myocardial infarction and 15,000 patients were diagnosed with chronic ischemic heart disease.²⁸ The prevalence of angina pectoris, acute myocardial infarction and chronic ischemic heart disease was respectively 416,500, 227,200 and 201,000.²⁸

Since CAD shares multiple risk factors with AF, various studies have investigated the association between these two conditions.²⁹⁻⁴⁰ Among AF patients, the reported prevalence of CAD ranges from 13% to 47%.²⁹⁻³⁷ In both the ROCKET-AF trial and the RELY-trial, the incidence of CAD in AF patients was 17%.^{34,35} Similar incidences were observed by Van Gelder et al., who investigated occurrence of CAD among patients with permanent AF.³⁶ Slightly lower percentages were observed by Kralev et al., who reported stable CAD in 13% of patients undergoing coronary angiography.³⁷ In this study, the subset of patients with permanent AF was around 30% in both patients with and without CAD.³⁷ In contrast, Lip et al. observed a 47% prevalence of CAD in AF patients.³¹ Vice versa however, the prevalence of AF among patients with diagnosed CAD remains low varying from 0.2 to 5%.³⁸⁻⁴⁰

In patients with CAD, VT mainly occur in the phase of an acute coronary syndrome as acute ischemia results in electrical instability.⁴¹ In a study by Dumas et al., almost 50% of patients presenting with an out-of-hospital-cardiac-arrest due to VF demonstrated ST-elevation on the ECG as a sign acute myocardial infarction, of whom in majority of cases at least one significant coronary lesion was found on acute coronary angiogram.⁴² Additionally, up to 6% of patients with acute coronary syndrome develop VT or VF within 48 hours after the start of clinical symptoms.⁴³ Often, this is before or during reperfusion of the myocardium.⁴³

Valvular heart disease

Compared to patients with ischemic heart disease, patients with valvular heart disease (VHD) have a higher prevalence of AF. More importantly, VHD has been identified as an independent predictor of AF.⁴⁴ In early studies of medically treated patients with rheumatic mitral valve stenosis, AF occurred in 30-40% of patients.^{45–47} In patients with mitral regurgitation, AF is reported in 18-48%, though occurs in up to 75% of patients >65 years with LA dilation.⁴⁸ Nowadays, VHD has been reported in 30% of AF patients.⁴⁹ In patients with severe VHD undergoing aortic or mitral valve surgery, AF leads to worse prognosis due to an increased stroke risk, as VHD in itself contains a higher risk of thromboembolic events.⁴⁹ Furthermore, VHD and AF sustain each other by volume and pressure overload, tachycardiomyopathy and neurohumoral factors, leading a vicious cycle.^{49–51} AF can thereby also be regarded as an indication of progressive valvular disease and may imply a necessity for valve repair or replacement.⁵²

Ventricular tachyarrhythmia may also occur in patients with VHD. Underlying causes include concomitant ischemic heart disease, myocardial infarction, severe LV hypertrophy and adrenergic-dependent rhythm disturbances. Occurrence of VT is however not an indication for valvular surgery. In patients with aortic stenosis, the risk of sudden cardiac death is approximately 1-1.5% per year.⁵³ A large study on patients with mitral regurgitation showed no increased risk of sudden cardiac death.⁵⁴

Congenital heart disease

Over the past decades, surgical techniques particularly for patients with congenital heart disease (CHD) have improved, resulting in increased survival of CHD patients. Arrhythmia development in these populations is an increasing problem.

CHD patients comprise a highly specific, growing population. Of all major congenital anomalies, nearly a third is comprised of CHD, which has an estimated overall birth prevalence of 9 per 1,000 live births based on reports of the past 20 years.⁵⁵ CHD is defined as "a gross structural abnormality of the heart or intrathoracic great vessels that is actually

Chapter 1

or potentially of functional significance', as proposed by Mitchel et al. in the early '70's.⁵⁶ At this moment, 90% of CHD patients is expected to survive into adulthood in high income countries. In Table 1, reported incidences of various CHD are displayed.^{55–58}

CHD	Incidence per 1,000 live births
Mitral valve insufficiency	0.05
Aortic valve stenosis	0.22-0.40
Pulmonary valve stenosis	0.50-0.73
Patent ductus arteriosus	0.62-0.87
Atrial septal defect	0.94-1.64
Ventricular septal defect	2.37-3.57
Atrioventricular septal defect	0.35
Coronary artery anomaly	0.12
Total anomalous pulmonary venous return	0.08
Coarctation of the aorta	0.34-0.41
Ebstein's Anomaly	0.08-0.11
Interrupted aortic arch	0.11
Tetralogy of Fallot	0.24-0.42
Double outlet right ventricle	0.09-0.16
Mitral atresia	0.27
Pulmonary atresia	0.08-0.12
Tricuspid atresia	0.08-0.10
Transposition of the great arteries	0.20-0.32
Congenitally corrected transposition of the great arteries	0.04
Truncus arteriosus	0.11-0.16
Single ventricle	0.05-0.11
Hypoplastic left heart syndrome	0.08-0.27
Hypoplastic right heart syndrome	0.22

Table 1. Reported incidences of various congenital heart defects

In CHD patients undergoing cardiac surgery, SVT are common late complications⁵⁹, mostly consisting of atrial macro-reentrant tachycardias, including IART and atrial flutter (AFL).^{5,60-63} IART most often originate from the right atrium⁶⁰, usually involving the right atriotomy scar, inserted prosthetic materials such as atriopulmonary conduits, intra-atrial baffles or septal patches. IART originating from the left atrium occur less frequently and have mainly been reported in patients with atrial septal defect (ASD), transposition of the great arteries (TGA),

univentricular heart (UVH) and tetralogy of Fallot (ToF). Reports on development of AF in patients with CHD are rare, though AF is nowadays increasingly observed due to ageing of the CHD population.^{64,65}

In addition, VT are presumed a leading cause of SCD in CHD patients and occur more frequently in patients with coarctation of the aorta (CoA), TGA, ToF, aortic valve stenosis (AS), Ebstein's anomaly and double outlet right ventricle (DORV).⁵⁹ However, the incidence of sustained VT in adult CHD patients is low with an estimated risk 0.1 to 0.2% per year.⁵⁹

VT in CHD patients are often caused by macro-reentry around areas of scar tissue or suture lines created during cardiac surgery, but they may also be caused by stretch-induced automaticity or triggered activity. Additionally, the longstanding post-operative ventricular pressure/volume overload induces ventricular remodeling facilitating development of intra-ventricular conduction abnormalities and hence arrhythmias. The first-choice treatment modality for CHD patients with VT to prevent SCD is implantation of an ICD; pharmacotherapy and catheter ablation may serve as adjunctive therapies to reduce recurrent ICD discharges.

In this thesis we investigate time course and coexistence of tachyarrhythmias in CHD patients, with particular interest for ToF patients. Various studies have investigated incidences of supraventricular and ventricular tachyarrhythmias, reporting SVT incidences varying from 3% to 34% and VT from 5% to 24%, depending on follow-up time and study design.^{66–71} However, the coexistence of these arrhythmias and their influence on survival remained largely unknown.

In addition, surgical and perioperative management have undergone significant improvements over the past decades, particularly for ToF patients. So far, only a few studies reported on intermediate or late outcome of the transatrial-transpulmonary approach in the current era of surgical management, which often had follow-up durations less than 5 years.^{72–75} Therefore, we examined current early at late surgical outcome of ToF patients with up to 17 year follow-up.

Tachyarrhythmia in the early postoperative phase

Following the high prevalence of coronary artery disease, surgical treatment by coronary artery bypass grafting surgery is one of the most frequently performed major surgeries. Each year, approximately 17,000 cardiothoracic surgical procedures are performed in the Netherlands and this number is steadily rising with 1% per year.⁷⁶

During the early postoperative phase, various tachyarrhythmia may occur, of which AF remains the most frequently observed arrhythmia in both patients undergoing coronary artery bypass grafting (CABG) surgery, as in patients undergoing valvular heart surgery. Over the past years, various studies have investigated the incidence of postoperative de novo AF after CABG and after valvular heart surgery. In patients undergoing CABG surgery, reported incidences generally vary between 15% and 45%^{77–79}, whereas in patients undergoing valvular heart surgery, incidences of postoperative AF are slightly higher, ranging from 30% to over 60%.^{80–83}

In a study by Creswell et al., postoperative AF was reported in 32% of patients after CABG, 42% of patients after mitral valve replacement, in 49% after aortic valve replacement, and in 62% after combined CABG and valve procedures.⁸¹ Yet, this study did not distinguish between patients with and without a preoperative history of AF. Asher et al. analyzed the incidence of de novo postoperative AF in a cohort of 915 patients undergoing isolated valvular surgery, isolated CABG surgery and combined CABG and valvular surgery.⁸³ They reported postoperative AF in 25% after aortic valve repair, 37% in aortic valve replacement, 38% in mitral valve repair, 35% in mitral valve replacement, 53% in combined mitral valve and aortic valve surgery.⁸³ Overall incidence of AF after valvular surgery was 37%, whereas the incidence of AF after isolated CABG surgery was 28%.⁸³ In patients undergoing combined CABG and valvular surgery, they observed de novo postoperative AF in 41% of patients.⁸³

The variation in observed incidences of AF is mainly due to differences in means of detection and in-or exclusion criteria of patients and surgical procedures. However, incidence of postoperative AF may also change over decades since the characteristics of the patient population undergoing CABG surgery also changed over time. Furthermore, strategies for postoperative AF prevention, for instance with the administration of betablockers, are nowadays widely applied.

In a more recent study, Fillardo et al. reported the incidence of de novo postoperative AF in >11,000 patients undergoing isolated CABG.⁸⁴ Patient were continuously monitored via ECG-telemetry during the postoperative phase for a median of 7 days.⁸⁴ Postoperative de novo AF occurred in 33.1% of patients.⁸⁴ Among the patients with AF, their first AF episode occurred on median 52 hours after surgery and lasted for 7.2 hours.⁸⁴ Per patient, the longest AF episode was scored, which lasted on median 13.1 hours. During postoperative admission, patients spent 22 hours in AF.⁸⁴

Although the exact underlying mechanism of postoperative de novo AF remains unresolved, it is likely a multifactorial process influenced by surgical factors, patients characteristics, anesthesia and postoperative course.⁸⁰ After cardiac surgery, patients are exposed to

various physiological changes such as vasoplegia, large fluid shifts, systemic inflammatory processes, a high sympathetic state with catecholamine release and neurohumoral activation.^{80,85,86} These factors may all promote the development of tachyarrhythmia.

It has been suggested that surgical manipulation contributes to abnormal atrial conduction and alterations in refractoriness which may lead to development of reentry wavelets resulting in AF.⁸⁰ Furthermore, studies have suggested that, despite adequate cardioplegia, the atria may still be electrically active and thereby prone for ischemia and subsequent arrhythmia development.⁸⁷ In addition, coronary lesions in the coronary arteries supplying the atria have been reported as an independent predictor for postoperative AF after CABG.^{88,89}

Incidence of VT or VF after cardiac surgery fortunately is low, varying from 0.95% to 5% depending on study design, cut-off values and patient characteristics.^{90–93} In case VF occurs intra-operatively or within the first 24 hours, it is likely the caused by the transient effects of reperfusion, electrolyte and acid-base disturbance or the use of inotropic drugs. Patients presenting polymorphic VT or VF often have associated myocardial ischemia, whereas patients with monomorphic VT often have ventricular scar tissue due to an old myocardial infarction.⁹⁴ Studies have identified several risk factors for postoperative VT, including prior myocardial infarction, ventricular scar, left ventricular dysfunction, and placement of a bypass graft across a non-collateralized occluded coronary vessel to a chronic infarct zone.⁹⁵

So far, the incidence of ventricular dysrhythmias including ventricular premature beats, ventricular couplet and ventricular runs was unknown, since studies had only investigated sustained VT and VF in the early postoperative phase after CABG surgery.^{90–93} In Chapter 2 of this thesis, the answer to this hiatus will be provided.

Treatment of atrial fibrillation

Since AF is becoming a worldwide epidemic, the urgency for curative treatment of particularly this arrhythmia is increasing. Currently, AF therapy consists of two main pillars: rate control and rhythm control.

Rate control is mainly achieved by class 2 antiarrhythmic drugs, though diltiazem/verapamil and digoxin may also be considered as additional agents.⁴⁹ Amiodarone can be used for rate control as well, yet must be reserved as a last resort therapy due to its extracardiac side effects.⁴⁹ If all drugs fail to achieve rate control and patients are symptomatic, his bundle ablation and VVI pacemaker implantation may be the final choice.⁴⁹

Rhythm control can be achieved by various means. First of all, chemical cardioversion by antiarrhythmic drugs can be attempted, often by use of amiodarone or flecainide.⁴⁹ Chemical cardioversion is reported successful in approximately 50% of patients with recent AF.^{96,97} In the acute setting of hemodynamic instability due to AF, electrocardioversion can be performed to restore sinus rhythm.⁴⁹

For long-term rhythm control, the use of antiarrhythmic drugs is reported to double sinus rhythm maintenance compared to no antiarrhythmic drugs.^{98–102} Frequently used drugs include amiodarone, dronedarone, flecainide, propafenone and sotalol.⁴⁹ However, the presence of comorbidities, cardiovascular risk and potential for serious proarrhythmia, extracardiac toxic effects, patient preferences, and symptom burden have to be taken into account when prescribing antiarrhythmic drugs for long-term treatment.⁴⁹ Furthermore, catheter ablation of AF has become a commonly performed procedure in patients with refractory AF despite drug therapy.⁸ The corner stone of AF ablation is isolation of the pulmonary veins.⁸ Additional ablation of targets at the left atrial posterior wall such as low voltage areas or fractionated potentials may be performed as well.⁸

Unfortunately, present treatment of AF remains unsatisfactory and therapy outcomes are difficult to predict for the individual patient.^{103,104} Most patients require multiple procedures to achieve symptom control.¹⁰⁴ Ganesan et al. performed a meta-analysis on long-term success rates of ablation therapy for AF and reported a 12-month single procedure success rate of 67% for paroxysmal AF and only 52% for non-paroxysmal AF.¹⁰⁴ Long-term success rates based on follow-up durations ranging from 28 to 71 months were 54% for paroxysmal AF and 42% for non-paroxysmal AF.¹⁰⁴ In addition, progression of AF from a trigger driver to a more substrate driven disease is accompanied with increased therapy failure.^{104,105}

Failure of AF therapy is largely due to insufficient knowledge of the underlying mechanisms of AF in individual patients. In patients with AF recurrences after PVI, therapy of AF remains thus challenging as there are at present no curative treatment modalities available.

Mechanism of atrial fibrillation

Almost two centuries ago, the discovery of the main anatomy of the cardiac conduction system was initiated by J.E. Purkinje, who in 1839 discovered a net of fibers in the subendocardium of the ventricles, which was from then on known as the Purkinje system. Decades later, in 1880, W. Gaskell discovered the rhythmic abilities of the sinus venosus and proposed this site as the origin of cardiac impulse. Over a decade later, a conducting bundle between the atrium and the ventricle was found by W. His in 1893, followed by the discovery the atrioventricular node in 1906 by S. Tawara. Later that year, the collaboration of A. Keith and M. Flack led to discovery of the sinus node, answering the mystery of the beating

heart.^{106,107} These important historical discoveries were further expanded by the discovery of Bachmann's bundle in 1916, finalizing the main electrical system of the heart.¹⁰⁸ From then on, numerous studies have been performed on the various aspects of the physiology and pathophysiology of cardiac conduction. Yet, the underlying mechanism of AF still remains a challenging topic. In general, arrhythmia may occur due to abnormal impulse generation, including automaticity or triggered activity, or due to abnormal impulse conduction, including reentry mechanisms.

In 1998, Haissaguere et al. demonstrated bursts of rapid ectopic beats originating from the muscular sleeves of the pulmonary veins as triggers for spontaneous paroxysmal AF.¹⁰⁹ However, perpetuation and progression of AF seems to be subject to other electrophysiological mechanisms.^{110,111}

Figure 4 provides a schematic view of some of the proposed mechanisms of AF. One of the first studies aimed at examining the underlying substrate of AF perpetuation was performed in 1959 by Moe et al., who postulated the Multiple Wavelet Hypothesis.¹¹² In canine atria they demonstrated how AF could be the result of multiple atrial reentrant circuits with separate sites of initiation.¹¹² In his theory, the likelihood of AF persistence was assumed to increase when the average number of wavelets increased.¹¹² Also, an appropriate atrial substrate had to be present, consisting of a certain atrial size and mass, conduction velocity and tissue refractory period.¹¹² In case of a combination of these factors, the wavefronts could continuously re-excite the atrial myocardium, resulting in AF.¹¹² This hypothesis was further strengthened by the observations of Allessie et al. in canine atria during induced AF.¹¹³ In this study, the number of wavelets necessary for AF perpetuation was estimated between three and six.¹¹³ Furthermore, in a subsequent study on the effects of antiarrhythmic drugs on the canine atrial myocardium, termination of AF was indeed correlated with a decrease in the number of simultaneous reentrant wavelets.^{114,115}

In addition, more recent epicardial mapping studies of human persistent AF demonstrated a large amount of focal waves, which appeared in the center of the mapping area and could not be explained by wavefront propagation in the epicardial plane.¹¹⁶ Characteristics of these focal waves were suggestive of transmural conduction as the underlying mechanism.¹¹⁶ Based on these findings the Double Layer Hypothesis was postulated, which suggests that perpetuation of AF is caused by progressive endo-epicardial dissociation, leading to asynchronous activation of the endo- and epicardium.^{116,117} Thereby, the atria transform into an electrical double layer of dissociated waves that may constantly 'feed' each other, forming a vicious cycle. In contrast, in patients with paroxysmal AF, the endo- and epicardium are likely still to greater extent in contact to each other and are synchronously activated.¹¹¹



Figure 4. Mechanisms of atrial fibrillation

Schematic representation of the multiple wavelet theory (upper left), ectopic foci theory (lower left) and the combination of these mechanisms (upper right). The lower right panel displays activation maps of the epi- and endocardium mapped simultaneously, showing endo-epicardial asynchrony. Endo-epicardial asynchrony may lead to transmural conduction, of which a schematic representation is provided below the activation maps.

The above described mechanisms can be categorized as anarchical hypotheses, whereas several more hierarchical mechanism have also been suggested, in which some parts of the atrial myocardium may harbor 'AF drivers' that are essential AF perpetuation.¹¹⁰ In various canine, sheep and human studies, spiral reentry waves (rotors) and ectopic foci have been proposed as drivers of AF.^{118–121} Moreover, it is possible that a combination of these theories is present in AF patients.

AF is known to be a progressive and self-perpetuating disease.¹¹⁰ Changes in the atrial myocardium due to AF include electrical remodeling leading to shortening of the duration of the action potential and shortening of the atrial refractory period, but also structural remodeling. consisting of altered connexin expression, cardiomyocyte hypertrophy and

atrial fibrosis.^{111,122,123} All these factors combined lead to increased stability of AF. Figure 5 displays the effects of AF; electrical remodeling has been reported to already take place within 1-2 days of AF, whereas structural remodeling occurs in a period of some months.^{124,125}



Figure 5. Effects of atrial fibrillation

Schematic representation of the effects of atrial fibrillation leading to electrical and structural remodeling.

Although all the above mentioned hypothesized mechanisms have a sound basis, the underlying mechanism of AF in the individual patients remains unclear and, thus far, no curative treatment has been developed. Moreover, outcome of current available treatment strategies remains difficult to predict for the individual patient. Since AF is recognized as a worldwide epidemic, knowledge of the underlying mechanism of AF in the individual patient is a necessity to enable improve treatment outcome in the near feature.

In order to do so, however, proper understanding of normal sinus rhythm (SR) forms the basis. Knowledge of atrial patterns of activation during SR may enable detection of propagation abnormalities associated with development of AF. Thus far, in vivo activation mapping of the RA and LA during SR had only been performed in a limited number of patients with a low spatial resolution.¹²⁶⁻¹²⁸ Furthermore, while VHD patients are more susceptible to develop AF than patients with CAD, it remained unknown whether atrial activation patterns, including interatrial conduction, are influenced by underlying heart disease or the presence of AF episodes.¹²⁹ In addition, of several features observed during AF such as focal waves and conduction block, it is unknown whether, and to what extent, they are present during sinus rhythm and thus may be physiological to a certain degree.

In this thesis, we extensively investigated normal physiological conduction and the influence of underlying heart diseases and AF on atrial excitation.

AIMS AND OUTLINE OF THIS THESIS

This thesis focusses at unraveling arrhythmogenesis in patients undergoing cardiac surgery, with specific interest for the underlying mechanism of AF.

Aims of this thesis were to examine:

- 1. The incidence and time course of non-sustained and sustained ventricular tachyarrhythmia in the early postoperative phase after coronary artery bypass grafting surgery.
- 2. The time course and coexistence of various tachyarrhythmia in patients with congenital heart disease and, particularly, in patients with tetralogy of Fallot, and their influence on survival.
- 3. The early and late surgical outcome of patients with tetralogy of Fallot in current clinical practice.
- 4. The outcome of surgical ablation for atrial fibrillation in patients with congenital heart disease.
- 5. The physiological conduction and electrophysiological characteristics of the right and left atrium
- 6. Whether underlying heart diseases lead to alterations in atrial excitation associated with development of atrial fibrillation.
- 7. The variation in physiological conduction at the left atrial posterior and inferior wall and its association with atrial fibrillation.

In **Chapter 2**, we investigate the incidence and burden of non-sustained and sustained ventricular tachyarrhythmias after coronary artery bypass surgery. In **Chapter 3**, we examine the time course and coexistence of supraventricular and ventricular arrhythmias in patients with CHD. Following, in **Chapter 4-7**, we focus on patients with ToF, starting by presenting a rare case of unrepaired ToF with long-term follow-up in **Chapter 4**, after which in **Chapter**

5 the coexistence of sustained tachyarrhythmias is investigated. In **Chapter 6** we focus on progression of late postoperative AF in ToF patients. The early and late surgical outcomes of ToF patients corrected in the current era of surgical management since 2000 is examined in **Chapter 7**. In **Chapter 8**, we discuss the influence of chronic volume and pressure overload on arrhythmia development in CHD patients. The results of concomitant arrhythmia surgery in CHD patients are described in **Chapter 9**. In **Chapter 10**, we introduce our high-resolution mapping approach, by which we examined the influence of IHD and VHD on atrial excitation as described in **Chapter 11**. The outcomes of epicardial high-resolution mapping of Bachmann's bundle in VHD patients is described in **Chapter 12**. In **Chapter 13**, the presence of epicardial breakthrough waves – a key factor during AF – was investigated during SR. Arrhythmogenicity of supraventricular extrasystole was examined in **Chapter 14**. **Chapter 15** and **16** describe electrophysiological characteristics of the pulmonary vein area during SR. The findings and implications of this thesis are discussed in **Chapter 17** and an English and Dutch summary of this thesis are provided in **Chapter 18** and **19** respectively.

REFERENCES

- Feinberg WM, Blackshear JL, Laupacis A, Kronmal R, Hart RG. Prevalence, age distribution, and gender of patients with atrial fibrillation. Analysis and implications. *Arch Intern Med*. 1995;155:469– 73.
- Heeringa J, Van Der Kuip DAM, Hofman A, Kors JA, Van Herpen G, Stricker BHC, Stijnen T, Lip GYH, Witteman JCM. Prevalence, incidence and lifetime risk of atrial fibrillation: The Rotterdam study. *Eur Heart J.* 2006;27:949–953.
- Lloyd-Jones DM, Wang TJ, Leip EP, Larson MG, Levy D, Vasan RS, D'Agostino RB, Massaro JM, Beiser A, Wolf PA, Benjamin EJ. Lifetime risk for development of atrial fibrillation: The framingham heart study. *Circulation*. 2004;110:1042–1046.
- 4. Go AS, Hylek EM, Phillips KA, Chang Y, Henault LE, Selby J V, Singer DE. Prevalence of diagnosed atrial fibrillation in adults: national implications for rhythm management and stroke prevention: the AnTicoagulation and Risk Factors in Atrial Fibrillation (ATRIA) Study. *JAMA*. 2001;285:2370–5.
- Kirchhof P, Benussi S, Kotecha D, Ahlsson A, Atar D, Casadei B, Castella M, Diener HC, Heidbuchel H, Hendriks J, Hindricks G, Manolis AS, Oldgren J, Popescu BA, Schotten U, Van Putte B, Vardas P, Agewall S, Camm J, Baron Esquivias G, Budts W, Carerj S, Casselman F, Coca A, De Caterina R, Deftereos S, Dobrev D, Ferro JM, Filippatos G, Fitzsimons D, Gorenek B, Guenoun M, Hohnloser SH, Kolh P, Lip GYH, Manolis A, McMurray J, Ponikowski P, Rosenhek R, Ruschitzka F, Savelieva I, Sharma S, Suwalski P, Tamargo JL, Taylor CJ, Van Gelder IC, Voors AA, Windecker S, Zamorano JL, Zeppenfeld K. 2016 ESC Guidelines for the management of atrial fibrillation developed in collaboration with EACTS. *Europace*. 2016;18:1609–1678.
- 6. Calkins H, Hindricks G, Cappato R, Kim Y-H, Saad EB, Aguinaga L, Akar JG, Badhwar V, Brugada J, Camm J, Chen P-S, Chen S-A, Chung MK, Nielsen JC, Curtis AB, Davies DW, Day JD, D'Avila A, (Natasja) de Groot NMS, Di Biase L, Duytschaever M, Edgerton JR, Ellenbogen KA, Ellinor PT, Ernst S, Fenelon G, Gerstenfeld EP, Haines DE, Haissaguerre M, Helm RH, Hylek E, Jackman WM, Jalife J, Kalman JM, Kautzner J, Kottkamp H, Kuck KH, Kumagai K, Lee R, Lewalter T, Lindsay BD, Macle L, Mansour M, Marchlinski FE, Michaud GF, Nakagawa H, Natale A, Nattel S, Okumura K, Packer D, Pokushalov E, Reynolds MR, Sanders P, Scanavacca M, Schilling R, Tondo C, Tsao H-M, Verma A, Wilber DJ, Yamane T. 2017 HRS/EHRA/ECAS/APHRS/SOLAECE Expert Consensus Statement on Catheter and Surgical Ablation of Atrial Fibrillation. *Heart Rhythm*. 2017;30590–8.
- Calkins H, Brugada J, Packer DL, Cappato R, Chen S-A, Crijns HJG, Damiano RJ, Davies DW, Haines DE, Haissaguerre M, Iesaka Y, Jackman W, Jais P, Kottkamp H, Kuck KH, Lindsay BD, Marchlinski FE, McCarthy PM, Mont JL, Morady F, Nademanee K, Natale A, Pappone C, Prystowsky E, Raviele A, Ruskin JN, Shemin RJ, Pappone C, Prystowsky E, Raviele A, Ruskin JN, Shemin RJ. HRS/EHRA/ ECAS Expert Consensus Statement on Catheter and Surgical Ablation of Atrial Fibrillation: Recommendations for Personnel, Policy, Procedures and Follow-Up. *Heart Rhythm*. 2007;4:816– 861.
- Calkins H, Kuck KH, Cappato R, Brugada J, Camm AJ, Chen S-A, Crijns HJG, Damiano RJ, Davies DW, DiMarco J, Edgerton J, Ellenbogen K, Ezekowitz MD, Haines DE, Haissaguerre M, Hindricks G, Iesaka Y, Jackman W, Jalife J, Jais P, Kalman J, Keane D, Kim Y-H, Kirchhof P, Klein G, Kottkamp

H, Kumagai K, Lindsay BD, Mansour M, Marchlinski FE, McCarthy PM, Mont JL, Morady F, Nademanee K, Nakagawa H, Natale A, Nattel S, Packer DL, Pappone C, Prystowsky E, Raviele A, Reddy V, Ruskin JN, Shemin RJ, Tsao H-M, Wilber D. 2012 HRS/EHRA/ECAS Expert Consensus Statement on Catheter and Surgical Ablation of Atrial Fibrillation: Recommendations for Patient Selection, Procedural Techniques, Patient Management and Follow-up, Definitions, Endpoints, and Research Trial Design. *Heart Rhythm.* 2012;9:632–696.e21.

- Camm AJ, Kirchhof P, Lip GYH, Schotten U, Savelieva I, Ernst S, Van Gelder IC, Al-Attar N, Hindricks G, Prendergast B, Heidbuchel H, Alfieri O, Angelini A, Atar D, Colonna P, De Caterina R, De Sutter J, Goette A, Gorenek B, Heldal M, Hohloser SH, Kolh P, Le Heuzey J-Y, Ponikowski P, Rutten FH. Guidelines for the management of atrial fibrillation: the Task Force for the Management of Atrial Fibrillation of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC). *Eur Heart J*. 2010;31:2369–2429.
- 10. Orejarena LA, Vidaillet H, DeStefano F, Nordstrom DL, Vierkant RA, Smith PN, Hayes JJ. Paroxysmal supraventricular tachycardia in the general population. *J Am Coll Cardiol*. 1998;31:150–7.
- Page RL, Joglar JA, Caldwell MA, Calkins H, Conti JB, Deal BJ, Estes NAM, Field ME, Goldberger ZD, Hammill SC, Indik JH, Lindsay BD, Olshansky B, Russo AM, Shen W-K, Tracy CM, Al-Khatib SM. 2015 ACC/AHA/HRS Guideline for the Management of Adult Patients With Supraventricular Tachycardia: A Report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Task Force on Clinical Practice Guidelines and the Heart Rhythm Society. *Circulation*. 2016;133:e506-74.
- 12. Mendis SPP NB. Global Atlas on Cardiovascular Disease Prevention and Control. Geneva: World Health Organization. 2011.
- Eckart RE, Shry EA, Burke AP, McNear JA, Appel DA, Castillo-Rojas LM, Avedissian L, Pearse LA, Potter RN, Tremaine L, Gentlesk PJ, Huffer L, Reich SS, Stevenson WG, Department of Defense Cardiovascular Death Registry Group. Sudden death in young adults: an autopsy-based series of a population undergoing active surveillance. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2011;58:1254–61.
- Morady F, Kadish AH, DiCarlo L, Kou WH, Winston S, deBuitlier M, Calkins H, Rosenheck S, Sousa J. Long-term results of catheter ablation of idiopathic right ventricular tachycardia. *Circulation*. 1990;82:2093–9.
- 15. Callans DJ, Menz V, Schwartzman D, Gottlieb CD, Marchlinski FE. Repetitive monomorphic tachycardia from the left ventricular outflow tract: electrocardiographic patterns consistent with a left ventricular site of origin. *J Am Coll Cardiol*. 1997;29:1023–7.
- 16. Tada H, Hiratsuji T, Naito S, Kurosaki K, Ueda M, Ito S, Shinbo G, Hoshizaki H, Oshima S, Nogami A, Taniguchi K. Prevalence and characteristics of idiopathic outflow tract tachycardia with QRS alteration following catheter ablation requiring additional radiofrequency ablation at a different point in the outflow tract. *Pacing Clin Electrophysiol.* 2004;27:1240–9.
- 17. Yamada T, McElderry HT, Doppalapudi H, Murakami Y, Yoshida Y, Yoshida N, Okada T, Tsuboi N, Inden Y, Murohara T, Epstein AE, Plumb VJ, Singh SP, Kay GN. Idiopathic Ventricular Arrhythmias Originating From the Aortic Root. *J Am Coll Cardiol*. 2008;52:139–147.
- Tada H, Nogami A, Naito S, Fukazawa H, Horie Y, Kubota S, Okamoto Y, Hoshizaki H, Oshima S, Taniguchi K. Left ventricular epicardial outflow tract tachycardia: a new distinct subgroup of outflow tract tachycardia. *Jpn Circ J.* 2001;65:723–30.

- 19. Yamada T, Litovsky SH, Kay GN. The left ventricular ostium: an anatomic concept relevant to idiopathic ventricular arrhythmias. *Circ Arrhythm Electrophysiol*. 2008;1:396–404.
- Yamada T, McElderry HT, Doppalapudi H, Okada T, Murakami Y, Yoshida Y, Yoshida N, Inden Y, Murohara T, Plumb VJ, Kay GN. Idiopathic ventricular arrhythmias originating from the left ventricular summit: anatomic concepts relevant to ablation. *Circ Arrhythm Electrophysiol*. 2010;3:616–23.
- Kanagaratnam L, Tomassoni G, Schweikert R, Pavia S, Bash D, Beheiry S, Neibauer M, Saliba W, Chung M, Tchou P, Natale A. Ventricular tachycardias arising from the aortic sinus of valsalva: an under-recognized variant of left outflow tract ventricular tachycardia. *J Am Coll Cardiol*. 2001;37:1408–14.
- Ouyang F, Fotuhi P, Ho SY, Hebe J, Volkmer M, Goya M, Burns M, Antz M, Ernst S, Cappato R, Kuck KH. Repetitive monomorphic ventricular tachycardia originating from the aortic sinus cusp: electrocardiographic characterization for guiding catheter ablation. *J Am Coll Cardiol*. 2002;39:500–8.
- 23. Ouyang F, Bansch D, Schaumann A, Ernst S, Linder C, Falk P, Hachiya H, Kuck K-H, Antz M. Catheter Ablation of Subepicardial Ventricular Tachycardia Using Electroanatomic Mapping. *Herz.* 2003;28:591–597.
- Kumagai K, Yamauchi Y, Takahashi A, Yokoyama Y, Sekiguchi Y, Watanabe J, lesaka Y, Shirato K, Aonuma K. Idiopathic left ventricular tachycardia originating from the mitral annulus. J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol. 2005;16:1029–36.
- 25. Tada H, Tadokoro K, Miyaji K, Ito S, Kurosaki K, Kaseno K, Naito S, Nogami A, Oshima S, Taniguchi K. Idiopathic ventricular arrhythmias arising from the pulmonary artery: prevalence, characteristics, and topography of the arrhythmia origin. *Heart Rhythm*. 2008;5:419–26.
- Priori SG, Blomströ m-Lundqvist C, Mazzanti A, Blom N, Borggrefe M, Camm J, Elliot PM, Fitzsimons D, Hatala R, Hindricks G, Kirchhof P, Kjeldsen K, Kuck K-H, Hernandez-Madrid A, Nikolaou N, Norekval TM, Spaulding C, Van Veldhuisen DJ. 2015 ESC Guidelines for the management of patients with ventricular arrhythmias and the prevention of sudden cardiac death. *Eur Heart J*. 2015;36:2793–2867.
- Montalescot G, Sechtem U, Achenbach S, Andreotti F, Arden C, Budaj A, Bugiardini R, Crea F, Cuisset T, Di Mario C, Ferreira JR, Gersh BJ, Gitt AK, Hulot JS, Marx N, Opie LH, Pfisterer M, Prescott E, Ruschitzka F, Sabaté M, Senior R, Taggart DP, Van Der Wall EE, Vrints CJM, Zamorano JL, Baumgartner H, Bax JJ, Bueno H, Dean V, Deaton C, Erol C, Fagard R, Ferrari R, Hasdai D, Hoes AW, Kirchhof P, Knuuti J, Kolh P, Lancellotti P, Linhart A, Nihoyannopoulos P, Piepoli MF, Ponikowski P, Sirnes PA, Tamargo JL, Tendera M, Torbicki A, Wijns W, Windecker S, Valgimigli M, Claeys MJ, Donner-Banzhoff N, Frank H, Funck-Brentano C, Gaemperli O, Gonzalez-Juanatey JR, Hamilos M, Husted S, James SK, Kervinen K, Kristensen SD, Maggioni A Pietro, Romeo F, Rydén L, Simoons ML, Steg PG, Timmis A, Yildirir A. 2013 ESC guidelines on the management of stable coronary artery disease. *Eur Heart J*. 2013;34:2949–3003.

- 28. Nivel zorgregistraties eerste lijn. Prevalentie en nieuwe gevallen van coronaire hartziekte. [Internet]. [cited 2018 Feb 25];Available from: https://www.volksgezondheidenzorg.info/ onderwerp/coronaire-hartziekten/cijfers-context/huidige-situatie#!node-prevalentie-ennieuwe-gevallen-van-coronaire-hartziekten
- 29. Crijns HJ, Van Gelder IC, Van Gilst WH, Hillege H, Gosselink AM, Lie KI. Serial antiarrhythmic drug treatment to maintain sinus rhythm after electrical cardioversion for chronic atrial fibrillation or atrial flutter. *Am J Cardiol.* 1991;68:335–41.
- 30. AFFIRM Investigators. Atrial Fibrillation Follow-up Investigation of Rhythm Management. Baseline characteristics of patients with atrial fibrillation: the AFFIRM Study. *Am Heart J.* 2002;143:991–1001.
- 31. Lip GY, Beevers DG. ABC of atrial fibrillation. History, epidemiology, and importance of atrial fibrillation. *BMJ*. 1995;311:1361–3.
- Krahn AD, Manfreda J, Tate RB, Mathewson FA, Cuddy TE. The natural history of atrial fibrillation: incidence, risk factors, and prognosis in the Manitoba Follow-Up Study. *Am J Med.* 1995;98:476– 84.
- Hohnloser SH, Crijns HJGM, van Eickels M, Gaudin C, Page RL, Torp-Pedersen C, Connolly SJ. Effect of Dronedarone on Cardiovascular Events in Atrial Fibrillation. *N Engl J Med*. 2009;360:668– 678.
- Patel MR, Mahaffey KW, Garg J, Pan G, Singer DE, Hacke W, Breithardt G, Halperin JL, Hankey GJ, Piccini JP, Becker RC, Nessel CC, Paolini JF, Berkowitz SD, Fox KAA, Califf RM, ROCKET AF Investigators. Rivaroxaban versus warfarin in nonvalvular atrial fibrillation. *N Engl J Med.* 2011;365:883–91.
- Connolly SJ, Ezekowitz MD, Yusuf S, Eikelboom J, Oldgren J, Parekh A, Pogue J, Reilly PA, Themeles E, Varrone J, Wang S, Alings M, Xavier D, Zhu J, Diaz R, Lewis BS, Darius H, Diener H-C, Joyner CD, Wallentin L, RE-LY Steering Committee and Investigators. Dabigatran versus Warfarin in Patients with Atrial Fibrillation. N Engl J Med. 2009;361:1139–1151.
- Van Gelder IC, Groenveld HF, Crijns HJGM, Tuininga YS, Tijssen JGP, Alings AM, Hillege HL, Bergsma-Kadijk JA, Cornel JH, Kamp O, Tukkie R, Bosker HA, Van Veldhuisen DJ, Van den Berg MP, RACE II Investigators. Lenient versus Strict Rate Control in Patients with Atrial Fibrillation. *N Engl J Med.* 2010;362:1363–1373.
- 37. Kralev S, Schneider K, Lang S, Süselbeck T, Borggrefe M. Incidence and Severity of Coronary Artery Disease in Patients with Atrial Fibrillation Undergoing First-Time Coronary Angiography. *PLoS One.* 2011;6:e24964.
- 38. Otterstad JE, Kirwan B-A, Lubsen J, De Brouwer S, Fox KAA, Corell P, Poole-Wilson PA, Action Investigators. Incidence and outcome of atrial fibrillation in stable symptomatic coronary disease. *Scand Cardiovasc J.* 2006;40:152–9.
- 39. Cameron A, Schwartz MJ, Kronmal RA, Kosinski AS. Prevalence and significance of atrial fibrillation in coronary artery disease (CASS Registry). *Am J Cardiol.* 1988;61:714–7.
- 40. Haddad AH, Prchkov VK, Dean DC. Chronic atrial fibrillation and coronary artery disease. *J Electrocardiol*. 1978;11:67–9.

- 41. Gorenek B, Lundqvist CB, Terradellas JB, Camm AJ, Hindricks G, Huber K, Kirchhof P, Kuck KH, Kudaiberdieva G, Lin T, Raviele A, Santini M, Tilz RR, Valgimigli M, Vos MA, Vrints C, Zeymer U. Cardiac arrhythmias in acute coronary syndromes: Position paper from the joint EHRA, ACCA, and EAPCI task force. *Eur Hear J Acute Cardiovasc Care*. 2015;4:386.
- 42. Dumas F, Cariou A, Manzo-Silberman S, Grimaldi D, Vivien B, Rosencher J, Empana J-P, Carli P, Mira J-P, Jouven X, Spaulding C. Immediate percutaneous coronary intervention is associated with better survival after out-of-hospital cardiac arrest: insights from the PROCAT (Parisian Region Out of hospital Cardiac ArresT) registry. *Circ Cardiovasc Interv*. 2010;3:200–7.
- 43. Al-Khatib SM, Stevenson WG, Ackerman MJ, Bryant WJ, Callans DJ, Curtis AB, Deal BJ, Dickfeld T, Field ME, Fonarow GC, Gillis AM, Hlatky MA, Granger CB, Hammill SC, Joglar JA, Kay GN, Matlock DD, Myerburg RJ, Page RL. 2017 AHA/ACC/HRS Guideline for Management of Patients With Ventricular Arrhythmias and the Prevention of Sudden Cardiac Death. *Heart Rhythm*. 2017;
- 44. Furberg CD, Psaty BM, Manolio TA, Gardin JM, Smith VE, Rautaharju PM. Prevalence of atrial fibrillation in elderly subjects (the Cardiovascular Health Study). *Am J Cardiol*. 1994;74:236–241.
- 45. Diker E, Aydogdu S, Ozdemir M, Kural T, Polat K, Cehreli S, Erdogan A, Göksel S. Prevalence and predictors of atrial fibrillation in rheumatic valvular heart disease. *Am J Cardiol*. 1996;77:96–8.
- 46. Rowe JC, Bland EF, Sprague HB, White PD. The course of mitral stenosis without surgery: ten- and twenty-year perspectives. *Ann Intern Med*. 1960;52:741–9.
- 47. Olesen KH. The natural history of 271 patients with mitral stenosis under medical treatment. *Br Heart J.* 1962;24:349–57.
- 48. Grigioni F, Avierinos J-F, Ling LH, Scott CG, Bailey KR, Tajik AJ, Frye RL, Enriquez-Sarano M. Atrial fibrillation complicating the course of degenerative mitral regurgitation: determinants and long-term outcome. *J Am Coll Cardiol*. 2002;40:84–92.
- 49. Kirchhof P, Benussi S, Kotecha D, Ahlsson A, Atar D, Casadei B, Castella M, Diener HC, Heidbuchel H, Hendriks J, Hindricks G, Manolis ASA, Oldgren J, Popescu BA, Schotten U, Van Putte B, Vardas P, Agewall S, Camm J, Esquivias GB, Budts W, Carerj S, Casselman F, Coca A, De Caterina R, Deftereos S, Dobrev D, Ferro JM, Filippatos G, Fitzsimons D, Gorenek B, Guenoun M, Hohnloser SH, Kolh P, Lip GYH, Manolis ASA, McMurray J, Ponikowski P, Rosenhek R, Ruschitzka F, Savelieva I, Sharma S, Suwalski P, Tamargo JL, Taylor CJ, Van Gelder IC, Voors AA, Windecker S, Zamorano JL, Zeppenfeld K. 2016 ESC Guidelines for the management of atrial fibrillation developed in collaboration with EACTS. *Eur Heart J.* 2016;37:2893–2962.
- 50. Gertz ZM, Raina A, Saghy L, Zado ES, Callans DJ, Marchlinski FE, Keane MG, Silvestry FE. Evidence of atrial functional mitral regurgitation due to atrial fibrillation: reversal with arrhythmia control. *J Am Coll Cardiol*. 2011;58.
- Zhou X, Otsuji Y, Yoshifuku S, Yuasa T, Zhang H, Takasaki K, Matsukida K, Kisanuki A, Minagoe S, Tei C. Impact of atrial fibrillation on tricuspid and mitral annular dilatation and valvular regurgitation. *Circ J.* 2002;66:913–6.
- Baumgartner H, Falk V, Bax JJ, De Bonis M, Hamm C, Holm PJ, lung B, Lancellotti P, Lansac E, Muñoz DR, Rosenhek R, Sjögren J, Tornos Mas P, Vahanian A, Walther T, Wendler O, Windecker S, Zamorano JL, Roffi M, Alfieri O, Agewall S, Ahlsson A, Barbato E, Bueno H, Collet JP, Coman IM, Czerny M, Delgado V, Fitzsimons D, Folliguet T, Gaemperli O, Habib G, Harringer W, Haude
M, Hindricks G, Katus HA, Knuuti J, Kolh P, Leclercq C, McDonagh TA, Piepoli MF, Pierard LA, Ponikowski P, Rosano GMC, Ruschitzka F, Shlyakhto E, Simpson IA, Sousa-Uva M, Stepinska J, Tarantini G, Tche D, Aboyans V, Baumgartner H, Bax JJ, De Bonis M, Hamm C, Holm PJ, lung B, Lancellotti P, Lansac E, Muñoz DR, Rosenhek R, Sjögren J, Tornos Mas P, Vahanian A, Walther T, Wendler O, Windecker S, Zamorano JL. 2017 ESC/EACTS Guidelines for the management of valvular heart disease. *Eur Heart J.* 2017;38:2739–2786.

- 53. Généreux P, Stone GW, O'Gara PT, Marquis-Gravel G, Redfors B, Giustino G, Pibarot P, Bax JJ, Bonow RO, Leon MB. Natural History, Diagnostic Approaches, and Therapeutic Strategies for Patients With Asymptomatic Severe Aortic Stenosis. *J Am Coll Cardiol*. 2016;67:2263–88.
- 54. Nordhues BD, Siontis KC, Scott CG, Nkomo VT, Ackerman MJ, Asirvathan SJ, Noseworthy PA. Bileaflet Mitral Valve Prolapse and Risk of Ventricular Dysrhythmias and Death. *J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol.* 2016;27:463–468.
- 55. van der Linde D, Konings EEM, Slager MA, Witsenburg M, Helbing WA, Takkenberg JJM, Roos-Hesselink JW. Birth prevalence of congenital heart disease worldwide: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *J Am Coll Cardiol*. 2011;58:2241–7.
- 56. Mitchell SC, Korones SB, Berendes HW. Congenital heart disease in 56,109 births: incidence and natural history. *Circulation*. 1970;43.
- 57. Egbe A, Uppu S, Lee S, Ho D, Srivastava S. Changing prevalence of severe congenital heart disease: A population-based study. *Pediatr Cardiol*. 2014;1232–1238.
- 58. Hoffman JI., Kaplan S. The incidence of congenital heart disease. *J Am Coll Cardiol*. 2002;39:1890–1900.
- 59. Khairy P, Van Hare GF, Balaji S, Berul CI, Cecchin F, Cohen MI, Daniels CJ, Deal BJ, Dearani JA, Groot N de, Dubin AM, Harris L, Janousek J, Kanter RKJKJKJ, Karpawich PP, Perry JC, Seslar SP, Shah MJ, Silka MJ, Triedman JK, Walsh EP, Warnes CA, de Groot N, Dubin AM, Harris L, Janousek J, Kanter RKJKJKJ, Karpawich PP, Perry JC, Seslar SP, Shah MJ, Silka MJ, Triedman JK, Walsh EP, Perry JC, Seslar SP, Shah MJ, Silka MJ, Triedman JK, Walsh EP, Varnes CA. PACES/HRS Expert Consensus Statement on the Recognition and Management of Arrhythmias in Adult Congenital Heart Disease. *Can J Cardiol*. 2014;30:1–64.
- de Groot NMS, Atary JZ, Blom NA, Schalij MJ. Long-Term Outcome After Ablative Therapy of Postoperative Atrial Tachyarrhythmia in Patients With Congenital Heart Disease and Characteristics of Atrial Tachyarrhythmia Recurrences. *Circ Arrhythmia Electrophysiol*. 2010;3:148– 54.
- 61. De Groot NMS, Lukac P, Blom NA, Van Kuijk JP, Pedersen AK, Hansen PS, Delacretaz E, Schalij MJ. Long-term outcome of ablative therapy of postoperative supraventricular tachycardias in patients with univentricular heart; A European multicenter study. *Circ Arrhythmia Electrophysiol*. 2009;2:242–248.
- 62. Teuwen CP, Taverne YJHJ, Houck C, Götte M, Brundel BJJM, Evertz R, Witsenburg M, Roos-Hesselink JW, Bogers AJJC, de Groot NMS, Molhoek SG, Ramdjan TTTK, Helbing WA, Kammeraad JAE, Dorman HGR, van Opstal JM, Konings TC, Vriend JWJ, van der Voort P. Tachyarrhythmia in patients with congenital heart disease: Inevitable destiny? *Netherlands Hear J*. 2016;24:161–170.
- 63. Triedman JK. Arrhythmias in adults with congenital heart disease. *Heart*. 2002;87:383–9.

- 64. De Groot NMS, Blom N, Vd Wall EE, Schalij MJ. Different mechanisms underlying consecutive, postoperative atrial tachyarrhythmias in a Fontan patient. *Pacing Clin Electrophysiol*. 2009;32:e18-20.
- 65. Teuwen CP, Ramdjan TTTK, Götte M, Brundel BJJM, Evertz R, Vriend JWJ, Molhoek SG, Dorman HGR, van Opstal JM, Konings TC, Van Der Voort P, Delacretaz E, Houck C, Yaksh A, Jansz LJ, Witsenburg M, Roos-Hesselink JW, Triedman JK, Bogers AJJC, De Groot NMS. Time Course of Atrial Fibrillation in Patients with Congenital Heart Defects. *Circ Arrhythmia Electrophysiol*. 2015;8:1065–1072.
- 66. Wu MH, Lu CW, Chen HC, Chiu SN, Kao FY, Huang SK. Arrhythmic burdens in patients with tetralogy of Fallot: A national database study. *Heart Rhythm*. 2015;12:604–609.
- 67. Roos-Hesselink J, Perlroth MG, McGhie J, Spitaels S. Atrial arrhythmias in adults after repair of tetralogy of Fallot. Correlations with clinical, exercise, and echocardiographic findings. *Circulation*. 1995;91:2214–9.
- Khairy P, Aboulhosn J, Gurvitz M, Opotowsky A, Mongeon F, Kay J, Valente A, Earing M, Lui G, Gersony D, Cook S, Ting J, Nickolaus M, Webb G, Landzberg M, Broberg C. Arrhythmia burden in adults with surgically repaired tetralogy of Fallot: a multi-institutional study. *Circulation*. 2010;122:868–75.
- 69. Gatzoulis MA, Balaji S, Webber SA, Siu SC, Hokanson JS, Poile C, Rosenthal M, Nakazawa M, Moller JH, Gillette PC, Webb GD, Redington AN. Risk factors for arrhythmia and sudden cardiac death late after repair of tetralogy of Fallot: a multicentre study. *Lancet (London, England)*. 2000;356:975–81.
- 70. Harrison DA, Siu SC, Hussain F, MacLoghlin CJ, Webb GD, Harris L. Sustained atrial arrhythmias in adults late after repair of tetralogy of fallot. *Am J Cardiol.* 2001;87:584–8.
- 71. Khairy P, Balaji S. Cardiac Arrhythmias In Congenital Heart Diseases. *Indian Pacing Electrophysiol J.* 2009;9:299–317.
- 72. Luijten LWG, van den Bosch E, Duppen N, Tanke R, Roos-Hesselink J, Nijveld A, van Dijk A, Bogers AJJC, van Domburg R, Helbing WA. Long-term outcomes of transatrial-transpulmonary repair of tetralogy of Fallot. *Eur J Cardiothorac Surg.* 2015;47:527–34.
- 73. Padalino MA, Vida VL, Stellin G. Transatrial-Transpulmonary Repair of Tetralogy of Fallot. *Semin Thorac Cardiovasc Surg Pediatr Card Surg Annu*. 2009;12:48–53.
- 74. Simon B V, Swartz MF, Egan M, Cholette JM, Gensini F, Alfieris GM. Use of a Dacron Annular Sparing Versus Limited Transannular Patch With Nominal Pulmonary Annular Expansion in Infants With Tetralogy of Fallot. *Ann Thorac Surg.* 2017;103:186–192.
- 75. Boni L, García E, Galletti L, Pérez A, Herrera D, Ramos V, Marianeschi SM, Comas J V. Current strategies in tetralogy of Fallot repair: pulmonary valve sparing and evolution of right ventricle/ left ventricle pressures ratio. *Eur J Cardio-Thoracic Surg.* 2009;35:885–890.
- Palmen M, Klautz R, Braun J, Van Putte B. Behoefteraming cardiothoracaal chirurgen 2008-2018; rapport van de commissie in- en uitstroom van de Nederlandse vereniging voor thoraxchirurgie. 2010.
- 77. Ahlsson AJ, Bodin L, Lundblad OH, Englund AG. Postoperative Atrial Fibrillation is Not Correlated to C-Reactive Protein. *Ann Thorac Surg.* 2007;83:1332–1337.

- 78. Arsenault KA, Yusuf AM, Crystal E, Healey JS, Morillo CA, Nair GM, Whitlock RP. Interventions for preventing post-operative atrial fibrillation in patients undergoing heart surgery. In: Whitlock RP, editor. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews. Chichester, UK: John Wiley & Sons, Ltd; 2013. p. CD003611.
- 79. Mathew JP, Fontes ML, Tudor IC, Ramsay J, Duke P, Mazer CD, Barash PG, Hsu PH, Mangano DT, Investigators of the Ischemia Research and Education Foundation, Multicenter Study of Perioperative Ischemia Research Group. A Multicenter Risk Index for Atrial Fibrillation After Cardiac Surgery. *JAMA*. 2004;291:1720.
- Bessissow A, Khan J, Devereaux PJ, Alvarez-Garcia J, Alonso-Coello P. Postoperative atrial fibrillation in non-cardiac and cardiac surgery: an overview. *J Thromb Haemost*. 2015;13:S304– S312.
- 81. Creswell LL, Schuessler RB, Rosenbloom M, Cox JL. Hazards of postoperative atrial arrhythmias. Ann Thorac Surg. 1993;56:539–49.
- 82. Hogue CW, Hyder ML. Atrial fibrillation after cardiac operation: Risks, mechanisms, and treatment. *Ann Thorac Surg.* 2000;69:300–306.
- 83. Asher CR, Miller DP, Grimm RA, Cosgrove DM, Chung MK. Analysis of risk factors for development of atrial fibrillation early after cardiac valvular surgery. *Am J Cardiol*. 1998;82:892–5.
- Filardo G, Damiano RJ, Ailawadi G, Thourani VH, Pollock BD, Sass DM, Phan TK, Nguyen H, da Graca B. Epidemiology of new-onset atrial fibrillation following coronary artery bypass graft surgery. *Heart*. 2018;heartjnl-2017-312150.
- 85. Echahidi N, Pibarot P, O'Hara G, Mathieu P. Mechanisms, Prevention, and Treatment of Atrial Fibrillation After Cardiac Surgery. *J Am Coll Cardiol*. 2008;51:793–801.
- 86. Olshansky B. Interrelationships Between the Autonomic Nervous System and Atrial Fibrillation. *Prog Cardiovasc Dis.* 2005;48:57–78.
- 87. Tchervenkov CI, Wynands JE, Symes JF, Malcolm ID, Dobell AR, Morin JE. Electrical behavior of the heart following high-potassium cardioplegia. *Ann Thorac Surg.* 1983;36:314–9.
- Al-Shanafey S, Dodds L, Langille D, Ali I, Henteleff H, Dobson R. Nodal vessels disease as a risk factor for atrial fibrillation after coronary artery bypass graft surgery. *Eur J Cardiothorac Surg.* 2001;19:821–6.
- Kolvekar S, D'Souza A, Akhtar P, Reek C, Garratt C, Spyt T, Akhatar P. Role of atrial ischaemia in development of atrial fibrillation following coronary artery bypass surgery. *Eur J Cardiothorac Surg.* 1997;11:70–5.
- 90. Ascione R, Reeves BC, Santo K, Khan N, Angelini GD. Predictors of new malignant ventricular arrhythmias after coronary surgery: a case-control study. *J Am Coll Cardiol*. 2004;43:1630–8.
- 91. Budeus M, Feindt P, Gams E, Wieneke H, Erbel R, Sack S. Risk factors of ventricular tachyarrhythmias after coronary artery bypass grafting. *Int J Cardiol.* 2006;113:201–8.
- 92. El-Chami MF, Sawaya FJ, Kilgo P, Stein W, Halkos M, Thourani V, Lattouf OM, Delurgio DB, Guyton RA, Puskas JD, Leon AR. Ventricular arrhythmia after cardiac surgery: incidence, predictors, and outcomes. *J Am Coll Cardiol*. 2012;60:2664–71.

- 93. Yeung-Lai-Wah J a, Qi A, McNeill E, Abel JG, Tung S, Humphries KH, Kerr CR. New-onset sustained ventricular tachycardia and fibrillation early after cardiac operations. *Ann Thorac Surg.* 2004;77:2083–8.
- 94. Saxon LA, Wiener I, Natterson PD, Laks H, Drinkwater D, Stevenson WG. Monomorphic versus polymorphic ventricular tachycardia after coronary artery bypass grafting. *Am J Cardiol*. 1995;75:403–5.
- 95. Steinberg JS, Gaur A, Sciacca R, Tan E. New-onset sustained ventricular tachycardia after cardiac surgery. *Circulation*. 1999;99:903–8.
- 96. Dankner R, Shahar A, Novikov I, Agmon U, Ziv A, Hod H. Treatment of Stable Atrial Fibrillation in the Emergency Department: A Population-Based Comparison of Electrical Direct-Current versus Pharmacological Cardioversion or Conservative Management. *Cardiology*. 2009;112:270–278.
- 97. Gitt AK, Smolka W, Michailov G, Bernhardt A, Pittrow D, Lewalter T. Types and outcomes of cardioversion in patients admitted to hospital for atrial fibrillation: results of the German RHYTHM-AF Study. *Clin Res Cardiol*. 2013;102:713–23.
- 98. Lafuente-Lafuente C, Valembois L, Bergmann J-F, Belmin J. Antiarrhythmics for maintaining sinus rhythm after cardioversion of atrial fibrillation. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* 2015;CD005049.
- Singh BN, Connolly SJ, Crijns HJGM, Roy D, Kowey PR, Capucci A, Radzik D, Aliot EM, Hohnloser SH, EURIDIS and ADONIS Investigators. Dronedarone for maintenance of sinus rhythm in atrial fibrillation or flutter. *N Engl J Med*. 2007;357:987–99.
- 100. Roy D, Talajic M, Nattel S, Wyse DG, Dorian P, Lee KL, Bourassa MG, Arnold JMO, Buxton AE, Camm AJ, Connolly SJ, Dubuc M, Ducharme A, Guerra PG, Hohnloser SH, Lambert J, Le Heuzey J-Y, O'Hara G, Pedersen OD, Rouleau J-L, Singh BN, Stevenson LW, Stevenson WG, Thibault B, Waldo AL, Atrial Fibrillation and Congestive Heart Failure Investigators. Rhythm Control versus Rate Control for Atrial Fibrillation and Heart Failure. N Engl J Med. 2008;358:2667–2677.
- Roy D, Talajic M, Dorian P, Connolly S, Eisenberg MJ, Green M, Kus T, Lambert J, Dubuc M, Gagné P, Nattel S, Thibault B. Amiodarone to Prevent Recurrence of Atrial Fibrillation. *N Engl J Med.* 2000;342:913–920.
- 102. Kirchhof P, Andresen D, Bosch R, Borggrefe M, Meinertz T, Parade U, Ravens U, Samol A, Steinbeck G, Treszl A, Wegscheider K, Breithardt G. Short-term versus long-term antiarrhythmic drug treatment after cardioversion of atrial fibrillation (Flec-SL): a prospective, randomised, open-label, blinded endpoint assessment trial. *Lancet (London, England)*. 2012;380:238–46.
- 103. Marrouche NF, Wilber D, Hindricks G, Jais P, Akoum N, Marchlinski F, Kholmovski E, Burgon N, Hu N, Mont L, Deneke T, Duytschaever M, Neumann T, Mansour M, Mahnkopf C, Herweg B, Daoud E, Wissner E, Bansmann P, Brachmann J. Association of atrial tissue fibrosis identified by delayed enhancement MRI and atrial fibrillation catheter ablation: the DECAAF study. *JAMA*. 2014;311:498–506.
- 104. Ganesan AN, Shipp NJ, Brooks AG, Kuklik P, Lau DH, Lim HS, Sullivan T, Roberts-Thomson KC, Sanders P. Long-term outcomes of catheter ablation of atrial fibrillation: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Am Heart Assoc. 2013;2:1–14.

- 105. Verma A, Jiang C, Betts TR, Chen J, Deisenhofer I, Mantovan R, Macle L, Morillo CA, Haverkamp W, Weerasooriya R, Albenque J-P, Nardi S, Menardi E, Novak P, Sanders P, STAR AF II Investigators. Approaches to Catheter Ablation for Persistent Atrial Fibrillation. *N Engl J Med*. 2015;372:1812– 1822.
- 106. Silverman ME, Hollman A. Discovery of the sinus node by Keith and Flack: On the centennial of their 1907 publication. *Heart*. 2007;93:1184–1187.
- 107. Silverman ME, Grove D, Upshaw CB. Why does the heart beat? The discovery of the electrical system of the heart. *Circulation*. 2006;113:2775–81.
- 108. Bachman G. The interauricular time interval. Am J Physiol. 1916;41:309–320.
- 109. Haïssaguerre M, Jaïs P, Shah DC, Takahashi A, Hocini M, Quiniou G, Garrigue S, Le Mouroux A, Le Métayer P, Clémenty J. Spontaneous Initiation of Atrial Fibrillation by Ectopic Beats Originating in the Pulmonary Veins. *http://dx.doi.org.prxy4.ursus.maine.edu/101056/NEJM199809033391003.* 1998;339:659–666.
- 110. Verheule S, Eckstein J, Linz D, Maesen B, Bidar E, Gharaviri A, Schotten U. Role of endo-epicardial dissociation of electrical activity and transmural conduction in the development of persistent atrial fibrillation. *Prog Biophys Mol Biol.* 2014;115:173–185.
- 111. van Marion DMS, Lanters EAH, Wiersma M, Allessie MA, Brundel BBJJM, de Groot NMS. Diagnosis and Therapy of Atrial Fibrillation: The Past, The Present and The Future. *J Atr Fibrillation*. 8:1216.
- 112. Moe GK, Abildskov JA. Atrial fibrillation as a self-sustaining arrhythmia independent of focal discharge. *Am Heart J.* 1959;58:59–70.
- 113. Allessie M. Experimental evaluation of Moe's multiple wavelet hypothesis of atrial fibrillation. Cardiac Electrophysiology and Arrhythmias. *Card Electrophysiol Arrhythmias*. 1985;0:265–276.
- 114. Wang J, Bourne GW, Wang Z, Villemaire C, Talajic M, Nattel S. Comparative mechanisms of antiarrhythmic drug action in experimental atrial fibrillation. Importance of use-dependent effects on refractoriness. *Circulation*. 1993;88:1030–44.
- 115. Wang Z, Pagé P, Nattel S. Mechanism of flecainide's antiarrhythmic action in experimental atrial fibrillation. *Circ Res.* 1992;71:271–87.
- 116. de Groot N, Houben R, Smeets J, Boersma E, Schotten U, Schalij M, Crijns H, Allessie M. Electropathological Substrate of Longstanding Persistent Atrial Fibrillation in Patients With Structural Heart Disease: Epicardial Breakthrough. *Circulation*. 2010;122:1674–1683.
- 117. Allessie MA, De Groot NMS, Houben RPM, Schotten U, Boersma E, Smeets JL, Crijns HJ. Electropathological substrate of long-standing persistent atrial fibrillation in patients with structural heart disease: longitudinal dissociation. *Circ Arrhythm Electrophysiol.* 2010;3:606–15.
- 118. Narayan SM, Shivkumar K, Krummen DE, Miller JM, Rappel W-J. Panoramic electrophysiological mapping but not electrogram morphology identifies stable sources for human atrial fibrillation: stable atrial fibrillation rotors and focal sources relate poorly to fractionated electrograms. *Circ Arrhythm Electrophysiol.* 2013;6:58–67.
- 119. Skanes AC, Mandapati R, Berenfeld O, Davidenko JM, Jalife J. Spatiotemporal periodicity during atrial fibrillation in the isolated sheep heart. *Circulation*. 1998;98:1236–48.

- 120. Yamazaki M, Mironov S, Taravant C, Brec J, Vaquero LM, Bandaru K, Avula UMR, Honjo H, Kodama I, Berenfeld O, Kalifa J. Heterogeneous atrial wall thickness and stretch promote scroll waves anchoring during atrial fibrillation. *Cardiovasc Res.* 2012;94:48–57.
- 121. Lee S, Sahadevan J, Khrestian CM, Durand DM, Waldo AL. High Density Mapping of Atrial Fibrillation During Vagal Nerve Stimulation in the Canine Heart: Restudying the Moe Hypothesis. *J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol*. 2013;24:328–335.
- 122. Spach MS, Heidlage JF, Barr RC, Dolber PC. Cell size and communication: Role in structural and electrical development and remodeling of the heart. *Heart Rhythm*. 2004;1:500–515.
- 123. Spach MS, Boineau JP. Microfibrosis Produces Electrical Load Variations Due to Loss of Side-to-Side Cell Connections; A Major Mechanism of Structural Heart Disease Arrhythmias. *Pacing Clin Electrophysiol.* 1997;20:397–413.
- Ausma J, Litjens N, Lenders M-H, Duimel H, Mast F, Wouters L, Ramaekers F, Allessie M, Borgers M. Time Course of Atrial Fibrillation-induced Cellular Structural Remodeling in Atria of the Goat. J Mol Cell Cardiol. 2001;33:2083–2094.
- 125. Ausma J, van der Velden HMW, Lenders M-H, van Ankeren EP, Jongsma HJ, Ramaekers FCS, Borgers M, Allessie MA. Reverse structural and gap-junctional remodeling after prolonged atrial fibrillation in the goat. *Circulation*. 2003;107:2051–8.
- 126. Lemery R, Birnie D, Tang ASL, Green M, Gollob M, Hendry M, Lau E. Normal atrial activation and voltage during sinus rhythm in the human heart: an endocardial and epicardial mapping study in patients with a history of atrial fibrillation. *J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol*. 2007;18:402–8.
- 127. Tapanainen JM, Jurkko R, Holmqvist F, Husser D, Kongstad O, Mäkijärvi M, Toivonen L, Platonov PG. Interatrial right-to-left conduction in patients with paroxysmal atrial fibrillation. *J Interv Card Electrophysiol*. 2009;25:117–22.
- 128. Sakamoto S, Yamauchi S, Yamashita H, Imura H, Maruyama Y, Ogasawara H, Hatori N, Shimizu K. Intra-operative mapping of the right atrial free wall during sinus rhythm: variety of activation patterns and incidence of postoperative atrial fibrillation. *Eur J Cardiothorac Surg.* 2006;30:132–9.
- 129. Psaty BM, Manolio TA, Kuller LH, Kronmal RA, Cushman M, Fried LP, White R, Furberg CD, Rautaharju PM. Incidence of and Risk Factors for Atrial Fibrillation in Older Adults. *Circulation*. 1997;96:2455–2461.





EARLY VENTRICULAR TACHYARRHYTHMIAS AFTER CORONARY ARTERY BYPASS GRAFTING SURGERY: IS IT A REAL BURDEN?

Elisabeth M.J.P. Mouws*

Ameeta Yaksh* Paul Knops Charles Kik Eric Boersma Ad J.J.C. Bogers Natasja M.S. de Groot

*Shared first authorship

JOURNAL OF CARDIOLOGY. 2017; 70(3):263-270

ABSTRACT

Background: The prevalence of ventricular dysrhythmias (VD) (ventricular premature beats (VPBs), ventricular couplets (Vcouplets), ventricular runs (Vruns)) after coronary artery bypass grafting (CABG) has so far not been examined. The goal of this study is to examine characteristics of VD and whether they precede ventricular tachyarrhythmias (VTA) during a postoperative follow-up period of 5 days using continuous rhythm registrations. In addition, we determined predictive factors of VD/VTA.

Methods: Incidences and burdens of VD/VTA were calculated in patients (N=105, 83 male, 65±9 years) undergoing primary, on-pump CABG. Independent risk factors were examined using multivariate analysis.

Results: VPBs, Vcouplets and Vruns occurred in respectively 100%, 83% and 49% with corresponding burdens of 0.05%, 0% and 0%. Sustained VT and VF did not occur in our cohort. Independent risk factors for VD included male gender, mitral valve insufficiency, hyperlipidemia and age ≥60 years.

Conclusions: VD are common in patients with coronary artery disease after CABG. Despite high incidences of these dysrhythmias, corresponding burdens are low and sustained VT or VF did not occur. Incidences were highest on the first postoperative day and diminished over time.

INTRODUCTION

Ventricular premature beats (VPB) are common in subjects without apparent heart disease¹⁻⁴, occurring in about 6% of the general population.³ In healthy subjects, VPBs with a frequency of 1-10/h occurred in 79.3%, whereas frequent VPBs (≥30/h) occurred in 8%.² Other studies reported incidences of frequent VPBs in general populations ranging between 1.2 to 10.7%.³ These frequent VPBs are in middle aged and elderly subjects significant predictors of cardiovascular events and are responsible for a 2 to 4.6-fold increased risk of (sudden) cardiac death.³

In patients undergoing cardiac surgery, postoperative ventricular tachyarrhythmias (VTA), including sustained ventricular tachycardia (VT) and ventricular fibrillation (VF), are rare⁵⁻¹⁰ with reported incidences varying from 0.95% to 5% depending on study design, cut-off values and patient characteristics.⁷⁻¹⁰ However, these VTA are associated with an increased mortality⁵⁻¹¹, particularly in patients with reduced left ventricular function after coronary artery bypass grafting (CABG).¹²

Independent risk factors for postoperative VTA include older age, emergent surgery, lower ejection fraction, on-pump surgery, peripheral vascular disease, female gender, body mass index (BMI) >25kg/m², unstable angina, need for inotropic agents or an intra-aortic balloon pump, and the combination of ventricular late potentials, ejection fraction \leq 38% and standard deviation of all normal RR intervals \leq 28 ms.⁷⁻⁹

So far, the prevalence of postoperative VTA has only been studied during the first 48 h and other ventricular dysrhythmias (VD), including VPBs, ventricular couplets (Vcouplets) and ventricular runs (Vruns) have not been taken into account.⁷⁻¹⁰

The aim of this study is to examine the occurrence of VPBs, Vcouplets, Vruns, and whether they precede VT or VF during a postoperative follow-up period of 5 days in patients undergoing CABG using continuous rhythm registrations. In addition, we determined which risk factors predict the occurrence of these arrhythmias.



Figure 1. Methods

A. Patient connected to a bedside monitor with lead I, II and III after CABG surgery. B. Rhythm registration demonstrating the calculation of the prematurity index of a VPB. C,D. Determination of the duration of a Vcouplet (C) or Vrun (D), defined as the time between the first and last R wave (arrow).

METHODS

Study population

The study population consisted of 105 successive patients undergoing elective, primary on-pump CABG in the Erasmus MC Rotterdam. This study is part of the Rotterdam Rhythm Monitoring Project (AMOR), which was approved by the institutional medical ethical committee (MEC2012-481). As AMOR is an observational study, written consent was not required. Preoperative electrocardiogram (ECG) and clinical data were extracted from electronic patient files.

Postoperative continuous rhythm registrations

Postoperative rhythm registrations were obtained from bedside Infinity^{*} monitors (Draeger, Lubeck, Germany) and stored on a hard disk using a custom-made program (Taperec, Rotterdam, the Netherlands) with a sampling rate of 200 Hz as CPZ-files (compressed monitoring data).¹²

All recordings were analyzed using multichannel Holter scanning software Synescope[™] (Sorin Group, Ela Medical, Clamart, France). In order to analyze continuous rhythm registrations in Synescope[™], all registrations were converted into International Society for Holter and Noninvasive Electrocardiology (ISHNE) files, a standard Holter output file format. Conversion was performed by another custom-made program with preservation of the characteristics of the original data.¹³ The ISHNE files could not contain over 24 h of data in order to be compatible with Synescope[™] (Synescope, Sorin Group, Ela Medical, Clamart, France). Therefore, longer ISHNE files were split into smaller files each containing rhythm registrations for a maximum period of 24 h.

For this purpose, successive obtained cpz-files were uncompromised by Taperec and converted by Autolt Script (Autolt Consulting Ltd, Wales, England) into ISHNE files, which were then successively imported into Synescope[™]. Analysed data were exported from Synescope[™] as ASCII files and imported into Excel 2010 for calculations using macros programmed in Visual Basic[™] 2010.

Analysis of cardiac arrhythmias

ECG holter recordings were available from the moment of arrival on the intensive care unit until hospital discharge. The ECG holter recordings of the first 5 postoperative days were used for analyses of VD. Analyses of VPB, Vcouplet, Vrun sustained VT and VF were performed using 2 leads, selected from leads I, II and III, as precordial leads are not available during routine postoperative monitoring (Figure 1).

Vcouplets consisted of two consecutive VPBs. Vruns were defined as a minimum of three consecutive VPBs with a maximum duration of 29 s and sustained VT as a series of ventricular premature beats lasting \geq 30 s. Traditional cut-off lines of 10 and 30 VPB/h were used to divide severity classes in low, moderate and high frequent, as shown in panel B of Figure 1.²

The total number of VPBs, Vcouplets and Vruns was determined in all registrations of every patient. The VPB burden per day was calculated for every patient separately by dividing the total number of VPBs by the total number of QRS complexes on that day, whereas the Vcouplet and Vrun burden was calculated as the total duration of Vcouplets (ms) or Vruns (s) divided by the total recording time on that day. VPBs were identified based on their

morphology. The degree of prematurity of VPBs was defined as the coupling interval of the VPB divided by the average cycle length of the two preceding beats, as demonstrated in panel B of Figure 1. VPBs with a prematurity index \geq 30% and <100% were considered reliable for analysis of the distribution of prematurity indices, which was verified by manually checking all VPBs.

Risk factors

Risk factors for VD taken into account included age \geq 60 years, male gender, BSA \geq 1.8 m², BSA \geq 2.5 m², hypertension, hyperlipidemia, diabetes mellitus, previous myocardial infarction (MI), peripheral vascular disease, stroke, thyroid disorder, left ventricular dysfunction \geq moderate, aortic-, mitral-, tricuspid- or pulmonic valve insufficiency, \geq 3-vessel disease, family history of cardiovascular disease, sudden cardiac death or atrial fibrillation, alcohol consumption (male \geq 2/day, female \geq 1/day), palpitations, NYHA-class \geq 3, cardiopulmonary bypass (CPB) time, aortic cross-clamp (ACC) time, postoperative C-reactive protein level (CRP), presence of \geq 10 VPB/h, \geq 30 VPB/h or Vcouplets.

Statistical analysis

Demographic variables were expressed as mean \pm SD. Normally distributed data are described by means \pm standard deviation (minimum-maximum), significantly skewed data (p<0.05; Shapiro-Wilk test) are described by medians (p₁₀-p₉₀).

Differences in burden, incidences and prematurity indices over a period up to 5 consecutive days were analyzed with respectively a related samples Friedman's two-way analysis of variance by ranks, a related samples Cochran's Q test and a oneway ANOVA with repeated measures. Linear association between two variables of VPBs, Vcouplets and Vruns was evaluated by a Pearson correlation coefficient.

Possible predictors of ventricular arrhythmia in univariate binary logistic regression (p ≤ 0.15) were entered in a multivariate binary logistic regression analysis in a stepwise fashion, in which the sample contained at least 10 events per variable used in the logistic equation. In case of more univariate predictors than possible for the multivariate model the combination of factors was based on clinical relevance and high univariate significance. For the binary analysis of risk factors, BSA values of $\geq 1.8 \text{ m}^2$ and $\geq 2.5 \text{ m}^2$ were used for \geq overweight and \geq obese, based on scatterplot analysis of our population in which BMI (x-axis) was plotted with BSA and corresponded with BMI $\geq 25 \text{ kg/m}^2$ and $\geq 30 \text{ kg/m}^2$ respectively¹⁴, formula 1.06+0.03X, R=0.505.

RESULTS

Study population

Characteristics of the study population (N=105, 83 male (79%), age 65 ± 9 (42-83) years) are summarized in Table 1. The majority of the patients (N=59, 56%) had triple vessel disease. Affected vessels included the left anterior descending artery (N=97, 92%), the right coronary artery (N=84, 80%), the circumflex branch of the left coronary artery (N=85, 81%) or intermedius branch of the left coronary artery (N=7, 7%). Left ventricular function was normal in 74 patients (71%). None of the patients had significant valvular heart disease requiring cardiac surgery. Mild mitral valve insufficiency and tricuspid valve insufficiency were common (respectively N=49, 47% and N=37, 35%). Risk factors for cardiovascular disease or arrhythmias were present in 102 patients (97%). Hypertension was the most common (N=70, 67%), followed by hyperlipidemia (N=55, 52%), MI (N=44, 42%) and diabetes (N=40, 38%). Class II anti-arrhythmic drugs were used by 91 patients (87%).

Preoperative ECG showed sinus rhythm in all patients, with a mean frequency of 65±12 (41-106) bpm. First degree atrioventricular conduction block was present in 5 patients (5%). Left or right bundle branch blocks were observed in 4(4%) and 5 patients (5%) respectively. VPBs on the preoperative ECG were found in 9 patients (9%); Vcouplets and Vruns were not recorded.

In all patients complete revascularization was obtained. Mean CPB time was 100 ± 31 min (range 31-188 min) and the mean ACC time was 62 ± 19 min (range 19-123 min). There were no significant electrolyte abnormalities reported during the perioperative phase. Postoperative CRP levels were available for 51(49%), 76(72%), 81(77%), 99(94%) and 56 patients (53%) at day 1 until 5 with mean values of 47 ± 28 (5-160) mg/L, 80 ± 64 (12-361) mg/L, 111 ± 76 (13-473) mg/L, 102 ± 69 (10-385) mg/L and 84 ± 61 (6-297) mg/L respectively.

Continuous rhythm registrations

The number of holter recordings fluctuated per postoperative day, as not all patients were hospitalized for the same period of time: the number of patients from postoperative day 1 till day 5 was respectively 103, 105, 91, 88 and 55. After exclusion of recordings of insufficient quality from a total of 9,091 recorded hours, 8,934 hours (98.3%) remained. Vcouplet and Vrun burdens were therefore calculated with the available recording time per patient, whereas frequencies per hour were calculated using the entire recording time, thus 9,091 hours. In the entire study population the average recording time per patient was 86±25 hours; consisting of 42,583,846 beats (405,142±139,312).

Table 1. Patient characteristics

Number of patients	105	
Age	65±9(42–83)	
Male	83(79)	
BSA	2.0±0.2(1.5-2.8)	
Cardiac Risk Factors	N(%)	
Hypertension	70(67)	
Hyperlipidemia	55(52)	
Diabetes Mellitus	40(38)	
Previous myocardial infarction	44(42)	
Peripheral arterial disease	14(13)	
TIA/CVA	14(13)	
Present smoker	35(33)	
Thyroid disorders	7(7)	
Pulmonary function test	N(%)	
COPD	5(5)	
Goldmann class I	1(1)	
Goldmann class II	3(3)	
Goldmann class III	1(1)	
Echocardiography	N(%)	
Left ventricular function		
Normal	74(71)	
Moderately impaired	25(24)	
Severely impaired	4(4)	
Valvular function		
Aortic valve stenosis	2(2)	
Aortic valve insufficiency	19(18)	
Mitral valve stenosis	11(10)	
Mitral valve insufficiency	49(47)	
Tricuspid valve insufficiency	37(35)	
Pulmonic valve insufficiency	11(10)	
Drug therapy (preoperative)	N(%)	
Anti-arrhythmic drugs	91(87)	
Class I	0	
Class II	91(87)	
Class III	2(2)	
Class IV	0	
Anti-platelets	98(93)	
Anti-coagulants	9(9)	
ACE-inhibitors/AG-II	69(66)	
Statins	85(81)	

Coronary angiography	N(%)
1-VD	6(6)
2-VD	17(16)
3-VD	59(56)
LM + 1-VD	4(4)
LM + 2-VD	11(10)
LM + 3-VD	8 (8)

Table 1. (continued)

* Missing data: valvular insufficiencies(11), left ventricular function(2), smoking(3), hyperlipidemia(3), thyroid disorder(3), pulmonary function test(19)

† BSA: body surface area; TIA: transient ischemic attack; CVA: cerebrovascular accident; COPD: chronic obstructive pulmonary disease; AG: angiotensin; ACE: angiotensin I converting enzyme; LM: left main artery; VD: vessel disease

Incidence of ventricular arrhythmias

A total of 430,006 VPBs, 8,032 Vcouplets and 2,153 Vruns were found in this study population. All patients had VPBs in the early postoperative period of 5 days, as shown in panel A of Figure 2; Vcouplets occurred in 87 patients (83%) and Vruns occurred in 51 patients (49%).

The VPB frequency varied from 0 to 2,515 VPB/h and from 0 to 42,779 VPB/day. Also, more than half of the patients (54%) had at least once a frequency of \geq 30 VPB/h, as shown in panel B.

The Vcouplet frequency varied from 0 to 240 Vcouplet/h and from 0 to 1,231 Vcouplet/day. As presented in panel C, 84 patients (80%) had Vcouplets with a frequency of 1 Vcouplet/h, whereas a minority of 14 patients (13%) had \geq 6 Vcouplets/h. The median duration of Vcouplets over all five postoperative days was 435 (350-600) ms.

The Vrun frequency varied from 0 to 35 Vrun/h and from 0 to 333 Vrun/day. Most patients (N=48, 46%) had Vruns with a frequency of 1 Vrun/hour, whereas only 9 patients (5%) had \geq 5 Vruns per hour, as shown in panel D. The duration of recorded Vruns ranged from 1 to 25 (median 2 (2-3)) seconds. As displayed in panel E and F, all patients with Vruns (N=51, 49%) had Vruns with a duration of 1-10 seconds. Only 3 patients had Vruns in the duration categories of 11-20 and 21-29 seconds. The duration of 99.7% of the Vruns ranged between 1-10 seconds. None of these patients had episodes of sustained VT or VF during the 5 postoperative days.



Figure 2. Incidences of ventricular tachyarrhythmias

A. Overall incidence of VPB, Vcouplet and Vrun within the patient population. B-D. Relative frequency distribution of the incidences of different types of ventricular dysrhythmia. E,F. Relative frequency distribution of the duration of VT episodes.

Incidences of VD for each postoperative day separately are shown in Figure 3. During the course of the first five postoperative days the incidences fluctuated and were highest on the first postoperative day. Analysis of 48 patients who were hospitalized for all 5 postoperative days showed significant differences in the incidences of VD over these 5 days (VPB: p=0.011; Vcouplet: p=0.025; Vrun: p=0.019).

The frequency histogram in panel A of Figure 4 demonstrates the occurrence of different VPB frequencies presented as percentage of the total registered hours. For instance, in 11.5% of the registered hours a VPB frequency of 1 VPB/h was found. Based on the cut-off value of 10 VPB/h², the incidence of 10 VPB/h or less was 72.6% of the registered hours (N=6,598) with a median of 0 (0-5) VPB/h. The incidence of >10 VPB/h was 27.4% (N=2,493) with a median of 44 (14-438) VPB/h. The majority of the VPBs were low frequent (\leq 10 VPB/h), 10.6% were moderate frequent (11-29 VPB/h) and 16.9% were high frequent (\geq 30

VPB/h). Panel B shows the relative frequency distribution of hours with the different VPB frequencies for every patient separately. Sixty-eight of the 105 patients (64.8%) exceeded the low severity class of \leq 10 VPB/h. Remarkably, a large number of these 68 patients (N=57, 83.8%) passed to the high severity class of \geq 30 VPB/h, whereas a minority of 11 patients (16.2%) only showed a transition to the moderate severity class. Vcouplets and Vruns were observed in respectively 10.4% and 3.35% of the registered hours with both most often a frequency of 1 Vrun/h (panel C and D).



Figure 3. Development of incidences in the postoperative phase

Incidences of VPBs, Vcouplets and Vruns for every postoperative day separately.

55





A. Incidence of different frequency classes of VPBs, traditional cut off lines for >10 VPB/h and \geq 30 VPB/h demonstrate the low, moderate and frequent severity. B. Stacked histogram showing the relative frequency distribution of hours with the different VPB frequencies for every patient separately. C,D. Incidence of the different frequency classes of Vcouplets and Vruns as a percentage of the entire registration duration.

Prematurity of VPBs

Due to artefacts in the ECG holter registrations a total of 5,563 VPBs (1,3%) was excluded for analysis on coupling intervals and prematurity indices, as technically reliable identification of the R-peak of the preceding beat could not be assured. The median coupling interval of the VPBs was between 400 and 449 ms for 31.4% of the patients, followed by 450-499 ms (28.6%) and 500-549ms (17.1%). The prematurity indices of 424,443 VPBs were normally distributed (69±11, Panel A of Figure 5). Mean prematurity indices of all VPBs ranged from 67.5-71.0% per post-operative day, as shown in Panel B. Patients, who were hospitalized for all 5 postoperative days (N=38), showed a significant difference in mean prematurity over these days. Yet, this was of no clinical relevance, as mean prematurity indices of these 38 patients ranged only from 68-70%.





A. Normal distribution of prematurity indices, based on 424,433 VPBs. B. presentation of minimum, maximum, mean, p10 and p90 of prematurity indices for every postoperative day separately.

Burdens of ventricular arrhythmias

VD-burdens per postoperative day are summarized in Table 2. The overall median VPBburden was 0.05 (0.002-2.36)%, whereas the overall median Vcouplet- and Vrun-burden were both 0 (0-0.006)%.

Analysis of 48 patients who were hospitalized for all 5 postoperative days showed a significant difference in the distribution of VPB- and Vrun-burdens. However, burdens were highly skewed and of such low values that analysis of a possible increase or decrease prospective in time over all data points was not possible.

Table 2. Burdens ('	%) of ventri	cular dysrhyt	hmias for each pc	ostoperative	day				
Type	Day	Patients	Total amount*	Min.	Max.	Median	P10	06d	P-value
VPB	-	103	80,231	0.001	20.946	0.039	0.005	2.193	0.045
	2	105	73,902	0.000	14.367	0.044	0.003	2.067	
	c	91	117,950	0.000	33.649	0.045	0.000	1.489	
	4	88	114,129	0.000	37.270	0.057	0.001	2.941	
	5	55	43,794	0.000	14.816	0.085	0.002	2.011	
Vcouplet	<i>—</i>	103	472,771	0.000	0.192	0.001	0.000	0.006	0.296
	2	105	1,084,579	0.000	0.659	0.000	0.000	0.003	
	c	91	734,548	0.000	0.577	0.000	0.000	0.003	
	4	88	486,344	0.000	0.221	0.000	0.000	0.009	
	5	55	309,373	0.000	0.177	0.000	0.000	0.009	
Vrun	, -	103	794	0.000	0.315	0.000	0.000	0.018	0.014
	2	105	375	0.000	0.211	0.000	0.000	0.002	
	c	91	799	0.000	0.782	0.000	0.000	0.002	
	4	88	859	0.000	1.021	0.000	0.000	0.001	
	5	55	38	0.000	0.015	0.000	0.000	0.001	
* VPB(nr), Vcouplet(ms), V	ʻrun(s)								

Associations and risk factors

The occurrence of VPBs per patient was correlated with the occurrence of Vcouplets (p<0.001; r: +0.702) and Vruns per patient (p<0.001; r: +0.847), whereas the incidence of Vcouplets was correlated with the incidence of Vruns per patient (p<0.001; r: +0.406).

Univariate predictors of postoperative ventricular dysrhythmias with p \leq 0.15 are demonstrated in Table 3 with their respective odds ratios (OR) and 95% confidence intervals. Significant multivariate predictive factors are also summarized in Table 3. Significant univariate predictive factors for both >10 VPB/h and \geq 30 VPB/h included male gender (>10 VPB/h: OR 2.95 and \geq 30 VPB/h: OR 4.25), hyperlipidemia (>10 VPB/h: OR 2.43 and \geq 30 VPB/h: OR 2.36), left ventricular dysfunction \geq moderate (>10 VPB/h: OR 3.59 and \geq 30 VPB/h: OR 3.69 and \geq 30 VPB/h: OR 4.42), and mitral insufficiency (>10 VPB/h: OR 3.56 and \geq 30 VPB/h: OR 3.70). Significant univariate predictive factors for Vcouplets were the presence of either \geq 10 VPB/h (OR 4.94) or \geq 30 VPB/h (OR 5.46) and age \geq 60 years (OR 3.14) and for Vruns the presence of >10 VPB/h (OR 5.42) or \geq 30 VPB/h (OR 5.39) and Vcouplets (OR 6.15).

Independent risk factors identified with multivariate analysis associated with >10 VPB/h included mitral valve insufficiency and BSA \geq 1.8 m², whereas independent predictors for \geq 30 VPB/h included male gender, mitral valve insufficiency and hyperlipidemia.

Independent predictors of Vcouplets were the presence of >10 VPB/h and age \geq 60 years. The presence of \geq 30 VPB/h and the presence of Vcouplets in the 5 postoperative days were independent predictors of Vruns.

Remarkably, CPB and ACC time were not identified as possible predictors for VD in univariate analysis, nor in multivariate analysis. Also, postoperative CRP levels were not identified as possible predictors for the presence of VD, nor did CRP levels correlate with the number of VPBs (p=0.325), Vcouplets (p=0.346) or Vruns (p=0.537).

			Univaria	te Analy	sis			Mu	ltivariate Ana	lysis
		Present	Absent				I			
	Variable	(%event)	(%event)	OR	95%CI	٩		OR	95%CI	٩
	Mitral insufficiency*	40/49 (81.6)	25/45 (55.6)	3.56	1.40 - 9.03	0.008	Mitral insufficiency	3.80	1.44 - 10.03	0.007
	BSA≥1.8m²*	66/89 (74.2)	7/16 (43.8)	3.69	1.23 - 11.04	0.020	BSA≥1.8m²	4.16	1.20 - 14.44	0.025
I	Male gender*	62/83 (74.7)	11/22 (50.0)	2.95	1.12 - 7.80	0.029				
4/8d,	Left ventricular dysfunction ≥moderate*	25/29 (86.2)	47/74 (63.5)	3.59	1.13 - 11.42	0.030				
\0L<	Hyperlipidemia	43/55 (78.2)	28/47 (59.6)	2.43	1.02 - 5.78	0.044				
<	Tricuspid insufficiency	29/37 (78.4)	36/57 (63.2)	2.12	0.82 - 5.47	0.122				
	Aortic insufficiency	16/19 (84.2)	49/75 (65.3)	2.83	0.76 - 10.61	0.123				
	Alcohol consumption	24/30 (80.0)	47/72 (65.3)	2.13	0.77 - 5.89	0.146				
	Mitral insufficiency*	34/49 (69.4)	17/45 (37.8)	3.70	1.59 - 8.79	0.003	Male gender	5.11	1.45 - 18.07	0.011
	Male gender*	51/83 (61.4)	6/22 (27.3)	4.25	1.51 - 11.99	0.006	Mitral insufficiency	3.13	1.24 - 7.90	0.015
ι	Left ventricular dysfunction ≥moderate*	22/29 (75.9)	34/74 (45.9)	3.70	1.41 - 9.71	0.008	Hyperlipidemia	2.88	1.10 - 7.54	0.031
1/8d/	BSA≥1.8m²*	53/89 (59.6)	4/16 (25.0)	4.42	1.32 - 14.78	0.016				
\0E≤	Hyperlipidemia*	35/55 (63.6)	20/47 (42.6)	2.36	1.06 - 5.25	0.035				
	Aortic insufficiency	14/19 (73.7)	37/75 (49.3)	2.88	0.94 - 8.79	0.064				
	Tricuspid insufficiency	24/37 (64.9)	27/57 (47.4)	2.05	0.88 - 4.81	0.098				
	Thyroid disorder	6/7 (85.7)	49/95 (51.6)	5.63	0.65 - 48.59	0.116				
	>10VPB/h*	66/73 (90.4)	21/32 (65.6)	4.94	1.17 - 14.36	0.003	>10VPB/h	8.21	2.32 - 29.01	0.001
təl	≥30VPB/h*	53/57 (93.0)	34/48 (70.8)	5.46	1.66 - 17.97	0.005	Age≥60years	5.84	1.63 - 20.91	0.007
dno	Age≥60years*	66/75 (88.0)	21/30 (70.0)	3.14	1.10 - 8.95	0.032				
ρŅ	Hyperlipidemia	49/55 (89.1)	35/47 (74.5)	2.80	0.96 - 8.18	090.0				
	BSA≥1.8m²	76/89 (82.9)	11/16 (68.8)	2.66	1.79 - 8.91	0.113				

60

	≥30VPB/h*	38/57 (66.7)	13/48 (27.1)	5.39	2.32 - 12.49	0.000	≥30VPB/h	4.40	1.85 – 10.47	0.001
	>10VPB/h*	44/73 (60.3)	7/32 (21.9)	5.42	2.07 - 14.16	0.001	Vcouplets	4.01	1.01 - 15.86	0.048
	Vcouplets*	48/87 (55.2)	3/18 (16.7)	6.15	1.66 - 22.80	0.007				
unı	Mitral insufficiency	27/49 (55.1)	17/45 (37.8)	2.02	0.89 - 4.61	0.094				
	Aortic insufficiency	12/19 (63.2)	32/75 (42.7)	2.30	0.82 - 6.51	0.115				
	Tricuspid insufficiency	21/37 (56.8)	23/57 (40.4)	1.94	0.84 - 4.49	0.121				
	BSA≥1.8m²	46/89 (51.7)	5/16 (31.2)	2.35	0.76 - 7.33	0.140				
*ent	ered variables for multivariate analyses are marked w	vith an asterisk		500 000						

+ BSA: body surface area; OR: odds ratio; Vcouplet: ventricular couplet; VPB: ventricular premature beat; ‡ missing cases: Valvular insufficiencies(11), left ventricular function(2), smoking(3), hyperlipidemia(3), thyroid disorder(3) § multivariate analyses based on respectively 94, 92, 105, 102 cases for >10VPB/h, ≥30VPB/h, Vcouplet and Vrun

DISCUSSION

The major findings of this study are the high incidences of VD associated with low burdens. Sustained VT or VF did not occur in our cohort. The incidences of VPBs, Vcouplets and Vruns fluctuated during the early postoperative period with the highest incidence on the first postoperative day. Independent risk factors for VPBs are male gender, BSA \geq 1.8 m², hyperlipidemia and mitral valve insufficiency, whereas independent risk factors for Vcouplets are the presence of low frequent VPBs and age \geq 60 years. Independent predictors of Vruns are high frequent VPBs and Vcouplets.

As expected, the frequency of VPBs in patients after CABG is higher compared to healthy subjects. Sajadieh et al.² reported an incidence of \geq 30 VPB/h in 8% of healthy subjects during a recording period of 48 h, whereas in our population \geq 30 VPB/h occurred in 54% of patients within a recording time of 120 h and all patients had VPBs. Although the incidences of ventricular arrhythmias were thus high, none of these patients developed sustained VT or VF. Low incidences of sustained VT and VF after CABG have also been reported by other investigators.^{5-11,15}

Predictive factors for ventricular arrhythmias

The high VPB frequencies in our population can be partially explained by the fact that the frequency of VPBs is known to be significantly higher in patients with structural heart disease than in those without.^{16,17} Although none of our patients had significant valvular heart disease, our study showed that even mild mitral insufficiency may play a role in the pathophysiology of postoperative ventricular dysrhythmias. Mitral valve insufficiency induces stretch on the ventricular myocardium thereby stimulating stretch-activated ion channels which in turn results in alteration of the action potential duration of cardiac myocytes. This may lead to the production of ectopic beats due to transient depolarization when the stretch pulses occur at the end of the action potential or during diastole.^{18,19} A necessary amount of fluids is administered during surgery which may aggravate valvular insufficiency and patients therefore receive diuretics in the immediate postoperative period. We indeed found that the incidences of VD were highest on the first postoperative day and diminished over time.

Stretch of the ventricular myocardium also enhances sympathic activation which in turn increases levels of catecholamine in blood and tissue thereby promoting the presence of VD by inducing an overload of calcium in the myocytes.⁶ Under stressful conditions these high catecholamine are oxidized, generating oxyradicals, which may cause coronary spasms and hence also induce VTA.²⁰

In patients with prior MI, myocyte bundles are interspersed among fibrotic tissue at the infarct rim, creating regions of slow conduction and unidirectional block, favoring the development of re-entrant VTA.²¹ None of our patients with a history of MI developed sustained VT of VF, despite the presence of multiple triggers. This may be explained by the fact that a large number of patients used class II anti-arrhythmic drugs.

Acute systemic inflammatory response to cardiac surgery is known to increase the risk of postoperative atrial fibrillation.²² Inflammatory markers, such as neutrophil and platelet activation, interleukin-6, interleukin-8, c-reactive protein and tumor necrosis factor impair cardiac conduction and are therefore pro-arrhythmic. Acute inflammatory and oxidative stress decrease the upstroke velocity of the action potential by reducing the transmembrane sodium currents.²² In addition to this, inflammation increases intracellular calcium density and thereby enhances triggered activity. The relationship between postoperative inflammatory responses and VTA is still unclear, but enhanced inflammatory response after MI has been reported to increase the presence of VT and VF.²³

VPBs as the sole ventricular dysrhythmia were found in only fifteen patients. As demonstrated by Knotzer et al. these 15 patients are not at risk for developing life-threatening VTA, but the other 90 patients who also had Vcouplets and Vruns could have an increased mortality rate up to 50%.⁶ However, previous studies did not examine the burden of the different types of ventricular dysrhythmias. Our study demonstrated that burdens of these different types of ventricular dysrhythmias are low in most patients, but even in patients with a high burden sustained VT or VF did not develop in the early postoperative phase. Future studies should be aimed at correlating both incidence and burdens of postoperative VD with the occurrence of either early or late VTA in order to determine which patients are at risk.

Limitations

None of our patients developed sustained VT or VF. Hence, the prognostic value of characteristics of postoperative VD as presented in this study needs to be evaluated in a large number of patients with both early and late postoperative VTA.

Conclusions

VD, including VPBs, Vcouplets and Vruns, are common in patients with coronary artery disease after CABG. Despite high incidences of these dysrhythmias, corresponding burdens are low and sustained VT or VF did not occur. Independent risk factors for postoperative VD were male gender, BSA \geq 1.8 m², hyperlipidemia, mitral valve insufficiency, age \geq 60 years. Knowledge of these risk factors may help to identify patients at risk and as a result improve the perioperative and postoperative management of VD. Future studies including patients

Chapter 2

with sustained postoperative VT with long-term follow-up are necessary to analyze the prognostic value of characteristics of VPB, Vcouplet and Vrun for sustained VT or VF in the early postoperative phase and long-term survival.

REFERENCES

- 1. Lee V, Hemingway H, Harb R, Crake T, Lambiase P. The prognostic significance of premature ventricular complexes in adults without clinically apparent heart disease: a meta-analysis and systematic review. Heart. 2012;98(17):1290–8.
- Sajadieh A, Nielsen OW, Rasmussen V, Hein HO, Frederiksen BS, Davanlou M, Hansen JF. Ventricular arrhythmias and risk of death and acute myocardial infarction in apparently healthy subjects of age >or=55 years. Am. J. Cardiol. 2006;97(9):1351–7.
- Ataklte F, Erqou S, Laukkanen J, Kaptoge S. Meta-Analysis of Ventricular Premature Complexes and Their Relation to Cardiac Mortality in General Populations. Am. J. Cardiol. 2013;112(8):1263-70.
- Abdalla IS, Prineas RJ, Neaton JD, Jacobs DR, Crow RS. Relation between ventricular premature complexes and sudden cardiac death in apparently healthy men. Am. J. Cardiol. 1987;60(13):1036– 42.
- Pires a L, Wagshal a B, Lancey R, Huang SK. Arrhythmias and conduction disturbances after coronary artery bypass graft surgery: epidemiology, management, and prognosis. Am. Heart J. 1995;129(4):799–808.
- 6. Knotzer H, Dünser MW, Mayr AJ, Hasibeder WR. Postbypass arrhythmias: pathophysiology, prevention, and therapy. Curr. Opin. Crit. Care. 2004;10(5):330–5.
- 7. Ascione R, Reeves BC, Santo K, Khan N, Angelini GD. Predictors of new malignant ventricular arrhythmias after coronary surgery: a case-control study. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 2004;43(9):1630–8.
- 8. Budeus M, Feindt P, Gams E, Wieneke H, Erbel R, Sack S. Risk factors of ventricular tachyarrhythmias after coronary artery bypass grafting. Int. J. Cardiol. 2006;113(2):201–8.
- El-Chami MF, Sawaya FJ, Kilgo P, Stein W, Halkos M, Thourani V, Lattouf OM, Delurgio DB, Guyton RA, Puskas JD, Leon AR. Ventricular arrhythmia after cardiac surgery: incidence, predictors, and outcomes. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 2012;60(25):2664–71.
- Yeung-Lai-Wah J a, Qi A, McNeill E, Abel JG, Tung S, Humphries KH, Kerr CR. New-onset sustained ventricular tachycardia and fibrillation early after cardiac operations. Ann. Thorac. Surg. 2004;77(6):2083–8.
- 11. Cygankiewicz I, Wranicz JK, Bolinska H, Zaslonka J, Jaszewski R, Zareba W. Prognostic significance of heart rate turbulence in patients undergoing coronary artery bypass grafting. Am. J. Cardiol. 2003;91(12):1471–4.
- 12. Wu Z-K, livainen T, Pehkonen E, Laurikka J, Tarkka MR. Arrhythmias in off-pump coronary artery bypass grafting and the antiarrhythmic effect of regional ischemic preconditioning. J. Cardiothorac. Vasc. Anesth. 2003;17(4):459–64.
- 13. Nelwan SP, van Dam TB, Scholz W, Fuchs KJ, Demur C, Lipton JA, de Wijs MC, van Ettinger MJ, van der Putten NH. Evaluation of a long-term continuous full disclosure archiving system for multiparameter patient monitoring devices. Comput. Cardiol. 2009;36:89–92.
- 14. Baldilini F. The ISHNE holter standard output file format. ANE. 1998;3(3):263-266.
- 15. WHO Obesity and overweight. World Health Organization; updated March 2013. Available from: http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs311/en/

- 16. Bikkina M, Larson MG, Levy D. Prognostic implications of asymptomatic ventricular arrhythmias: the Framingham Heart Study. Annals of internal medicine. 1992 Dec 15;117(12):990–6.
- 17. Hedblad B, Janzon L, Johansson BW, Juul-Möller S. Survival and incidence of myocardial infarction in men with ambulatory ECG-detected frequent and complex ventricular arrhythmias. 10 year follow-up of the "Men born 1914" study in Malmö, Sweden. Eur. Heart J. 1997;18(11):1787–95.
- Trayanova NA, Constantino J, Gurev V. Models of stretch-activated ventricular arrhythmias. J. Electrocardiol. 2010;43(6):479–85.
- 19. Zabel M, Koller BS, Sachs F, Franz MR. Stretch-induced voltage changes in the isolated beating heart: importance of the timing of stretch and implications for stretch-activated ion channels. Cardiovasc. Res. 1996;32(1):120–30.
- 20. Adameova A, Abdellatif Y, Dhalla NS. Role of the excessive amounts of circulating catecholamines and glucocorticoids in stress-induced heart disease. Canadian journal of physiology and pharmacology. 2009;87(7):493–514.
- 21. Kolettis TM. Coronary artery disease and ventricular tachyarrhythmia: pathophysiology and treatment. Curr. Opin. Pharmacol. 2013;13(2):210–7.
- 22. Anselmi A, Possati G, Gaudino M. Postoperative inflammatory reaction and atrial fibrillation: simple correlation or causation? The Annals of thoracic surgery. 2009;88(1):326–33.
- 23. Kaneko H, Anzai T, Naito K, Kohno T, Maekawa Y, Takahashi T, et al. Role o ischemic preconditioning and inflammatory response in the development of malignant ventricular arrhythmias after reperfused ST-elevation myocardial infarction. Journal of cardiac failure. 2009;15(9):775–81.





COEXISTENCE OF BRADY- AND TACHYARRHYTHMIAS IN PATIENTS WITH CONGENITAL HEART DISEASE

Elisabeth M.J.P. Mouws

Danny Veen Christophe P. Teuwen Tanwier T.T.K. Ramdjan Paul Knops Marjolein van Reeven Jolien W. Roos-Hesselink Ad J.J.C. Bogers Natasja M.S. de Groot

SUBMITTED

ABSTRACT

Background: Sinus node dysfunction (SND), atrioventricular conduction block (AVCB) and (supra)ventricular tachycardia ((S)VT) are well-known complications after cardiac surgery for congenital heart disease (CHD). However, the coexistence and order of appearance of these various arrhythmias in CHD patients is yet unknown.

Methods: Patients (N=168, 93 male, 42±15 (10-86) years) with simple (N=37, 22%), moderate (N=67, 40%) or severe (N=64, 38%) CHD visiting the outpatient clinic for checkup of their implantable devices were included. Letters, electrocardiograms (ECG) and 24-hour Holter registrations were reviewed for the onset of SND, AVCB, regular SVT, atrial fibrillation (AF), VT and ventricular fibrillation (VF).

		Incidence	Years to onset
Arrhythmia	Total N(%)	De novo postoperative N(%)	(min-max)
SND	52(31)	49(29)	12(0-52)
SVT	57(34)	54(32)	17(0-58)
AF	47(28)	43(26)	25(0-47)
VT	23(14)	21(13)	25(6-43)
VF	23(14)	19(11)	27(8-52)

Results:

AVCB-II and –III were observed in respectively 38 (23%) and 71 patients (42%). Multiple arrhythmias coexisted in 60 patients (36%). SND and SVT or AF coexisted in 34 patients (20%), in whom SND preceded SVT/AF in 17 patients (50%). SVT and AF coexisted in 20 patients, in whom SVT presented first in 6 patients (30%). Ventricular tachyarrhythmias (N=23, 14%) occurred most often in those who already had SVT/AF (N=17, 74%). Brady- and tachyarrhythmias emerged most often de novo postoperative and frequently developed decades after surgery.

Conclusions: Order of appearance of arrhythmias in CHD patients follows a general pattern: regular arrhythmias usually precede irregular arrhythmias and atrial arrhythmias precede ventricular tachyarrhythmias. Regular surveillance by 24-hour Holter recordings is particularly important in patients with SVT or AF in order to early detect VT.

INTRODUCTION

Sinus node dysfunction (SND) and atrioventricular conduction blocks (AVCB) are wellknown complications after cardiac surgery for congenital heart disease (CHD).¹ Incidences of third degree AVCB (AVCB-III) in operated CHD patients vary from 25% in the early years to 1-2% nowadays, partly depending on the underlying congenital defect and duration of follow-up.^{2–4} In addition, both atrial and ventricular tachyarrhythmias are common in CHD patients due to scar formation after surgical repairs, the use of patch material, chamber distension or increased chamber pressure.¹

Previous studies have investigated the association between atrial fibrillation (AF) and chronotropic incompetence resulting from SND; AF and SND coexisted in 40 to 70% of patients.⁵ It has been suggested that there is an interrelationship between SND and dysfunction of the atrial myocardium as a result of a common underlying mechanism stimulating deposition of fibrotic tissue.⁵ In addition, coexistence of regular SVT and AF has been reported in one third of CHD patients, in whom SVT usually presented first.⁶

Furthermore, an increased risk of sudden cardiac death (SCD) has been reported in patients with AF, implying an increased susceptibility for VT and VF possibly due to shortening of ventricular refractoriness in AF patients.^{7,8} However, the overall interplay between atrial and ventricular tachyarrhythmias remains unknown.

Based on these previous studies, we hypothesized that 1) bradyarrhythmias may precede tachyarrhythmias, 2) ectopic atrial tachycardia, atrial flutter or intra-atrial reentrant tachycardia precede atrial fibrillation an 3) atrial arrhythmias precede ventricular arrhythmias.

In the present study, we therefore investigated the onset and order of appearance of SND, AVCB, SVT, AF, VT and VF in CHD patients.

METHODS

This retrospective study was part of the "DysrhythmiAs in patieNts with congenitAl heaRt diseAse" (DANARA) project (MEC-2012-482), which was approved by the local ethics committee in the Erasmus University Medical Center Rotterdam. Informed consent was not obliged.

Study population

Patients visiting the outpatient clinic for check-up of their implantable cardiac device were included and, based on care-complexity, categorized in simple, moderate and severe CHD according to the guidelines.⁹ In case of multiple CHD, the most complex defect was used to assign patients to one of the CHD groups.

Data collection

Data on the CHD and surgical procedures performed were gathered from digital patient records. All rhythm registrations, including electrocardiograms (ECG), 24-hour Holter recordings and device printouts, were reviewed for documentation of tachyarrhythmias or conduction system disorders. AF was distinguished from all other SVT. SVT included ectopic atrial tachycardia, atrial flutter and intra-atrial reentry tachycardia. First episodes of SND, second or third degree AVCB (AVCB-II, AVCB-III), sustained SVT, AF, (non)sustained VT and VF were collected.

SND was defined as chronotropic incompetence during exercise testing, multiple sinus arrests >2s throughout the day or sinus arrest with escape rhythm, brady-tachy syndrome, or symptomatic sinus bradycardia without the use of betablockers.¹⁰ AVCB- II or III, AF, SVT, VT and VF were also defined according to the guidelines.^{11–13}

SND, AVCB-II and -III, SVT, AF, VT and VF were classified as preexistent when present prior to surgical procedures on the CHD or when a patient did not undergo any surgical procedure. De novo postoperative SND and AVCB-II and -III were subdivided in early (≤1 year after surgical procedure) and late (>1 year after surgical procedure) onset.

Statistical analyses

Normally distributed data are described as means±SD (minimum-maximum). Skewed data are described by medians (minimum-maximum). Differences in means and medians were calculated using a Students T-Test or Oneway ANOVA and Mann-Whitney U test or Kruskal-Wallis test respectively. A chi-squared test or, when appropriate, a Fisher's exact test was used to analyze differences between categorical data.
RESULTS

Study population

Characteristics of the study population are summarized in Table 1. A total of 168 CHD patients (93 male, 55%) were included; age at last follow up was 42±15 (10-83) years. Simple CHD was present in 43 patients (26%), moderate CHD in 61 patients (36%) and severe CHD in 64 patients (38%).

	N(%)			
Population	168			
Male	93(55)			
Age 1 st procedure	2(0-64)			
Age primary procedure	4(0-64)			
Nr. of procedures	2.0±1.3(0-5)			
Age last FU	42±15(10-83)			
CHD severity class	N(%)			
Simple CHD	43(26)			
AVD	12(7)			
PVD	7(4)			
MVD	1(1)			
ASD type II	12(7)			
VSD	11(7)			
Moderate CHD	61(36)			
pAVSD	5(3)			
ASD+VSD	7(4)			
cAVSD	8(5)			
APVR	2(1)			
CoA	6(4)			
Ebstein	7(4)			
TOF	26(15)			
Severe CHD	64(38)			
UVH	23(14)			
TGA	26(15)			
ccTGA	13(8)			
ТА	2(1)			

Table 1. Patient characteristics

APVR: anomalous pulmonary venous return; ASD: atrial septal defect; AVD: aortic valve disease; p/cAVSD: partial/complete atrioventricular septal defect; (cc)TGA: (congenitally corrected) transposition of the great arteries; CoA: coarctation of Aorta; MVD: mitral valve disease; PVD: pulmonary valve disease; TA: truncus arteriosus; TOF: tetralogy of Fallot; TV: tricuspid valve; UVH: univentricular heart; VSD: ventricular septal defect

73

Table 2. Differences between simple, mode	rate and severe CHI	0			
Variable	Total	Simple CHD	Moderate CHD	Severe CHD	۵.
Male	93	23(62)	26(39)	44(69)	0.013
Age 1st procedure	2(0-64)	8.5(0-62)	3(0-64)	0(0-63)	<0.001
Age primary procedure	4(0-64)	8.5(0-62)	5(0-64)	2(0-63)	0.001
Nr. of procedures	2±1.3(0-5)	1.9±1.2(0-4)	2.1±1.3(0-5)	2.1±1.4(0-5)	0.244
Age last FU	42±15(10-83)	45±16(21-83)	43±17(10-81)	38±12(10-78)	0.036
Incidence (%)					
SND	52(31)	12(28)	19(31)	21(33)	0.864
SVT	57(34)	10(23)	17(28)	30(47)	0.019
AF	46(27)	15(35)	15(25)	16(25)	0.441
VT	23(14)	3(7)	8(13)	12(19)	0.218
VF	23(14)	10(23)	6(10)	7(11)	0.105
Median age at onset (min-max)					
SND	15.5(1-65)	19.5(3-62)	20(3-65)	8(1-41)	0.071
SVT	29(3-65)	36.5(16-58)	40(3-65)	25(3-43)	0.045
AF	34.5(14-68)	39(16-58)	38(28-65)	32(14-68)	0.099
VT	33(6-71)	53(21-68)	33.5(15-46)	24.5(6-71)	0.615
VF	37(18-67)	41.5(19-67)	42.5(18-65)	30(24-49)	0.742
Median interval surgery to arrhythmia (min-max)					
SND	12(0-52)	16(0-37)	13(1-52)	7(1-40)	0.832
SVT	17(0-58)	16(0-38)	27(1-58)	18(0-41)	0.624
AF	25(0-47)	22(0-45)	27(11-47)	20(0-41)	0.129
VT	25(6-43)	21(7-29)	28(14-43)	22(6-38)	0.166
VF	27(8-52)	25(8-35)	26(17-52)	30(11-36)	0.609
SND: sinus node dysfunction, SVT: regular supraventricular t	achyarrhythmia, AF: atrial fi	brillation, VT: ventricular tachy	cardia, VF: ventricular fibrillation		

Chapter 3

74

Corrective cardiac surgery was performed in 151 patients (90%). In 33 patients (20%), the first surgical procedure consisted of a palliative treatment in order to bridge time to primary surgical procedure, including pulmonary artery banding, ligation of a patent ductus arteriosus, or establishing a Blalock-Taussig, Waterston, Potts or Glenn shunt.

Most patients (N=99, 66%) underwent multiple surgical procedures. As shown in Table 2, there was no difference in the number of surgical procedures performed between the CHD severity classes (simple CHD: 1.7 ± 1.2 (0-4); moderate CHD: 2.1 ± 1.3 (0-5); severe CHD: 2.1 ± 1.4 (0-5); p=0.244). Patients had their first surgical procedure at a younger age when CHD was more severe (simple CHD: 8.5(0-62) years; moderate CHD: 3(0-64) years; severe CHD: 0(0-63) years; p<0.001, Table 2; Pearson's R -0.301).





Upper panel: incidence of pre-existent and postoperative arrhythmias. Lower panel: time interval from the first surgical procedure to onset of arrhythmia.

Sinus node dysfunction

As shown in the upper panel of Figure 1, brady- and tachyarrhythmias occurred in 123 patients (73%), including 15 patients (9%) diagnosed with arrhythmias prior to surgery and 108 patients (64%) with only postoperative arrhythmias; the remainder of forty-five patients (27%) did not have any brady- or tachyarrhythmia.

Bradyarrhythmia consisting of SND occurred in 52 patients (31%) and included symptomatic bradycardia or sinus arrests with escape rhythm (N=50) or chronotropic incompetence during exercise testing (N=2, 1%). SND was de novo postoperative in 49 patients (29%), whereas it was preexistent in 3 patients (2%).

As shown in the lower panel of Figure 1, the time interval from the *first* surgical procedure to onset of SND was 12 (0-52) years. Time intervals from first surgical procedure to onset of SND was similar between CHD severity classes as shown in Table 2 (p=0.832). Figure 3 provides an overview of the incidence of all arrhythmias for each CHD separately. Incidences of SND were highest in patients with MVD, pAVSD, APVR and TGA (p=0.011).

Atrioventricular conduction block

As displayed in the upper left panel of Figure 2, AVCB-II and –III were observed in respectively 38 (23%) and 71 patients (42%). In the majority of patients, these conduction system disorders were diagnosed after the first surgical procedure (AVCB-II: N=30 (18%); AVCB-III: N=59, 35%). Age at diagnosis of AVCB-II and -III was respectively 25 (0-51) years and 11 (0-63) years. A Wenkebach phenomenon was present in all patients with AVCB-II.

As shown in the upper panel of Figure 2, AVCB-III most often occurred within one year after the last preceding surgery, whereas AVCB–II was more often diagnosed >1 year after surgery (AVCB-III: early: N=44(26%), late: N=15(9%); AVCB-II: early: N=7(4%), late: N=23(14%); p<0.001). The time interval from last preceding surgery to late onset AVCB-II and –III was similar; late onset AVCB-II and AVCB-III occurred respectively 13(2-46) years and 12(2-36) years after surgery (p=0.930).

As displayed in the lower panel of Figure 2, coexistence and progression of different types of AVCB was observed in 27 patients (16%). Of the 38 patients (23%) with AVCB-II, 15 patients also had AVCB-I, of whom 5 patients subsequently developed AVCB-III. Another 3 patients with AVCB-II and 9 patients with AVCB-I showed progression to AVCB-III, resulting in a total of 17 patients (10%) with AVCB-III who initially had AVCB-I or –II.





Figure 2. Atrioventricular conduction blocks

Upper panel: incidence of pre-existent and postoperative atrioventricular conduction blocks (AVCB). Lower right panel: coexistence and progression of the different types of AVCB.

Atrial and ventricular tachyarrhythmias

The incidence of preexistent and de novo postoperative arrhythmias is illustrated in the upper panel of Figure 1. (Supra)ventricular tachyarrhythmias, including SVT, AF, VT and VF, were observed in 105 patients (63%). A minority of 11 patients (9%) had preexistent tachyarrhythmias, of whom 7 patients (6%) had never undergone surgery.

03

De novo postoperative tachyarrhythmias were observed in the majority of patients (N=93, 55%) including SVT (N=54, 32%); AF (N=41, 24%); VT (N=21, 13%; non-sustained: 11, 52%, sustained: 10, 48%) and VF (N=19, 11%). The lower panel of Figure 1 displays the time interval from the *first* surgical procedure to onset of the various arrhythmia (p<0.001), which was 17(0-58) years for SVT and 25(0-47) years for AF. VT occurred after a median of 25(6-43) years and VF after 27(8-52) years.

Table 2 displays that only the incidence and age at onset of SVT differed between CHD severity classes (p=0.019 and p=0.045 respectively). Time intervals from first surgical procedure to onset of all tachyarrhythmias separately were similar between CHD severity classes, with respective p-values of p=0.624, p=0.129, p=0.166 and p=0.609 (Table 2). An overview of the incidence of all arrhythmias for each CHD separately is displayed in Figure 3. Incidences of SVT, AF, VT and VF were similar for each CHD (p=0.117, p=0.846, p=0.330 and p=0.610 respectively).

Coexistence of arrhythmias

The upper left panel of Figure 4 displays incidences of either singular or multiple arrhythmias. Sixty-three patients(38%) had only 1 type of arrhythmia, including SND (N=18, 11%), SVT (N=12, 7%), AF (N=15, 9%), VT (N=9, 5%) and VF (N=9, 5%). A combination of multiple types of arrhythmias occurred in 60 patients(36%), of whom 43(25%) patients had 2 different arrhythmias and 16 patients (10%) had 3 different arrhythmias. In 1 patient(1%) even 4 different arrhythmias were observed.

As shown in the upper right panel of Figure 4, SND combined with either SVT or AF was observed in 34 patients (20%). SND preceded or followed SVT/AF in respectively 17(10%) and 13 patients (8%). In a minority of 4 patients (2%), SVT or AF and SND all developed within the same year. Coexistence of SVT and AF occurred in 20 patients (12%), in whom SVT presented first in 6 patients. Ventricular tachyarrhythmias(N=23) were most often preceded by atrial arrhythmias (N=17, 74%). Coexistence of VT and VF occurred in a minority of 5 patients (3%). The lower panel of Figure 4 displays the order of appearance for each individual patient with multiple arrhythmias separately.



Figure 3. Incidences of arrhythmias for each CHD separately Incidences of SND, SVT, AF, VT, VF for each CHD separately.



Figure 4. Coexistence and order of appearance of arrhythmias

Upper panels: incidence of the number of arrhythmias and coexistence of brady-and tachyarrhythmias. Lower panel: order of appearance of arrhythmias in patients with at least 2 different arrhythmias.

DISCUSSION

Key findings

This study examined coexistence of brady- and tachyarrhythmias in a large cohort of CHD patients with long-term follow-up. In addition, we demonstrated the order of appearance of various arrhythmias throughout CHD patients' lives.

Most arrhythmias developed de novo after cardiac surgery. In patients with either SVT or AF, these coexisted in approximately a quarter of the patients. VT and VF on the contrary coexisted in a minority of patients.

SND presented first after cardiac surgery, followed by SVT, which in turn was succeeded by AF. Consequently, these atrial arrhythmias were followed by VT and finally by VF. In patients with coexistence of SND with either SVT or AF, these arrhythmias did not follow a specific order of appearance.

Conduction system disorders and pacemaker therapy

Conduction system disorders were de novo postoperative in the vast majority of patients and occurred up to decades after surgery. So far, only a few studies, consisting of small populations, have reported the incidence of late onset AVCB-III after open surgery for congenital heart disease.^{15–18} It has been suggested that fibrosis in the surgical area might extend over the years towards the AV-node, causing late onset AVCB-III.¹⁵ A study by Smerup et al. investigated the incidence of postoperative PM implantations in CHD patients and found a biphasic distribution. The majority of PM implantations in their population occurred in the early postoperative phase, whereas a small group of patients received a PM up to 13 years after surgery.³ The main indication for late postoperative PM implantation in their study was SND.³

The present study enabled a more extensive examination of the moment of onset of all AVCB and SND, as it included a large patient population with various CHD and an implanted device. Our findings are in coherence with these previous studies, as the majority of AVCB-III occurred within one year after surgery and only a small subset of patients presented with AVCB-III up to 36 years after surgery. In contrast, most patients with SND, AVCB-I or -II showed late onset.

Atrial and ventricular arrhythmias

Atrial and ventricular brady- and tachyarrhythmias occurred in the vast majority of patients, of whom most had only one type of arrhythmia. Yet, coexistence of these arrhythmias was present in over a third of the patients.

Coexistence of SVT and AF was observed in 12% of our cohort and in 43% of patients with AF. Overall, SVT presented at a younger age than AF. These findings are in coherence with a previous study by Teuwen et al., who investigated the time course of AF in a large cohort of patients with various CHD.⁶ They found coexistence with SVT in approximately a third of patients, in whom most often SVT preceded AF.

Though there was some variety in the order of appearance of these arrhythmias, an overall pattern was observed when considering the time from first surgical procedure to onset of arrhythmia, in which regular arrhythmias preceded irregular arrhythmia and atrial arrhythmias preceded ventricular tachyarrhythmias.

Previous studies have suggested that SVT facilitates AF in CHD patients and often present first.⁶ The proposed underlying mechanism for this finding is that SVT leads to electrical remodeling, resulting in shortening of atrial refractoriness and inverse rate adaption.^{19,20} These alterations facilitate ectopic activity to excite the atria at higher rate, while in normal conditions the refractory period would be too long.^{19,20} In addition, studies have also reported shortening of ventricular refractoriness as a result of AF, which consequently might facilitate ventricular tachyarrhythmias.⁸

Only the incidence of and age at onset of SVT differed between CHD severity classes in our study, whereas timespan till onset of arrhythmia, age at onset and incidence of all other arrhythmia were similar between severity classes. One must take into account that the categorization in simple, moderate and severe CHD by the current guidelines is primarily based on care-complexity⁹. There still is no comprehensive categorization of CHD addressing long term health risks based on the anatomical complexity of the defect.

Limitations

Our study population consisted of patients visiting the outpatient clinic for checkup of their implantable cardiac device. Therefore, caution is warranted when extrapolating incidences of conduction disorders or tachyarrhythmias in our population to CHD patients in general. In addition, one must take into account that the first documented arrhythmic event might not be the first occurrence of this particular arrhythmia, as patients might have had asymptomatic events before.

CONCLUSION

Atrioventricular conduction blocks are most often de novo postoperative and frequently present decades after surgery. In addition, the majority of atrial and ventricular bradyand tachyarrhythmias are de novo postoperative. Coexistence of multiple arrhythmias is common. The order of appearance of brady- and tachyarrhythmias follows a general pattern, in which regular arrhythmias precede irregular arrhythmias and atrial arrhythmias precede ventricular tachyarrhythmias.

As coexistence of arrhythmias occurs in over one third of the study population and ventricular tachyarrhythmias are most often preceded by atrial arrhythmias, regular surveillance by 24-hour Holter recordings is particularly important in patients with SVT or AF in order to early detect ventricular tachyarrhythmias.

REFERENCES

- 1. Clark BC, Berul Cl. Arrhythmia diagnosis and management throughout life in congenital heart disease. *Expert Rev Cardiovasc Ther.* 2015;9072:14779072.2016.1128826.
- 2. Fryda RJ, Kaplan S, Helmsworth JA. Postoperative complete heart block in children. *Br Heart J*. 1971;33:456–62.
- Smerup M, Hjertholm T, Johnsen SP, Pedersen AK, Hansen PS, Mortensen PT, Hansen OK, Hjortdal V. Pacemaker implantation after congenital heart surgery: risk and prognosis in a populationbased follow-up study. *Eur J Cardiothorac Surg.* 2005;28:61–8.
- 4. Ayyildiz P, Kasar T, Ozturk E, Ozyilmaz I, Tanidir IC, Guzeltas A, Ergul Y. Evaluation of Permanent or Transient Complete Heart Block After Open Heart Surgery for Congenital Heart Disease. *Pacing Clin Electrophysiol.* 2016;39:160–5.
- 5. Monfredi O, Boyett MR. Sick sinus syndrome and atrial fibrillation in older persons A view from the sinoatrial nodal myocyte. *J Mol Cell Cardiol*. 2015;83:88–100.
- Teuwen CP, Ramdjan TTTK, Götte M, Brundel BJJM, Evertz R, Vriend JWJ, Molhoek SG, Dorman HGR, van Opstal JM, Konings TC, Van Der Voort P, Delacretaz E, Houck C, Yaksh A, Jansz LJ, Witsenburg M, Roos-Hesselink JW, Triedman JK, Bogers AJJC, De Groot NMS. Time Course of Atrial Fibrillation in Patients with Congenital Heart Defects. *Circ Arrhythmia Electrophysiol*. 2015;8:1065–1072.
- 7. Chen LY, Benditt DG, Alonso A. Atrial fibrillation and its association with sudden cardiac death. *Circ J.* 2014;78:2588–93.
- 8. Denes P, Wu D, Dhingra R, Pietras RJ, Rosen KM. The Effects of Cycle Length on Cardiac Refractory Periods in Man. *Circulation*. 1974;49:32–41.
- Khairy P, Van Hare GF, Balaji S, Berul CI, Cecchin F, Cohen MI, Daniels CJ, Deal BJ, Dearani JA, Groot N de, Dubin AM, Harris L, Janousek J, Kanter RKJ, Karpawich PP, Perry JC, Seslar SP, Shah MJ, Silka MJ, Triedman JK, Walsh EP, Warnes CA. PACES / HRS Expert Consensus Statement on the Recognition and Management of Arrhythmias in Adult Congenital Heart Disease. *Can J Cardiol.* 2014;30:e1–e63.
- Tracy CM, Epstein AE, Darbar D, DiMarco JP, Dunbar SB, Estes NAM, Ferguson TB, Hammill SC, Karasik PE, Link MS, Marine JE, Schoenfeld MH, Shanker AJ, Silka MJ, Stevenson LW, Stevenson WG, Varosy PD. 2012 ACCF/AHA/HRS Focused Update Incorporated Into the ACCF/AHA/HRS 2008 Guidelines for Device-Based Therapy of Cardiac Rhythm Abnormalities. *J Am Coll Cardiol*. 2013;61:e6–e75.
- Page RL, Joglar JA, Caldwell MA, Calkins H, Conti JB, Deal BJ, Estes NAM, Field ME, Goldberger ZD, Hammill SC, Indik JH, Lindsay BD, Olshansky B, Russo AM, Shen W-K, Tracy CM, Al-Khatib SM. 2015 ACC/AHA/HRS Guideline for the Management of Adult Patients With Supraventricular Tachycardia: A Report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Task Force on Clinical Practice Guidelines and the Heart Rhythm Society. *Circulation*. 2016;133:e506-74.

- 12. January CT, Wann LS, Alpert JS, Calkins H, Cigarroa JE, Cleveland JC, Conti JB, Ellinor PT, Ezekowitz MD, Field ME, Murray KT, Sacco RL, Stevenson WG, Tchou PJ, Tracy CM, Yancy CW. 2014 AHA/ ACC/HRS guideline for the management of patients with atrial fibrillation: a report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Task Force on Practice Guidelines and the Heart Rhythm Society. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2014;64:e1-76.
- Priori SG, Blomströ m-Lundqvist C, Mazzanti A, Blom N, Borggrefe M, Camm J, Elliot PM, Fitzsimons D, Hatala R, Hindricks G, Kirchhof P, Kjeldsen K, Kuck K-H, Hernandez-Madrid A, Nikolaou N, Norekval TM, Spaulding C, Van Veldhuisen DJ. 2015 ESC Guidelines for the management of patients with ventricular arrhythmias and the prevention of sudden cardiac death. *Eur Heart J*. 2015;36:2793–2867.
- 14. Aiba T, Shimizu W, Noda T, Okamura H, Satomi K, Suyama K, Kurita T, Aihara N, Kamakura S. Noninvasive characterization of intra-atrial reentrant tachyarrhythmias after surgical repair of congenital heart diseases. *Circ J.* 2009;73:451–60.
- 15. Liberman L, Pass RH, Hordof AJ, Spotnitz HM. Late onset of heart block after open heart surgery for congenital heart disease. *Pediatr Cardiol*. 2008;29:56–9.
- Karpawich PP, Jackson WL, Cavitt DL, Perry BL. Late-onset unprecedented complete atrioventricular block after tetralogy of fallot repair: Electrophysiologic findings. *Am Heart J.* 1987;114:654–656.
- Rosenthal A, Behrendt D, Sloan H, Ferguson P, Snedecor SM, Schork A. Long-term prognosis (15 to 26 years) after repair of tetralogy of Fallot: I. Survival and symptomatic status. *Ann Thorac Surg.* 1984;38:151–6.
- 18. Moss AJ, Klyman G, Emmanouilides GC. Late onset complete heart block. Newly recognized sequela of cardiac surgery. *Am J Cardiol*. 1972;30:884–7.
- 19. Gonzalez-Zuelgaray J, Perez A. Regular supraventricular tachycardias associated with idiopathic atrial fibrillation. *Am J Cardiol*. 2006;98:1242–4.
- 20. Sparks PB, Jayaprakash S, Vohra JK, Kalman JM. Electrical Remodeling of the Atria Associated With Paroxysmal and Chronic Atrial Flutter. *Circulation*. 2000;102:1807–1813.



04

UNREPAIRED TETRALOGY OF FALLOT IN A 61 YEAR OLD WOMAN: A RARE EXAMPLE OF EXCELLENT NATURAL PALLIATION

Elisabeth M.J.P. Mouws

Natasja M.S. de Groot Ad J.J.C. Bogers

CHIRURGIA. 2017; 30(6):247-250

ABSTRACT

Background: Before the advent of surgical intervention, approximately 50% of tetralogy of Fallot (ToF) patients died in the first few years of life and it was highly unusual for a patient to survive longer than 30 years. Thus far, only 12 cases of long-term survival without surgical correction have been described, of which all had cardiovascular complaints.

Case presentation: In this case report, we present a 61 year old patient with unrepaired and unpalliated ToF with 15 years of follow up in our medical center. Despite her very active working and social life and having been pregnant 2 times, she has remained completely asymptomatic over the course of years. Now, at age 61, she still has an excellent clinical condition and exercise tolerance. For this reason, she refuses (surgical) intervention for her progressive pulmonary stenosis, as improvement beyond her present condition can rightfully be discussed.

Conclusions: Long-term survival of unrepaired and unpalliated ToF without any clinical symptoms is extremely rare, though not impossible. Our case even presented without any cardiovascular complaints and has remained in excellent clinical condition.

INTRODUCTION

Before the advent of surgical intervention, approximately 50% of tetralogy of Fallot (ToF) patients died in the first few years of life and it was highly unusual for a patient to survive longer than 30 years.¹

To our best knowledge, only 2 of the 12 previously reported^{2–13} elderly patients aged >60 years with unrepaired and unpalliated ToF did not have any cardiovascular complaints before first presentation, of whom one presented with new onset AF followed by non ST-elevated myocardial infarction² and another with multiple brain infarctions most likely from paradoxical emboli from an inferior caval vein thrombus.³

In this report, we present a rare example of excellent natural palliation in a 61 year old asymptomatic ToF patient with 15 years of follow up in our medical center.

CASE REPORT

In 2001, a then 46 year old woman was referred to our hospital for outpatient follow up of her unrepaired ToF. She had no physical complaints, did all household chores, exercised regularly and had a very active working and social life. Despite counseling to avoid pregnancy, she had 2 uncomplicated pregnancies and delivered 2 children, of whom 1 also had ToF. She smoked 20 cigarettes a day (26 pack years) and only suffered from light shortness of breath when biking further than 25 km or when biking against firm headwind.

Physical examination showed an obese woman (BMI 29 kg/m²), without any signs of central or peripheral cyanosis and a transcutaneous saturation of 98%. She had a regular equal pulse of 72 bpm, blood pressure was 126/76 mmHg and there were no signs of congestive heart failure. The right ventricular impulse was palpable and a grade III/IV rough systolic murmur was audible at the third intercostal space on the left side. Pulmonary auscultation was normal.

Electrocardiogram (ECG), displayed in the upper left panel of Figure 1, showed sinus rhythm (SR) of 73 bpm, PQ-interval of 160ms, QRS-duration of 100ms and an R-axis of +96°. P-wave was enlarged to 0.3 mV with a duration of 140 ms, which was biphasic in the V1 lead. QRS morphology showed an rR configuration in V1, reflecting right ventricular overload. Transthoracic echocardiography showed an overriding aorta, a perimembranous VSD with little diastolic right-to-left shunting and mainly systolic left-to-right shunting with a flow >3m/s. The RVOT was very narrow at the infundibulum with a flow of 3.2 m/s. The

pulmonary valve annulus was of sufficient size, yet flow at the pulmonary valve was 4.1 m/s and the peak gradient was 67 mmHg. Right ventricular pressure was elevated, though both left and right systolic ventricular function were preserved.

As the patient only wanted to undergo surgical correction if there would be a guaranteed improvement of her already good clinical condition, a watchful waiting approach with yearly outpatient follow up was agreed upon.

Over the course of the following years, ECG remained unchanged, showing SR with non-frequent premature ventricular complexes (PVC), as shown in the upper right and lower left panel of Figure 1.



Figure 1. Electrocardiograms and exercise testing during follow up

Upper panels and lower left panel: ECG in 2001, 2006 and 2015. ECG remained stable over the course of 15 years; showing sinus rhythm of respectively 73, 90 and 71 bpm; PQ-interval of 160 ms; QRS-duration of 100-110 ms; QT/QTc duration of 352/378–350/398 and R-axis of +83-96°. Enlarged P-wave of 0.3 mV with a duration of 140 ms, which is biphasic in V1. QRS morphology shows an rR configuration in V1, reflecting right ventricular overload. Occasional premature ventricular complexes were observed. Lower right panel: Exercise test showing an excellent exercise tolerance of 134 W compared to a norm of 118 W (114%), normal increase in heart rate to 165 bpm (102% of target heart rate) and normal course of blood pressure.

Fifteen years after first presentation, at the age of 61 years old, she is still in excellent clinical condition and participates in multiple sports activities. Exercise testing in 2014 showed a tolerance of 114% compared to the norm (134/118 Watt). Blood pressure increased from 130/83 to 150/95 mmHg and heartrate increased from 83 to 165 bpm, as shown in the lower right panel of Figure 1. During the exercise test, there was a mild asymptomatic desaturation to 90%, which improved quickly during recovery. Exercise ECG showed SR with occasional PVC's. Transthoracic echocardiography, as displayed in Figure 2, showed progressive dilatation of the heart in addition to an overriding aorta with a VSD and an almost exclusively left-to-right shunt. Pulmonary stenosis also increased over the years with a peak flow of 4.8 m/s and a peak gradient of 92 mmHg. Pulmonary regurgitant velocity was 2.4 m/s, tricuspid regurgitation jet area was <5 cm² and septal position was not deviated. Nevertheless, left and right ventricular function remained preserved. Till this day, our patient is still completely asymptomatic with an excellent exercise tolerance.





Upper left panel: Ascending aorta (AO) overriding interventricular septum (IVS) and a ventricular septum defect (arrow). Lower left panel: Color flow Doppler imaging illustrating a left-to-right shunt through the ventricular septal defect (arrow). Right panel: Continuous wave Doppler showing infundibular and valvular pulmonary stenosis. AO: overriding aorta; IVS: interventricular septum; LA: left atrium; LV: left ventricle; PV: pulmonary valve; RV: right ventricle; RVOT: right ventricular outflow tract; Vmax: maximum velocity.

DISCUSSION

Most ToF patients present with cyanosis at birth or during the first year of life due to right to left shunting. However, if resistance to flow in the RVOT is less than resistance to aortic flow, a left to right shunt through the VSD will occur. This feature will prevent hypoxemia and no peripheral cyanosis will develop. Our patient had RVOT stenosis, yet not severe enough for pulmonary pressure to exceed aortic pressure, leading to an almost exclusive left to right systolic shunt rather than a right to left shunt.

Early complete surgical correction of ToF is the therapy of choice nowadays, with the concept of preserving both left and right ventricular function as long as possible. In asymptomatic adult patients the arguments for surgical intervention can be discussed in this regard, especially when ventricular function is clinically preserved. The option of surgery has been discussed with our patient on multiple visits, particularly for her increasingly severe pulmonary stenosis, in order to prevent surgery or intervention at an older age with the likelihood of more comorbidities and complications. However, she refused to undergo surgery, as her condition is good and improvement beyond her present condition can rightfully be discussed. Therefore, a watchful waiting policy in rare cases such as this particular patient with excellent natural palliation, is to our opinion an adequate option.

CONCLUSIONS

Long-term survival of unrepaired and unpalliated ToF without any clinical symptoms is extremely rare. We hereby presented a completely asymptomatic patient at age 61 with an excellent clinical condition and exercise tolerance. This case report emphasizes the importance of shared decision making when it comes to (surgical) therapy in asymptomatic patients with severe structural cardiac pathology.

REFERENCES

- 1. Bertranou EG, Blackstone EH, Hazelrig JB, Turner ME, Kirklin JW. Life expectancy without surgery in tetralogy of fallot. *Am J Cardiol*. 1978;42:458–466.
- 2. Alonso A, Downey B, Kuvin J. Uncorrected tetralogy of Fallot in an 86-year-old patient. *Am J Geriatr Cardiol*. 2007;16:38–41.
- 3. Subhawong TK, Teytelboym O. Survival to the age of 87 years in a woman with unoperated tetralogy of Fallot. *J Radiol Case Rep.* 2009;3:14–7.
- 4. Vetrano DL, Onder G, Marano R, Proia AS, Silvestri V, Bonomo L, Bernabei R, Landi F. Unrepaired Tetralogy of Fallot in a 73 year old woman. *Int J Cardiol*. 2013;168:e60–2.
- 5. Semeraro O, Scott B, Vermeersch P. Surgical correction of tetralogy of Fallot in a seventy-five year old patient. *Int J Cardiol*. 2008;128:e98–100.
- 6. Gorla R, Macchi A, Franzoni I, Rosa I, Buzzetti F, Pavon AG, Margonato A. Unrepaired tetralogy of fallot in an 85-year-old man. *Congenit Heart Dis.* 7:E78–81.
- 7. Pentimone F, Mechelli S, Riccioni S, Del Corso L. Longevity in tetralogy of Fallot. The natural history of a 63-year-old man living without surgery. *Minerva Cardioangiol*. 1992;40:279–84.
- 8. Bielik H, Ohlow M-A, Hügl B, Reinig K, Gröger R, Lauer B. First diagnosis of Fallot tetralogy in a 74-year-old man. *Zeitschrift für Kardiol*. 2005;94:205–10.
- 9. Stanescu CM, Branidou K. A case of 75-year-old survivor of unrepaired tetralogy of Fallot and guadricuspid aortic valve. *Eur J Echocardiogr.* 2008;9:167–70.
- 10. Yang X, Freeman LJ, Ross C. Unoperated tetralogy of Fallot: case report of a natural survivor who died in his 73rd year; is it ever too late to operate? *Postgrad Med J.* 2005;81:133–4.
- 11. Hoffmann A, Günthardt J, Gätzi H, Haller M. A 63-year-old man with uncorrected tetralogy of Fallot. *Zeitschrift für Kardiol*. 1995;84:1039–42.
- 12. Thomas SH, Bass P, Pambakian H, Marigold JH. Cyanotic tetralogy of Fallot in a 77 year old man. *Postgrad Med J.* 1987;63:361–2.
- 13. Hučková N, Sekurisová K, Slezáková L, Kusendová K, Zachar A, Szántová M. [Uncorrected Tetralogy of Fallot--a case report of a 69-year-old patient]. *Vnitr Lek*. 2015;61:1088–92.





COEXISTENCE OF TACHYARRHYTHMIAS IN PATIENTS WITH TETRALOGY OF FALLOT

Elisabeth M.J.P. Mouws

Jolien W. Roos-Hesselink Ad J.J.C. Bogers Natasja M.S. de Groot

HEART RHYTHM. 2018; 15(4):503-511

ABSTRACT

Background: The expanding population of adult patients with Tetralogy of Fallot (ToF) requires knowledge of their long-term sequelae. We examined coexistence and order of appearance of AF, other SVT, VT and VF and their impact on survival during long-term follow-up.

Methods: Adult, corrected ToF patients (N=225, 128 male, $41\pm12(19-79)$ years) were included. Medical correspondence, electrocardiograms (ECG) and Holter registrations were reviewed for documented AF, other SVT, VT and VF.

Results: During follow-up (35±9 (16-64) years, sustained tachyarrhythmias, including SVT: N=50 (22%), AF: N=29 (13%), VT: N=20 (9%), VF: N=9(4%), were observed in 71 patients (32%), of whom 27 patients (38%) had coexistence of different tachyarrhythmias. In patients with coexistence of SVT and AF (N=18), SVT most often preceded AF (N=13, 72%). Age at SVT onset was similar between those with and without subsequent AF development (40±17 years vs 35±16 years; p=0.283); yet age at SVT and AF onset were positively correlated (rho 0.585, p=0.011). Prevalence of SVT/AF was associated with VT/VF prevalence (OR 4.59, p<0.001). Although 11% of patients with SVT/AF subsequently develop VT/VF, onset of SVT/ AF could not predict future VT/VF development (OR 1.81, p=0.233). Adult ToF patients are first at risk of SVT development, followed by AF, VT and VF at respectively 46 (43-50), 56 (53-59), 57 (54-61) and 62 (61-63) years after ToF correction; p<0.001). Survival time decreased when sustained tachyarrhythmias developed (p=0.024); age at onset of SVT, AF and VT was positively correlated with age at death (SVT: rho 0.734, p=0.004; AF: rho 0.783, p=0.007, VT: rho 0.755, p=0.050).

Conclusions: Coexistence of different (supra)ventricular tachyarrhythmias is frequently observed in adult ToF patients. In these patients, a specific order of these tachyarrhythmias was observed. Tachyarrhythmias are associated with decreased survival time and, more importantly, age at tachyarrhythmia development positively correlates with age at death.

INTRODUCTION

Supraventricular and ventricular tachycardias (SVT, VT) are the main cause of late morbidity in patients with Tetralogy of Fallot (ToF) and show an increasing incidence with time from surgical repair and with age.^{1–6}

SVT occurs in 3 to 34% of ToF patients, consisting most often of a typical atrial flutter involving the isthmus between the tricuspid valve and the inferior vena cava, whereas focal atrial tachycardia are less frequently observed and often arise adjacent to scar regions and suture lines.^{2–7} In addition, VT have been reported in 5% to 24% of ToF patients and are associated with sudden death.^{2–46,7} Several studies have investigated sudden death in patients with TOF, reporting incidences of 1.5–5%, which increases with duration of follow-up.⁸

Currently, ToF remains the most common cyanotic congenital heart disease and is reported in 0.34 per 1,000 live births worldwide.⁹ In addition, the number of adult ToF patients will continue to increase as a result of the tremendous improvement of surgical therapy in the past decades.¹⁰ Therefore, thorough knowledge of the long-term sequelae for these patients is a necessity.

In CHD patients, presence of atrial tachyarrhythmias has been associated with increased mortality and a higher incidence of heart failure.^{11–13}

Previous studies performed in non-CHD patients have suggested that SVT may precede atrial fibrillation (AF) and that presence of SVT/AF may cause shortening of ventricular refractoriness, thereby increasing the risk of sudden cardiac death due to VT or ventricular fibrillation (VF).^{14–16}

Although several studies have reported on the incidence of various tachyarrhythmias, the coexistence and order of appearance of these various types of tachyarrhythmias during long-term follow-up so far have not been investigated.

The aims of this study are therefore to examine the coexistence and order of appearance of AF, other SVT, VT or VF in a large population of ToF patients during long-term follow-up. In addition, we investigated predictors of tachyarrhythmias and examined the influence of tachyarrhythmias on survival.

METHODS

This retrospective study was part of the "DysrhythmiAs in patieNts with congenitAl heaRt diseAse" (DANARA) project (MEC-2012-482) on development of dysrhythmias in patients with CHD and was approved by the local ethics committee in the Erasmus University Medical Center Rotterdam. Informed consent was not obliged.

Study population

Data of all adult ToF patients who either visited the outpatient clinic or underwent any cardiac intervention at our medical center between 2000 till 2015 and of whom outpatient follow-up at our medical center was available were extracted from the DANARA-database. Last follow-up date was set at June 1, 2016. Patients who did not undergo total ToF correction were excluded. ToF patients with pulmonary atresia, commonly defined as severe ToF, were also excluded from our study, as this was considered a specific subcategory.

Data collection

Clinical data, including surgical procedures performed, administration of medication and echocardiographic data regarding ventricular function, was collected from digital patient records. Surgical reports were reviewed for classification of right ventricular (RV) incision extending into the RV free wall or limited to the infundibulum and to verify the usage of a transannular patch.

Medical correspondence, all electrocardiograms (ECG) and 24-hour Holter registrations were reviewed for documentation of AF, other sustained SVT, sustained VT and VF. SVT, AF, VT and VF were defined according to the guidelines.^{17,18} We did not differentiate between a typical (counter-) clockwise atrial flutter, intra-atrial reentry tachycardia or ectopic atrial tachycardia, as differentiation between these types of SVT cannot always be made based on the surface ECG only.¹⁹ Follow-up period was defined as the time interval in years from the moment of total ToF correction till moment of the last follow-up visit.

Statistical analyses

Normally distributed data are described as mean±SD (minimum-maximum) and skewed data are as median(interquartile range). Differences in means and medians were calculated using a Students T-Test or Oneway ANOVA and Mann-Whitney U test or Kruskal-Wallis test respectively. A chi-squared test or, when appropriate, a Fisher's exact test was used to analyze differences between categorical data. Probability of tachyarrhythmia-free and overall survival throughout the entire follow-up period was estimated by the Kaplan-Meier method.20,21 Comparison of the tachyarrhythmia-free survival curves and of mortality rates

between different patient groups was performed by a log-rank test. Possible predictors of tachyarrhythmias in univariate binary logistic regression were examined by multivariate binary logistic regression analysis in an enter-method, in which the sample contained at least 10 events per variable used in the logistic equation. The combination of factors was based on clinical relevance, odds ratio and high univariate significance. Hosmer and Lemeshow Goodness-of-Fit tests were performed for each multivariate model. Predictors of mortality were assessed by a Cox-regression method.

RESULTS

Study population

Detailed information on patient characteristics is displayed in Table 1. In total, 225 patients (128 male (57%), mean age at last follow-up 41±12 (19-79) years) were included. All patients underwent a total ToF correction at the median age of 3.8 (1.2-7.1) years. Seventy patients (31%) received an aortopulmonary shunt at a median age of 1.7 (0.6-4.3) years; Median duration of exposition to shunt physiology was 4.6 (3.0-7.6) years. Follow-up time after total ToF correction was 35±9 (16-64) years.

Multiple surgical procedures (median: 2(2-3)) were required for the majority of patients (N=181, 80%). Mild right or left ventricular (RV, LV) dysfunction was present in most patients (N=122, 54% and N=113, 50% respectively), whereas a minority of patients had severe RV (N=16, 7%) or LV (N=14, 6%) dysfunction and 118 patients (52%) had both RV and LV dysfunction.

Antiarrhythmic drugs were administered in 68 patients (30%), including class I (N=2, 1%), II (N=37, 16%), III (N=26, 12%) and IV (N=2, 1%). Digoxin was used by 23 patients (10%).

PM therapy was indicated in 24 patients (sinus node dysfunction: 9(4%), complete atrioventricular conduction block (AVCB): 7(3%), second degree AVCB: 4(2%), symptomatic first degree AVCB: 1, AF with slow ventricular response rates: 1, His bundle ablation: 1, unknown: 1). ICD implantation was performed in 21 patients for either primary prevention (N=9) or secondary prevention after VT or VF (N=12).

Variable	N(%)
Number of patients	225
Male	128(57)
Age last follow-up	41±12(19-79)
Age total TOF correction	3.8(1.2-7.1)
Follow up time	35±9(16-64)
Prior palliative shunt	70(31)
QRS≥180ms	37(16)
Right ventricular function	
Normal	56(25)
Mild dysfunction	122(54)
Moderate dysfunction	31(14)
Severe dysfunction	16(7)
Left ventricular function	
Normal	84(37)
Mild dysfunction	113(51)
Moderate dysfunction	14(6)
Severe dysfunction	14(6)
Antiarrhythmic drugs	68(30)
Class I	2(1)
Class II	37(16)
Class III	26(12)
Class IV	2(1)

Table 1. Patient characteristics

Atrial fibrillation and other supraventricular tachycardias

Figure 1 displays the incidence of SVT, AF, VT and VF (upper panel) and age of onset of all tachyarrhythmias separately (lower panel). SVT was present in 50 patients (22%), whereas AF occurred in 29 patients (13%).

Of the 50 patients with sustained regular SVT, 13 patients (26%) underwent an electrophysiology study or ablation procedure, which revealed a typical cavotricuspid isthmus dependent atrial flutter in 7 patients (14%). Only six patients had documented non-sustained SVT episodes 5-13 years prior to development of sustained SVT. SVT presented at a younger age compared to AF (SVT: 36 ± 16 (1-68) years; AF: 44 ± 12 (25-66) years, p=0.023).

Figure 2 illustrates the incidence of each tachyarrhythmia per age cohort separately (upper panel), their period prevalence (middle panel) and the corresponding number of patients at risk for each age cohort (lower panel). Incidence of SVT increased from 2% in patients <10years to 22% in patients \geq 60years (p<0.001). AF occurred after 20years of age, reached a maximum incidence of 14% between 50-59years and decreased to 11% in patients \geq 60years (p<0.001). As expected, prevalence of SVT showed a rapid increase between 30 and 60years of age (p<0.001), whereas AF prevalence increases most between 40 and 60years (p<0.001).





Upper panel: Incidences of SVT,AF,VT and VF in TOF patients. Lower panel: Distribution of ages at onset of tachyarrhythmia.





Age	<10	10-19	20-29	30-39	40-49	50-59	\rightarrow
N at risk	225	225	224	183	107	58	18
SVT	4	5	9	11	10	7	4
AF	0	0	5	4	10	8	2
VT	1	1	3	6	6	1	2
VF	0	2	2	3	0	1	1

Figure 2. Incidence and prevalence of tachyarrhythmias

Upper panel: Incidence of tachyarrhythmias according to age category. Lower panel: Prevalence of tachyarrhythmias per age category.

As depicted in the upper panel of Figure 3, prevalence of both SVT and AF was higher among patients who underwent multiple surgical procedures, increasing from respectively 11%(N=5) and 5%(N=2) of the patients with one surgical procedure (N=44) to respectively 40%(N=14) and 26%(N=9) of the patients with ≥4 surgical procedures (N=35; p=0.017 and p=0.004). Also, arrhythmia burden of both SVT and AF increased with older age at total ToF correction from respectively 5%(N=1) and 0%(N=0) of patients operated at age <6months to 56%(N=22) and 49%(N=19) of patients operated at age >10years, as depicted in the upper panel of Figure 3(p<0.001 and p<0.001 respectively).

Tachyarrhythmia-free survival plots of SVT, AF, VT and VF are displayed in the middle panel of Figure 3. SVT (N=50) and AF (N=28) presented respectively 25 (13-35) and 31 (21-37) years after total ToF correction (p=0.123). In one patient, AF was already present before undergoing ToF correction at the age of 58 years.

Tachyarrhythmia-free survival rates for SVT were 91% after 20 years and 51% after 50 years of follow-up; mean tachyarrhythmia-free survival was 46 years (95%Cl 43-50). Mean tachyarrhythmia-free survival for AF was 54 years (95%Cl 50-58) with corresponding survival rates of 97% after 20 years and 67% after 50 years follow-up. Tachyarrhythmia-free survival of AF and SVT did not differ between the eras of surgical correction (p=0.350 and p=0.282 respectively).

Ventricular tachycardia and ventricular fibrillation

As displayed in Figure 1, VT was present in 20 patients (9%) and VF occurred only in a minority of 9 patients (4%). Three patients with VT also had prior documented non-sustained episodes (3-12 years). VT and VF both presented at a relatively young age (VT: 38±14(9-64) years; VF: 32±16 (16-60) years, p=0.336).

As shown in the upper panel of Figure 2, incidence of VT increased rapidly from 6% in 40-49 year cohort up to 17% in patients \geq 60years (p=0.001). Incidence of VF was similar in each age cohort and also ranged from 1 to 6% (p=0.158).

Period prevalence rates according to age are illustrated in the middle panel of Figure 2. Prevalence of VT showed a rapid increase between 30 and 50years of age (p<0.001), whereas VF prevalence gradually increased to 4% at age \geq 60years (p=0.042). The number of surgical procedures performed did not affect prevalence rates of VT and VF (p=0.260 and p=0.106 respectively), as visualized in the upper panel of Figure 3.



Figure 3. Event-free survival of tachyarrhythmias

Upper panel: Incidence of tachyarrhythmia according to number of surgical procedures performed and according to age at total ToF correction. Middle panel: Kaplan-Meier plot describing tachyarrhythmia-free survival throughout the entire follow-up period for each tachyarrhythmia separately. For every 10-years interval, the number of patients at risk and the number of patients with tachyarrhythmia are provided.

104

However, arrhythmia burden of VT did increase with older age at total ToF correction from respectively 5%(N=1) of patients operated at age <6 months to 23%(N=9) of patients operated at age >10 years, as depicted in the upper panel of Figure 3 (p=0.023). Incidence of VF did not differ between the different categories of age at total ToF correction (p=0.175).

Overall, VT (N=20) occurred 28 (21-34) years after total ToF correction, while VF (N=9) presented after 22 (17-30) years (p=0.274). Tachyarrhythmia-free survival plots of VT and VF are depicted in the middle panel of Figure 3; mean tachyarrhythmia-free survival for VT was 57 years (95%Cl: 54-61) after total ToF correction with survival rates of 98% after 20 years and 71% after 50 years of follow-up. Mean tachyarrhythmia-free survival time for VF was 62 years (95%Cl 61-63) with corresponding survival rates of 98% after 20 years and 94% after 50 years follow-up. Tachyarrhythmia-free survival of VT and VF did not differ between the decades of surgical correction (p=0.405 and p=0.737 respectively).

Order of appearance of tachyarrhythmias

As shown in Figure 3, tachyarrhythmia-free survival was shortest for SVT; AF and VT reached similar tachyarrhythmia-free survival rates, whereas tachyarrhythmia-free survival of VF remained high during long-term follow-up (p<0.001).

The upper panel of Figure 4 displays the coexistence of tachyarrhythmias observed in our cohort. Sustained tachyarrhythmias were observed in 71 patients (32%), of whom 44 patients (62%) had only one tachyarrhythmia (SVT: N=26(37%), AF: N=9(13%), VT: N=5(7%) and VF: N=4(6%)), and 27 patients (38%) showed a combination of 2 or more tachyarrhythmias (2 tachyarrhythmias: N=19 (27%), 3 tachyarrhythmias: N=6 (8%), 4 tachyarrhythmias: N=2 (3%). Hence, coexistence of multiple sustained tachyarrhythmias occurs in 12% of the adult ToF population (N=27).

As displayed in the upper middle panel of Figure 4, these combinations included mostly both SVT/AF combined with VT/VF (N=14, 6%) and SVT with AF (N=12, 5%). A combination of only VT and VF occurred in 1 patient. In patients with SVT and/or AF (N=61), coexistence of these tachyarrhythmias was present in 18 patients (30%). In patients with VT and/or VF episodes (N=24), coexistence occurred in a minority of 5 patients (21%) (upper right panel of Figure 4).

The order of appearance of tachyarrhythmias is displayed in the lower panel of Figure 4. In case of coexistence of SVT and AF (N=18), SVT preceded AF in most patients (N=13, 72%). Age at SVT onset did not differ between those who subsequently developed AF and those who did not (respectively 40±17 years versus 35 ± 16 years, p=0.283). However, age at SVT onset did show a positive linear correlation with age at AF onset (Pearson rho 0.585,

p=0.011). Hence, younger age of SVT development will also lead to younger age of AF development. Of the 61 patients with SVT/AF, 7 (11%) subsequently also developed VT/VF, which is more than one third of the patients with present VT or VF. In 1 patient VF followed 20years after first presentation of VT and only 1 patient presented with VT 16years after VF.





Upper panels: incidence of the number of tachyarrhythmias; incidence of multiple tachyarrhythmias, including coexistence of only SVT and AF, only VT and VF or SVT/AF and VT/VF; coexistence of SVT with AF and of VT with VF. Lower panel: order of appearance of tachyarrhythmias in patients with multiple tachyarrhythmias.

Predictors of tachyarrhythmias

As displayed in Table 2, possible predictors for tachyarrhythmias in univariate analyses included increasing age (OR 1.12, p<0.001), older age at total ToF correction (OR 1.21, p<0.001), number of surgical procedures performed (OR 1.98, p<0.001), duration of follow-up time (OR 1.08, p<0.001), QRS≥180ms (OR 3.62, p=0.001), LV dysfunction (OR

2.72, p=0.002), RV dysfunction (OR 3.03, p=0.005), prior palliative shunt (OR 2.09, p=0.015), extended ventriculotomy exceeding the RVOT (OR 2.64, p=0.009), tricuspid regurgitation (OR 10.72, p<0.001) and mitral regurgitation (OR 8.31, p=0.009).

Use of a transannular patch appeared to be a less important factor for the occurrence of tachyarrhythmias compared to extensiveness of the ventricular incision; no difference was found in the incidence of tachyarrhythmias between patients with an RVOT incision without and with transannular patching (OR 0.38, 95%CI 0.136-1.035, p=0.058). Also, no difference was found between patients with an extended ventriculotomy without and with transanullar patch (OR 0.67, 95%CI 0.180-2.463, p=0.543); whereas patients with extended ventriculotomy (N=39) had a 2.64-fold risk on tachyarrhythmias compared to patients with limited RVOT incision (N=148) or no ventriculotomy at all (N=11).

Although, at last follow-up, prevalence of SVT/AF was associated with prevalence of VT/ VF (OR 4.59, p=0.001), history of SVT/AF could not significantly predict the development of sustained VT/VF in the future (OR 1.81, p=0.233).

Multivariate analyses identified only age at total correction (OR 1.19, p<0.001), follow-up time (OR 1.11, p=0.001) and number of surgical procedures performed (OR 1.93, p=0.001) as independent predictors for atrial or ventricular tachyarrhythmias. Independent predictors for SVT/AF in multivariate analysis also included age at total correction (OR 1.16, p<0.001), follow-up time (OR 1.08, p=0.001) and number of procedures performed (OR 1.68, p=0.004). Tricuspid regurgitation showed a trend towards higher risk of SVT/AF (OR 2.73, p=0.066), as depicted in Table 2. Extended ventriculotomy was the only independent predictor for VT/VF (OR 2.78, p=0.036). QRS \geq 180 ms did show a trend towards a higher risk of VT/VF (OR 2.57, p=0.057) and RV dysfunction did not reach statistical significance in multivariate testing (OR 3.19, p=0.132)

Overall survival

A total of 27 patients (12%) died during follow-up. Main cause of death in our cohort was end stage heart failure (N=12, 5%; age 48 to 78), remaining causes included electromechanical dissociation (N=2, 1%; age 62 and 74), sudden cardiac death (N=2, 1%; age 27 and 40); multi organ failure caused by sepsis due to endocarditis (N=2, 1%; age 23 and 54); postoperative cardiogenic shock (N=1, age 26); rapid progressive aortic stenosis (N=1, age 49). The exact cause of death was unknown for 3 patients (3%; age 31, 33 and 55). Five patients (2%, age 29 to 59) died due to non-cardiovascular causes, including cancer (N=3), neurological degeneration (N=1) and a shooting incident (N=1).





Kaplan-Meier plots describing survival of all-cause mortality and cardiovascular mortality in our cohort (upper panel, 95%Cl dotted line), differences in estimated survival of all-cause mortality between classes of right and left ventricular dysfunction (middle panels) and between patients without and with tachyarrhythmias (lower panels).

108
The upper panel of Figure 5 displays the survival plot of all-cause mortality and cardiovascular mortality in our cohort. Cumulative survival after total TOF correction was 99% after 20 years, 86% after 40 years and 43% after 60 years. Median estimated survival time was 52 years after total ToF correction.

Predictors of mortality

Older age at the moment of total ToF correction was negatively associated with long-term survival rates. For every year of age, survival time decreased with approximately 10% (HR 1.10; 95%CI: 1.070-1.137; p<0.001). In addition, survival rates were decreased in patients who had undergone palliative shunting prior to total ToF correction (p=0.040); corresponding HR for decrease in survival time when undergoing prior palliative shunting was 2.23 (95%CI 1.01-4.94, p=0.048). Moreover, longer exposition to shunt physiology also decreased survival time (HR 1.12 per year; 95%CI 1.06-1.18, p<0.001).

As shown in the middle panels of Figure 5, both RV and LV dysfunction \geq moderate decreased long-term survival rates (p<0.001 and p=0.006 respectively) with corresponding HR for decrease in survival time of respectively 5.87 (95%Cl 2.6-13.26, p<0.001) and 2.90 (95%Cl 1.30-6.45, p=0.009).

Presence of sustained tachyarrhythmias also affected survival times (p=0.024) with a corresponding HR of 2.62 (95%CI 1.10-6.22; p=0.030). Furthermore, a positive linear relation was observed for age at onset of SVT, AF and VT with age at death (SVT: Pearson rho 0.734, p=0.004; AF: Pearson rho 0.783, p=0.007; VT: Pearson rho 0.755, p=0.050); age at onset of VF was not correlated with age at death (Pearson rho: 0.257, p=0.835). No significant difference in survival was observed between patients without tachyarrhythmia, only SVT/AF or (SVT/ AF and) VT/VF (p=0.077, Figure 5).

Table 2. Univariate and multivariate	e analysis o	f risk factors							
		Any Arrhythmia	_		SVT/AF			VT/VF	
Univariate analysis	OR	95%CI	4	ß	95%CI	۵.	ß	95%CI	4
Age last follow-up (per year)	1.12	1.077-1.148	<0.001	1.13	1.088-1.168	<0.001	1.05	1.016-1.085	0.004
Age total ToF correction (per year)	1.21	1.126-1.289	<0.001	1.21	1.131-1.295	<0.001	1.03	0.992-1.075	0.119
Follow-up time (per year)	1.08	1.046-1.124	<0.001	1.09	1.051-1.134	<0.001	1.07	1.018-1.120	0.007
Nr. of surgical procedures	1.98	1.484-2.268	<0.001	1.82	1.375-2.418	0.001	1.53	1.075-2.177	0.018
QRS≥180ms	3.62	1.752-7.490	0.001	3.67	1.768-7.617	<0.001	2.97	1.164-7.557	0.023
QRS duration (per ms)	1.02	1.013-1.034	< 0.001	1.02	1.010-1.031	<0.001	1.03	1.011-1.045	0.001
LV dysfunction	2.72	1.432-5.161	0.002	2.50	1.276-4.896	0.008	3.31	1.089-10.03	0.035
RV dysfunction	3.03	1.389-6.593	0.005	2.32	1.059-5.085	0.035	4.04	0.919-17.76	0.065
Tricuspid regurgitation ≥moderate	10.72	4.344-26.47	<0.001	9.72	4.147-22.76	<0.001	6.12	2.418-15.50	<0.001
Extended ventriculotomy*	2.64	1.276-5.450	600.0	2.76	1.309-5.825	0.008	3.16	1.193-8.380	0.021
Prior palliative shunt	2.09	1.153-3.773	0.015	2.03	1.097-3.743	0.024	2.04	0.863-4.805	0.104
Duration of shunt physiology (per year)	1.37	1.118-1.686	0.002	1.32	1.094-1.584	0.004	1.00	0.917-1.084	0.946
Mitral regurgitation ≥moderate	8.31	1.681-41.11	600.0	10.50	2.117-52.08	0.004	4.64	1.081-19.94	0.039
Male gender	0.82	0.465-1.442	0.489	0.78	0.433-1.411	0.414	1.97	0.782-4.956	0.150
SVT/AF prevalence at last follow-up	I	I	I	I	ı	ı	4.59	1.913-11.002	0.001
History of SVT/AF	I	ı	I	I		1	1.35	0.528-3.450	0.532
Multivariate analysis									
Age last follow-up (per year)									
Age total ToF correction (per year)	1.19	1.101-1.292	<0.001	1.16	1.084-1.240	< 0.001			
Follow-up time (per year)	1.11	1.041-1.181	0.001	1.08	1.033-1.131	0.001			
Nr. of surgical procedures	1.93	1.301-2.859	0.001	1.68	1.184-2.374	0.004			

Chapter 5

110

QRS≥180ms	2.47	0.893-6.845	0.081				2.57	0.974-6.790	0.057
QRS duration (per ms)									
LV dysfunction	2.34	0.971-5.656	0.058	1.42	0.630-3.199	0.397			
RV dysfunction							3.19	0.704-14.45	0.132
Tricuspid regurgitation ≥moderate				2.73	0.937-7.967	0.066			
Extended ventriculotomy*	0.43	0.138-1.365	0.153				2.78	1.067-7.249	0.036
Prior palliative shunt									
Mitral regurgitation ≥moderate									
Male gender									
Hosmer and Lemeshow Goodness-of-fit			0.967			0.869			0.691
*missing data for 27 cases									

Coexistence of tachyarrhythmias in tetralogy of Fallot

DISCUSSION

Key findings

Different types of tachyarrhythmias develop in adult ToF patients over time, affecting almost one third of the population and coexistence of multiple tachyarrhythmias was found in almost 40%. In patients with SVT and/or AF, the majority of the patients had coexistence of these tachyarrhythmias and presented initially with SVT before developing AF. Coexistence of VT and VF is observed in only a minority of patients. A small number of patients with SVT/ AF will develop VT/VF over time, which, however, is over one third of the total population with VT or VF.

Independent predictors for atrial and ventricular tachyarrhythmias were age at ToF correction, follow-up duration, number of surgical procedures performed, extended ventriculotomy incision and QRS \geq 180ms.

Event-free survival times of tachyarrhythmias are significantly different, with SVT occurring first, followed by AF and VT, which are consequently followed by VF. Although long-term survival after corrective surgery is excellent, presence of sustained tachyarrhythmias significantly decreases survival time.

Incidence of tachyarrhythmias

Our study reports on the incidence of tachyarrhythmias during a follow-up period up to 60 years after total ToF correction. As expected, incidences observed in our cohort were slightly higher compared to previous studies^{2,4,6,7,22}, due to >60 years follow-up, a mean population age of over 40 years at last follow-up and the use of all retrospectively available rhythm registrations.

Estimates of tachyarrhythmia-free survival were relatively high up to 30 years after ToF correction. However, in accordance with our observed incidences at age of onset per tachyarrhythmia, tachyarrhythmia-free survival rates decreased fast after approximately 35 years follow-up, which was not influenced by the era of surgical correction. Only for VF, tachyarrhythmia-free survival remained high up to >50 years follow-up.

Several predictors of SVT/AF and VT/VF were identified. Extended ventriculotomy was a strong independent predictor for VT/VF, whereas QRS \geq 180ms was only borderline significant; RV dysfunction was not a predictor for VT/VF. Due to the relatively limited number of patients with VT/VF, tricuspid insufficiency was not added to the multivariate

model, as this decreased the goodness of fit level. However, these risk factors are closely intertwined; RV dysfunction and dilation due to pressure and volume overload as a result of pulmonary regurgitation results in QRS prolongation and tricuspid regurgitation.

In contrast to previous studies²³, the number of surgical procedures performed did not influence the incidence of VT or VF in our cohort, which may be due to the limited number of patients per category for this specific analysis.

Overall survival was negatively associated with prior palliative shunting and older age at the moment of total ToF correction in our cohort, which was not reported previously.²² This could be explained by the fact that, in contrast to previous studies, our cohort was not selected on age at total ToF correction. Furthermore, age at onset of tachyarrhythmias was positively correlated with age at death.

Order of appearance of tachyarrhythmias

Our study demonstrates the order of appearance of SVT, AF, VT and VF in a large cohort of ToF patients. In patients with tachyarrhythmias, almost 40% had multiple types. In patients with atrial tachyarrhythmias, SVT and AF coexisted in almost a third. Previous studies have reported possible underlying mechanisms of this finding, including a facilitating role of SVT for the development of AF.^{15,16} Electrical remodeling that occurs when SVT arises, causes shortening of the refractory period of the atria.^{15,16} This in turn enables excitation of the atria by fibrillation waves with short intervals, derived from the pulmonary vein area.^{15,16} Our findings support this theory, as SVT generally presented first, followed by AF.

In addition, over 10% of SVT/AF patients in our cohort developed VT/VF during life. In a previous study, the presence of AF is reported to shorten ventricular refractoriness, facilitating the initiation of ventricular tachyarrhythmias.¹⁴ Whether, this might be an additional underlying mechanism in this specific population with often a substantial RV scar remains debatable. Although the overall incidence of VT and VF in the entire cohort was relatively low, these tachyarrhythmias can lead to severe morbidity and even death. Therefore, regular non-invasive surveillance by ECG or Holter monitoring in this patient group remains warranted.

Although our cohort included patients undergoing total ToF correction over a timespan of multiple eras, this did not influence tachyarrhythmia-free survival of AF, SVT, VT and VF. This further underlines the importance of these findings for current clinical practice. Patients operated in the 1970's and 1980's are now reaching the age of first arrhythmia development and will be entering the outpatient clinics of current and future practice.

Limitations

Due to the retrospective nature of our study, patients who had no indication to visit an academic cardiology outpatient clinic and did not undergo any cardiac intervention in this time span of 15 years are not included. In addition, although holter registrations were available for all patients, patients could still have had asymptomatic episodes of tachyarrhythmia besides those documented in digital patient records.

CONCLUSION

Different types of tachyarrhythmias affect almost one third of the adult ToF population and coexistence of multiple atrial and ventricular tachyarrhythmias is frequently observed. In case of coexistence of SVT and AF, SVT most often developed first. A small number of patients with SVT/AF will develop VT/VF over time, which, however, is over one third of the total population with VT or VF. Event-free survival rates of tachyarrhythmias remain high up to 30 years after TOF correction, yet decreases fast after approximately 35 years follow-up, regardless of era of surgical management. Only for VF, event-free survival remains >90% up to >50 years follow-up. Overall survival of patients after corrective surgery is excellent with a survival rate above 80% up to approximately 45 years follow-up. Presence of sustained tachyarrhythmias is associated with decreased overall survival rates.

REFERENCES

- 1. Le Gloan L, Guerin P, Mercier L-A, Abbey S, Dore A, Marcotte F, Ibrahim R, Poirier NC, Khairy P. Clinical assessment of arrhythmias in tetralogy of Fallot. *ExpertRev CardiovascTher*. 2010;8:189–97.
- 2. Wu MH,Lu CW,Chen HC,Chiu SN,Kao FY,Huang SK.Arrhythmic burdens in patients with tetralogy of Fallot:A national database study.*HeartRhythm*.2015;12:604–609.
- 3. Khairy P,Balaji S.Cardiac Arrhythmias In Congenital Heart Diseases.*IndianPacingElectrophysio IJ.*2009;9:299–317.
- Gatzoulis MA,Balaji S,Webber SA,Siu SC,Hokanson JS,Poile C,Rosenthal M,Nakazawa M,Moller JH,Gillette PC,Webb GD,Redington AN.Risk factors for arrhythmia and sudden cardiac death late after repair of tetralogy of Fallot:a multicentre study.*Lancet (London, England)*.2000;356:975–81.
- 5. Harrison DA,Siu SC,Hussain F,MacLoghlin CJ,Webb GD,Harris L.Sustained atrial arrhythmias in adults late after repair of tetralogy of fallot.*AmJCardiol*.2001;87:584–8.
- 6. Khairy P, Aboulhosn J, Gurvitz M et al. Arrhythmia burden in adults with surgically repaired tetralogy of Fallot: a multi-institutional study. *Circulation*. 2010;122:868–75.
- 7. Roos-Hesselink J, Perlroth MG, McGhie J, Spitaels S. Atrial arrhythmias in adults after repair of tetralogy of Fallot. Correlations with clinical, exercise, and echocardiographic findings. *Circulation*. 1995;91:2214–9.
- 8. Papagiannis JK.Postoperative arrhythmias in tetralogy of Fallot.*HellJCardiol HJC=HellēnikēKardiol Ep.*2005;46:402–7.
- van der Linde D,Konings EEM,Slager MA,Witsenburg M,Helbing WA,Takkenberg JJM,Roos-Hesselink JW.Birth prevalence of congenital heart disease worldwide:a systematic review and meta-analysis.JAmCollCardiol.2011;58:2241–7.
- 10. Marelli AJ,Mackie AS,Ionescu-Ittu R,Rahme E,Pilote L.Congenital heart disease in the general population:changing prevalence and age distribution.*Circulation*.2007;115:163–72.
- 11. Bouchardy J,Therrien J,Pilote L,Ionescu-Ittu R,Martucci G,Bottega N,Marelli AJ.Atrial Arrhythmias in Adults With Congenital Heart Disease.*Circulation*.2009;120:1679–1686.
- 12. Ghai A, Harris L, Harrison DA, Webb GD, Siu SC. Outcomes of late atrial tachyarrhythmias in adults after the Fontan operation. *JAmCollCardiol*. 2001;37:585–92.
- 13. Kammeraad JAE,van Deurzen CHM,Sreeram N,Bink-Boelkens MTE,Ottenkamp J,Helbing WA,Lam J,Sobotka-Plojhar MA,Daniels O,Balaji S.Predictors of sudden cardiac death after mustard or senning repair for transposition of the great arteries.*JAmCollCardiol*.2004;44:1095–1102.
- 14. Denes P,Wu D,Dhingra R,Pietras RJ,Rosen KM.The Effects of Cycle Length on Cardiac Refractory Periods in Man.*Circulation*.1974;49:32–41.
- 15. Gonzalez-Zuelgaray J, Perez A. Regular supraventricular tachycardias associated with idiopathic atrial fibrillation. *AmJCardiol*. 2006;98:1242–4.
- 16. Sparks PB, Jayaprakash S, Vohra JK, Kalman JM. Electrical Remodeling of the Atria Associated With Paroxysmal and Chronic Atrial Flutter. *Circulation*. 2000;102:1807–1813.
- 17. American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Task Force, and the European Society of Cardiology Committee for Practice Guidelines.ACC/AHA/ESC Guidelines for the management of patients with supraventricular arrhythmias.2003.

- 18. Priori SG,Blomström-Lundqvist C,Mazzanti A et al.2015 ESC Guidelines for the management of patients with ventricular arrhythmias and the prevention of sudden cardiac death. *EurHeartJ.*2015;36:2793–2867.
- 19. Aiba T,Shimizu W,Noda T,Okamura H,Satomi K,Suyama K,Kurita T,Aihara N,Kamakura S.Noninvasive characterization of intra-atrial reentrant tachyarrhythmias after surgical repair of congenital heart diseases.*CircJ*.2009;73:451–60.
- 20. Kaplan E., Meier P. Nonparametric Estimation from Incomplete Observations. *JAmStatAssoc*.1958;53:457–481.
- 21. Rich JT,Neely JG,Paniello RC,Voelker CCJ,Nussenbaum B,Wang EW.A practical guide to understanding Kaplan-Meier curves.*Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg*.2010;143:331–6.
- 22. Cuypers JAAE, Menting ME, Konings EEM et al. Unnatural history of tetralogy of fallot: Prospective follow-up of 40 years after surgical correction. *Circulation*. 2014;130:1944–1953.
- 23. Le Gloan L,Khairy P.Management of arrhythmias in patients with tetralogy of Fallot. *CurrOpinCardiol*.2011;26:60–5.



06

PROGRESSION OF LATE POST-OPERATIVE ATRIAL FIBRILLATION IN PATIENTS WITH TETRALOGY OF FALLOT

Tanwier T.T.K. Ramdjan* Elisabeth M.J.P. Mouws* Christophe P. Teuwen

Gustaf S. Sitorus Charlotte A. Houck Jolien W Roos-Hesselink Ad J.J.C. Bogers Natasja M.S. de Groot

*Shared first authorship

JOURNAL OF CARDIOVASCULAR ELECTROPHYSIOLOGY 2018; 29(1):30-37

ABSTRACT

Background: ToF patients are at risk for ventricular deterioration at a relatively young age, which can be aggravated by development of atrial fibrillation (AF). Therefore, knowledge on AF development and its timespan of progression is essential to guide treatment strategies for AF. We examined late post-operative AF onset and progression in ToF patients during long-term follow-up after ToF correction. In addition, coexistence of AF with regular supraventricular tachyarrhythmias (SVT) and ventricular tachyarrhythmias (VTA) was analysed.

Methods: ToF patients (N=29) with AF after ToF correction referred to the electrophysiology department between 2000 and 2015 were included. All available rhythm registrations were reviewed for AF, regular SVT and VTA. AF progression was defined as transition from paroxysmal AF to (longstanding) persistent/permanent AF or from (longstanding) persistent AF to permanent AF.

Results: At the age of 44±12 years, ToF patients presented with paroxysmal (N=14, 48%), persistent (N=13, 45%) or permanent AF (N=2, 7%). Age of AF development was similar among patients who either underwent initial shunt creation (N=15, 45±11 (25-57) years) or primary total ToF correction (N=14, 43±13 (26-66) years) (p=0.785). AF coexisted with regular SVT (N=18, 62%) and VTA (N=13, 45%). Progression of AF occurred in 11 patients (38%) within 5±5 years after AF onset despite antiarrhythmic drug class II (AAD, p=0.052) or III (p=0.587) usage.

Conclusions: AF in our ToF population developed at a young age and showed rapid progression. Rhythm-control by pharmacological therapy was ineffective in preventing AF progression.

INTRODUCTION

Tetralogy of Fallot (ToF) is the most prevalent cyanotic congenital heart disease (CHD); approximately 4% of all patients with CHD are diagnosed with ToF.¹⁻² As a result of improved medical care and advances in surgical techniques since the 1950s, more than 85% of the ToF patients nowadays survive into adulthood.¹ However, new challenges arose since long-term complications, such as tachyarrhythmias, became more prevalent. In the registry of the Alliance for Adult Research in Congenital Cardiology (AARCC), up to 43% of the 556 ToF patients had tachyarrhythmias.³

In previous studies, ventricular tachyarrhythmias (VTA) with potentially devastating consequences were frequently observed.^{4,5} However, the prevalence of supraventricular tachyarrhythmias (SVT) is also considerably high.^{6,7} SVT were present in 20% of the patients included in the AARCC registry; intra-atrial reentrant tachyarrhythmias (IART) were most prevalent (12%) whereas 7% had atrial fibrillation (AF). The incidence of AF increases with age and is more prevalent in ToF patients older than 55 years. The mechanism underlying AF development in ToF patients is unknown. Previous studies identified palliative shunting prior to total ToF correction as a predictor for SVT and AF.⁶ Also, it was suggested that regular SVT might facilitate development of AF in CHD patients.⁸ Due to multiple surgical procedures and often long-term pressure and volume overload, ToF patients are at risk for ventricular deterioration at a relatively young age, which can be aggravated by AF development.⁹⁻¹¹

Therefore, particularly in ToF patients, knowledge on AF development and its timespan of progression is essential to guide treatment strategies for AF. Individualized AF therapy may thereby contribute to maximal preservation of ventricular function in these patients.

The aims of this study were to examine 1) onset of AF in a cohort of patients who underwent total ToF correction in relation to clinical profiles and 2) progression of late, post-operative AF in ToF patients during long-term follow-up.

METHODS

This retrospective longitudinal study was part of the "DysrhythmiAs in patieNts with congenitAl heaRt diseAse" (DANARA) project (MEC-2012-482) and was approved by the local ethics committee of the Erasmus University Medical Center Rotterdam. Informed consent was not obliged.

Study population

All corrected ToF patients with documented AF episodes referred to the electrophysiology department between 2000 and 2015 were included in this study (N=29); patients with pulmonary atresia were excluded. Data on demographics and clinical characteristics including, echocardiograms, cardiac surgery, prescribed antiarrhythmic drugs (AAD), outcomes of electrocardioversions (ECV) or death were retrieved from the patient medical records.

Clinical data

All rhythm registrations collected during routine visits at the outpatient clinic, hospitalization or at the emergency room including electrocardiograms (ECG), 24-hour Holter registrations and device print outs were reviewed for episodes of AF or regular SVT. An irregular rhythm combined with a clear beat-to-beat variation in the morphology of atrial waves was considered as AF. AF was categorized as paroxysmal, persistent or permanent AF according to the ESC guidelines for the management of AF.¹²

The investigators did not differentiate between a typical (counter-) clockwise atrial flutter, IART or ectopic atrial tachycardia, as differentiation between these types of SVT cannot always be made based on the surface ECG only. AF progression was defined as transition from paroxysmal AF to (long-standing) persistent/permanent AF or from (longstanding) persistent AF to permanent AF. In addition to the occurrence of AF and regular SVT, rhythm registrations were also reviewed for occurrence of VTA, including non-sustained and sustained ventricular tachycardia (nsVT, sVT) and ventricular fibrillation (VF).

ECG characteristics obtained from a standard resting ECG (25mm/s) included QRS duration and QT dispersion; QT interval was measured from the onset of the QRS wave to the end of the T wave, defined as a return to T-P baseline. Data regarding right atrial (RA) dilation and right ventricular (RV) dysfunction were obtained from echocardiography. RV end diastolic volumes (RVEDV) were retrieved from cardiac MRI.

Statistical analysis

Normally distributed continuous variables were expressed as mean \pm standard deviation; skewed data were presented as median (minimum-maximum). Student's t-test, ANOVA test and Mann-Whitney U test were used to compare patient groups. Categorical data were denoted by percentages and compared with the X² test or Fisher's exact test. A p-value of <0.05 was considered statistically significant. Statistical analysis was performed with SPSS, version 21 (IBM, Armonk, New York).

RESULTS

Study population

The study population consisted of 29 ToF patients (18 male). As shown in Table 1, 15 patients (52%) underwent palliative shunting prior to total ToF correction. Median age at the time of shunt creation was 4 (0.6-13) years. Total ToF correction was performed at a median age of 14 (0.6-58) years; patients with prior palliative shunt: 13 (3-58) years; primary total ToF correction: 15 (0.6-29) years (p=0.477). Age at last follow-up was 55±12 (32-79) years.

Table 1. Patient characteristics	
Population (N)	29
Male gender (N(%))	18(62)
Prior palliative shunt	15(52)
Age palliative shunt	4(0.6-13)
Age total ToF correction	14(0.6-58)
Age first AF episode	44±12(25-72)
Age last follow-up	55±12(32-79)
AF onset	N(%)
Paroxysmal	14(48)
Persistent	13(45)
Permanent	2(7)
Right bundle branch block*	
Complete	20(69)
Incomplete	2(7)
QRS duration (ms)*	150±38(90-226)
≥180ms	7(24)
QT dispersion	92±42(40-200)
RA dilation*	19(66)
RV end diastolic volume*	211±89(95-400)
RVF*	1(3)
Normal	12(41)
Mild dysfunction	5(17)
Moderate dysfunction	7(24)
Severe dysfunction	

*missing clinical data: QRS duration (4), RA dilation (3), RVF (4), cardiac MRI RVEDV (14). RA: right atrium, RVF: right ventricular function, MRI: magnetic resonance imaging, RVEDV: right ventricular end-diastolic volume.

06

Twenty patients (69%) demonstrated a complete right bundle branch block (RBBB) and 2 patients had incomplete RBBB (7%). Mean QRS duration prior to AF onset was 150±38 (90-226) ms and 7 patients (24%) had a QRS duration \geq 180ms. Mean QT-dispersion was 92±42 (40-200) ms. Echocardiographic examination at the time of AF observation showed right atrial (RA) dilatation (N=19, 66%) and a mild (N=12, 41%), moderate (N=5, 17%) or severe (N=7, 24%) RV dysfunction. Data regarding either atrial dilatation or right ventricular function prior to AF onset was not available in respectively 3 and 4 patients. Fifteen patients underwent cardiac MRI, in whom mean RVEDV was 211±89 (95-400) ml.

Onset of atrial fibrillation

The upper panel of Figure 1 illustrates age at first AF episode for each patient individually; patients are ranked according to the age of AF onset. Onset of AF occurred at a mean age of 44 ± 12 (25-72) years, which was 28 ± 14 years after total ToF correction. In one patient, AF occurred 47 years after palliative shunting, yet before undergoing total ToF correction. As shown in the lower panels of Figure 1, age at first AF episode tended to decrease in more recent decades, yet this did not reach statistical significance (p=0.063). Time interval from total ToF correction to onset to first AF episode, however, was significantly shorter in more recent decades of surgical management (p=0.005). The first AF episode was paroxysmal (N=14, 48%), persistent (N=13, 45%) or permanent (N=2, 7%); therapy consisted of only rate control in two patients presenting with persistent AF and they were therefore labeled as having permanent AF.

We subdivided the study population into two groups; patients who underwent prior palliative shunting followed by total ToF correction and patients who underwent primary total ToF correction. At first presentation of AF, the incidence of RA dilation did not differ between patients without and with palliative shunting (N=9(64%) versus N=10(67%) respectively, p=0.893). Also, no difference was observed in the incidence of moderate or severe RV dysfunction (N=7, 50% versus N=6, 40% respectively, p=0.588). As illustrated in the left panel of Figure 2, patients who underwent prior palliative shunting developed AF at the same age as patients who underwent initial ToF correction respectively at 45±11 (25-72) years and 43±13 (25-57) years (p=0.785). Time interval from total ToF correction to onset of AF also was similar between patients without and with prior palliative shunting (30±10 (10-46) years and 27±15 (0-47) years respectively, p=0.544).





Upper panel: age at first AF episode for every individual patient is demonstrated. Lower panels: age at first AF episode and interval from total ToF correction to first AF episode according to decade of total ToF correction.



Figure 2. Differences in AF onset

Left panel: Age at AF onset in patients without and with prior palliative shunting. Right panel: time interval from total ToF correction to AF onset in patients without and with prior palliative shunting.

Coexistence of atrial and ventricular tachyarrhythmias

As shown in the left panel of Figure 3, coexistence of AF and regular SVT was reported in 18 patients (62%), in whom SVT most often presented prior to AF (N=13, 76%) (10±12 years prior). In three patients, episodes of both regular SVT and AF were documented in the same year. In two patients, SVT presented respectively 6 and 22 years after onset of AF. A total of 4 patients underwent catheter ablation for SVT. In 2 patients, SVT ablation was performed respectively 1 and 1.6 years prior to AF onset, whereas in the other 2 patients SVT ablation was performed respectively 1 and 25 years after the first documented AF episode.

The right panel of Figure 3 summarizes the presence of the different types of VTA. VTA occurred in 13 patients, including non-sustained VT (N=5), sustained VT (N=5) and out-of-hospital cardiac arrest (N=3). Non-sustained VTA occurred prior to AF in one patient, years after onset of AF in 2 patients and within the same year as AF onset in 2 patients.



Figure 3. Atrial and ventricular tachyarrhythmias

Left panel: incidence of patients with only AF and with coexistence of regular SVT and AF. Right panel: incidence of VTA, including non-sustained VT, sustained VT, and VF.

AF: atrial fibrillation, SVT: regular supraventricular tachyarrhythmia, VTA: ventricular tachyarrhythmia, nsVT: non-sustained ventricular tachycardia, sVT: sustained ventricular tachycardia, VF: ventricular fibrillation.

Sustained VTA occurred prior to AF in 3 patients, years after AF in 1 patients and within the same year in one patient. All OHCA (VF) occurred years prior to AF development. Two patients underwent ablation of VT respectively 11 and 14 years prior to the first documented AF episode. Patients with VTA more often showed QRS duration \geq 180 (N=6, 55%) compared to patients without VTA (N=1, 7%) (p=0.021). QT dispersion was similar between patients without and with VTA (98±37 ms and 85±47 ms respectively, p=0.417), as well as RVEDV (197±54 ml versus 232±128 ml respectively; p=0.469).

Progression of atrial fibrillation

Treatment of AF and rhythm outcome after long-term follow-up is summarized in Figure 4; the study population was subdivided according to the initial type of AF. The majority of patients with paroxysmal AF (N=14) was treated with AAD (N=13, 93%), which was aimed

at rhythm control in 7 patients (54%); one patient did not receive any pharmacological treatment. Two patients with paroxysmal AF underwent ECV. Of the 13 patients with persistent AF, 7 patients (54%) were initially cardioverted, of whom 6 patients (85%) started AAD after ECV. For the other 6 patients (46%), initial treatment consisted of AAD, after which ECV was performed in 3 patients (50%). Of the 12 patients with persistent AF receiving AAD, treatment with AAD was aimed at rhythm control in 8 patients (67%). Two patients to cardioversion were performed. None of the patients underwent pulmonary vein isolation or his bundle ablation.



Figure 4. Atrial fibrillation therapy and progression

Flowchart providing an overview of the initial AF therapy and long-term outcome. The study population was subdivided according the type of AF at the initial moment of presentation. A detailed explanation is provided in paragraph 'progression of atrial fibrillation'. AAD: antiarrhythmic drugs, AF: atrial fibrillation, ECV: electrocardioversion.

Progression of AF was observed in 11 patients (38%), which occurred 5±5 (0.02-18) years after the first AF episode. Age at AF progression was 45±10 (31-59) years. As shown in the upper panel of Figure 5, there was no difference in general AAD usage between patients without and with AF progression. Amiodaron was used by 7(39%) of the 18 patients without progression and 3(27%) of the 11 patients with progression (p=0.694).

The lower panels of Figure 5 illustrate the time period required for AF progression (left panel) and transition between the different types of AF (right panel). Progression of paroxysmal AF (N=14, 48%) to either persistent AF (N=1, 7%) or permanent AF (N=4, 29%) occurred within respectively 2 and 5±3(2-8) years. Of the 13 patients (45%) who initially presented with persistent AF, 6 patients (46%) progressed to permanent AF within 5±7(0.02-18) years.



Figure 5. Progression of atrial fibrillation

Upper panel: incidence of AF progression and differences in use of antiarrhythmic drugs between patients without and with progression. Lower panels: ranked timespans of AF progression for each patient with progression (left) and overview of number of patients and average timespan for each type of AF progression (right).

Mortality

Follow-up time from first AF episode was 11 ± 9 (1-39) years. A total of 10 patients (35%) died at a mean age of 56±11 (33-75) years and 9±8 (1-27) years after AF onset. Nine patients died due to end stage heart failure (age 59±8 years) and one patient died due to a shooting incident (age 33 years).

There was no difference in incidence of death between patients without and with prior palliative shunting (N=4(29%) versus N=6(40%) respectively, p=0.700), nor in age of death (51 \pm 13 (33-63) years versus 60 \pm 9 (52-75) years respectively, p=0. 216).

Incidence of death was the same between patients without and with AF progression (N=6(33%) versus N=4(36%) respectively, p=1.00), as well as age of death (54 \pm 11 (33-64) years versus 59 \pm 11 (51-75) years respectively, p=0.470).

DISCUSSION

This study reports on development and progression of post-operative AF over time in patients with ToF. AF in ToF patients is often a progressive disease at a relatively young age and both rhythm-control and rate-control therapy were equally ineffective in preventing this. Co-existence of AF with other tachyarrhythmias, including regular SVT or VT was observed in the majority of the study population.

Age of atrial fibrillation onset

A steep rise in the prevalence of AF from the age of 45 years in ToF patients was demonstrated by Khairy et al. which is comparable with the mean age of AF onset in our study population.³ It is generally assumed that perpetuation of AF is facilitated by areas of intra-atrial conduction delay or dispersion in refractoriness which has been demonstrated in mapping studies in patients without CHD.¹³⁻¹⁵ Prior electrophysiological studies in CHD patients demonstrated that areas of intra-atrial conduction delay or dispersion in refractoriness are also present in patients with complex CHD.¹⁶ In these patients, intra-atrial conduction is impaired by interposition of fibrotic tissue caused by surgical procedures and ongoing pressure or volume overload.¹⁷ In addition, triggered activity might be increased by enhanced atrial wall stress.

Previous studies have identified palliative shunting as a predictor for SVT or AF⁶, yet we did not observe a difference in age at AF onset between patients undergoing prior palliative shunting versus total ToF correction. In our population, approximately half of the patients underwent prior palliative shunting and were thereby longer exposed to the consequences of their cardiac defect, awaiting total ToF correction. Although impairment of cardiac function was indeed observed in our study population, prior palliative shunting did not influence incidences of ventricular dysfunction.

At present the optimal age for ToF correction is between the age of three and six months old.¹⁸ Our patient population consists of a subset of the patients who were operated on in the early days of cardiac surgery and is actually presenting the long-term present–day complications of corrective surgery for ToF patients operated some decades ago. In our population, total ToF correction was performed on average 40 years ago. Patients who underwent total ToF correction more recently tended to develop AF earlier after corrective surgery, which may be explained by improved and more standardized methods of follow-up and AF detection.

Coexistence of tachyarrhythmias

In more than 60% of the study population, AF coexisted with regular SVT, which is much higher compared to the 33% which was reported in an earlier study with 199 patients with various CHD and AF.⁸ This observation suggests that ToF patients are more prone to development of regular SVT compared to in patients with other CHD. Although this is not uniformly confirmed¹⁹, a number of studies indeed reported a high prevalence of regular SVT in ToF patients.^{3, 20} Mah et al. identified intra-atrial reentry as the primary mechanism of regular SVT in 53 ToF patients; reentrant circuits involved predominantly the cavo-tricuspid isthmus and areas of post-surgical scarring in the lateral wall of the RA.²¹ The majority of the patients in our study population presented with regular SVT prior to AF onset. This observation could be explained by shortening of atrial refractoriness and inverse rate adaptation induced by regular SVT, thereby facilitating development of AF.^{22, 23} However, some patients initially presented with AF, which could be explained by alternating episodes of SVT and AF due to instability of a functional line of conduction block between the caval veins required for establishing a macro-reentrant circuit.^{24, 25} Furthermore, earlier, asymptomatic transient episodes of AF or regular SVT could have been missed.

VTA coexisted with AF in a considerable number of patients in our study population. A previous study demonstrated that AF might facilitate the onset of VTA. When AF activates the ventricles at a high rate, ventricular refractoriness is shortened which in turn promotes onset of VTA.²⁶ Denker et al. described that short-long-short sequences caused by AF, might be proarrhythmic and facilitates VTA onset.²⁷ Somberg et al. showed that induction of VTA by programmed electrical stimulation in canine ventricles only induced VTA (96%) during AF and not during sinus rhythm, also supporting the concept that AF facilitates development of VTA.²⁸

Four patients in this study developed nsVT or sVT prior to AF onset and all OHCA occurred prior to AF development. It is known that long-term hypoxemia in ToF patients, in addition to the on-going pressure/volume overload, contributes to degeneration of cardiomyocytes and interstitial fibrosis which in turn give rise to onset of VTA.²⁹ Development of AF several years after VTA onset may be an indicator of further hemodynamic deterioration.

Progression of atrial fibrillation

In our study population, AF progressed in a considerable number of patients within a short period of time; progression of AF occurred at a mean age of 44 years and only 5 years after the first documented episode. In the European Heart Survey, progression of AF was more frequently observed in patients who presented with AF at an older age.³⁰ Older age at the moment when patients first present with AF may therefore also influence rate of progression of AF. Also, it has been demonstrated that electrical and structural remodeling contribute to persistence of AF.³¹

Chronic atrial stretch caused by either persistent pressure or volume overload in CHD patients may additionally contribute to persistence of electrical and structural remodeling.³² In CHD patients, substrate mapping of the atria may be of particular interest to establish the pathophysiologic basis of arrhythmias. In ToF patients, the atria are often hyperthrophied and has extensive fibrotic regions enabling multiple reentrant circuits to occur. Often, during ablation, one tachycardia will convert to a different tachycardia indicated by changes in cycle length or patterns of activation.³³ Optimal assessment and treatment of SVT in ToF and other CHD patients therefore requires a stepwise approach to confirm involvement of particular anatomical areas by entrainment and detailed mapping of the reentry circuit and critical isthmus.

In ToF patients, commonly identified circuits include the sub-Eustachian isthmus between the tricuspid valve annulus and inferior vena cava and the posterolateral right atrium adjacent to the atriotomy incision.³³ However, when the critical isthmus cannot be defined properly by entrainment and activation mapping, it has been suggested that identifying low voltage areas, indicating extensive atrial scarring and sites of surgical incisions, could be used as an alternative approach.³³ When creating a linear lesion between scar tissue and anatomical obstacles such as valve annuli, SVT may be eliminated.³³

Similar approaches can also be used to treat VT in ToF patients.³⁴ Often, VT in ToF patients are related to the scar site of the ventriculotomy and the use of a transannular patch for reconstruction of the right ventricular outflow tract. Prior studies have demonstrated that critical isthmuses are located between 1) the right ventricular outflow tract patch or

ventriculotomy scar and the tricuspid annulus; 2) the right ventriculotomy scar and the pulmonary valve; 3) the ventricular septal defect patch and the pulmonary valve and 4) the ventricular septal defect patch to the tricuspid valve.³⁴

Effectiveness of pharmacological therapy

As mentioned previously, almost 40% of our study population showed progression of AF, which was not affected by the usage of class II or III AAD. As class III AAD are aimed at maintaining sinus rhythm whereas rate control is aimed at reduction of ventricular rate during AF episodes, AF induced remodeling is more likely to occur in patients with only rate control therapy. In patients without CHD, it has been demonstrated that AF episodes induce shortening of the atrial refractory period and inversed rate adaptation thereby facilitating perpetuation of AF.³⁵ In addition, it has been shown that effectiveness of AAD and ECV for paroxysmal AF decreases over time, also indicating that the presence of AF episodes promote development of longer-lasting AF episodes and hence progressiveness of AF.^{36, 37} Atrial extra systoles in the presence of a shorter atrial refractory period makes the patient more vulnerable to induction of AF episodes and hence AF progression.

Limitations

Our study population came into treatment decades ago according to the surgical strategies of that time. The present day approaches will probably lead to different findings. As the onset of AF was defined as the first documented AF episode on an ECG, 24-hour Holter recording or medical correspondence, earlier, asymptomatic episodes of AF could have been missed. Since our study population was relatively small, larger multicenter studies are necessary to confirm these observations.

CONCLUSIONS

ToF patients in our study population developed AF in the 4th and 5th decade of life, which did not differ between patients who underwent initial shunt creation or ToF correction. AF in this population is a rapid progressive disease despite usage of AAD therapy. Coexistence of AF with other tachyarrhythmias, including regular SVT or VTA was observed in a major part of the study population and is most likely the result of SVT-induced electrical and structural remodeling. Hence, besides treatment of residual defects, early catheter ablation of SVT may be essential in developing AF prevention strategies in this particular patient group.

REFERENCES

- 1. Huehnergarth KV, Gurvitz M, Stout KK, Otto CM. Repaired tetralogy of Fallot in the adult: monitoring and management. Heart Dec 2008;94:1663-1669.
- 2. Shinebourne EA AR. Paediatric cardiology. In: Anderson RH BE, Macartney FJ, Rigby ML, Shinebourne EA, Tynan M, ed. London: Churchill Livingstone; 2002:1213–1502.
- 3. Khairy P, Aboulhosn J, Gurvitz MZ, et al. Arrhythmia burden in adults with surgically repaired tetralogy of Fallot: a multi-institutional study. Circulation Aug 31 2010;122:868-875.
- 4. Gatzoulis MA, Till JA, Redington AN. Depolarization-repolarization inhomogeneity after repair of tetralogy of Fallot. The substrate for malignant ventricular tachycardia? Circulation Jan 21 1997;95:401-404.
- Berul CI, Hill SL, Geggel RL, Hijazi ZM, Marx GR, Rhodes J, Walsh KA, Fulton DR. Electrocardiographic markers of late sudden death risk in postoperative tetralogy of Fallot children. J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol Dec 1997;8:1349-1356.
- Gatzoulis MA, Balaji S, Webber SA, Siu SC, Hokanson JS, Poile C, Rosenthal M, Nakazawa M, Moller JH, Gillette PC, Webb GD, Redington AN. Risk factors for arrhythmia and sudden cardiac death late after repair of tetralogy of Fallot: a multicentre study. Lancet Sep 16 2000;356:975-981.
- 7. Harrison DA, Siu SC, Hussain F, MacLoghlin CJ, Webb GD, Harris L. Sustained atrial arrhythmias in adults late after repair of tetralogy of fallot. Am J Cardiol Mar 1 2001;87:584-588.
- 8. Teuwen CP, Ramdjan TT, Gotte M, et al. Time Course of Atrial Fibrillation in Patients With Congenital Heart Defects. Circ Arrhythm Electrophysiol Oct 2015;8:1065-1072.
- 9. Wolf PA, Abbott RD, Kannel WB. Atrial fibrillation as an independent risk factor for stroke: the Framingham Study. Stroke Aug 1991;22:983-988.
- 10. Wang TJ, Larson MG, Levy D, Vasan RS, Leip EP, Wolf PA, D'Agostino RB, Murabito JM, Kannel WB, Benjamin EJ. Temporal relations of atrial fibrillation and congestive heart failure and their joint influence on mortality: the Framingham Heart Study. Circulation Jun 17 2003;107:2920-2925.
- 11. Kotecha D, Piccini JP. Atrial fibrillation in heart failure: what should we do? Eur Heart J Dec 07 2015;36:3250-3257.
- 12. European Heart Rhythm A, European Association for Cardio-Thoracic S, Camm AJ, et al. Guidelines for the management of atrial fibrillation: the Task Force for the Management of Atrial Fibrillation of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC). Eur Heart J Oct 2010;31:2369-2429.
- 13. de Groot NM, Houben RP, Smeets JL, Boersma E, Schotten U, Schalij MJ, Crijns H, Allessie MA. Electropathological substrate of longstanding persistent atrial fibrillation in patients with structural heart disease: epicardial breakthrough. Circulation Oct 26 2010;122:1674-1682.
- Haissaguerre M, Jais P, Shah DC, Takahashi A, Hocini M, Quiniou G, Garrigue S, Le Mouroux A, Le Metayer P, Clementy J. Spontaneous initiation of atrial fibrillation by ectopic beats originating in the pulmonary veins. N Engl J Med Sep 3 1998;339:659-666.
- 15. Jalife J, Berenfeld O, Skanes A, Mandapati R. Mechanisms of atrial fibrillation: mother rotors or multiple daughter wavelets, or both? J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol Aug 1998;9:S2-12.
- 16. Kurer CC, Tanner CS, Vetter VL. Electrophysiologic findings after Fontan repair of functional single ventricle. J Am Coll Cardiol Jan 1991;17:174-181.

134

- 17. Fenelon G, Shepard RK, Stambler BS. Focal origin of atrial tachycardia in dogs with rapid ventricular pacing-induced heart failure. J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol Oct 2003;14:1093-1102.
- 18. Apitz C, Webb GD, Redington AN. Tetralogy of Fallot. Lancet Oct 24 2009;374:1462-1471.
- 19. Cuypers JA, Menting ME, Konings EE, et al. Unnatural history of tetralogy of Fallot: prospective follow-up of 40 years after surgical correction. Circulation Nov 25 2014;130:1944-1953.
- 20. Vriend JW, van der Velde ET, Mulder BJ. [National registry and DNA-bank of patients with congenital heart disease: the CONCOR-project] Landelijke registratie en DNA-bank van patienten met aangeboren hartafwijkingen, het CONCOR-project. Ned Tijdschr Geneeskd Aug 14 2004;148:1646-1647.
- 21. Mah DY, Alexander ME, Cecchin F, Walsh EP, Triedman JK. The electroanatomic mechanisms of atrial tachycardia in patients with tetralogy of Fallot and double outlet right ventricle. J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol Sep 2011;22:1013-1017.
- 22. Sparks PB, Jayaprakash S, Vohra JK, Kalman JM. Electrical remodeling of the atria associated with paroxysmal and chronic atrial flutter. Circulation Oct 10 2000;102:1807-1813.
- 23. Gonzalez-Zuelgaray J, Perez A. Regular supraventricular tachycardias associated with idiopathic atrial fibrillation. Am J Cardiol Nov 1 2006;98:1242-1244.
- 24. Waldo AL, Cooper TB. Spontaneous onset of type I atrial flutter in patients. J Am Coll Cardiol Sep 1996;28:707-712.
- 25. Al-Khatib SM, Wilkinson WE, Sanders LL, McCarthy EA, Pritchett EL. Observations on the transition from intermittent to permanent atrial fibrillation. Am Heart J Jul 2000;140:142-145.
- 26. Denes P, Wu D, Dhingra R, Pietras RJ, Rosen KM. The effects of cycle length on cardiac refractory periods in man. Circulation Jan 1974;49:32-41.
- 27. Denker S, Lehmann M, Mahmud R, Gilbert C, Akhtar M. Facilitation of ventricular tachycardia induction with abrupt changes in ventricular cycle length. Am J Cardiol Feb 1 1984;53:508-515.
- Somberg JC, Torres V, Keren G, Butler B, Tepper D, Kleinbaum H, Molnar J. Enhancement of myocardial vulnerability by atrial fibrillation. Am J Ther Jan-Feb 2004;11:33-43.
- 29. Chowdhury UK, Sathia S, Ray R, Singh R, Pradeep KK, Venugopal P. Histopathology of the right ventricular outflow tract and its relationship to clinical outcomes and arrhythmias in patients with tetralogy of Fallot. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg Aug 2006;132:270-277.
- de Vos CB, Pisters R, Nieuwlaat R, Prins MH, Tieleman RG, Coelen RJ, van den Heijkant AC, Allessie MA, Crijns HJ. Progression from paroxysmal to persistent atrial fibrillation clinical correlates and prognosis. J Am Coll Cardiol Feb 23 2010;55:725-731.
- 31. Allessie M, Ausma J, Schotten U. Electrical, contractile and structural remodeling during atrial fibrillation. Cardiovasc Res May 2002;54:230-246.
- 32. Eckstein J, Verheule S, de Groot NM, Allessie M, Schotten U. Mechanisms of perpetuation of atrial fibrillation in chronically dilated atria. Prog Biophys Mol Biol Jun-Jul 2008;97:435-451.
- 33. Khairy P, Stevenson WG. Catheter ablation in tetralogy of Fallot. Heart Rhythm Jul 2009;6:1069-1074.
- 34. Zeppenfeld K, Schalij MJ, Bartelings MM, Tedrow UB, Koplan BA, Soejima K, Stevenson WG. Catheter ablation of ventricular tachycardia after repair of congenital heart disease: electroanatomic identification of the critical right ventricular isthmus. Circulation Nov 13 2007;116:2241-2252.

- 35. Daoud EG, Bogun F, Goyal R, Harvey M, Man KC, Strickberger SA, Morady F. Effect of atrial fibrillation on atrial refractoriness in humans. Circulation Oct 1 1996;94:1600-1606.
- 36. Van Gelder IC, Crijns HJ, Van Gilst WH, Verwer R, Lie KI. Prediction of uneventful cardioversion and maintenance of sinus rhythm from direct-current electrical cardioversion of chronic atrial fibrillation and flutter. Am J Cardiol Jul 1 1991;68:41-46.
- 37. Suttorp MJ, Kingma JH, Jessurun ER, Lie AHL, van Hemel NM, Lie KI. The value of class IC antiarrhythmic drugs for acute conversion of paroxysmal atrial fibrillation or flutter to sinus rhythm. J Am Coll Cardiol Dec 1990;16:1722-1727.



07

TETRALOGY OF FALLOT IN THE CURRENT ERA: A BRIGHT FUTURE AHEAD?

Elisabeth M.J.P. Mouws

Natasja M.S. de Groot Pieter C. van de Woestijne Peter L. de Jong Wim A. Helbing Ingrid M. van Beynum Ad J.J.C. Bogers

SUBMITTED

ABSTRACT

Background: Only few studies have reported long-term outcome of the transatrialtranspulmonary approach in the current era of management of tetralogy of Fallot(ToF). We investigated 15-year outcome of correction via a transatrial-transpulmonary approach in a large cohort of successive patients operated in the 21st century.

Methods: All infant ToF patients undergoing transatrial-transpulmonary ToF correction between 2000 and 2015 were included(N=177, 106 male, median follow-up 7.1(IQR 3.0-10.9) years. Data regarding postoperative complications, reinterventions, development of atrial and ventricular arrhythmia, cardiac function and survival was evaluated.

Results: Prior shunting was performed in 10 patients(6%). The transatrial-transpulmonary approach resulted in valve sparing surgery in 57 patients(32%). Postoperative surgical complications included junctional ectopic tachycardia(N=12, 7%), pericardial(N=10, 6%) or pleural effusion(N=7, 3%), chylothorax(N=7, 4%), bleeding requiring reoperation(N=4, 3%) and superficial wound infection(N=1). Fifty-one patients underwent 68 reinterventions, mainly due to pulmonary re-stenosis(PS) (N=57). ToF correction at age <2months and double outlet or double chambered right ventricle variants of the ToF spectrum were independent predictors for reintervention. Patients undergoing valve sparing ToF correction had a significant longer PR free survival than those with TAP (8.5(95%CI 6.8-10.3)) years versus 1.1(95%CI 0.8-1.5)years; p<0.001). Overall mortality was 2.8%; mortality rates were higher in premature/dysmature newborns(0.7% vs 9.5%; p<0.001).

Conclusions: Although the 15-year outcome of the transatrial-transpulmonary approach in terms of postoperative complications and mortality rates is excellent, the high incidence of moderate and severe PR is worrisome. Valve sparing surgery was associated with a substantially lower incidence of PR, yet was surgically not possible in the majority of patients.

INTRODUCTION

Over the past decades, surgical treatment for various congenital heart diseases has improved tremendously. Specifically, the introduction of the transatrial-transpulmonary approach for total tetralogy of Fallot (ToF) correction by Hudspeth et al. in the early 60's lead to high expectations for long-term survival of ToF patients.¹ Previous studies in populations primarily operated between 1970-1990 identified several risk factors for late adverse outcome such as reoperation, arrhythmia development or death, including prior palliative shunting, early postoperative arrhythmias, use of a transannular patch (TAP), lower body temperature during surgery and tricuspid insufficiency.²⁻⁴

Thus far, only a few studies reported on intermediate or late outcome of the transatrialtranspulmonary approach in the current era of surgical management, which often had follow-up durations less than 5 years.^{4–7} Furthermore, the influence of additional comorbidities or syndromic diseases is rarely taken into account, hampering decision making processes for these patients.

In this study, we investigated 15-year outcome of total ToF correction via a transatrialtranspulmonary approach in a large cohort of successive patients operated between 2000 and 2015. Differences between patients with and without comorbidities and between surgical approaches for reconstruction of the right ventricular outflow tract (RVOT) were assessed. In addition, risk factors for adverse outcome were analyzed.

METHODS

Study population

Data of all infant ToF patients who underwent (palliative shunting followed by) total surgical correction at our center from 2000 till 2015 was retrospectively retrieved. ToF patients with pulmonary atresia (ToF-PA) or with a complete atrioventricular septal defect (ToF-CAVSD) were excluded from our dataset, as these are considered a separate entity with a different surgical approach. ToF patients with a double chambered right ventricle (DCRV) variant, i.e. more extensive crossing muscle bundles at the RVOT resulting in the DCRV, and with a double outlet right ventricle (DORV) variant, i.e. >50% overriding of the aorta, were included. This study is part of the DANARA-project, which primary aim is to examine the development of various dysrhythmias in CHD patients (MEC 2012-482); informed consent was not obliged.

Total ToF correction

Transatrial-transpulmonary repair of ToF included closure of the ventricular septal defect (VSD) through the tricuspid valve with a Gore-Tex® patch, while RVOT enlargement was performed by myotomy/myectomy through the tricuspid valve or, if necessary, through the pulmonary valve (PV). RVOT enlargement with TAP is considered in patients with a preoperatively echocardiographically assessed PV annulus z-score \leq -2 combined with a detailed intra-operative inspection of the pulmonary valve performed via an incision in the pulmonary truncus. In case the pulmonary valve is dysplastic or the annulus à vue is indeed too narrow as indicated by Hegar measurement, the incision in the pulmonary truncus was extended till the transitional border of the infundibulum at the discretion of the attending surgeon. A glutaraldehyde-pretreated pericardial patch was used for the TAP. Obstructive valve tissue was removed, whereas functional valve tissue was left in situ. In case of a pulmonary annulus of sufficient size and morphologically functional valvular leaflets, a valve sparing approach is pursued, in which commissurotomy or hegar dilation is performed if necessary, in addition to desobstruction of the infundibulum. Surgical success of RVOT desobstruction was assessed intra-operatively by echocardiographic Doppler flow <2m/s and at maximum half systemic pressures in the RV.

Data collection

Data regarding gestational age at birth was collected from digital patient files and premature/dysmature patients were distinguished from full-term newborns. Prematurity was defined as gestational age <37 weeks; dysmaturity was defined as \leq 2 SD from the mean intrauterine growth curve.

Surgical and anesthetic reports were reviewed for documentation of (additional) cardiac anomalies, presence of palliative aortopulmonary shunts, description of surgical techniques used for total ToF correction, total cardiopulmonary bypass time, aortic crossclamp time and height and weight of the patient prior to surgery.

Surgical complications occurring within 30 days after surgery were collected, including pleural effusion needing drainage, pericardial effusion needing drainage or drug therapy, chylothorax, severe renal insufficiency requiring hemodialysis, bleeding requiring reoperation and thromboembolic events and prolonged intubation >2days. Early and late post-operative mortality was determined, defined as death \leq 30 days and >30 days after total ToF correction respectively.

Clinical data obtained at yearly outpatient follow-up visits were collected from electronic patient files. An ECG was made at each follow-up visit and echocardiographic examination was done at least once every 2 years in stable patients and more frequently if indicated.

Cardiac-MRI, 24-hr Holter recordings and exercise tests were performed on clinical indication. All echocardiographic results during follow-up were examined and the moment of first presentation with ≥moderate PR, PS, RV dilation and RA dilation was collected. At the latest follow-up moment, echocardiographic results of PR, PS, RV and RA dilation and RVF and LVF were collected as well.

Medical correspondence, ECG and Holter-recordings were reviewed for documentation of tachyarrhythmias including postoperative junctional ectopic tachycardia (JET), atrial fibrillation (AF), other supraventricular tachycardia (SVT), ventricular tachycardia (VT) and ventricular fibrillation (VF); JET, AF, SVT, VT and VF were defined according to the present guidelines.⁸

Statistical analysis

Normally distributed data are described as mean±SD(minimum-maximum) and analyzed with a student's T-test or a one way ANOVA. Skewed data are described by median(interquartile range) and analyzed with Kruskal-Wallis test or a Mann-Whitney U test. Categorical data are expressed as numbers and percentages and analyzed with χ^2 or Fisher exact test when appropriate. Analysis of freedom from reintervention, freedom from PS, PR, RA and RV dilation and overall survival was performed with the Kaplan Meier Method. Univariate and multivariate predictors of reintervention and mortality were assessed with a Cox regression analysis, in which 10 events per included factor were required. Influence of mild, moderate and severe PS within 1 year after total ToF correction was determined, using 'no PS' as reference category.

RESULTS

Study population

After exclusion of 25 patients with ToF-PA (N=12, 6%) and ToF-CAVSD (N=13, 6%), a total of 177 ToF children who underwent total ToF correction at our center were included. Table 1 displays characteristics of the included 177 ToF patients (median age last follow-up 8.3(IQR 4.4-11.6; min-max 0.3-17.0)years, 106 male (60%)), of whom 15(8%) were diagnosed with a ToF-DORV variant and another 15(8%) with a ToF-DCRV variant. Median follow-up time from total ToF correction was 7.8(IQR 3.9-10.9; min-max 0.03-16.9)years.

A total of 42 patients (24%) were dysmature or prematurely born. Syndromic diseases occurred in 25 patients (14%) and non-syndromic extra-cardiac abnormalities were present in 21 patients (12%, Table 1). At last follow-up, the vast majority of patients did not use any cardiovascular drugs or diuretics (N=173, 98%).

Table 1. Patient characteristics

ToF patients	177
ToF-DORV variant	15(8)
ToF-DCRV variant	15(8)
Male	106(60)
Age at ToF correction (months)	3.5(IQR:2.6-5.2; min-max:0.2-49.5)
Weight at ToF correction (kg)	5.8±2.2(2-15.7)
Premature/Dysmature	42(24)
Associated Cardiac Anomalies	163(92)
Atrial septal defect	151(85)
Patent ductus arteriosus	45(25)
Aberrant coronary artery	5(3)
Persistent left superior caval vein	5(3)
Branch pulmonary artery coarctation	2(1)
Systemic-to-pulmonary collaterals	0(0)
Additional Syndromic Disease	25(14)
Trisomy 21	8(4)
22q11-deletion	11(6)
VACTERL	1(0.7)
Rubinsteijn-Taybi	1(0.7)
Opitz	1(0.7)
Mowat-Wilson	1(0.7)
Turner	1(0.7)
Cornelia de Lange	1(0.7)
Non-syndromic extra-cardiac abnormalities	21(12)
Gastrointestinal	5(3)
Cerebral	9(5)
Urogenital	8(4)
Surgical approach	
Transatrial-transpulmonary correction	177
Prior palliative shunt	10(6)
Valve-sparing surgery	58(33)

DORV: double outlet right ventricle, DCRV: double chambered right ventricle, VACTERL: association of various malformation including Vertebral defects, Anorectal malformation, Cardiac defects, Tracheo-Esophageal fistula, Renal anomalies and Limb anomalies.
Total ToF correction

Ten patients (6%) underwent prior palliative shunting before undergoing total ToF correction at a later stage. Transatrial-transpulmonary total ToF correction was performed at a median age of 3.5 months (IQR 2.6-5.2; min-max 0.2-49.5months). Mean height and weight at total ToF correction were $62\pm10(40-106)$ cm and $5.8\pm2.2(2-15.7)$ kg respectively. Valve sparing surgery was performed in 57 patients (32%). Median cardiopulmonary bypass time was 111 minutes (IQR 76-151; min-max 50-398) and median aortic cross clamp time was 70 minutes (IQR 48-102; min-max 34-167). Patients were extubated within 2 days in the majority of cases (N= 150, 85%); 27 patients (15%) required prolonged intubation for a median of 5.5 days (IQR: 4.-10.5, min-max: 2-76).

Early surgical outcome

Postoperative surgery related complications are listed in Table 2 and included pericardial (N=10, 6%) or pleural effusion (N=7, 3%) requiring drainage, chylothorax (N=7, 4%), bleeding requiring reoperation (N=4, 3%),) and a superficial wound infection in one patient. Postoperative JET occurred in 12 patients (7%).

During hospital admission, acute renal failure requiring temporary dialysis occurred in one patient and positive blood cultures were observed in 10 patients (6%) for which antibiotic treatment was started under the suspicion of venous catheter septicemia; pneumonia did not occur in our cohort. Temporary pacemaker wires were placed per-operatively in 12 patients (7%) due to atrioventricular conduction system disorders, which recovered spontaneously before discharge in all cases.

Postoperative complication	36(20)	
Pericardial effusion requiring drainage	10(6)	
Pleural effusion requiring drainage	7(3)	
Chylothorax	7(4)	
Bleeding requiring reoperation	4(3)	
Superficial wound infection	1 (1)	
Junctional ectopic tachycardia	12(7)	

Table 2. Early surgical outcome

Echocardiographic follow-up

Figure 1 displays the echocardiographic follow-up of the RVOT. Moderate or severe PS occurred in 78 patients (44%) during follow-up. Mean freedom from \geq moderate PS was 9.1 years (96%Cl 7.8-10.4 years) and, against expectation, was better in patients who underwent valve sparing ToF correction (11.6 years, 95%Cl 9.7-13.5 years) compared to those receiving TAP (8.0 years, 95%Cl 6.5-9.5 years; p=0.008), as displayed in Figure 2.

As expected in a cohort mainly undergoing ToF correction with TAP, the incidence of \geq moderate PR was 76% (N=135). Mean freedom from \geq moderate PR was 3.2 years (95%Cl 2.5-4.0 years, Figure 1). Patients undergoing valve sparing ToF correction had a significant longer PR free survival than those with TAP (8.5 (95%Cl 6.8-10.3) years versus 1.1 (95%Cl 0.8-1.5) years; p<0.001, Figure 2).

A total of 106 patients (60%) showed ≥moderate RV dilation and 80 patients (45%) showed ≥moderate RA dilation at some point during follow-up. Mean freedom of ≥moderate RV and RA dilation was respectively 6.3 (95%CI 5.3-7.4) years and 8.7 (95%CI 7.6-9.9) years.

As a consequence of less PR, patients undergoing valve sparing correction also showed a far longer freedom from \geq moderate RA and RV dilation, as presented in Figure 2 (RA dilation: 12.5 (95%Cl 10.6-14.6) years vs 7.3 (95%Cl 6.0-8.6) years (p<0.001) and 11.7 (95%Cl 9.7-13.7) years vs. 4.4 (95%Cl 3.5-5.3) years (p<0.001).

At last follow-up, PS was present in 103 patients(58%), including mild PS (N=85, 48%), moderate PS (N=14, 8%) and severe PS (N=4, 2%). PS was located subvalvular (N=27, 15%), valvular (32, 18%), supravalvular (N=12, 7%), combined subvalvular and valvular (N=17, 10%), valvular and supravalvular (N=8, 5%) or at all three sites (N=6, 3%). At least moderate PS occurred in 13% (N=16) of TAP patients versus 4% (N=2) of valve sparing patients at last follow-up (p<0.001).

A total of 144 patients (81%) showed PR at last follow-up, which was mild in 26 patients (15%), moderate in 45 patients (25%) and severe in 72 patients (41%). At least moderate PR occurred in 85% (N=102) of TAP patients versus 26% (N=15) of valve sparing patients at last follow-up (p<0.001).

Mild, moderate and severe RA dilation occurred in respectively 69(39%), 40(23%) and 4 patients (2%), whereas mild, moderate and severe RV dilation occurred in 66 (37%), 43 (24%) and 4 patients (2%) at last follow-up. Hence, severity of PS, PR, RA ad RV dilation fluctuates during follow-up.

146

RVF and LVF remained well preserved in the majority of patients; mild RV dysfunction occurred in 15 patients (9%), who all had a normal LVF. Moderately and severely impaired RVF and LVF occurred in respectively 2 and 1 patient.



Figure 1. Freedom from pulmonary stenosis and pulmonary regurgitation

Kaplan Meier plot describing freedom from pulmonary stenosis (upper panel) and freedom from pulmonary regurgitation (lower panel). Confidence intervals are displayed by interrupted lines. Corresponding tables with the number of patients at risk and the number of events for each time point are provided below the plot.



Figure 2. Differences between valve sparing and non-valve sparing surgery

Differences in the development of pulmonary stenosis (upper left panel), pulmonary regurgitation (upper right panel), right atrial dilation (lower left panel) and right ventricular dilation (lower right panel) between patients undergoing valve sparing surgery and patients undergoing non-valve sparing surgery. Confidence intervals are displayed by interrupted lines. Corresponding tables with the number of patients at risk and the number of events for each time point are provided below the plot.

Late surgical outcome

During follow-up, reinterventions including redo surgery and percutaneous procedures, were required in 51 patients (29%) (1 reintervention: N=37(73%); 2 reinterventions: N=11(22%); 3 reinterventions: N=3(5%)). As displayed in the upper panel of Figure 3, mean freedom from reintervention was 11.2 (95%Cl 10.0-12.3) years.





Freedom from reintervention (upper) and freedom from reoperation (lower). Confidence intervals are displayed by interrupted lines. Corresponding tables with the number of patients at risk and the number of events for each time point are provided below the plot.

Reinterventions (N=68) mainly included reoperation for PS (N=36, 53%; in 35 patients) and percutaneous pulmonary balloon dilation or stent placement for PS (N=19, 28%; in 13 patients). In a minority of patients, reintervention consisted of homograft placement due to PR (N=7, 10%; in 7 patients), residual VSD closure (N=3, 4%; in 3 patients), or a combination of redo surgery for PS and residual VSD closure (N=3, 4%; in 3 patients).

Median time interval from total ToF correction to reintervention was 0.1(0.1-0.6) years for residual VSD closure, 0.5(0.1-0.6) years for combined residual VSD and PS surgery, 1.9(1.0-7.3) years for PS surgery, 2.6(1.6-8.5) years for percutaneous treatment of PS and 11.8(5.9-14.1) years for PR surgery (p<0.001). Freedom from reintervention due to PS was similar in patients undergoing valve sparing surgery and patients undergoing correction with TAP (p=0.314).

As displayed in the lower panel of Figure 3, mean freedom from reoperation was 12.1 (95%CI 11.0-13.2) years. In total, redo cardiac surgery was required in 43 patients (24%), of whom 36 patients (84%) underwent one reoperation and a minority of 7 patients (16%) underwent 2 reoperations during follow-up.



Figure 4. Freedom from reintervention according to age at total ToF correction

Kaplan Meier plot describing differences in freedom from reintervention according to age at the moment of total ToF correction. Confidence intervals are displayed by interrupted lines. Corresponding tables with the number of patients at risk and the number of events for each time point are provided below the plot.

Figure 4 displays freedom from reintervention based on age at the moment of total ToF correction. ToF correction at age <2months had the shortest freedom from reintervention with a mean interval of 6.8(95%CI 4.9-8.9) years (p=0.004 and p=0.043 compared to age 2-6months and >6months respectively). Correction at 2-6 months and >6 months of age showed a similar freedom from reintervention with respective intervals of 11.7(95%CI 10.3-13.1) and 11.9(95%CI 9.2-14.6) years (p=0.923).

As shown in Table 3, univariate analysis identified use of TAP, ToF correction at age <2months, ToF-DORV/DCRV and lower body weight at ToF correction as possible predictors for future reintervention. Multivariate analyses identified ToF correction at age <2months and DCRV/DORV as independent predictors for reintervention.

Univariate analysis	OR	95%Cl	p-value
Transannular patch	1.75	0.874-3.511	0.114
ToF correction <2m	2.50	1.340-4.654	0.004
Syndromic disease	1.06	0.499-2.266	0.873
Premature/Dysmature	1.03	0.524-2.005	0.943
DORV/DCRV	2.16	0.120-4.153	0.021
Weight	0.89	0.754-1.042	0.145
Palliative shunt	0.97	0.235-3.990	0.964
Multivariate analysis			
Transannular patch	1.71	0.829-3.539	0.146
ToF correction <2m	2.06	1.034-4.095	0.040
Syndromic disease	-	-	-
Premature/Dysmature	-	-	-
DORV/DCRV	2.44	1.251-4.775	0.009
Weight	0.921	0.781-1.087	0.332
Palliative shunt	-	-	-

Table 3. Predictors for reintervention

Tachyarrhythmias and cardiac function tests

Holter monitoring was performed, on clinical indication, in 41 patients and showed supraventricular or ventricular ectopy in 27 patients, including supraventricular premature beats (N=23), SVcouplets (N=2), SVruns (N=2), VPB (N=19), Vcouplets (N=6) and Vruns (N=1).

Only 8 patients had >100 episodes of supraventricular ectopy and 2 patients had >100 episodes of ventricular ectopy. None of the patients had sustained episodes of regular SVT, AF or VT. One patient underwent ablative therapy for Wolf-Parkinson-White syndrome.

Nineteen patients underwent exercise testing at a mean age of 11.9±2.1(8.3-16.9)years, performing at a mean of 90(60-110)% of their predicted value; 5 patients showed ventricular ectopy during exercise testing; no ST-T deviations were observed during exercise testing.

Cardiac MRI was performed in 42 patients at a median interval of 10.9(8.4-13.0) years after total ToF correction. Twenty-three (55%) of them did not have PS, whereas mild, moderate and severe PS was observed in respectively 12(29%), 5(12%) and 2 patients(5%). Median PR-fraction was 35(27-43)%.

Mean BSA-indexed LVEDV and RVEDV were 81±17(24-116)ml/m² and 128±31(57-195)ml/m² respectively. Median LVEF and RVEF were respectively 56 (52-61)% and 53(48-58)%. Only 4 patients who underwent cardiac MRI had undergone valve sparing total ToF correction; therefore, comparison of PR fraction, LVEF and RVEF as assessed by MRI was not possible.

Early and late mortality

A total of 5 patients (3%) died during follow-up, of whom two patients died within the first postoperative month. Three patients died of cardiovascular cause (age 5 months, 5 months and 9.3 years), one patient died of non-cardiovascular cause (age 14.4 years) and in one patient, cause of death could not be identified. Both early and overall postoperative mortality was similar between patients without (N=152) and with additional syndromes (N=25) (N=1 (0.7%) vs N=1 (4%), p=0.263 and N=4 (2.6%) vs N=1 (4%), p=0.537 respectively).

However, prematurely/dysmaturely born patients showed an increased risk of postoperative mortality. During 16-year follow-up, mortality rate in á term newborns was 0.7%, whereas mortality rate was 9.5% in prematurely/dysmaturely born patients (N=4, p<0.003).

DISCUSSION

Key findings

The present study reports on 15-year outcome of transatrial-transpulmonary total ToF correction in the current era of surgical and perioperative management. Our data reveals an excellent 15-year survival rate. Nevertheless, premature/dysmature newborns had a higher mortality risk. Tachyarrhythmias in the early postoperative phase were observed in a minority of patients and none of the patients required permanent pacemaker implantation

due to early postoperative conduction disorders. Sustained tachyarrhythmias did not occur during follow-up. Yet, the high incidence of PR is worrisome, as it may lead to RV and RA dilation and thereby deterioration of cardiac function over time, for which prospective follow-up by cardiac MRI is advisable. In our cohort, valve-sparing surgery resulted in a drastically lower incidence of PR during follow-up.

Management of the right ventricular outflow tract

Particularly in ToF patients, improved surgical and perioperative management lead to survival into adulthood. Yet, long-term survival is often characterized by the necessity of (multiple) reinterventions and development of tachyarrhythmias. While in the early years of ToF correction PR was considered a benign condition which was well-tolerated, it is now recognized that chronic PR leads to ventricular deterioration and increased arrhythmogenesis over time.⁹⁻¹¹

To date, surgical approach of ToF correction is focused more and more on preservation of the pulmonary valve. A broad scala of valve sparing surgical techniques exists, of which the most commonly used include infundibulectomy, commisurotomy, supra-annular pulmonary artery patch placement, hegar dilation and balloon dilation.^{9,12} However, preservation of the native pulmonary valve is not always possible.

Compared to other studies, valve sparing surgery is performed rather conservatively at our center.^{9,13–16} In a recent study by Hickey at al., outcome of total ToF repair was reported after 5.6years follow-up. Almost 70% of their cohort underwent valve-sparing surgery, which was performed on patients with a mean PV annulus z-score of -4.5. However, intra-operative revisions due to residual stenosis were highly prevalent. Almost half of the population receiving TAP correction had undergone peroperative conversion after failed valve sparing surgery, requiring up to 4 additional cardiopulmonary pump-runs to achieve surgical success.¹³

In their population, \geq moderate PR occurred in 14% of patients undergoing valve sparing surgery. Similar results were reported by Sen et al.¹⁵ and Vida et al.¹⁴, who observed \geq moderate PR in respectively 20% and 14% of patients undergoing correction without TAP after respectively 9 months and 2.8 years follow-up.

As expected in our cohort with mostly ToF correction with TAP, we observed a high incidence of \geq moderate PR in 66% of the population at last follow-up. The incidence of \geq moderate PR at last follow-up was, not surprisingly, significantly less in patients undergoing valve sparing correction reaching only 14%, in correspondence to prior studies.^{13–15}

Reported incidences of residual \geq moderate PS vary between 10-35% in recent studies, leading to reintervention rates varying between 10-20% during follow-up.^{11,13-15} In our cohort, reinterventions were required in 29% of the cohort and were mainly due to residual RVOT stenosis; at last follow-up \geq moderate PS occurred in 10% of the population and mainly included stenosis at a subvalvular level.

Freedom from residual PS in our cohort was longer in patients with valve sparing correction in our cohort, which may indicate that these patients had less initial RVOT obstruction and perhaps our criteria for valve sparing correction could be expanded to inclusion of smaller annular sizes. In correspondence to the reports of Bache et al. and Sen et al.^{11,15}, we observed no difference in reintervention rates between TAP and valve sparing procedures. However, the overall rather high reintervention rate for residual PS may indicate that while pursuing an transannular incision as limited as possible, muscle bundle resection in the RVOT is not sufficient enough.

Whether the downside of additional subsequent reintervention due to residual PS outweighs the possible benefits of limited infundibular incision on arrhythmogenesis remains to be determined in the future. A compromise should be found between inclusion of smaller annular sizes versus the risk of intra-operative revision requiring additional pump-runs. In addition, subvalvular desobstruction of the RVOT may be performed more aggressively in both valve sparing and non-valve sparing surgery.

Development of tachyarrhythmias

At present, arrhythmias are the main cause of late morbidity with incidences increasing with time after surgical correction.¹⁷ In a recent study we observed that coexistence of supraventricular and ventricular tachyarrhythmias is common in ToF patients.¹⁸ Moreover, AF showed rapid progression and sustained tachyarrhythmias lead to decreased survival time.^{18,19} Prevention of tachyarrhythmia development is therefore of utmost importance in the clinical management of these patients.

Reported incidences of supraventricular and ventricular tachyarrhythmias in ToF patients typically vary between studies due to differences in follow-up time and means of detection. Incidences of AF/SVT range between 3-34% and reported incidences of VT/VF vary from 5-24%.^{3,18,20-26} ToF patients often present with SVTs caused by multiple macro-reentrant circuits.²² Right atriotomy scars causing slowing of conduction enable a reentry pathway between the atriotomy site and the inferior caval vein.²⁷ Also, inserted prosthetic material and patches may cause slowing of conduction. In addition, these inexcitable structures may also form the boundaries of pathways within the reentrant circuit. Furthermore, adjacent to suture lines, (non-automatic) focal atrial tachyarrhythmias have been reported.²²

Similarly, the incidence of ventricular tachyarrhythmias seems to be particularly related to the scar site of the ventriculotomy and the use of transannular patch for reconstruction of the right ventricular outflow tract. Four critical isthmuses for reentrant tachycardias in the ventricle have been identified in repaired ToF patients, including the isthmus between 1) the right ventricular outflow tract patch or ventriculotomy scar and the tricuspid annulus; 2) the right ventriculotomy scar and the pulmonary valve; 3) the ventricular septal defect patch and the pulmonary valve and 4) the ventricular septal defect patch to the tricuspid valve.²⁸

Yet, aside from surgical scars, years of chronic pressure and volume overload may also initiate atrial ectopy due to stretch and fibrotic depositions which lead to areas of slow conduction facilitating both AF and AFL/IART.²⁹ Several studies have also identified prior palliative shunting as a risk factor for tachyarrhythmia development. Although it is currently not general practice anymore, 10 patients in our cohort required prior palliative shunting, including 5 patients with severe cyanotic spells, 3 with a complex RVOT, 1 who had an intercurrent infection leading to delay of the total ToF correction and 1 patient underwent prior palliative shunting abroad. In the current cohort, none of the patients developed sustained tachyarrhythmias yet, which is likely due the relative short follow-up time for arrhythmias to occur.

Limitations

Since this study included patients undergoing ToF correction between 2000 and 2015, patients are still of relatively young age. As a result, none of the patients developed sustained tachyarrhythmias yet and comparison on arrhythmogenesis between valve sparing and non-valve sparing surgery was therefore not possible. Furthermore, when interpreting results on the development of postoperative PR and PS, one must take into account that patients undergoing valve sparing and non-valve sparing surgery show a spectrum of different morphologies and conclusions drawn should also be seen in this perspective.

CONCLUSIONS

Although the 15-year outcome of the transatrial-transpulmonary approach in terms of postoperative complications and mortality rates is excellent, the high incidence of moderate and severe PR is worrisome. Valve sparing surgery is associated with a lower incidence of PR, yet was surgically not possible in the majority of patients. As arrhythmia development is largely influenced by ventricular function, which is in turn subject to the consequences of PR and use of transannular patches, improved surgical techniques with

Chapter 7

limited myocardial scarring can only reduce the arrhythmia burden to some extent. To allow a bright future, management of ToF patients should continuously focus on optimal preservation of ventricular function.

REFERENCES

- 1. Hudspeth S, Cordell A, Johnston F. Transatrial Approach to Total Correction of Tetralogy of Fallot. *Circulation*. 1963;27:796–800.
- Cuypers JAAE, Menting ME, Konings EEM, Opic P, Utens EMWJ, Helbing WA, Witsenburg M, Van Den Bosch AE, Ouhlous M, Van Domburg RT, Rizopoulos D, Meijboom FJ, Boersma E, Bogers AJJC, Roos-Hesselink JW. Unnatural history of tetralogy of fallot: Prospective follow-up of 40 years after surgical correction. *Circulation*. 2014;130:1944–1953.
- Gatzoulis MA, Balaji S, Webber SA, Siu SC, Hokanson JS, Poile C, Rosenthal M, Nakazawa M, Moller JH, Gillette PC, Webb GD, Redington AN. Risk factors for arrhythmia and sudden cardiac death late after repair of tetralogy of Fallot: a multicentre study. *Lancet (London, England)*. 2000;356:975–81.
- 4. Luijten LWG, van den Bosch E, Duppen N, Tanke R, Roos-Hesselink J, Nijveld A, van Dijk A, Bogers AJJC, van Domburg R, Helbing WA. Long-term outcomes of transatrial-transpulmonary repair of tetralogy of Fallot. *Eur J Cardiothorac Surg.* 2015;47:527–34.
- 5. Padalino MA, Vida VL, Stellin G. Transatrial-Transpulmonary Repair of Tetralogy of Fallot. *Semin Thorac Cardiovasc Surg Pediatr Card Surg Annu*. 2009;12:48–53.
- Simon B V, Swartz MF, Egan M, Cholette JM, Gensini F, Alfieris GM. Use of a Dacron Annular Sparing Versus Limited Transannular Patch With Nominal Pulmonary Annular Expansion in Infants With Tetralogy of Fallot. *Ann Thorac Surg.* 2017;103:186–192.
- Boni L, García E, Galletti L, Pérez A, Herrera D, Ramos V, Marianeschi SM, Comas J V. Current strategies in tetralogy of Fallot repair: pulmonary valve sparing and evolution of right ventricle/ left ventricle pressures ratio. *Eur J Cardio-Thoracic Surg.* 2009;35:885–890.
- Page RL, Joglar JA, Caldwell MA, Calkins H, Conti JB, Deal BJ, Estes NAM, Field ME, Goldberger ZD, Hammill SC, Indik JH, Lindsay BD, Olshansky B, Russo AM, Shen W, Tracy CM, Al-Khatib SM, Estes III NAM, Field ME, Goldberger ZD, Hammill SC, Indik JH, Lindsay BD, Olshansky B, Russo AM, Shen W, Tracy CM, Al-Khatib SM. 2015 ACC/AHA/HRS guideline for the management of adult patients with supraventricular tachycardia: Executive summary. *Heart Rhythm*. 2016;13:e92–e135.
- 9. Bacha E. Valve-Sparing or Valve Reconstruction Options in Tetralogy of Fallot Surgery. *Semin Thorac Cardiovasc Surg Pediatr Card Surg Annu*. 2017;20:79–83.
- Piazza L, Chessa M, Giamberti A, Bussadori CM, Butera G, Negura DG, Micheletti A, Callus E, Carminati M. Timing of pulmonary valve replacement after tetralogy of Fallot repair. *Expert Rev Cardiovasc Ther.* 2012;10:917–923.
- Bacha EA, Scheule AM, Zurakowski D, Erickson LC, Hung J, Lang P, Mayer JE, Del Nido PJ, Jonas RA, Mee RBB, Lacour-Gayet F. Long-term results after early primary repair of tetralogy of Fallot. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 2001;122:154–161.
- 12. Sung SC, Kim S, Woo JS, Lee YS. Repair in Tetralogy of Fallot. 2003;4975:3–5.
- Hickey E, Pham-Hung E, Halvorsen F, Gritti M, Duong A, Wilder T, Caldarone C, Redington A, Van Arsdell G. Annulus-Sparing Tetralogy of Fallot Repair: Low Risk and Benefits to Right Ventricular Geometry. *Ann Thorac Surg.* 2017;

- 14. Vida VL, Angelini A, Guariento A, Frescura C, Fedrigo M, Padalino M, Sanders SP, Thiene G, Stellin G. Preserving the pulmonary valve during early repair of tetralogy of Fallot: Anatomic substrates and surgical strategies. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg.* 2015;149:1358–1363.
- 15. Sen DG, Najjar M, Yimaz B, Levasseur SM, Kalessan B, Quaegebeur JM, Bacha EA. Aiming to Preserve Pulmonary Valve Function in Tetralogy of Fallot Repair: Comparing a New Approach to Traditional Management. *Pediatr Cardiol.* 2016;37:818–825.
- Kim H, Sung SC, Kim S-H, Chang YH, Lee HD, Park JA, Lee YS. Early and late outcomes of total repair of tetralogy of Fallot: risk factors for late right ventricular dilatation. *Interact Cardiovasc Thorac Surg.* 2013;17:956–62.
- 17. Khairy P, Van Hare GF, Balaji S, Berul CI, Cecchin F, Cohen MI, Daniels CJ, Deal BJ, Dearani JA, Groot N de, Dubin AM, Harris L, Janousek J, Kanter RKJKJKJ, Karpawich PP, Perry JC, Seslar SP, Shah MJ, Silka MJ, Triedman JK, Walsh EP, Warnes CA, de Groot N, Dubin AM, Harris L, Janousek J, Kanter RKJKJKJ, Karpawich PP, Perry JC, Seslar SP, Shah MJ, Silka MJ, Triedman JK, Walsh EP, Perry JC, Seslar SP, Shah MJ, Silka MJ, Triedman JK, Walsh EP, Varnes CA. PACES/HRS Expert Consensus Statement on the Recognition and Management of Arrhythmias in Adult Congenital Heart Disease. *Can J Cardiol.* 2014;30:1–64.
- 18. Mouws EMJP, Roos-Hesselink JW, Bogers AJJC, de Groot NMS. Coexistence of Tachyarrhythmias in Patients with Tetralogy of Fallot. *Heart Rhythm*. 2017;
- Ramdjan TTTK, Mouws EMJP, Teuwen CP, Sitorus GDS, Houck CA, Bogers AJJC, de Groot NMS. Progression of late post-operative atrial fibrillation in patients with tetralogy of fallot. *J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol.* 2017;1–8.
- 20. Mondésert B, Abadir S, Khairy P. Arrhythmias in adult congenital heart disease: the year in review. *Curr Opin Cardiol.* 2013;28:354–9.
- 21. Wu MH, Lu CW, Chen HC, Chiu SN, Kao FY, Huang SK. Arrhythmic burdens in patients with tetralogy of Fallot: A national database study. *Heart Rhythm*. 2015;12:604–609.
- 22. Khairy P, Stevenson WG. Catheter ablation in tetralogy of Fallot. *Heart Rhythm*. 2009;6:1069–1074.
- 23. Khairy P, Balaji S. Cardiac Arrhythmias In Congenital Heart Diseases. *Indian Pacing Electrophysiol J.* 2009;9:299–317.
- 24. Decker JA, Kim JJ. Management of arrhythmias in patients with a tetralogy of Fallot. *Cardiol Young*. 2013;23:888–895.
- 25. Le Gloan L, Khairy P. Management of arrhythmias in patients with tetralogy of Fallot. *Curr Opin Cardiol.* 2011;26:60–5.
- 26. Harrison DA, Siu SC, Hussain F, MacLoghlin CJ, Webb GD, Harris L. Sustained atrial arrhythmias in adults late after repair of tetralogy of fallot. *Am J Cardiol*. 2001;87:584–8.
- 27. de Groot NMS, Zeppenfeld K, Wijffels MC, Chan WK, Blom NA, Van der Wall EE, Schalij MJ. Ablation of focal atrial arrhythmia in patients with congenital heart defects after surgery: Role of circumscribed areas with heterogeneous conduction. *Heart Rhythm.* 2006;3:526–535.
- 28. Zeppenfeld K, Schalij MJ, Bartelings MM, Tedrow UB, Koplan BA, Soejima K, Stevenson WG. Catheter ablation of ventricular tachycardia after repair of congenital heart disease: electroanatomic identification of the critical right ventricular isthmus. *Circulation*. 2007;116:2241–52.
- 29. Mouws EMJP, de Groot NMS. Atrial Tachyarrhythmia in Congenital Heart Disease. *Circ Arrhythmia Electrophysiol*. 2017;10:e005697.

158





ATRIAL TACHYARRHYTHMIA IN CONGENITAL HEART DISEASE: BEYOND THE SUTURE LINES

Elisabeth M.J.P. Mouws Natasja M.S. de Groot

CIRCULATION: ARRHYTHMIA & ELECTROPHYSIOLOGY 2017 SEP;10(9). PII: E005697

EDITORIAL

Atrial tachyarrhythmias, including atrial fibrillation (AF) and regular atrial tachycardia (AT), are important complications after cardiac surgery for congenital heart disease (CHD) that lead to increased morbidity and mortality.¹ As the adult population of CHD patients is steadily increasing as a result of improved healthcare and surgical techniques, the prevalence of AF and AT among these patients also continues to rise. To date, prevalence rates of atrial tachyarrhythmias in CHD patients are three times higher than in the general population.² In addition, ventricular tachycardia (VT) and ventricular fibrillation (VF), though less prevalent, still contribute to sudden death and reduce long term survival rates in CHD patients.³

In adult CHD patients, the majority of atrial tachyarrhythmias are intra-atrial reentrant tachycardia (IART) or AF, though the incidence differs between the various types of CHD. Patients with a univentricular heart (UVH) who underwent a Fontan procedure undoubtedly have the highest risk for atrial tachyarrhythmia; 50% of patients will develop AT or AF within 10 years increasing to 100% after 26 years.^{4,5} Other CHD patients at high risk for atrial arrhythmia include those with transposition of the great arteries (TGA) or tetralogy of Fallot (ToF). TGA patients who have had an atrial switch procedure have a risk of 30% to develop atrial tachyarrhythmias within 10 years after Mustard or Senning repair, which rises up to 40% within 35years after surgery.^{6,7} In ToF patients, up to 20% will develop IART or atrial flutter (AFL) over time.^{8,9}

Several studies have elucidated possible risk factors, which may inform modifications of surgical approaches. In ToF patients, for instance, the transition from performing a primary ventriculotomy to a transatrial transpulmonary approach to access the right ventricle, with limited transannular patching has led to a lower incidence of VT and improved long term preservation of ventricular function.¹⁰ In addition, the implementation of the lateral tunnel instead of the atriopulmonary Fontan for UVH patients has led to a significant decrease in the incidence of atrial tachyarrhythmias.¹¹ One report of the use of an extracardiac tunnel in UVH patients even reported no AT/AF during 10 years of follow-up.¹¹ Similarly, the advent of the arterial switch procedure for TGA patients has decreased incidences of AT/AF to 5%.¹²

However, surgical interference is not always the main cause of arrhythmia development. Both atrial and ventricular tachyarrhythmias may also arise due to long term hemodynamic consequences of the congenital defect itself. In patients with unoperated atrial septal defect (ASD), prevalence of atrial arrhythmias ranges between 10-20% depending on age, and ASD closure is reported to decrease AT/AF prevalence, as patients with pre-procedural

Chapter 8

arrhythmias revert to sinus rhythm.¹³ Yet, age at ASD closure plays an important role; the risk of post-procedural de novo AT/AF is particularly high in patients >40 years of age with an incidence up to 59% during long term follow-up.¹³

These previous studies have led us to conclude that both the complexity of the CHD and extent of surgical procedures contribute to a patients' risk of subsequent arrhythmia, which often presents decades after cardiac surgery.¹⁴ Although several studies have examined the frequency of AT/AF among CHD subtypes, distinguishing individual patients at risk at an early stage remains a challenge.

In this issue of the Journal, Avila et al. report their observations of AT and AF in a large cohort of 3,311 patients with various forms of CHD.¹⁵ Patients had a median age of 23 years at baseline and were followed for a median of 11 years.¹⁵ Almost one third of the cohort had never undergone cardiac surgery; the remaining patients, however, have undergone (multiple) cardiac surgeries on their defect, for which the nomenclature 'natural history' might be unfortunate. Nonetheless, observed incidences were 4.7% for AT and 4.8% for AF.¹⁵ CHD specific incidences of AT were generally lower than previous reports as may be expected for this relatively young population. Highest incidences of AT were observed in UVH and TGA patients, reaching 23%.¹⁵ As expected, AT incidences rise with increasing complexity of the CHD.¹⁵

Not surprisingly, treatment of AT generally has lower success rates in these patients than would be expected in non-CHD populations. Complexity of the defect often brings anatomical challenges for catheter ablation procedures.¹⁶ In TGA patients with an atrial switch procedure, the coronary sinus, LA and some areas of RA may be difficult to reach by standard methods.¹⁶ UVH patients face similar difficulties, as with a lateral tunnel access to LA and the septal portion of RA is hampered.¹⁶ Reported acute success rates for catheter ablation in populations with a mix of CHD ranges from 65 to 96%.¹ Long-term outcomes of ablative therapy were described in a study of 53 patients with primarily moderate or severe CHD¹⁷ who underwent catheter ablation for AFL, IART or focal AT. In this population, the AT recurrence rate within the first year after the initial ablation procedure was 55% and 28% of the patients underwent (multiple) redo-ablation procedures.¹⁷

Although surgical interference certainly plays an important role in arrhythmogenesis of CHD patients, Avila et al. should be complimented for their attention to patients' natural history regarding the timing of first cardiac surgery and AT development; ASD patients, for instance, underwent correction at a relatively old age, exposing them to the sequelae of

their defect for almost 40 years, whereas TGA patients were operated in early childhood.¹⁵ Not surprisingly, ASD patients generally developed AT relatively soon after cardiac surgery as opposed to TGA patients who developed AT more than 20 years later.¹⁵

Whether surgical incisions or chronic exposure to volume and pressure overload are the most important factors in AT development remains debatable. Interestingly though, identified independent clinical predictors were primarily factors associated with long term abnormal hemodynamic conditions, resulting either from cardiac surgery or from the defect itself, including univentricular physiology, intracardiac repair, systemic right ventricle, severe pulmonary hypertension, pulmonary regurgitation, pulmonary atrioventricular valve regurgitation, pulmonary ventricular dysfunction and systemic ventricular dysfunction.

Additionally, a clinical risk score was developed based on these independent predictors, which showed good discriminative value and may be used for guidance and management that considers the future risk of AT development. The predictors identified by Avila et al. are usually easily obtained in clinical practice during follow-up visits. In patients without these predictors, AT risk is minimal, whereas patients with three or more risk factors have a substantial risk for AT development reaching 50% at the age of 40 years. It may be interesting to correlate the incidence of these predictors with the complexity of the defect, given the fact that the existing categorization into simple, moderate and severe CHD also identified risk of AT development according to age.¹⁵ Patients with complex CHD reached an AT risk of 55% at the age of 40 years.¹⁵

However, by identifying clinical predictors, this study contributes to the understanding of underlying mechanisms of AT in individual CHD patients. Often, the surgical repair has been the scapegoat blamed for arrhythmia development in this population^{18–20}, with little appreciation of the potential contribution of cardiac remodeling due to chronic volume- or pressure overload. The results of this study, however, further emphasize the importance of well-balanced hemodynamic status for optimal outcomes in CHD patients.

REFERENCES

- Khairy P, Van Hare GF, Balaji S, Berul CI, Cecchin F, Cohen MI, Daniels CJ, Deal BJ, Dearani JA, de Groot N, Dubin AM, Harris L, Janousek J, Kanter RJ, Karpawich PP, Perry JC, Seslar SP, Shah MJ, Silka MJ, Triedman JK, Walsh EP, Warnes CA. PACES/HRS Expert Consensus Statement on the Recognition and Management of Arrhythmias in Adult Congenital Heart Disease. *Heart Rhythm*. 2014;11:1–64.
- 2. Bouchardy J, Therrien J, Pilote L, Ionescu-Ittu R, Martucci G, Bottega N, Marelli AJ. Atrial Arrhythmias in Adults With Congenital Heart Disease. *Circulation*. 2009;120:1679–1686.
- 3. Khairy P. Ventricular arrhythmias and sudden cardiac death in adults with congenital heart disease. *Heart*. 2016;1–7.
- 4. Quinton E, Nightingale P, Hudsmith L, Thorne S, Marshall H, Clift P, de Bono J. Prevalence of atrial tachyarrhythmia in adults after Fontan operation. *Heart*. 2015;101:1672–7.
- Durongpisitkul K, Porter CJ, Cetta F, Offord KP, Slezak JM, Puga FJ, Schaff H V., Danielson GK, Driscoll DJ. Predictors of Early- and Late-Onset Supraventricular Tachyarrhythmias After Fontan Operation. *Circulation*. 1998;98.
- Flinn CJ, Wolff GS, Dick M, Campbell RM, Borkat G, Casta A, Hordof A, Hougen TJ, Kavey RE, Kugler J, Liebman J, Greenhouse J, Hees P. Cardiac rhythm after the Mustard operation for complete transposition of the great arteries. *N Engl J Med*. 1984;310:1635–8.
- 7. Wheeler M, Grigg L, Zentner D. Can we predict sudden cardiac death in long-term survivors of atrial switch surgery for transposition of the great arteries? *Congenit Heart Dis.* 2014;9:326–32.
- 8. Wu MH, Lu CW, Chen HC, Chiu SN, Kao FY, Huang SK. Arrhythmic burdens in patients with tetralogy of Fallot: A national database study. *Heart Rhythm.* 2015;12:604–609.
- Khairy P, Aboulhosn J, Gurvitz M, Opotowsky A, Mongeon F, Kay J, Valente A, Earing M, Lui G, Gersony D, Cook S, Ting J, Nickolaus M, Webb G, Landzberg M, Broberg C. Arrhythmia burden in adults with surgically repaired tetralogy of Fallot: a multi-institutional study. *Circulation*. 2010;122:868–75.
- 10. Dietl CA, Cazzaniga ME, Dubner SJ, Pérez-Baliño NA, Torres AR, Favaloro RG. Life-threatening arrhythmias and RV dysfunction after surgical repair of tetralogy of Fallot. Comparison between transventricular and transatrial approaches. *Circulation*. 1994;90:II7-12.
- d'Udekem Y, Iyengar AJ, Cochrane AD, Grigg LE, Ramsay JM, Wheaton GR, Penny DJ, Brizard CP. The Fontan Procedure: Contemporary Techniques Have Improved Long-Term Outcomes. *Circulation*. 2007;116:I-157-I-164.
- 12. Khairy P, Clair M, Fernandes SM, Blume ED, Powell AJ, Newburger JW, Landzberg MJ, Mayer JE. Cardiovascular Outcomes After the Arterial Switch Operation for D-Transposition of the Great ArteriesClinical Perspective. *Circulation*. 2013;127.
- 13. Chubb H, Whitaker J, Williams SE, Head CE, Chung NA, Wright MJ, O'Neill M. Pathophysiology and Management of Arrhythmias Associated with Atrial Septal Defect and Patent Foramen Ovale. *Arrhythmia Electrophysiol Rev.* 2014;3:168–72.
- 14. Wasmer K, Eckardt L. Management of supraventricular arrhythmias in adults with congenital heart disease. *Heart*. 2016;4:heartjnl-2015-309068.

166

- 15. Ávila P, Oliver J, Gallego P, González-García A, Rodríguez-Puras M, Cambronero E, Ruiz-Cantador J, Campos A, Peinado R, Prieto R, Sarnago F, Yotti R, Fernández-Avilés F. Natural History and Clinical Predictors of Atrial Tachycardia in Adults with Congenital Heart Disease. *Circ Arrhythm Electrophysiol.* 2017;10:e005396.
- 16. Chubb H, Williams SE, Wright M, Rosenthal E, O'Neill M. Tachyarrhythmias and catheter ablation in adult congenital heart disease. *Expert Rev Cardiovasc Ther*. 2014;12:751–70.
- de Groot NMS, Atary JZ, Blom NA, Schalij MJ. Long-Term Outcome After Ablative Therapy of Postoperative Atrial Tachyarrhythmia in Patients With Congenital Heart Disease and Characteristics of Atrial Tachyarrhythmia Recurrences. *Circ Arrhythmia Electrophysiol*. 2010;3:148– 54.
- Gandhi SK, Bromberg BI, Rodefeld MD, Schuessler RB, Boineau JP, Cox JL, Huddleston CB. Spontaneous atrial flutter in a chronic canine model of the modified Fontan operation. *J Am Coll Cardiol.* 1997;30:1095–103.
- Yang G, Du X, Ni B, Chen H, Qi R, Cai C, Fang Y, Yang B, Ju W, Zhang F, Li M, Gu K, Shao Y, Chen M. Prevention of postsurgical atrial tachycardia with a modified right atrial free wall incision. *Heart Rhythm.* 2015;12:1611–1618.
- Pap R, Kohári M, Makai A, Bencsik G, Traykov VB, Gallardo R, Klausz G, Zsuzsanna K, Forster T, Sághy L. Surgical technique and the mechanism of atrial tachycardia late after open heart surgery. *J Interv Card Electrophysiol*. 2012;35:127–135.



09

CONCOMITANT ARRHYTHMIA SURGERY IN PATIENTS WITH CONGENITAL HEART DISEASE

Tanwier T.T.K. Ramdjan* Elisabeth M.J.P. Mouws* Charles Kik Jolien W. Roos-Hesselink Ad J.J.C. Bogers Natasja M.S. de Groot

*Shared first authorship

INTERACTIVE CARDIOVASCULAR AND THORACIC SURGERY JUNE 2018

ABSTRACT

Background: Atrial tachyarrhythmia, including atrial fibrillation (AF), atrial flutter (AFL) and intra-atrial reentrant tachycardia (IART) occur frequently in patients with congenital heart disease (CHD), who may undergo multiple surgical procedures throughout life. Yet, data on the effectiveness of concomitant arrhythmia surgery in CHD patients are scarce.

Methods: Outcome of concomitant arrhythmia surgery for AF or AFL/IART was examined in 66 successive patients (31 male (47%); age at surgery: 56±14 (24-78) years) with various CHD.

Results: Concomitant arrhythmia surgery was performed in patients with a history of only AF (N=46, 70%), only AFL/IART (N=6, 9%) or a combination of AF and AFL/IART (N=14, 21%). Median follow-up after arrhythmia surgery was 2(1-4) years. AF reoccurred in 40 patients (67%), of whom 13(22%) only had early recurrences; none of the patients with only AFL or IART prior to arrhythmia surgery developed AF after arrhythmia surgery. Recurrence free survival of late AF was 4.6 years and differed according to type of AF prior to surgery; late recurrence free survival at 3 year follow-up was 71% for paroxysmal AF, 45% for persistent AF and 20% for longstanding persistent AF (p=0.047). Age at arrhythmia surgery was an independent predictor for late AF recurrence (OR 1.05; p=0.006). AFL/IART occurred in 17 patients (26%) after arrhythmia surgery, which was de novo in 11 patients (17%).

Conclusions: Arrhythmia surgery in CHD patients results in freedom from late AF recurrence for a small majority of patients after median follow-up of 2 years. (Longstanding) persistent AF and older age at arrhythmia surgery is related to higher recurrence rates.

INTRODUCTION

As a result of improved healthcare and surgical techniques, most patients with congenital heart disease (CHD) nowadays survive into adulthood.^{1,2} However, this population is more prone to long-term complications such as atrial fibrillation (AF).^{3,4} Previous studies reported AF development in CHD patients at an earlier age and with faster progression compared to the general population.^{3,4}

In CHD patients, data on concomitant arrhythmia surgery for AF are scarce with only few studies reporting promising results. Deal et al. reported no AF recurrences during a followup period of 8 years after the Cox-maze III procedure in 67 CHD patients with a Fontan conversion and AF.⁵ However, late recurrence of regular supraventricular tachyarrhythmia (SVT) occurred in 22%.⁵ A right-sided maze procedure was introduced for patients with AF who underwent cardiac surgery for right-sided CHD, resulting in a recurrence rate comparable to the Cox-maze procedure after a follow-up period of 52 months.^{67,8}

Although some studies have shown that maze surgery in patients with right-sided CHD could be beneficial, less is known about the effectiveness and outcome of concomitant arrhythmia surgery in patients with left-sided CHD. Aside from the hiatus in knowledge on the effectiveness of concomitant arrhythmia surgery in CHD patients, data regarding progression of paroxysmal to persistent AF after concomitant arrhythmia surgery are also lacking.

The aims of this study were therefore to investigate the immediate and long-term outcomes of concomitant arrhythmia surgery in patients with right- or left-sided CHD and paroxysmal or (long-standing) persistent AF or regular SVT and to study progression of recurrent, post-operative AF.

METHODS

This retrospective longitudinal study was designed as part of the "DysrhythmiAs in patieNts with congenitAl heaRt diseAse" (DANARA) project (MEC-2012-482), which was approved by the local ethics committee of the Erasmus University Medical Center Rotterdam. Informed consent was not obliged.

Study population

Adult CHD patients undergoing concomitant arrhythmia surgery during cardiac surgery in the Erasmus Medical Center between January 2001 and March 2017 were included in this study. Patients had symptomatic paroxysmal or persistent drug-refractory AF or regular SVT.

Data on demographics and clinical characteristics were retrieved from medical records, including type of CHD, prior corrective or palliative surgery, antiarrhythmic drug (AAD) usage and performed electrical cardioversions (ECV). Patients were categorized according to their most severe defect, following the PACES/HRS Expert Consensus.⁹ CHD categorized as atrial CHD included atrial septal defects, anomalous pulmonary venous return, complete atrioventricular septal defect, Ebstein and congenital mitral regurgitation.

AF was defined as either paroxysmal, (long-standing) persistent or permanent AF according to the ESC guidelines for the management of AF.¹⁰ We did not differentiate between a typical (counter-) clockwise atrial flutter (AFL) and intra-atrial reentry tachycardia (IART), as differentiation between these types of SVT cannot always be made based on the surface ECG only.¹¹

Arrhythmia surgery

Performing concomitant arrhythmia surgery and its required surgical strategy was discussed in a multidisciplinary team, consisting of cardiothoracic surgeons, cardiologists and anaesthesiologists. As CHD patients often have undergone (multiple) surgical procedures prior to the index procedure for which concomitant arrhythmia surgery is being considered, the presence of cardiac adhesions may introduce a high risk of surgical complications. For each individual patient, the duration and clinical burden of AF/AFL/IART was weighted against the technical and anatomical (im)possibilities to perform arrhythmia surgery. Arrhythmia surgery was performed by combinations of incisions and/or lesions formed by different energy sources, including radiofrequency current (RF), high intensity focused ultrasound (HIFU), microwave (MWA) or cryothermal energy (CRYO). Patients underwent either a left-sided maze procedure (LA-MAZE), right-sided maze (RA-MAZE), left-and right-sided maze (RA+LA-MAZE, right-sided maze plus pulmonary vein isolation (PVI) (RA-MAZE+PVI), or PVI only (PVI).

Population	66
Male gender (%)	31 (47)
CHD type	N(%)
ASD	28(41)
primum	1(1)
secundum	26(39)
sinus venosus	1(1)
BAV	9(14)
VSD	5(8)
UVH	5(8)
APVR	5(8)
Ebstein	3(5)
CoA	3(5)
PDA	2(3)
Coronary anomaly	2(3)
Complete AVSD	1(1)
ToF	1(1)
ccTGA	1(1)
Congenital MI	1(1)
Atrial tachyarrhythmia history	
only AF	46(70)
only AFL/IART	6(9)
combined AF and AFL/IART	14(21)
Type AF at Arrhythmia Surgery	
Paroxysmal	34
Persistent	21
Longstanding Persistent	5
Age onset of AF	52±15(18-77)
Age onset of SVT	39±15(17-63)
History of AF (years)	1.6(0.5-6.9)
History of regular SVT (years)	2.3(0.6-11.3)
Age arrhythmia surgery	56±14(24-78)
Age last follow-up	59±14(25-83)
Follow up duration	2(1-4)
Comorbidities	
Hypertension	16(24)
Pulmonary hypertension	8(12)
Diabetes	3(5)
BMI>30ka/m2	11(17)

Table 1 Patient characteristics

*History of AF, history of SVT and follow-up duration expressed in median (interquartile range)

AF: atrial fibrillation; AFL: atrial flutter; APVR: anomalous pulmonary venous return; AVSD: atrioventricular septal defect; ASD: atrial septal defect; BAV: bicuspid aortic valve; ccTGA: congenitally corrected transposition of the great arteries; CoA: aortic coarctation; IART: intra-atrial reentrant tachycardia; MI: mitral insufficiency; PDA: patent ductus arteriosus; SVT: supraventricular tachycardia; TOF: tetralogy of Fallot; UVH: univentricular heart; VSD: ventricular septal defect.

Arrhythmia recurrence

Follow-up data including electrocardiograms, 24-hour Holter recordings and pacemaker printouts were reviewed for the detection of recurrent AF or regular SVT episodes (i.e. excluding AF). Documented post-operative AF or SVT episodes were categorized as early (≤30 days after arrhythmia surgery) or late recurrence.¹² Progression of AF was defined as transition from paroxysmal to persistent/permanent AF or from persistent to permanent AF. Patients were considered having permanent AF if this could not be successfully cardioverted or based on the decision of the cardiologist to pursue only rate-control. In addition, usage of AAD and need for ECV were retrieved from medical records. Types of AAD were classified according to the Vaughan-Williams classification.

Statistical analysis

Continuous normally distributed variables are expressed as mean ± standard deviation (minimum-maximum). Continuous skewed data are expressed by medians and interquartile range. Categorical data are denoted by numbers and percentages and compared with the X² test or Fisher's exact test when appropriate. Recurrence free survival plots are assessed using the Kaplan-Meier method and compared using log-rank analysis. Predictors of late AF recurrence are identified using Cox-regression analysis. A p-value of <0.05 was considered statistically significant. Statistical analysis was performed with SPSS, version 21 (IBM, Armonk, New York).

RESULTS

Study population

Characteristics of the study population are summarized in Table 1. The study population consisted of 66 patients (31 male (47%) with various CHD, mainly consisting of atrial septal defect (ASD) (N=28, 42), bicuspid aortic valve (BAV) (N=9, 14), ventricular septal defect (VSD) (N=5, 8%), univentricular heart (UVH) (N=5, 8%) and anomalous pulmonary venous return (N=5, 8%).

The majority of patients did not have a history of prior palliative or corrective CHD surgery (N=46, 70%), whereas in 20 patients (30%) concomitant arrhythmia surgery was performed during a redo procedure (first redo: 12(18%), second redo: 6(9%), third redo: 1(1%), and fourth redo: 1(1%)). Average age at concomitant arrhythmia surgery was 56 ± 14 (24-78) years. Comorbidities included hypertension (N=16, 24%), pulmonary hypertension (N=8, 12%), diabetes (N=3, 5%) and body mass index (BMI) \geq 30kg/m² (N=11, 17%).



Figure 1. Treatment and history of atrial tachyarrhythmias prior to arrhythmia surgery

AFL/IART: atrial flutter/intra-atrial reentrant tachycardia, AF: atrial fibrillation, AAD: antiarrhythmic drugs, ECV: electrocardioversion, endoPVI: endocardial pulmonary vein isolation

Concomitant arrhythmia surgery

Concomitant arrhythmia surgery was performed in patients with a history of only AF (N=46, 70%), only AFL/IART (N=6, 9%) or a combination of AF and AFL/IART (N=14, 21%), as displayed in Table 1. AF presented at the age of 52 ± 15 (18-77) years and consisted of paroxysmal (N=34, 57%), persistent (N=21, 35%) or longstanding persistent AF (N=5, 8%) prior to arrhythmia surgery. Regular SVT presented at the age of 39 ± 15 (17-63) years.

An overview of the initial treatment of AFL/IART or AF is provided in Figure 1 according to the category of atrial tachyarrhythmia for which arrhythmia surgery was performed. Patients with only AFL/IART (N=6) were treated with both AAD and ECV (N=4, 67%) or only digoxin (N=1); one patient did not use any medication for rate or rhythm control. Patients with AF (N=60) were initially treated with only AAD (N=26, 43%), only digoxin (N=4, 7%) or with both AAD and ECV (N=28, 47%); 2 patients (3%) did not use any medication for rate or rhythmia for rate or rhythmia for the control. Two patients (3%) had undergone endocardial PVI prior to arrhythmia

surgery; 3 patients (5%) had undergone AFL/IART ablation prior to surgery and one patient (1%) underwent His bundle ablation prior to surgery. Four patients (7%) received pacemaker therapy prior to arrhythmia surgery.

Concomitant arrhythmia surgery was performed at an average age of 56±14 (24-78) years, which was 1.6 (0.5-6.9) years after onset of AF and 2.3 (0.6-11.3) years after onset of regular SVT. Most patients underwent only LA-MAZE (N=34, 51%), whereas 19 patients (29%) underwent LA+RA-MAZE, 6 patients (9%) received only RA-MAZE, 5 patients (8%) underwent only PVI and in 2 patients (3%) RA-MAZE+PVI was performed. Applied energy sources consisted of RF (N=48, 73%), CRYO (N=11, 17%), RF+CRYO (N=3, 4%) HIFU (N=3, 4%), MWA (N=1, 2%). At hospital discharge, 50 patients (76%) used AAD, including Class I (N=5, 8%), Class II (N=25, 38%) and Class III AAD (N=22, 33%). Digoxin was used by 9 patients postoperatively. After arrhythmia surgery, patients were administered lifelong anticoagulant therapy by coumarine derivatives. Fourteen patients (21%) did not use any cardiovascular drugs besides anticoagulant therapy.

Recurrence of atrial tachyarrhythmia

Median follow-up duration after arrhythmia surgery was 2 (1-4) years. A total of 6 patients (9%) died during follow-up; causes of death included malignancy (N=2; 1.5 and 1.9 years after surgery), deep mediastinitis (N=1; 10 weeks after surgery), hemorrhagic stroke (N=1; 6 months after surgery) and non-hospital acquired pneumonia (N=1; 8 weeks after surgery). Cause of death was unknown for 1 patient who died 2 years after surgery.

As displayed in the upper panel of Figure 2, recurrence of AF occurred in 40 of the 60 patients (67%) with an AF history, of whom 13 patients (22%) only had early recurrences; none of the patients who only had AFL or IART prior to arrhythmia surgery developed AF after arrhythmia surgery. Incidences of late AF recurrences according to AF type prior to arrhythmia surgery are shown in the lower panel of Figure 2; late AF recurrences occurred in 11 patients (32%) with a history of paroxysmal AF, as opposed to 57% (N=12) in patients with persistent AF and 80% (N=4) of patients with longstanding persistent AF (p=0.052). AF recurrence free survival plots of all patients with a history of AF prior to arrhythmia surgery are displayed in the upper panel of Figure 3, in which separate lines are used to indicate recurrence free survival estimates including early recurrences was 89 days (95% confidence interval (CI) 0-277 days), whereas median recurrence free survival excluding early recurrence free survival excluding



Figure 2. Early and late post-operative AF recurrences

Upper panel: incidence of early and late AF recurrences after concomitant arrhythmia surgery. Lower panel: incidence of late AF recurrence according to type of AF prior to arrhythmia surgery

Regular SVT occurred in 17 patients (26%) after arrhythmia surgery, which were de novo in 11 patients (17%). Of the patients who only had AFL/IART prior to arrhythmia surgery (N=6), one patient had recurrent AFL/IART two months after RA-MAZE (CRYO); the patient was

09

known with AFL/IART since 18 years prior to surgery. The lower panel of Figure 3 displays the regular SVT free survival plot; estimated SVT free survival after arrhythmia surgery was 9.9 years (95%Cl 7.2-12.3 years).





Upper panel: AF recurrence free survival plot including early recurrence (grey line) and excluding early recurrences (black line). 95% confidence interval of late recurrences is indicated by the dashed line.

Late AF recurrence free survival plots according to AF type prior to arrhythmia surgery are displayed in Figure 4; late recurrence free survival at 3 year follow-up was 71% for paroxysmal AF, 45% for persistent AF and 20% for longstanding persistent AF (p=0.047).

Figure 5 provides an overview of treatment strategies and AF progression after arrhythmia surgery for AF. Despite arrhythmia surgery, 10 patients (17%) required ECV for AFL/IART or AF during follow-up and 4 patients (7%) underwent AFL/IART ablation procedures. Pacemaker implantation was performed in 10 patients (17%), of which one patient also had undergone His bundle ablation; 4 patients already received pacemaker therapy prior to surgery. Progression of AF occurred in 2 patients with late paroxysmal AF and in one patient with late persistent AF.



Figure 4. Recurrence free survival of AF according type of AF prior to arrhythmia surgery

Kaplan-Meier plot of recurrence free survival of AF according type of AF prior to arrhythmia surgery.



Figure 5. Treatment and progression of AF after arrhythmia surgery

Flowchart of treatment strategies in patients with late AF recurrence and progression of AF after arrhythmia surgery.

Predictors of late AF recurrence

Cox regression analysis was performed on 60 patients with AF prior to arrhythmia surgery. As displayed in Table 2, univariate analysis revealed age at surgery, prior (longstanding) persistent AF and atrial CHD as possible predictors for late AF recurrence after arrhythmia surgery with respective odds ratios (OR) of 1.06 (p=0.003), 2.05 (p=0.067) and 2.31 (p=0.053). Duration of AF history, follow-up duration, usage of postoperative AAD, and type of arrhythmia surgery and applied energy source were not significant in univariate analysis. Multivariate analyses revealed only age at arrhythmia surgery as an independent predictor for late AF recurrence (OR 1.05 95%CI 1.015-1.092; p=0.006). Presence of atrial CHD did not reach statistical significance (OR 2.08, 95%CI 0.883-4.909, p=0.094), nor did prior (longstanding) persistent AF (OR 1.72, 95%CI 0.792-3.730, p=0.171).
	Univariate			Multivariate		
Variable	OR	95%CI	Р	OR	95%Cl	Р
History of AF (years)	1.03	0.974-1.094	0.281			
Prior (longstanding) persistent AF	2.05	0.951-4.429	0.067	1.72	0.792-3.730	0.171
Age at surgery (years)	1.06	1.018-1.093	0.003	1.05	1.011-1.092	0.011
Atrial CHD	2.31	0.990-5.394	0.053	2.08	0.883-4.909	0.094
Follow-up duration	0.95	0.839-1.083	0.462			
Postoperative AAD	0.80	0.300-2.156	0.665			
Only LA-MAZE or PVI	0.79	0.366-1.689	0.537			
CRYO-MAZE	1.05	0.388-2.824	0.928			
Hypertension	1.41	0.522-3.806	0.499			
Pulmonary hypertension	0.56	0.187-1.651	0.291			
Diabetes	2.06	0.264-16.15	0.490			
BMI ≥30kg/m ²	1.30	0.480-3.512	0.607			

Table 2. Univariate and multivariate predictors of late AF recurrence

AF: atrial fibrillation, CHD: congenital heart disease, AAD: anti-arrhythmic drugs, LA: left atrium, PVI: pulmonary vein isolation, BMI: body mass index.

DISCUSSION

Key findings

We studied the long-term rhythm outcome of concomitant arrhythmia surgery in patients with various CHD. AF recurrences were present in a considerable proportion of our population, yet a small majority of our population remained free of late AF recurrences. Recurrence rates were significantly higher in patients with persistent or longstanding persistent AF prior to arrhythmia surgery. Also, patients with atrial CHD tended to have higher incidences of late AF recurrence, yet multivariate analysis revealed only age at arrhythmia surgery as an independent predictor for late AF recurrence. Progression of recurrent AF occurred in a minority of patients during follow-up. De novo regular SVT developed in 17% of the population after arrhythmia surgery.

Concomitant arrhythmia surgery approach

To date, guidelines on arrhythmia surgery in CHD patients and data on which lesion sets would be most beneficial in specific types of CHD are limited. Arrhythmia surgery approach in our patients was decided by a multidisciplinary team, consisting of cardiothoracic

surgeons, cardiologists and anaesthesiologists. The clinical burden of arrhythmia for each patient was weighted against the risk of surgical complications and the anatomical or technical possibilities.

We observed late AF recurrences in 45% of the 60 patients with AF prior to surgery, which is higher than previous reports by others on concomitant arrhythmia surgery in patients without or with CHD.^{7, 13, 14}

In patients without CHD, previous studies reported similar outcomes for left-sided and biatrial arrhythmia surgery with respective recurrence rates of 17% and 23%.¹⁴ In patients with Ebstein's anomaly, right-sided or biatrial surgical AF ablation for paroxysmal or persistent AF resulted in freedom from AF in 79% of patients after 52 months follow-up.⁸ Outcomes were similar between patients undergoing right-sided or bi-atrial maze procedure.⁸

Though recurrence rates of late AF are higher in our population, we also could not predict late AF recurrence based on arrhythmia surgery approach (i.e. only left-sided or only PVI) or applied energy source. Possible explanation for our high recurrence rate could be the presence of incomplete lesion sets and the high incidence of atrial CHD mainly consisting of ASD, which may come along with more extensive atrial structural remodeling due to volume overload.¹⁵

Radiofrequency current and cryothermal ablation

A major drawback of the Cox-maze III procedure is the complexity of the "cut and sew" technique. Therefore, universal acceptance of the Cox-maze III as standard surgical therapy for AF, was not established. In order to overcome the complexity of a Cox-maze III procedure, alternative sources of energy such as RF ablation and cryothermal ablation were introduced.

In our population, arrhythmia surgery was often performed by a combination of "cut and sew" with either RF or CRYO ablation. However, in previous studies performed in CHD patients with AF, preference was given to traditional "cut and sew" compared to alternative energy sources.^{6, 7} Giamberti et al performed thirteen right-sided maze procedures and a Cox-maze III procedure with additional RF ablation lines in the operated atrium (ASD N=10, UVH N=2, ccTGA N=1, mitral valve insufficiency N=1); AF recurrences occurred in 4 patients (29%) of whom two progressed to permanent AF.¹³

Khargi et al., showed that the difference of sinus rhythm restoration in patients who were either treated with "cut and sew" (84.9%) or alternative sources of energy (78.9%, p=0.03) was small but significant in favor of "cut and sew". The observed difference was explained by lack of continuous and transmural lesions when using alternative energy sources.¹⁴

It has been hypothesized that tissue is more preserved in patients who undergo cryothermal ablation compared to those who underwent RF ablation.¹⁶ Skanes et al. described that cryothermal ablation resulted in a more homogenous lesion with less damage to the endothelium and less necrosis without excessive fluid discharge.¹⁷ In patients without CHD, catheter-based cryothermal and RF ablation are reported equally effective at 1-year follow-up.^{18,19} However, in CHD patients, experience with either RF current or cryothermal ablation for concomitant arrhythmia surgery is scarce and studies comparing the effectiveness of both energy sources in surgical setting are lacking.²⁰⁻²² Further analysis of the effectiveness of alternative energy sources as opposed to the traditional 'cut and sew' approach in CHD patients is recommendable.

Progression of atrial fibrillation

In our population, only 5% of the study population showed progression of AF after concomitant arrhythmia surgery. In CHD patients who did not undergo arrhythmia surgery, progression of AF was reported in 26% of patients.³ In patients without CHD, progression has been reported in 18% to 25% after 4 to 5 years follow-up.^{23, 24} However, these studies had a slightly longer follow-up duration and mean age of included patients were above 60 years in both studies.

Regular SVT after arrhythmia surgery

De novo regular SVT developed in a considerable proportion of our population after arrhythmia surgery. Regular SVT after catheter ablation may be due to incomplete lesions, proarrhythmic effects of the lesion sets themselves or an unmasking of regular SVT once AF is eliminated.²⁵⁻²⁸ Both left- and right-sided AFL/IART are commonly reported after PVI.²⁵⁻²⁸ When ablation is limited to only ostial PVI, incidences of post-procedural regular SVT is approximately 2%.²⁵ However, when ablation is more extensive and several ablation lines are placed, incidences of post-ablation SVT rise from 30 up to 50%.²⁵ When regular SVT occur late after ablation, it is presumed to be the result of gap-related proarrhythmia and consists of 75% of cases of macroreentrant tachycardia; the remaining 25% includes microreentrant and focal atrial tachycardia.²⁵ In a study by Chae et al., 116 macroreentrant tachycardias were mapped during post-PVI redo ablation procedures.²⁹ Forty percent of these were perimitral macroreentrant tachycardia, followed by macroreentrant circuits traversing the left atrial roof (20%).²⁹ Other less common sites of macroreentry included the left atrial septum, the cavotricuspid isthmus, the base of the LAA and the right atrium.²⁹ Similar to catheter ablations, recurrences or de novo regular SVT after surgical ablation may occur due to the aforementioned mechanisms. Particularly in CHD patients, certain areas of the left and right atrium may be difficult or even anatomically impossible to reach.

Limitations

CHD patients form a highly specific and heterogeneous population. Choice of lesion sets for arrhythmia surgery is largely dependent on the individual anatomy of each patient and the extensiveness of adhesions in case of prior cardiac surgery. This feature is known to complicate interpretation and extrapolation of cohort outcomes to individual patients. In addition, study populations are often relatively small, as also the case in the present study, which could hamper statistical analysis between different study groups. Onset of AF was defined as the first documentation of an AF episode using available ECG or 24-hour Holter monitoring. Therefore, asymptomatic paroxysmal episodes of AF could therefore have been missed.

CONCLUSIONS

Arrhythmia surgery in CHD patients results in freedom from late AF recurrence for a small majority of patients after median follow-up of 2 years. Persistent or even longstanding persistent AF prior to arrhythmia surgery results is significantly higher recurrence rates. Age at arrhythmia surgery is an independent predictor for late AF recurrence. De novo regular SVT develops in a considerable proportion of patients after arrhythmia surgery.

REFERENCES

- Moons P, Bovijn L, Budts W, Belmans A and Gewillig M. Temporal trends in survival to adulthood among patients born with congenital heart disease from 1970 to 1992 in Belgium. *Circulation*. 2010;122:2264-72.
- 2. Mouws E, Roos-Hesselink JW, Bogers A and de Groot NMS. Coexistence of tachyarrhythmias in patients with tetralogy of Fallot. *Heart Rhythm*. 2017.
- Teuwen CP, Ramdjan TT, Gotte M, Brundel BJ, Evertz R, Vriend JW, Molhoek SG, Dorman HG, van Opstal JM, Konings TC, van der Voort P, Delacretaz E, Houck C, Yaksh A, Jansz LJ, Witsenburg M, Roos-Hesselink JW, Triedman JK, Bogers AJ and de Groot NM. Time Course of Atrial Fibrillation in Patients With Congenital Heart Defects. *Circ Arrhythm Electrophysiol*. 2015;8:1065-72.
- 4. Ramdjan T, Mouws E, Teuwen CP, Sitorus GDS, Houck CA, Bogers A and de Groot NMS. Progression of late postoperative atrial fibrillation in patients with tetralogy of Fallot. *J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol.* 2017.
- 5. Deal BJ, Costello JM, Webster G, Tsao S, Backer CL and Mavroudis C. Intermediate-Term Outcome of 140 Consecutive Fontan Conversions With Arrhythmia Operations. *Ann Thorac Surg.* 2016;101:717-24.
- 6. Theodoro DA, Danielson GK, Porter CJ and Warnes CA. Right-sided maze procedure for right atrial arrhythmias in congenital heart disease. *Ann Thorac Surg.* 1998;65:149-53; discussion 153-4.
- 7. Stulak JM, Dearani JA, Puga FJ, Zehr KJ, Schaff HV and Danielson GK. Right-sided Maze procedure for atrial tachyarrhythmias in congenital heart disease. *Ann Thorac Surg.* 2006;81:1780-4; discussion 1784-5.
- Stulak JM, Sharma V, Cannon BC, Ammash N, Schaff HV and Dearani JA. Optimal surgical ablation of atrial tachyarrhythmias during correction of Ebstein anomaly. *Ann Thorac Surg.* 2015;99:1700-5; discussion 1705.
- 9. Khairy P, Van Hare GF, Balaji S, Berul CI, Cecchin F, Cohen MI, Daniels CJ, Deal BJ, Dearani JA, Groot N, Dubin AM, Harris L, Janousek J, Kanter RJ, Karpawich PP, Perry JC, Seslar SP, Shah MJ, Silka MJ, Triedman JK, Walsh EP and Warnes CA. PACES/HRS expert consensus statement on the recognition and management of arrhythmias in adult congenital heart disease: developed in partnership between the Pediatric and Congenital Electrophysiology Society (PACES) and the Heart Rhythm Society (HRS). Endorsed by the governing bodies of PACES, HRS, the American College of Cardiology (ACC), the American Heart Association (AHA), the European Heart Rhythm Association (EHRA), the Canadian Heart Rhythm Society (CHRS), and the International Society for Adult Congenital Heart Disease (ISACHD). *Can J Cardiol.* 2014;30:e1-e63.
- European Heart Rhythm A, European Association for Cardio-Thoracic S, Camm AJ, Kirchhof P, Lip GY, Schotten U, Savelieva I, Ernst S, Van Gelder IC, Al-Attar N, Hindricks G, Prendergast B, Heidbuchel H, Alfieri O, Angelini A, Atar D, Colonna P, De Caterina R, De Sutter J, Goette A, Gorenek B, Heldal M, Hohloser SH, Kolh P, Le Heuzey JY, Ponikowski P and Rutten FH. Guidelines for the management of atrial fibrillation: the Task Force for the Management of Atrial Fibrillation of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC). *Eur Heart J*. 2010;31:2369-429.

- Aiba T, Shimizu W, Noda T, Okamura H, Satomi K, Suyama K, Kurita T, Aihara N and Kamakura S. Noninvasive characterization of intra-atrial reentrant tachyarrhythmias after surgical repair of congenital heart diseases. *Circ J.* 2009;73:451-60.
- 12. Ishii Y, Gleva MJ, Gamache MC, Schuessler RB, Boineau JP, Bailey MS and Damiano RJ, Jr. Atrial tachyarrhythmias after the maze procedure: incidence and prognosis. *Circulation*. 2004;110:II164-8.
- 13. Giamberti A, Chessa M, Abella R, Butera G, Negura D, Foresti S, Carminati M, Cappato R and Frigiola A. Surgical treatment of arrhythmias in adults with congenital heart defects. *Int J Cardiol*. 2008;129:37-41.
- 14. Khargi K, Hutten BA, Lemke B and Deneke T. Surgical treatment of atrial fibrillation; a systematic review. *Eur J Cardiothorac Surg*. 2005;27:258-65.
- 15. Mouws E and de Groot NMS. Atrial Tachyarrhythmia in Congenital Heart Disease: Beyond the Suture Lines. *Circ Arrhythm Electrophysiol*. 2017;10.
- 16. Deisenhofer I, Zrenner B, Yin YH, Pitschner HF, Kuniss M, Grossmann G, Stiller S, Luik A, Veltmann C, Frank J, Linner J, Estner HL, Pflaumer A, Wu J, von Bary C, Ucer E, Reents T, Tzeis S, Fichtner S, Kathan S, Karch MR, Jilek C, Ammar S, Kolb C, Liu ZC, Haller B, Schmitt C and Hessling G. Cryoablation versus radiofrequency energy for the ablation of atrioventricular nodal reentrant tachycardia (the CYRANO Study): results from a large multicenter prospective randomized trial. *Circulation*. 2010;122:2239-45.
- 17. Skanes AC, Klein G, Krahn A and Yee R. Cryoablation: potentials and pitfalls. *J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol*. 2004;15:S28-34.
- Luik A, Radzewitz A, Kieser M, Walter M, Bramlage P, Hormann P, Schmidt K, Horn N, Brinkmeier-Theofanopoulou M, Kunzmann K, Riexinger T, Schymik G, Merkel M and Schmitt C. Cryoballoon Versus Open Irrigated Radiofrequency Ablation in Patients With Paroxysmal Atrial Fibrillation: The Prospective, Randomized, Controlled, Noninferiority FreezeAF Study. *Circulation*. 2015;132:1311-9.
- Wasserlauf J, Pelchovitz DJ, Rhyner J, Verma N, Bohn M, Li Z, Arora R, Chicos AB, Goldberger JJ, Kim SS, Lin AC, Knight BP and Passman RS. Cryoballoon versus radiofrequency catheter ablation for paroxysmal atrial fibrillation. *Pacing Clin Electrophysiol*. 2015;38:483-9.
- 20. Mavroudis C, Backer CL, Deal BJ and Johnsrude CL. Fontan conversion to cavopulmonary connection and arrhythmia circuit cryoblation. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg.* 1998;115:547-56.
- Deal BJ, Mavroudis C, Backer CL, Johnsrude CL and Rocchini AP. Impact of arrhythmia circuit cryoablation during Fontan conversion for refractory atrial tachycardia. *Am J Cardiol*. 1999;83:563-8.
- 22. Agnoletti G, Borghi A, Vignati G and Crupi GC. Fontan conversion to total cavopulmonary connection and arrhythmia ablation: clinical and functional results. *Heart*. 2003;89:193-8.
- 23. Al-Khatib SM, Wilkinson WE, Sanders LL, McCarthy EA and Pritchett EL. Observations on the transition from intermittent to permanent atrial fibrillation. *Am Heart J.* 2000;140:142-5.

- Kerr CR, Humphries KH, Talajic M, Klein GJ, Connolly SJ, Green M, Boone J, Sheldon R, Dorian P and Newman D. Progression to chronic atrial fibrillation after the initial diagnosis of paroxysmal atrial fibrillation: results from the Canadian Registry of Atrial Fibrillation. *Am Heart J.* 2005;149:489-96.
- 25. Morady F, Oral H and Chugh A. Diagnosis and ablation of atypical atrial tachycardia and flutter complicating atrial fibrillation ablation. *Heart Rhythm*. 2009;6:S29-32.
- 26. Dizon J, Biviano A, Whang W, Ehlert F and Garan H. Changes in low right atrial conduction times during pulmonary vein isolation for atrial fibrillation: correlation with inducibility of typical right atrial flutter. *Europace*. 2011;13:942-8.
- 27. Deisenhofer I, Estner H, Zrenner B, Schreieck J, Weyerbrock S, Hessling G, Scharf K, Karch MR and Schmitt C. Left atrial tachycardia after circumferential pulmonary vein ablation for atrial fibrillation: incidence, electrophysiological characteristics, and results of radiofrequency ablation. *Europace*. 2006;8:573-82.
- Ouyang F, Antz M, Ernst S, Hachiya H, Mavrakis H, Deger FT, Schaumann A, Chun J, Falk P, Hennig D, Liu X, Bansch D and Kuck KH. Recovered pulmonary vein conduction as a dominant factor for recurrent atrial tachyarrhythmias after complete circular isolation of the pulmonary veins: lessons from double Lasso technique. *Circulation*. 2005;111:127-35.
- 29. Chae S, Oral H, Good E, Dey S, Wimmer A, Crawford T, Wells D, Sarrazin JF, Chalfoun N, Kuhne M, Fortino J, Huether E, Lemerand T, Pelosi F, Bogun F, Morady F and Chugh A. Atrial tachycardia after circumferential pulmonary vein ablation of atrial fibrillation: mechanistic insights, results of catheter ablation, and risk factors for recurrence. *J Am Coll Cardiol.* 2007;50:1781-7.



10

INTRA-OPERATIVE MAPPING OF THE ATRIA: THE FIRST STEP TOWARDS INDIVIDUALIZATION OF ATRIAL FIBRILLATION THERAPY?

Charles Kik Elisabeth M.J.P. Mouws Ad J.J.C. Bogers Natasja M.S. de Groot

EXPERT REVIEW OF CARDIOVASCULAR THERAPY 2017; 15(7):537-545

ABSTRACT

Background: Atrial fibrillation (AF), an age-related progressive disease, is becoming a worldwide epidemic with a prevalence rate of 33 million.

Areas covered: In this expert review, an overview of important results obtained from previous intra-operative mapping studies is provided. In addition, our novel intra-operative high-resolution mapping studies, its surgical considerations and data analyses are discussed. Furthermore, the importance of high-resolution mapping studies of both sinus rhythm and AF for the development of future AF therapy is underlined by our most recent results.

Expert commentary: Progression of AF is determined by the extensiveness of electropathology which is defined as conduction disorders caused by structural damage of atrial tissue. The severity of electropathology is a major determinant of therapy failure. At present, we do not have any diagnostic tool to determine the degree of electropathology in the individual patient and we can thus not select the most optimal treatment modality for the individual patient. An intra-operative, high-resolution scale, epicardial mapping approach combined with quantification of electrical parameters may serve as a diagnostic tool to stage AF in the individual patient and to provide patient tailored therapy.

INTRODUCTION

Atrial fibrillation (AF) is becoming a worldwide epidemic with a prevalence rate of 33 million.¹ In Europe, prevalences are estimated between 14 and 17 million by 2030.² Prevalence rates increase significantly with age from 1% in subjects of 55-60 years old up to 18% in the population >85years.³ At present, the lifetime risk of developing AF above the age of 40 years is 25% and increases significantly with age.³⁴

Present treatment modalities include rate and rhythm control by anti-arrhythmic drug therapy, electrical or chemical cardioversion, invasive endocardial catheter ablation or surgical ablation.⁵ Since Haissaguere et al. demonstrated rapid bursts of ectopic beats originating from the muscle sleeves of the pulmonary veins as a source of AF, pulmonary vein isolation (PVI) became the therapy of choice for patients with recurrent AF episodes.⁶

However, post-ablation recurrence of AF occurs in a considerable number of patients.⁷ Ganesan et al. performed a meta-analysis on long-term success rates of ablation therapy for AF and reported a 12-month single procedure success rate of 67% for paroxysmal AF and only 52% for non-paroxysmal AF.⁸ Long-term success rates based on follow-up durations ranging from 28 to 71 months were 54% for paroxysmal AF and 42% for non-paroxysmal AF.⁸ In patients with AF recurrences after PVI, therapy of AF remains thus challenging as there are at present no curative treatment modalities available.

History of mapping during cardiac surgery

The first intra-operative mapping procedures were used for identification of atrioventricular accessory pathways in patients with the Wolff-Parkinson-White syndrome. Epicardial mapping at that time was performed with a single, handheld electrode.^{9,10} After that, mapping systems that were capable of recording epicardial electrograms from multiple sites simultaneously were developed and further facilitated surgical ablation of atrioventricular accessory pathways. This development also enabled intra-operative mapping of more complex arrhythmias such as ventricular tachyarrhythmias or AF. As now for the first time patterns of activation of these tachyarrhythmias could be visualized, intraoperative mapping provided novel insights into the underlying mechanisms.

The goal of the first intra-operative mapping procedure during AF was to develop a mapping guided surgical treatment.⁹⁻¹¹ Such an approach would optimize surgical procedures, avoid unnecessary atrial lesions and reduce the procedural risks . However, mapping in patients with valvular heart disease and longstanding persistent AF, revealed foci at different sites in the atria whereas other reports were supportive of reentry as the underlying mechanism.^{11–15} Already from these mapping studies, it was concluded that the mechanism underlying AF

was not yet completely understood and that it may vary from patient to patient. As a stable arrhythmogenic substrate underlying AF could not be identified, intra-operative mapping studies were abandoned. Since then, several epicardial, intra-operative mapping studies during AF have been performed yet they have been limited to only a few atrial sites, low resolution or short recordings.^{11,15,16}

Mapping of atrial fibrillation: is it really necessary?

By performing intra-operative, high-resolution mapping studies at a high-resolution scale (inter-electrode distances of 2.25 mm) we discovered that progression of AF is rooted in *electropathology*, which is defined as complex electrical conduction disorders caused by structural damage of atrial tissue.^{17,18} Electrical properties of fibrillation waves were quantified and revealed differences in the fibrillatory process at the right atrial free wall in the spatio-temporal domain between 25 patients with electrically non-remodeled atria and induced AF and 24 patients with valvular heart disease and persistent AF.

In patients with persistent AF, the presence of multiple lines of conduction block was associated with narrowing of fibrillation waves and resulted in a higher number of fibrillation waves per square cm of atrial tissue. Another striking difference between the two patient groups was a more than 4-fold higher incidence of focal waves in patients with persistent AF. Thus, electrical dissociation of atrial muscle bundles (longitudinal dissociation in conduction) and 'focal' (epicardial breakthrough) waves play a key role in the development of the substrate of persistent AF. Based on the properties of these focal waves, we assumed that they were the result of electrical asynchrony between the endo-and epicardial layer. Additionally, it must be noted that in patients with the same type of AF, there already was a large variation in the number of epicardial breakthrough waves per cm². These findings emphasize the importance of the development of a new classification based on extensiveness of electropathology, rather than the currently used clinical classification.

In a subsequent study, we were the first to provide direct proof of endo-epicardial asynchrony during AF as an explanation for AF persistence.¹⁹ By simultaneous mapping of the endo- and epicardium of the right atrium in patients with structural heart disease with or without AF, we demonstrated that there is a small degree of electrical asynchrony between the endo-epicardial layers during paroxysmal AF and that this asynchrony increases with AF persistence. Endo-epicardial asynchrony is associated with an increase in the number of focal fibrillation waves. Indeed, most focal fibrillation waves (65%) could be attributed to endo-epicardial excitation. Of importance is that incidences of focal fibrillation waves and the degree of dissociation in conduction did not differ between the endo- or epicardium. Thus, electropathology at the endocardial or epicardial site seems to be comparable.

The severity of electropathology defines the stage of AF and is a major determinant of effectiveness of AF therapy. A gradual increase in electropathology is accompanied by a gradual increase in therapy failure and when the degree of electropathology is too severe, all currently available treatment modalities aimed at rhythm control fail. As mentioned above, patients with persistent AF, have high recurrence rates after PVI. This may not only be the result of left atrium-pulmonary vein reconduction, but also the result of the presence of extensive areas of electropathology throughout the atria.

Several recent studies have reported that ablation strategies targeting low-voltage areas (LVA) in addition to PVI are beneficial.²⁰⁻²³ However, patient populations of these studies are often small and their results require careful consideration, as they are often subject to methodological challenges. So far, there remains a severe lack of sufficient data truly examining the value of PVI with additional LVA ablation as opposed to PVI only in patients *with LVA*. The vast majority of studies report on outcome of PVI+LVA ablation in patients with LVA versus PVI only in patients of whom presence of LVA is not assessed, which impairs interpretation of these results. Rolf et al. on the other hand did perform a study on patients with paroxysmal and persistent AF and compared 47 patients with LVA who underwent PVI+LVA ablation with 26 patients with LVA who underwent PVI only. They observed similar early recurrence rates of over 50%, yet 12-month freedom of atrial tachycardia (AT)/AF was higher in those undergoing PVI+LVA ablation.²¹

In addition, signal voltages depend on a large variety of factors, compromising its use as a direct surrogate for atrial fibrosis, as reported sensitivity and specificity are low.^{24,25} As a result, unfortunately, we still cannot predict who will benefit from ablative therapy as we have no diagnostic tools to assess the degree of electropathology in the individual patient. The availability of simple, electrical measures as indicators of electropathology guiding the selection of the appropriate treatment modality in the individual AF patient would thus be desirable.

The Erasmus mapping approach

It is likely that there are inter-individual variations in the degree of AF-related electropathology as patients with AF represent a spectrum of subjects with different underlying cardiovascular diseases and with AF episodes of variable frequencies and durations. In addition to this, there are intra-atrial differences in the degree of electropathology as well. In order to comprehend features of atrial *electropathology* associated with AF progression, detailed knowledge of atrial *electrophysiology* is essential. These hiatuses in the pathophysiological understanding of AF led to the development of the Erasmus Mapping Approach.



Figure 1. The Erasmus mapping approach

Panel A: high-resolution electrode array with 24 rows of 8 electrodes each; interelectrode distances of 2 mm; electrode diameters of 0.45 mm. The electrode array can be mounted on a bendable spatula. Panel B: blue pacemaker wire used as reference electrode positioned on the terminal crest at RA; its corresponding electrogram is depicted below. Panel C: indifferent electrode positioned on subcutaneous tissue of the thorax. Panel D: intra-operative mapping of the RA; the corresponding electrogram displayed below shows an atrial and a farfield ventricular signal. Panel E: positioning of the high-resolution electrode array on BB.

AO: aorta; ICV: inferior caval vein; LAA: left atrial appendage; LA: left atrium; LSPV: left superior pulmonary vein; P.Tr: pulmonary trunk; RAA: right atrium appendage; RA: right atrium; RSPV: right superior pulmonary vein; RV: right ventricle.

The Erasmus Medical Center, Rotterdam, the Netherlands, has developed an intra-operative high-resolution mapping approach, further referred to as the Erasmus Mapping Approach, covering the entire left (LA) and right (RA) atrial epicardial surface, including Bachmann's bundle (BB), enabling visualization of local atrial electropathology.

This novel mapping approach was first used on large scale in the QUASAR-study [MEC 2010-054]^{26,27}, aimed at providing the answer in the <u>QUest</u> for the <u>Arrhythmogenic</u> <u>Substrate of Atrial fibRillation</u>. Subsequently, a simultaneous endo- and epicardial mapping study of right atrial free wall was initiated [EpicEnd; MEC 2015-373].²⁸ These mapping

studies generally consist of mapping of sinus rhythm (SR), followed by AF induction and mapping of AF. When AF is the initial rhythm, mapping of AF is performed, followed by electrocardioversion and, if succeeded, mapping of SR. Currently, these mapping studies are combined with analyses of biomarkers presumed to be protective of AF, in atrial tissue and peripheral blood [Halt&Reverse; MEC 2014-393].²⁹

High-resolution electrode array

The electrode array (GS Swiss PCB AG, Küssnacht, Switzerland), as shown in Figure 1, panel A, consists of an electroless nickel immersion gold–plated electrode array, mounted on a thin, flexible DuPont Pyralux copper-clad (25-µm thickness) polyimide laminate, and coverlay composite (25 µm) film (0.18 mm).

At the initiation of the QUASAR study, a 128-electrode array was used, consisting of 16 rows of 8 electrodes each with an electrode diameter of 0.65mm. Interelectrode distances were 2 mm, both vertically and horizontally. In order to reduce mapping time in the operating theatre, a 192-electrode array was developed at a later stage, consisting of 24 rows of 8 electrodes each with interelectrode distances of 2 mm and an electrode diameter of 0.45 mm, as shown in panel A of Figure 1. Interelectrode distances of 2 mm were based on the cross-correlation value, as demonstrated by Sakomoto in canine atria and later in human atria by Spach and Botteron and Smith, as a function of the interelectrode distance and the activation space constant.³⁰⁻³² An interelectrode distance of 2mm results in a cross-correlation of nearly 1, which implies that no relevant atrial signals are being missed.³²

Intra-operative epicardial mapping

Upon arrival in the operating theatre, surface ECG lead I is placed on the patient's shoulders and attached to our mapping equipment. Epicardial mapping is performed prior to commencement to extra-corporeal circulation. After median sternotomy and longitudinal opening of the pericardium, a bipolar pacemaker wire is stitched to the RA on the terminal crest region and serves as a temporary reference electrode, as visualized in panel B of Figure 1. A steel wire is used as an indifferent electrode and is stitched to subcutaneous tissue of the thoracic cavity, as depicted in panel C of Figure 1. A biphasic calibration signal with an amplitude of 2mV and a phase duration of 1000ms is also recorded.

If preferred by the surgeon performing the intra-operative mapping procedure, the electrode array can be mounted on a bendable stainless steel spatula as depicted in panel A of Figure 1. Mapping is conducted by sequentially placing the electrode array on predefined areas of RA, LA and BB. During the entire mapping procedure, electrograms are displayed in real-time using dedicated mapping software.





Figure 2. Epicardial and endo-epicardial mapping schemes

Upper panel: posterior view of the atria with the epicardial mapping scheme (192 electrode array). Lower panel: right lateral view of the heart with the endo-epicardial mapping scheme of RA.

AO: aorta; BB: Bachmann's bundle; ICV: inferior caval vein; LA: left atrium; PVL: pulmonary vein left; PVR: pulmonary vein right; RAA; right atrial appendage; RA; right atrium; RV right ventricle; SCV: superior caval vein.

The electrode array is positioned in a systematic order using anatomical landmarks to assure that mapping is performed in a reproducible manner. The upper panel of Figure 2 displays a schematic posterior view of the atria demonstrating the position and orientation

of the mapping electrode. Using the 192-electrode array, the array is firstly positioned at the cavotricuspid isthmus of the RA free wall, perpendicular to the terminal crest and shifted upwards until the right atrial appendage (RAA) is reached. Mapping of the pulmonary vein area (PVA) is then performed by positioning the electrode array vertically along the right pulmonary veins with its distal end touching the fold of the sinus transversus and its proximal end towards the atrioventricular groove. From this position, the array is shifted to the left until it reaches the left pulmonary veins. After mapping the left side of PVA, the array is turned and positioned on the left atrioventricular groove, as depicted in the upper panel of Figure 2, starting directly under the left inferior pulmonary vein. The array is then sequentially placed on the LAVG until the left atrial appendage (LAA) is reached. Finally, the electrode array is placed on BB with its distal end touching the border of LAA towards the superior caval vein. Five seconds of SR are recorded from each mapping site.

After mapping of BB during SR, the electrode array remains positioned at BB and AF is induced by fixed rate pacing at the RA free wall starting at 250bpm and increasing in 50bpm steps. Pacing signals are thus recorded at BB from start to end of the AF induction attempt. When AF is induced, mapping of AF starts at BB and continues in the systematic order as described above. AF signals are recorded for 10 seconds per mapping site. After completion of the mapping procedure, AF is either terminated by electric cardioversion or sustained until conduction of cardioplegia, depending on the surgeon's preference. All SR, pacing and AF recordings are amplified (gain 1000), filtered (bandwidth 0.5–400 Hz), sampled (1 kHz), and analogue to digital converted (12 bits).

Intra-operative simultaneous endo- and epicardial mapping

Simultaneous endo- and epicardial mapping is performed with a clamp-shaped mapping device consisting of 2 bendable stainless steel spatulas on each of which a 128-electrode array is attached. The two legs of the mapping device are placed exactly opposite of each other. One leg of the mapping devices is introduced through the incision at the RAA for venous cannulation and positioned on the endocardium of the RA free wall, while the opposite leg will be positioned on the epicardial side. The RA free wall was mapped in 3 consecutive locations by rotating the angle of the mapping device at the auricular incision as visualized in the lower panel of Figure 2. After mapping of SR, AF induction and mapping is performed as described in the previous paragraph.

Surgical considerations

Although the Erasmus Mapping Approach is a fast and feasible technique to examine electropathology of the entire atrial surface, it may not be suitable for every patient. Patients who have a high risk of complications during surgery, who are hemodynamically instable

or who have cardiac adhesions are excluded. After median sternotomy and longitudinal opening the pericardial sac, the heart is exposed in the best possible way. The mapping can be performed at this stage or can be done after administration of heparin and cannulation, but should be done before starting cardiopulmonary bypass. When attaching the reference electrode, adequate intramyocardial positioning in the longitudinal running terminal crest is necessary.

As the high-resolution electrode array is mounted on a bendable stainless steel spatula, the electrode array can be easily adapted to the different curves of the atrial epicardial surface. During simultaneous endo-epicardial mapping procedures of the RA free wall, a slightly wider purse string suture is made, which is later used for normal two-staged right atrial cannulation. After introduction of the endocardial leg of the mapping device, the purse string is lightly snared to prevent unnecessary blood loss. Only slight pressure on both spatulas is necessary to optimize tissue contact.

As a result of the high-resolution electrode array and the systematic order of the Erasmus Mapping Approach, mapping of the entire left and right atrial surface can be performed by the surgeon in only 9 ± 2 mins including the preparation time needed to attach the reference and indifferent electrode.²⁷ Also, arterial pressure can be stabilized by a slight Trendelenburg position or by intravenous administration of a very low dose of noradrenalin.

Reconstruction of the patterns of activation

All recorded signals are semi-automatically analyzed. An example of epicardial SR activation mapping of the RA, BB and LA is shown Figure 3. The steepest negative slope of each atrial potential (A) recorded at every electrode is annotated, as shown in Figure 3, as steepness of slope correlates with distance of the activation wavefront to the electrode.^{31,33} In this way, local activation maps can be constructed for each mapping location, as depicted in the middle panel of Figure 3. By calculating time intervals between the local activation times of the reference electrode and of every other electrode, an activation map of the entire atrial epicardial surface including BB can be constructed, as visualized in the lower panel of Figure 3.



Figure 3. Epicardial high-resolution mapping of sinus rhythm

Upper panel: electrogram recorded at RA showing the atrial signal (A) and a farfield ventricular signal (V). The steepest negative slope is annotated (red dotted line), in order to determine the local activation time. Middle panel: color-coded local activation maps of each mapping site (color-classes of 5 ms). Lower panel: color-coded activation map of the entire atria constructed relative to local activation times of the reference electrode which was defined as 0 ms (color-classes of 10 ms). Arrows indicate main trajectories of the sinus rhythm wavefront propagation through the different atrial regions.



Figure 4. Simultaneous endo-epicardial high-resolution mapping

Color-coded local activation maps of the epicardial (left) and endocardial (right) side of RA recorded during sinus rhythm (SR) (upper panel) and atrial fibrillation (AF) (middle and lower panel). Corresponding electrograms recorded at the marked electrodes positioned directly opposite of each other are shown next to the activation maps. Note that during SR the pattern of activation follows 1 wavefront from red towards green. Also, electrograms are the same during SR on both the epicardium and the endocardium. During synchronous AF (middle panel), the activation maps show 2 wavefronts, one from red towards green and one from blue towards purple. Electrograms recorded at the epicardium and endocardium are overall the same. Hence, local activation times -determined by the steepest negative slope of the potentials- of opposite electrodes are the same. During asynchronous AF (lower panel), however, the activation pattern of the epicardium is completely different to that of the endocardium. Electrograms recorded at the epicardium and endocardium. Electrograms recorded at the epicardium are over different from each other.

Examples of epicardial and endocardial local activation maps simultaneously recorded are shown in Figure 4. Main trajectories of waves are represented by arrows and areas of conduction block by thick black lines. In the upper panel, an example of activation of the epi- and endocardium during SR is shown. Both maps show a comparable pattern of activation. Also, electrogram morphologies of the two electrodes exactly opposite to each other are the same. The middle panel shows an example of endo- epicardial mapping of the RA during AF; the patterns of activation show only minor differences. Note that the electrograms recorded at two opposite electrodes are generally the same, as emphasized by the overlay-plot of the endocardial and epicardial electrograms. In contrast, the lower right panel also shows an example of endo-epicardial mapping of the RA during AF with considerable endo-epicardial asynchrony. The endo- and epicardial side of the RA are activated differently and there are considerable differences in local activation times. Hence, corresponding electrograms of two opposite electrodes are very different from each other as well, as visualized in the overlay-plot.

Expert commentary: the first step towards individualization of AF therapy

In order to understand electropathology related with AF, it is essential to examine whether patients without a history of AF already have a certain degree of electropathology. For this purpose, we first performed intra-operative mapping studies of the entire atrial epicardial surface during SR to gain extensive insights into the human physiology of SR. Electrophysiological parameters were quantified per 1 cm² in a large number of patients with coronary artery disease and/or valvular heart disease. In these on-going studies, intra-atrial variation in electrophysiological properties including conduction delay, conduction block, unipolar voltages and signal fractionation are measured and regional differences are evaluated. Examples of intra-atrial and inter-individual variation in amount of conduction block are shown in Figure 5.

In a similar way, parameters of electropathology, such as the number of fibrillation waves, severity of conduction block, slowing of conduction, voltages and signal fractionation are also determined during (induced) AF to further identify features of electropathology associated with development of AF. Figure 6 shows an example of quantification of the number of fibrillation waves resulting in a low (blue), intermediate (white) or high (red) number of fibrillation waves per 1cm². As can be seen in Figure 6, this simple parameter already discriminates between two different types of AF. Thus, our mapping approach is promising with respect to identification and localization of areas of electropathology associated with development of AF. Knowledge of the degree and extension of electropathology enables determining the 'stage of AF' in the individual patient which in turn enables patient tailored therapy.



Amount of Conduction Block

Figure 5. Inter- and intra-individual variation in conduction block

Examples of 2 patients without a history of AF who underwent intra-operative epicardial mapping. In these maps, areas of conduction block, defined as differences in local activation times of \geq 12ms between adjacent electrodes, are displayed as red lines. The amount of conduction block is provided as a percentage of each mapping location and as a percentage of the total mapped area. Note the large interindividual variation in both the amount of conduction block and the predilection sites of conduction block. Also, within patients there is a large intra-atrial variation between regions with regard to the amount of conduction block.

In addition to this, the intra-operative measurements are the golden standard measurements and form the basis for development of less invasive, or even non-invasive measurements in future studies. With the on-going technological developments, high-resolution endovascular mapping or body surface mapping may become available, broadening the application of the Erasmus Approach.

Five year view

Currently, the pathophysiological understanding of AF remains controversial. Several studies have suggested AF rotors as the underlying mechanism. However, this mechanism is not universally accepted and the efficacy of rotor ablation reported in recent studies is poor.³⁴ Other studies report on the presence of multiple independent wandering fibrillation waves and endo-epicardial asynchrony as underlying mechanism of AF persistence, as first introduced by Moe et al. and later demonstrated by Allessie et al. and De Groot et al.^{18,35,36} For an in-dept discussion of these underlying mechanism, we refer to the rebuttal article of Allessie and De Groot (2014).^{37,38}

Induced AF Long-standing Persistent AF



Number of Fibrillation Waves/cm²

Figure 6. Interindividual variation in number of fibrillation waves

Typical examples of high-resolution mapping of induced (left panel) and long-standing persistent (right panel) AF. The number of fibrillation waves are determined for every square cm and depicted in a color-code. This parameter clearly shows differences between the 2 types of AF.

Furthermore, based on the assumption that atrial fibrosis plays an important role in the pathogenesis of AF, several methods have been developed for the detection of fibrotic tissue. The use of contact voltage mapping in order to determine the extent and location of fibrosis has been reported in various papers. Catheter ablation of low-voltage areas in addition to PVI is reported to have lower recurrence rates of AF/AT.

However, signal voltages depend on a variety of factors, including the activation vector, angle of the catheter with regard to the tissue, size of the electrode, interelectrode distance, extent of tissue contact, filtering, mapping density and mapping resolution. As all these factors interfere with signal voltages, its use in clinical practice for proper quantification and localization of fibrosis is limited. Fibrosis and signal voltages are two distinct concepts that should not be used interchangeably, as voltage mapping has been demonstrated non-sensitive and non-specific for detection of fibrotic areas.^{24,25}

In addition, some studies have reported on the use of late gadolinium enhancement (LGE) MRI imaging for detection of atrial fibrosis. Fibrotic areas detected by LGE-MRI correlated with histopathological findings.^{39,40} Also, the multicenter DECAAF-study reported lower

ablation efficacy outcome in patients with more extensive fibrosis.⁴¹ However, the analysis of these imaging techniques require extensive MRI experience, including specification of image contrast and continuity, required to set boundaries for the various degrees of fibrosis. The degree of identified fibrosis depends on the threshold settings used to define fibrosis, for which at this moment no uniform standard is available.⁴²

Intra-operative high-resolution mapping studies provide an extensive amount of electrophysiological and –pathological data, which serves as a gold standard for the development of less invasive and -in the future- non-invasive mapping techniques. Data of today's available endovascular high-resolution techniques can be put in perspective and validated based on the knowledge obtained from our intra-operative mapping studies.

In clinical practice, the knowledge of the extensiveness of electropathology measured by quantification of electrical parameters will lead to better clinical decision making regarding AF therapy. In case of severe and widespread electropathology, cardiologists might better decide not to perform an ablation, as success is unlikely. In these cases, novel drug therapies aimed at altering the AF substrate by reversing structural remodeling would be more beneficial than catheter ablation. Currently, several ongoing studies with promising results are performed on the effect of heat shock proteins on AF development and whether they are a suitable biomarker for AF.⁴³ Furthermore, the extensiveness of electropathology, which might be indicated by the level of biomarkers in blood, may predict which patients will develop postoperative AF and for which patients electrocardioversion to sinus rhythm will succeed.

Key issues

- Therapy of recurrent AF after PVI is challenging as there are at present no curative treatment modalities available.
- Progression of AF is caused by an increase in electropathology which is a major determinant of therapy failure. When electropathology is too severe, all currently available therapies fail.
- The Erasmus Mapping Approach is promising with respect to identification and localization of areas of electropathology associated with development of AF and may serve as a new tool to 'stage' AF in the individual patient.
- Determination of the 'stage of AF' in the individual patient subsequently enables patient tailored therapy.

REFERENCES

- Chugh SS, Havmoeller R, Narayanan K, Kim Y, Jr JHM, Zheng Z, Forouzanfar MH, Naghavi M, Mensah GA, Ezzati M, Murray CJL. Worldwide Epidemiology of Atrial Fibrillation: A Global Burden of Disease 2010 Study. *Circulation*. 2014;129:837–847.
- 2. Zoni-berisso M, Domenicucci S. Epidemiology of atrial fibrillation : European perspective. *Clin Epidemiol*. 2014;6:213–220.
- Heeringa J, Van Der Kuip DAM, Hofman A, Kors JA, Van Herpen G, Stricker BHC, Stijnen T, Lip GYH, Witteman JCM. Prevalence, incidence and lifetime risk of atrial fibrillation: The Rotterdam study. *Eur Heart J.* 2006;27:949–953.
- Lloyd-Jones DM, Wang TJ, Leip EP, Larson MG, Levy D, Vasan RS, D'Agostino RB, Massaro JM, Beiser A, Wolf PA, Benjamin EJ. Lifetime risk for development of atrial fibrillation: The framingham heart study. *Circulation*. 2004;110:1042–1046.
- Camm AJ, Kirchhof P, Lip GYH, Schotten U, Savelieva I, Ernst S, Van Gelder IC, Al-Attar N, Hindricks G, Prendergast B, Heidbuchel H, Alfieri O, Angelini A, Atar D, Colonna P, De Caterina R, De Sutter J, Goette A, Gorenek B, Heldal M, Hohloser SH, Kolh P, Le Heuzey J-Y, Ponikowski P, Rutten FH. Guidelines for the management of atrial fibrillation: the Task Force for the Management of Atrial Fibrillation of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC). *Eur Heart J*. 2010;31:2369–2429.
- Haïssaguerre M, Jaïs P, Shah DC, Takahashi A, Hocini M, Quiniou G, Garrigue S, Le Mouroux A, Le Métayer P, Clémenty J. Spontaneous Initiation of Atrial Fibrillation by Ectopic Beats Originating in the Pulmonary Veins. *N Engl J Med.* 1998;339:659–666.
- Kottkamp H, Tanner H, Kobza R, Schirdewahn P, Dorszewski A, Gerds-Li JH, Carbucicchio C, Piorkowski C, Hindricks G. Time courses and quantitative analysis of atrial fibrillation episode number and duration after circular plus linear left atrial lesions: Trigger elimination or substrate modification: Early or delayed cure? *J Am Coll Cardiol*. 2004;44:869–877.
- Ganesan AN, Shipp NJ, Brooks AG, Kuklik P, Lau DH, Lim HS, Sullivan T, Roberts-Thomson KC, Sanders P. Long-term outcomes of catheter ablation of atrial fibrillation: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Am Heart Assoc. 2013;2:1–14.
- 9. Gallagher JJ, Gilbert M, Svenson RH, Sealy WC, Kasell J, Wallace a G. Wolff-Parkinson-White syndrome. The problem, evaluation, and surgical correction. *Circulation*. 1975;51:767–85.
- Cobb FRF, Blumenschein SDS, Sealy WCW, Boineau JP, Wagner GSG, Wallace a. GA. Successful Surgical Interruption of the Bundle of Kent in a Patient with Wolff-Parkinson-White Syndrome. *Circulation*. 1968;38:1018–1029.
- 11. Khargi K, Hutten B a, Lemke B, Deneke T. Surgical treatment of atrial fibrillation; a systematic review. *Eur J Cardiothorac Surg.* 2005;27:258–65.
- 12. Harada A, Konishi T, Fukata M, Higuchi K, Sugimoto T, Sasaki K. Intra-operative map guided operation for atrial fibrillation due to mitral valve disease. *Ann Thorac Surg.* 2000;69:446–451.
- 13. Harada A, Sugimoto T, Asano T, Yamada K. Intra-operative map-guided operation for chronic atrial fibrillation. *Ann Thorac Surg.* 1998;66:1401–1403.

- 14. Harada A, Sasaki K, Fukushima T, Ikeshita M, Asano T, Yamauchi S, Tanaka S, Shoji T. Atrial activation during chronic atrial fibrillation in patients with isolated mitral valve disease. *Ann Thorac Surg.* 1996;61:104–112.
- 15. Nitta T, Ishii Y, Miyagi Y, Ohmori H, Sakamoto SI, Tanaka S. Concurrent multiple left atrial focal activations with fibrillatory conduction and right atrial focal or reentrant activation as the mechanism in atrial fibrillation. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg.* 2004;127:770–778.
- 16. Sueda T, Nagata H, Shikata H, Orihashi K, Morita S, Sueshiro M, Okada K, Matsuura Y. Simple Left Atrial Procedure for Chronic Atrial Fibrillation Associated With Mitral Valve Disease. *Ann Thorac Surg.* 1996;62:1796–1800.
- 17. De Groot N, Allessie M. Epicardial Mapping of Longstanding Persistent Atrial Fibrillation. In: Cardiac Mapping: Fourth Edition. Wiley-Blackwell; 2012. p. 797–808.
- 18. Allessie MA, De Groot NMS, Houben RPM, Schotten U, Boersma E, Smeets JL, Crijns HJ. Electropathological substrate of long-standing persistent atrial fibrillation in patients with structural heart disease longitudinal dissociation. *Circ Arrhythmia Electrophysiol*. 2010;3:606–615.
- 19. de Groot N, van der Does L, Yaksh A, Lanters E, Teuwen C, Knops P, van de Woestijne P, Bekkers J, Kik C, Bogers A, Allessie M. Direct Proof of Endo-Epicardial Asynchrony of the Atrial Wall During Atrial Fibrillation in Humans. *Circ Arrhythmia Electrophysiol*. 2016;9:e003648.
- Yang G, Yang B, Wei Y, Zhang F, Ju W, Chen H, Li M, Gu K, Lin Y, Wang B, Cao K, Kojodjojo P, Chen M. Catheter Ablation of Nonparoxysmal Atrial Fibrillation Using Electrophysiologically Guided Substrate Modification during Sinus Rhythm after Pulmonary Vein Isolation. *Circ Arrhythmia Electrophysiol.* 2016;9.
- 21. Rolf S, Kircher S, Arya A, Eitel C, Sommer P, Sergio R, Gaspar T, Bollmann A, Altmann D, Piedra C, Hindricks G, Piorkowski C. Tailored atrial substrate modification based on low-voltage areas in catheter ablation of atrial fibrillation. *Circ Arrhythmia Electrophysiol.* 2014;7:825–833.
- 22. Jadidi AS, Lehrmann H, Keyl C, Sorrel J, Markstein V, Minners J, Park C II, Denis A, Jaïs P, Hocini M, Potocnik C, Allgeier J, Hochholzer W, Herrera-Sidloky C, Kim S, Omri Y El, Neumann FJ, Weber R, Haïssaguerre M, Arentz T. Ablation of Persistent Atrial Fibrillation Targeting Low-Voltage Areas with Selective Activation Characteristics. *Circ Arrhythmia Electrophysiol*. 2016;9.
- Yagishita A, Gimbel JR, De Oliveira S, Manyam H, Sparano D, Cakulev I, Mackall J, Arruda M. Long-Term Outcome of Left Atrial Voltage-Guided Substrate Ablation During Atrial Fibrillation: A Novel Adjunctive Ablation Strategy. J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol. 2017;28:147–155.
- 24. Anter E, Josephson ME. Bipolar voltage amplitude: What does it really mean? *Heart Rhythm*. 2016;13:326–327.
- Blauer JJE, Swenson D, Higuchi K, Plank G, Ranjan R, Marrouche N, MacLeod RS. Sensitivity and Specificity of Substrate Mapping: An in silico Framework for the Evaluation of Electroanatomical Substrate Mapping Strategies. *J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol*. 2014;25:774–780.
- 26. van der Does LJME, Yaksh A, Kik C, Knops P, Lanters EAH, Teuwen CP, Oei FBS, van de Woestijne PC, Bekkers JA, Bogers AJJC, Allessie MA, de Groot NMS. QUest for the Arrhythmogenic Substrate of Atrial fibRillation in Patients Undergoing Cardiac Surgery (QUASAR Study): Rationale and Design. *J Cardiovasc Transl Res.* 2016;9:194–201.

- 27. Yaksh A, van der Does LJ, Kik C, Knops P, Oei FB, van de Woestijne PC, Bekkers JA, Bogers AJ, Allessie MA, de Groot NM. A novel intra-operative, high-resolution atrial mapping approach. *J Interv Card Electrophysiol*. 2015;44:221–225.
- 28. Knops P, Kik C, Bogers AJJC, de Groot NMS. Simultaneous endocardial and epicardial high-resolution mapping of the human right atrial wall. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg*. 2016;152:929–931.
- 29. Lanters EAH, van Marion DMS, Kik C, Steen H, Bogers AJJC, Allessie MA, Brundel BJJM, de Groot NMS. HALT & REVERSE: Hsf1 activators lower cardiomyocyt damage; towards a novel approach to REVERSE atrial fibrillation. *J Transl Med*. 2015;13:347.
- 30. Sakomoto Y. Membrane characteristics of canine papillary muscle fiber. *J Gen Physiol.* 1969;54:765–781.
- 31. Spach MS, Dolber PC. Relating extracellular potentials and their derivatives to anisotropic propagation at a microscopic level in human cardiac muscle. Evidence for electrical uncoupling of side-to-side fiber connections with increasing age. *Circ Res.* 1986;58:356–71.
- 32. Botteron G, Smith J. Quantitative Assessment of the Spatial Organisation of Atrial Fibrillation in the Intact Human Heart. *Circulation*. 1996;93:513–518.
- 33. Kléber AG, Rudy Y. Basic mechanisms of cardiac impulse propagation and associated arrhythmias. *Physiol Rev.* 2004;84:431–488.
- Buch E, Share M, Tung R, Benharash P, Sharma P, Koneru J, Mandapati R, Ellenbogen KA, Shivkumar K. Long-term clinical outcomes of focal impulse and rotor modulation for treatment of atrial fibrillation: A multicenter experience. *Heart Rhythm.* 2016;13:636–641.
- 35. Moe GK, Rheinboldt WC, Abildskov JA. A computer model of atrial fibrillation. *Am Heart J.* 1964;67:200–20.
- 36. de Groot N, Houben R, Smeets J, Boersma E, Schotten U, Schalij M, Crijns H, Allessie M. Electropathological Substrate of Longstanding Persistent Atrial Fibrillation in Patients With Structural Heart Disease: Epicardial Breakthrough. *Circulation*. 2010;122:1674–1683.
- 37. Allessie M, de Groot N. Rebuttal from Maurits Allessie and Natasja de Groot. *J Physiol.* 2014;592:3173.
- 38. Allessie M, de Groot N. CrossTalk opposing view: Rotors have not been demonstrated to be the drivers of atrial fibrillation. *J Physiol*. 2014;592:3167–70.
- 39. Oakes RS, Badger TJ, Kholmovski EG, Akoum N, Burgon NS, Fish EN, Blauer JJEE, Rao SN, Dibella EVRR, Segerson NM, Daccarett M, Windfelder J, McGann CJ, Parker D, MacLeod RS, Marrouche NF. Detection and quantification of left atrial structural remodeling with delayed-enhancement magnetic resonance imaging in patients with atrial fibrillation. *Circulation.* 2009;119:1758–1767.
- McGann C, Akoum N, Patel A, Kholmovski E, Revelo P, Damal K, Wilson B, Cates J, Harrison A, Ranjan R, Burgon NS, Greene T, Kim D, DiBella EVR, Parker D, MacLeod RS, Marrouche NF. Atrial Fibrillation Ablation Outcome Is Predicted by Left Atrial Remodeling on MRI. *Circ Arrhythmia Electrophysiol.* 2014;7:23–30.

- 41. Marrouche NF, Wilber D, Hindricks G, Jais P, Akoum N, Marchlinski F, Kholmovski E, Burgon N, Hu N, Mont L, Deneke T, Duytschaever M, Neumann T, Mansour M, Mahnkopf C, Herweg B, Daoud E, Wissner E, Bansmann P, Brachmann J. Association of atrial tissue fibrosis identified by delayed enhancement MRI and atrial fibrillation catheter ablation: the DECAAF study. *JAMA*. 2014;311:498–506.
- 42. Calkins H, Hindricks G, Cappato R, Kim Y-H, Saad EB, Aguinaga L, Akar JG, Badhwar V, Brugada J, Camm J, Chen P-S, Chen S-A, Chung MK, Nielsen JC, Curtis AB, Davies DW, Day JD, D'Avila A, (Natasja) de Groot NMS, Di Biase L, Duytschaever M, Edgerton JR, Ellenbogen KA, Ellinor PT, Ernst S, Fenelon G, Gerstenfeld EP, Haines DE, Haissaguerre M, Helm RH, Hylek E, Jackman WM, Jalife J, Kalman JM, Kautzner J, Kottkamp H, Kuck KH, Kumagai K, Lee R, Lewalter T, Lindsay BD, Macle L, Mansour M, Marchlinski FE, Michaud GF, Nakagawa H, Natale A, Nattel S, Okumura K, Packer D, Pokushalov E, Reynolds MR, Sanders P, Scanavacca M, Schilling R, Tondo C, Tsao H-M, Verma A, Wilber DJ, Yamane T. 2017 HRS/EHRA/ECAS/APHRS/SOLAECE Expert Consensus Statement on Catheter and Surgical Ablation of Atrial Fibrillation. *Heart Rhythm*. 2017;30590–8.
- 43. Lanters EAH, van Marion DMS, Steen H, de Groot NMS, Brundel BJJM. The future of atrial fibrillation therapy: intervention on heat shock proteins influencing electropathology is the next in line. *Netherlands Hear J.* 2015;23:327–333.



IMPACT OF ISCHEMIC AND VALVULAR HEART DISEASE ON ATRIAL EXCITATION: A HIGH-RESOLUTION EPICARDIAL MAPPING STUDY

Elisabeth M.J.P. Mouws

Eva A.H. Lanters Christophe P. Teuwen Lisette J.M.E. van der Does Charles Kik Paul Knops Ameeta Yaksh Jos A. Bekkers Ad J.J.C. Bogers Natasja M.S. de Groot

JOURNAL OF THE AMERICAN HEART ASSOCIATION 2018;7(6). PII: E008331

ABSTRACT

Background: The influence of underlying heart disease or presence of atrial fibrillation (AF) on atrial excitation during sinus rhythm (SR) is unknown. We investigated atrial activation patterns and total activation times of the entire atrial epicardial surface during SR in patients with ischemic and/or valvular heart disease (IHD, (i)VHD) with or without AF.

Methods: Intra-operative epicardial mapping (N=128/192 electrodes, inter-electrode distances: 2mm) of the right atrium (RA), Bachmann's bundle (BB), left atrioventricular groove (LAVG) and pulmonary vein area (PVA) was performed during SR in 253 patients (186 male (74%), age 66±11years) with IHD (N=132, 52%) or (i)VHD (N=121, 48%).

Results: As expected, the SR origin was located in the RA superior intercaval region in 232 patients (92%). BB activation occurred via one wavefront from right-to-left (N=163, 64%), from the central part (N=18, 7%) or via multiple wavefronts (N=72, 28%). LAVG activation occurred via 1) BB: N=108, 43%, 2) PVA: N=9, 3% or 3) BB and PVA: N=136, 54%; depending on which route had the shortest interatrial conduction time (p<0.001). (i)VHD patients more often had central BB activation and LAVG activation via PVA compared to IHD patients (N=16(13%) versus N=2(2%); p=0.009 and N=86(71%) versus N=59(45%); p<0.001 respectively). Total activation times were longer in patients with AF (AF: 136±20 (92-186) ms; No AF: 114±17 (74-156) ms; p<0.001), due to prolongation of RA (p=0.018) and BB conduction times (p<0.001).

Conclusions: Atrial excitation during SR is affected by underlying heart disease and AF, resulting in alternative routes for BB and LAVG activation and prolongation of total activation times. Knowledge on atrial excitation patterns during SR and its electropathological variations, as demonstrated in this study, is essential to further unravel the pathogenesis of AF.

INTRODUCTION

Excitation of the atria is determined by membrane properties, tissue structure and wavefront geometry.^{1–3} Knowledge of atrial patterns of activation during sinus rhythm (SR) may enable detection of propagation abnormalities associated with development of atrial tachyarrhythmias such as atrial fibrillation (AF).

Prior mapping studies demonstrated that electrical activity originating from the sinus node area, after having spread towards the superior vena cava (SVC) and the right atrial appendage (RAA), propagated from the right (RA) to the left atrium (LA) via Bachmann's Bundle (BB), the rim of the fossa ovalis region or the coronary sinus ostial connections.^{4–6} In these mapping studies, patterns of activation were reproducible and showed limited inter-individual variation. In vivo activation mapping of the entire RA and LA during SR has only been performed in a limited number of patients with a low spatial resolution. In addition, most mapping studies were performed on the endocardial surface and did therefore not include direct measurements of conduction along BB. At present, it is unknown whether atrial activation patterns, including interatrial conduction, are influenced by underlying heart disease or the presence of AF episodes. As patients with valvular heart disease are more susceptible to develop AF than patients with coronary artery disease, atrial activation patterns may also differ during SR.⁷

Aims of the present study are therefore to investigate in a large cohort of patients with ischemic and/or valvular heart disease whether atrial patterns of activation and total excitation time of the right and left atrium are influenced by patient characteristics and the presence of AF episodes.

METHODS

Study population

The study population consisted of 253 successive adult patients undergoing elective open heart coronary artery bypass grafting, aortic or mitral valve surgery or a combination of valvular and bypass grafting surgery in the Erasmus Medical Center Rotterdam. This study was approved by the institutional medical ethical committee (MEC2010-054/MEC2014-393)^{8,9}; written informed consent was obtained from all patients. Preoperative ECG and clinical data were extracted from electronic patient files. Preoperative surface ECGs were screened for the occurrence of interatrial block based on the Bayes criteria Preoperative surface ECGs were screened for the occurrence of interatrial block based on the Bayes criteria.¹⁰

Mapping procedure

Epicardial high-resolution mapping was performed prior to commencement of extracorporal circulation, as previously described in detail.^{11–13} A temporary bipolar epicardial pacemaker wire was stitched to the RA free wall, serving as a temporal reference electrode. The indifferent electrode consisted of a steel wire fixed to subcutaneous tissue of the thoracic cavity.

Epicardial mapping was performed with a 128-electrode array, which was later replaced by a 192-electrode array to shorten the duration of the mapping procedure (electrode diameter respectively 0.65mm or 0.45mm, interelectrode distances 2 mm). Mapping was conducted by shifting the electrode array along predefined areas of the RA, BB and LA between anatomical borders in a systematic order, covering the entire atrial epicardial surface, in which omission of areas was avoided at the expense of possible small overlap between successive mapping sites, as illustrated in the upper left panel of Figure 1. The RA was mapped in 4 consecutive horizontal lines (RA1-4) from the cavotricuspid isthmus towards the RAA, perpendicular to the inferior and superior caval vein (ICV and SCV). Mapping of BB was performed from the border of the left atrial appendage (LAA) towards the superior cavo-atrial junction. The pulmonary vein area (PVA) was mapped from the sinus transversus along the borders of the right and left pulmonary veins (PVR and PVL) down towards the atrioventricular groove. The left atrioventricular groove (LAVG) was mapped from the lower border of the left atrioventricular become from the lower border of the left atrioventricular groove (LAVG).

Five seconds of SR were recorded at every mapping site, including a surface ECG lead, a calibration signal of 2mV and 1000ms, a bipolar reference electrogram, and all unipolar epicardial electrograms.¹¹ Recordings were sampled with a rate of 1kHz, amplified (gain 1000), filtered (bandwidth 0.5-400 Hz), analogue-to-digital converted (16-bits) and stored on a hard disk.¹¹

Activation mapping of the atrial epicardium

The upper left panel of Figure 1 shows all mapping locations, including RA1-4, BB, LA, PVR and PVL, on a schematic view of the atria. Examples of activation maps obtained from each of these sites are displayed in the upper right panel of Figure 1. Local activation maps during 5 seconds of SR were constructed by annotating the steepest negative slope of atrial potentials recorded at every electrode. Atrial extrasystolic beats were excluded from analysis.^{14–16} In order to reconstruct activation patterns of the entire epicardial surface, the time interval between the local activation time of the reference electrode (defined as zero point) and every electrode was calculated and depicted in color-code, as demonstrated in the total activation map in the lower right panel of Figure 1. Supplemental Figure 1 provides

a more extensive view of annotation of electrograms and construction of activation maps, enabling the display of the total activation map. In this example, the epicardial surface of RA is first excited by a broad wavefront originating from the superior intercaval (SIC) region. This wavefront then spreads across the RA and BB, towards the LA. In the LA, another wavefront emerges in coronary sinus region and propagates towards the left upper pulmonary vein. The LAVG is thus activated by 2 wavefronts, originating from both BB and PVA, merging in the middle of the LAVG.



Figure 1. Activation mapping of the right and left atrium

Left panel: posterior view of the atria with epicardial mapping scheme (192 electrodes) (upper), classification of the anatomical regions (middle) and landmarks for calculation of duration of wavefront propagation from the origin of sinus rhythm (A) to the LAVG via BB (B) and via PVA (C). Upper Right panel: color-coded activation maps per mapping site; electrodes activated within the first 5 ms are colored red. Lower right panel: total activation map constructed relative to local activation times of the reference electrode which was defined as 0 ms. Arrows indicate main trajectories of SR waves at the different atrial regions.

BB: Bachmann's Bundle; LA: left atrium; RA: right atrium; PVL: pulmonary veins left; PVR: pulmonary veins right; LAVG: left atrioventricular groove; PVA: pulmonary vein area; SIC: superior intercaval; SL: superolateral; IIC: inferior intercaval; IL: inferiolateral; SVC: superior vena cava; IVC: inferior vena cava.

Total activation times were calculated as the time interval (ms) between the earliest and latest activated electrode. As visualized in the lower left panel of Figure 1, the duration of propagation was calculated for wavefronts propagating from the origin of SR across BB towards the left atrioventricular groove (LAVG) (Figure 1, point A to point B) and for wavefronts propagating from the SR origin through the limbus of the fossa ovalis or the coronary sinus ostium across the pulmonary vein area (PVA) towards the LAVG (Figure 1, point A to point C). The latter conduction route will be referred to as conduction via PVA.

Classification of patterns of activation

Patterns of activation and propagation direction were examined in all SR maps. The origin of RA activation was assigned to 1 of the 4 regions demonstrated in the lower left panel of Figure 1, including the superior intercaval (SIC), inferior intercaval (IIC), superolateral (SL) and inferolateral (IL) region. Entry sites of SR wavefronts in BB were classified as right atrial, central, left atrial or multiple entry sites. A right atrial entry site was defined as a wavefront first entering the mapping array from the right side of BB, propagating towards the left side of BB, whereas in case of a left atrial entry site the initial activation was observed at the tip of the electrode positioned at the border of the left atrial appendage (LAA), spreading towards the right side of BB. A wavefront emerging in the middle of the mapping array propagating to either the right and/or left side was labeled as a central entry site. Excitation of the LAVG was described as activation via BB only, the PVA only, or a combination of both.

Statistical analysis

Normally distributed data are described by mean±SD (minimum-maximum) and analyzed with a student's T-test or a one way ANOVA. Skewed data are described by median (minimum-maximum) and analyzed with Kruskal-Wallis test or a Mann-Whitney U test. Categorical data are expressed as numbers and percentages and analyzed with χ^2 or Fisher exact test when appropriate. Multiple linear regression analysis was performed to identify independent predictors for prolonged total activation times. A p-value<0.05 was considered statistically significant. All statistical analyses were performed with IBM SPSS statistics for Windows, version 24 (IBM Corp., Armonk, N.Y., USA).

RESULTS

Study population

Characteristics of the study population (N=253, 186 male (74%), age 66 ± 11 years) are summarized in Table 1. Patients had either ischemic heart disease (IHD) (N=132, 52%), valvular heart disease (VHD) (N=68, 27%) or a combination of valvular and ischemic heart
disease (I/VHD) (N=53, 21%). VHD (N=121) was categorized by the predominant valvular lesion and consisted of aortic valve stenosis (N=68, 27%), aortic valve insufficiency (N=9, 4%) or mitral valve insufficiency (N=44, 17%). A minority of patients (N=43, 17%) had a history of AF, of whom 13 presented in AF and underwent SR mapping after electrocardioversion.

AF was most prevalent in patients with mitral valve disease (N=16, 36%) compared to patients with aortic valve disease (N=14, 18%) or only ischemic heart disease (N=13, 10%) (p<0.001). Also, AF was more prevalent in patients with LA dilation (N=16, 30%) compared to patients without LA dilation (N=27, 14%) (p=0.004). Most patients had a normal left ventricular function (LVF) (N=188, 74%) and the majority used class II (N=165, 65%) antiarrhythmic drugs. Patients were mapped with either a 128-polar (N=141, 56%) or a 192-polar electrode array (N=112, 44%). Mean cycle length (CL) was 857 ± 175 (473-1458) ms. Compared to IHD patients, (i)VHD patients more often had LA dilation (p=0.007) and AF (p=0.001), which was more often (longstanding) persistent (p=0.007). IHD patients more often used betablockers (p<0.001).

For all performed analyses as described in the results section there were no differences between patients with VHD or I/VHD, therefore these two patient groups were combined and referred to as (i)VHD in order to assess the influence of VHD on activation times and patterns when comparing these patients to patients with isolated IHD. Also, differences between IHD and (i)VHD patients as described in the results section could not be explained by the above mentioned differences in clinical characteristics.

Origin of atrial activation

Figure 2 shows 6 typical examples of different patterns of activation observed in our study population. The origin of atrial activation was located in the SIC region in 232 patients (92%; panels A-C). In the remaining patients, earliest activation was identified in the SL region (N=10, 4%; Panel D) or in the IIC region (N=11, 4%; Panel E, F). As expected, the location of the origin of atrial activation did not differ between patients with or without AF (p=0.344) and between patient with IHD or (i)VHD (p=0.181). In addition, CL did not differ between the various locations of the SR origin (SIC: 858 ± 178 (473-1458) ms; SL: 832 ± 162 (646-1081) ms; IIC: 861 ± 114 (666-1046) ms, p=0.894).

	Total		
Number of patients	253		
Age	66±11(21-84)		
Male	186(74)		
BSA	2.0±0.2(1.5-2.8)		
Underlying heart disease	N(%)		
IHD	132(52)		
VHD	68(27)		
I/VHD	53(21)		
Valvular Heart Disease	121(48)		
Aortic Valve Stenosis	68(27)		
Mild	2(1)		
Moderate	14(5)		
Severe	52(21)		
Aortic Valve Insufficiency	9(4)		
Mild	1(1)		
Moderate	5(2)		
Severe	3(1)		
Mitral Valve Insufficiency	44(17)		
Moderate	14(5)		
Severe	30(12)		
Left Atrial Dilation	53(21)		
History of AF	43(17)		
Paroxysmal	33(13)		
Persistent	9(4)		
Longstanding persistent	1(1)		
Left ventricular function			
Normal	188(74)		
Mild dysfunction	46(18)		
Moderate dysfunction	17(7)		
Severe dysfunction	2(1)		
Antiarrhythmic drugs	175(69)		
Class I	1(1)		
Class II	165(65)		
Class III	8(3)		
Class IV	2(1)		

Table 1. Patient characteristics

*AF: atrial fibrillation; BSA: body surface area; IHD: ischemic heart disease; VHD: valvular heart disease; I/VHD: ischemic and valvular heart disease.

Excitation of Bachmann's bundle

Conduction along BB occurred mainly by a single wavefront, propagating from the right to the left side (N=163, 64%), as shown in panel A, D and E of Figure 2. Panel B demonstrates central activation of BB spreading towards both the right and left side; this pattern of activation occurred in 18 patients (7%). Activation of BB by multiple wavefronts originating from different entry sites was observed in 72 patients (29%). In 60 of these patients (83%), BB was activated by two separate wavefronts entering from the right and left side occurred in 2 patients (3%) (Figure 2C) and one patient (1%) showed activation of BB via the central part and the left side. In 9 patients (13%) BB was activated by three wavefronts entering from the right, left and central part of BB. BB activation patterns and the number of entry sites did not differ between patients without and with a history of AF (p=0.570 and p=0.388 respectively).



Figure 2. Atrial patterns of activation

Left panel: Examples of excitation of the atrial epicardial surface during SR. Arrows indicate main trajectories of SR waves at the different atrial regions; See text for detailed explanation. Right panel: Relative incidences of different locations of the origin of activation, entry sites at BB and the LAVG.

BB: Bachmann's Bundle; C: central; L: left; LAVG: left atrioventricular groove; PVA: pulmonary vein area; R: right; SIC: superior intercaval; SL: superolateral; IIC: inferior intercaval.

As illustrated in the upper panel of Figure 3, patterns of wavefront propagation along BB differed between IHD and (i)VHD (p=0.009). A wavefront entering in the central part of BB was observed most frequently in patients with (i)VHD (N=16, 13%) compared to IHD patients (N=2, 2%). BB activation patterns did not differ between patients with aortic or mitral VHD (p=0.409). The number of entry sites in BB was similar between IHD and (i)VHD (p=0.557).

Excitation of the left atrioventricular groove

Typical examples of activation patterns of the LAVG are shown in Figure 2. As illustrated in panels A, C, D and E, most patients (N=136, 54%) showed activation of the LAVG by two wavefronts originating from both BB and the PVA, indicating propagation of conduction through the fossa ovalis and the coronary sinus ostium. A single wavefront activating the LAVG via only BB (panel F) or PVA (panel B) occurred in 108(42%) and 9 patients (4%) respectively. Location of the origin of SR did not influence the preferential use of either BB or PVA for interatrial propagation (p=0.871).

Preferential interatrial routes for LAVG excitation were similar between patients without and with AF (p=0.224); LAVG activation via 1) a combination of BB and PVA (without AF: N=109, 52%; with AF: N=27, 63%), 2) BB only (without AF: N=92, 44%; with AF: N=16, 37%), or 3) PVA only (without AF: N=9, 4%; with AF: N=0). However, usage of interatrial routes differed between patients with IHD and (i)VHD (P<0.001).

As displayed in the lower panel of Figure 3, activation via BB only was most frequently observed in IHD patients (N=73, 55%). In patients with (i)VHD, LAVG activation via BB only was observed in only 29% of patients (N=35), whereas propagation through the interatrial septum via the fossa ovalis or the coronary sinus across the PVA occurred in 86 patients (71%), of whom 6 patients (5%) showed LAVG activation via the PVA only. Type of VHD did not influence the use of different conduction routes (p=0.760).

Examination of surface ECGs showed a mean p-wave duration of 98±16ms; p-wave duration was \geq 120ms in 58 patients (23%). However, complete interatrial conduction block according to the Bayes criteria in the inferior leads could not be confirmed in these patients. The incidence of partial interatrial block, defined by only a prolongation of P-wave duration \geq 120ms on the surface ECG, was similar for patients without and with AF (N=51 (24%) vs N=7 (16%) respectively, p=0.255), as well as for patients without and with LA dilation (N=45(23%) vs N=13(25%) respectively, p=0.755). Also, preferential routes of conduction towards the LAVG did not differ between those with a p-wave duration <120ms and \geq 120ms.



R C R+C R+L C+L R+C+L



LAVG entry sites

Figure 3. Activation of Bachmann's bundle and the left atrioventricular groove

Differences in incidences of entry sites of wavefronts at BB and LAVG between patients with IHD and (i)VHD.

BB: Bachmann's Bundle; C: central; IHD: ischemic heart disease; (i)VHD: (ischemic and) valvular heart disease; L: left; LAVG: left atrioventricular groove; PVA: pulmonary vein area; R: right.

Conduction time towards the left atrioventricular groove

As depicted in Figure 1, conduction times towards the LAVG via BB or via PVA were assessed by calculation of the time interval between point A and B and between point A and C respectively. Time required for wavefronts to propagate from the SR origin to the LAVG via BB was 90 ± 18 (44-157) ms, while propagation to the LAVG via PVA was 101 ± 20 (43-160) ms (p<0.001).

Figure 4 illustrates the differences in conduction times *towards* the LAVG, which were larger in those with one predominant route (BB or PVA), compared to those with a route via both BB and PVA (p<0.001). If LAVG was activated via both BB and PVA (N=136), total conduction time along BB was only 5 ± 13 (-47 to +30) ms shorter than via PVA. However, if LAVG was activated only via PVA (N=9), total conduction time via PVA was 20 ± 10 (+4 to +31) ms shorter than via BB (lower panels of Figure 4). Likewise, if LAVG was activated only via BB (N=108), total conduction time via BB was 21 ± 12 (-50 to +26) ms shorter than via PVA.



Figure 4. Conduction times towards the left atrioventricular groove

Time differences (left panel) and total conduction times (right panel) between BB and PVA conduction routes towards LAVG in patients with LAVG activation via BB only, PVA only or BB and PVA.

BB: Bachmann's Bundle; LAVG: left atrioventricular groove; PVA: pulmonary vein area.





Upper panel: Differences in total activation time of the entire atrial surface between patients without and with AF, various underlying heart diseases and without or with LA dilation. Lower panel: Differences in total activation time of RA, BB and LA separately between patients without and with AF.

AF: atrial fibrillation; BB: Bachmann's bundle; IHD: ischemic heart disease; (i)VHD: (ischemic and) valvular heart disease; LA: left atrium; LAVG: left atrioventricular groove; MVD: mitral valve disease; PVA: pulmonary vein area; RA: right atrium.

Duration of right and left atrial excitation

Total activation time of the entire atrial epicardial surface was 118±19 (74-186) ms. The upper panel of Figure 5 shows differences in total activation times for patients without or with AF, various underlying heart diseases and without or with LA dilation. Similar data for the different atrial regions is depicted in Table 2.

In patients with a history of AF, total activation times were longer than in patients without a history of AF; mean durations are respectively 136±20 (92-186) ms and 114±17 (74-156) ms (p<0.001). This difference was mainly due to a significant longer total activation time of the RA and BB in patients with AF (RA: 73±13 (42-98) ms versus 67±14 (32-142) ms, p=0.018; BB: 106±20 (68-157) ms versus 87±16 (44-151) ms, p<0.001), as demonstrated in the lower panel of Figure 5 and in Table 2. Total activation times of the LA were similar (without AF: 46±15 (6-111) ms; with AF: 48±17 (8-92) ms, p=0.376).

Patients with IHD or (i)VHD had similar total activation times with mean durations of respectively 117±17 (74-156) ms and 119±21 (77-186) ms (p=0.318). When analyzing the difference between IHD, AVD or MVD patients separately, similar total activation times were observed for AVD and IHD patients (total activation time: 116 ± 20 ms vs. 117 ± 17 ms respectively, p=0.770), whereas MVD patients had significantly longer total activation times than IHD patients (125±23 ms vs. 117 ± 17 ms respectively, p=0.015). Subsequently, dividing the entire cohort in patients without and with MVD showed longer total activation times in MVD patients compared to patients without MVD (125 ± 23 ms vs. 117 ± 18 ms respectively, p=0.009, Figure 5). Although no specific site of prolongation of conduction was found, BB showed a trend towards prolongation of conduction in these patients (p=0.096) (Table 2).

As depicted in Table 2, longer total activation times showed a strong association with LA dilation (p<0.001), yet remarkably, this was due only to prolongation of conduction on BB (p<0.001), rather than on LA (p=0.717). This is mainly the result of the fact that slow conduction on BB was largely compensated by LAVG activation via the PVA route so that LA activation times are not prolonged. As AF, MVD and LA dilation are closely intertwined, a multivariate analysis was performed in which also older age was taken into account. History of AF (B 18.58 (95%CI 12.8-24.4), p<0.001), LA dilation (B 8.27 (95%CI 2.8-13.7), p=0.003) and older age (B 0.28 (95%CI 0.08-0.48), p=0.006) were independent predictors for prolonged total activation times, whereas MVD (B 0.48 95%CI -5.4-6.4) p=0.872) was not.

Activation Times (ms)	No AF	AF	p-value
TAT	114±17	136±20	<0.001
BB	87±16	106±20	<0.001
RA	67±14	73±13	0.018
LA	46±15	48±17	0.376
	IHD	(i)VHD	
TAT	117±17	119±21	0.318
BB	88±17	91±19	0.181
RA	69±15	67±13	0.395
LA	47±15	46±15	0.391
	No MVD	MVD	
TAT	117±18	125±23	0.009
BB	89±17	94±22	0.096
RA	68±15	67±12	0.627
LA	46±15	47±17	0.790
	No LA dilation	LA dilation	
TAT	116±19	128±17	<0.001
BB	88±17	98±18	<0.001
RA	68±14	69±13	0.741
LA	47±15	46±15	0.717

Table 2. Activation times for various underlying heart diseases

AF: atrial fibrillation; BB: Bachmann's bundle; LA: left atrium; IHD: ischemic heart disease; (i)VHD: (ischemic and) valvular heart disease; MVD: mitral valve disease; RA: right atrium; TAT: total activation time

DISCUSSION

Key findings

Intra-operative, high-resolution epicardial mapping of the entire atrial surface during SR demonstrated prolonged excitation of the atria in patients with a history of AF, which was mainly caused by longer total activation times of the RA and BB. Patients with MVD and with LA dilation had the highest prevalence of AF. Remarkably, LA dilation was associated with longer conduction times of BB and not of LA.

In patients with (i)VHD, who most likely have the highest degree of structural remodeling, central BB excitation and interatrial conduction via both BB and PVA towards the LAVG was more prevalent. The predominance of different routes of interatrial conduction depended on conduction time towards the LAVG.

Location of the sinus node

In coherence with previous studies, we observed a certain variation in the location of the origin of activation along the intercaval line and the superior RA wall.^{6,17,18} However, we could not confirm a relation between mean SR CL and the various locations of SR origins. Previous studies demonstrated that there is a certain degree of inter-individual variety in the location of the sinus node area. Also within a patient, the leading pacemaker site within the sinus node can shift in position, depending on autonomic changes.^{17,18}

Boineau et al. previously reported a correlation between the spatial position of the sinus origin and the SR cycle length.¹⁹ Faster heart rates were initiated from origins located more superiorly along the sulcus terminalis, whereas slower heart rates were initiated from origins located more inferiorly.¹⁹ Optical mapping studies by Fedorov et al. showed delayed sinus node activation followed by fast atrial activation via sinoatrial exit pathways.²⁰ They found a conduction delay of 82ms between earliest sinus node excitation and earliest excitation of the atrial myocardium.²⁰ Though the site of first sinus node excitation remained stable, earliest excitation of the atrial myocardium via the sinoatrial exit pathways could shift inferiorly when SR CL prolonged.²⁰

Interatrial conduction

There was a large inter-individual variation in activation of BB in our study population. Prior studies have demonstrated muscular connections between BB and the interatrial septum, which can excite the center of BB.^{5,21–23} These muscular connections enable wavefronts to conduct via interatrial pathways such as the limbus of the fossa ovalis, the coronary sinus and interatrial bundles both superior and inferior along BB.^{5,23} SR wavefronts may propagate upwards in the interatrial septum and activate the central area of BB. Teuwen et al. indeed observed in 185 patients with IHD that lines of conduction block at BB may delay right-to-left excitation, thereby favoring conduction via other interatrial routes, such as the interatrial septum.²³ Conduction via one wavefront entering in the central part of BB was reported in 4% of their population and combinations of entry sites involving the central part of BB in 29% of IHD patients.²³ We found similar incidences in our cohort, although there were differences between underlying heart diseases with a far higher incidence of central entry sites in patients with (i)VHD. The overall preferential route of interatrial conduction in

our study population was BB, with a right-to-left conduction pattern via a single wavefront in most patients. Also, interatrial conduction via PVA or a combination of BB and PVA was more likely to occur in patients with (i)VHD.

Activation of the LAVG via a wavefront originating at the anterosuperior side and propagating towards the posterior side of the LAVG is in coherence with the exit point of the outer left BB, whereas activation via the postero-septal wall can be interpreted as wavefronts propagating via the limbus of the fossa ovalis or the coronary sinus ostium.

The predominance of these alternative routes of conduction may be the result of damage to the thick and thin septa surrounding BB myocytes.²⁴ It has been suggested that increased atrial stretch delays conduction along BB.²⁴ We hypothesize that this layer is more likely to be damaged first by chronic atrial stretch which is more pronounced in VHD patients. Damage to this layer may thereby slow BB conduction and give rise to the predominance of activation patterns via alternative routes of interatrial conduction. This hypothesis was further supported by the observation that in patients with conduction via only PVA, conduction via BB is considerably slower – up to 31 ms – than via PVA.

Particularly patients with either AF, LA dilation or mitral valve disease showed longer total excitation times of the atria, which was all mostly influenced by conduction times along BB. Although MVD, LA dilation and AF are closely intertwined, our findings suggest that atrial activation times are particularly affected at BB and RA by remodeling due to the presence of AF, which might be secondarily enforced by atrial stretch as a result of MVD. Interatrial block based on a biphasic p-wave morphology in the inferior leads in those with a p-wave duration \geq 120ms however could not be confirmed, nor did preferential routes of conduction towards the LAVG differ between those with a p-wave duration <120ms and \geq 120ms.

Limitations

Most patients with AF in our study had paroxysmal AF instead of (longstanding) persistent AF. Electrical and structural remodeling in these patients is expected to be less, therefore differences between patients without and with AF in our study might be underestimated. Whether general anesthesia and intra-operative drugs influence conduction is yet to be investigated, however, a standard anesthetic protocol was used for all patients and SR was confirmed during all mapping procedures. Thus, possible effects of anesthesia would be equally dispersed among the patient population. In addition, high-resolution mapping of the interatrial septum was not performed with our closed beating heart approach.

CONCLUSIONS

High-resolution mapping of the atrial epicardial surface during SR in a large cohort of IHD and/or VHD patients demonstrated a considerable inter-individual variation in excitation of the atria. RA and LA excitation are affected by underlying heart disease and presence of AF.

BB appears most susceptible for damage due to MVD, LA dilation and AF, causing local conduction delay. Central BB excitation and interatrial conduction via both BB and PVA towards the LAVG was more prevalent in patients with (i)VHD, likely resulting from a severer degree of structural remodeling causing intra-atrial conduction delay. Knowledge on atrial excitation patterns during SR and its electro-pathological variations, as demonstrated in this study, is essential to further unravel the pathogenesis of AF.

REFERENCES

- 1. Fast VG, Kléber AG. Role of wavefront curvature in propagation of cardiac impulse. *Cardiovasc Res.* 1997;33:258–71.
- 2. Spach MS, Kootsey JM. The nature of electrical propagation in cardiac muscle. *Am J Physiol*. 1983;244:H3-22.
- 3. de Bakker JMT, van Rijen HM V. Continuous and discontinuous propagation in heart muscle. *J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol*. 2006;17:567–73.
- 4. Lemery R, Birnie D, Tang ASL, Green M, Gollob M, Hendry M, Lau E. Normal atrial activation and voltage during sinus rhythm in the human heart: an endocardial and epicardial mapping study in patients with a history of atrial fibrillation. *J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol*. 2007;18:402–8.
- 5. Tapanainen JM, Jurkko R, Holmqvist F, Husser D, Kongstad O, Mäkijärvi M, Toivonen L, Platonov PG. Interatrial right-to-left conduction in patients with paroxysmal atrial fibrillation. *J Interv Card Electrophysiol*. 2009;25:117–22.
- Sakamoto S, Yamauchi S, Yamashita H, Imura H, Maruyama Y, Ogasawara H, Hatori N, Shimizu K. Intra-operative mapping of the right atrial free wall during sinus rhythm: variety of activation patterns and incidence of postoperative atrial fibrillation. *Eur J Cardiothorac Surg.* 2006;30:132–9.
- Psaty BM, Manolio TA, Kuller LH, Kronmal RA, Cushman M, Fried LP, White R, Furberg CD, Rautaharju PM. Incidence of and Risk Factors for Atrial Fibrillation in Older Adults. *Circulation*. 1997;96:2455–2461.
- van der Does LJME, Yaksh A, Kik C, Knops P, Lanters EAH, Teuwen CP, Oei FBS, van de Woestijne PC, Bekkers JA, Bogers AJJC, Allessie MA, de Groot NMS. QUest for the Arrhythmogenic Substrate of Atrial fibRillation in Patients Undergoing Cardiac Surgery (QUASAR Study): Rationale and Design. J Cardiovasc Transl Res. 2016;9:194–201.
- Lanters EAH, van Marion DMS, Kik C, Steen H, Bogers AJJC, Allessie MA, Brundel BJJM, de Groot NMS. HALT & REVERSE: Hsf1 activators lower cardiomyocyt damage; towards a novel approach to REVERSE atrial fibrillation. *J Transl Med*. 2015;13:347.
- Conde D, Seoane L, Gysel M, Mitrione S, Bayés De Luna A, Baranchuk A. Bayés' syndrome: The association between interatrial block and supraventricular arrhythmias. *Expert Rev Cardiovasc Ther.* 2015;13:541–550.
- Yaksh A, van der Does LJ, Kik C, Knops P, Oei FB, van de Woestijne PC, Bekkers JA, Bogers AJ, Allessie MA, de Groot NM. A novel intra-operative, high-resolution atrial mapping approach. J Interv Card Electrophysiol. 2015;44:221–225.
- 12. Kik C, Mouws EMJP, Bogers AJJC, de Groot NM. Intra-operative mapping of the atria: the first step towards individualization of atrial fibrillation therapy? *Expert Rev Cardiovasc Ther*. 2017;15:537–545.
- 13. Mouws EMJP, Lanters EAH, Teuwen CP, van der Does LJME, Kik C, Knops P, Bekkers JA, Bogers AJJC, de Groot NMS. Epicardial Breakthrough Waves During Sinus Rhythm. *Circ Arrhythmia Electrophysiol*. 2017;10:e005145.

- 14. de Groot N, van der Does L, Yaksh A, Lanters E, Teuwen C, Knops P, van de Woestijne P, Bekkers J, Kik C, Bogers A, Allessie M. Direct Proof of Endo-Epicardial Asynchrony of the Atrial Wall During Atrial Fibrillation in Humans. *Circ Arrhythmia Electrophysiol*. 2016;9:e003648.
- de Groot N, Houben R, Smeets J, Boersma E, Schotten U, Schalij M, Crijns H, Allessie M. Electropathological Substrate of Longstanding Persistent Atrial Fibrillation in Patients With Structural Heart Disease: Epicardial Breakthrough. *Circulation*. 2010;122:1674–1683.
- 16. Allessie MA, De Groot NMS, Houben RPM, Schotten U, Boersma E, Smeets JL, Crijns HJ. Electropathological substrate of long-standing persistent atrial fibrillation in patients with structural heart disease: longitudinal dissociation. *Circ Arrhythm Electrophysiol.* 2010;3:606–15.
- 17. Boineau JP, Canavan TE, Schuessler RB, Cain ME, Corr PB, Cox JL. Demonstration of a widely distributed atrial pacemaker complex in the human heart. *Circulation*. 1988;77:1221–1237.
- Stiles MK, Brooks AG, Roberts-Thomson KC, Kuklik P, John B, Young GD, Kalman JM, Sanders P. High-density mapping of the sinus node in humans: Role of preferential pathways and the effect of remodeling. *J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol*. 2010;21:532–539.
- 19. Boineau J, Schuessler R, Roeske W, Autry L, Miller C, Wylds A. Quantative relation between sites of atrial impulse origin and cycle length. *Am J Physiol*. 1983;245:H781-9.
- 20. Fedorov V V, Glukhov A V, Chang R, Kostecki G, Aferol H, Hucker WJ, Wuskell JP, Loew LM, Schuessler RB, Moazami N, Efimov IR. Optical mapping of the isolated coronary-perfused human sinus node. *J Am Coll Cardiol*. 2010;56:1386–94.
- 21. Ho SY, Sanchez-Quintana D, Cabrera JA, Anderson RH. Anatomy of the left atrium: implications for radiofrequency ablation of atrial fibrillation. *J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol*. 1999;10:1525–33.
- 22. Platonov PG, Mitrofanova L, Ivanov V, Ho SY. Substrates for intra-atrial and interatrial conduction in the atrial septum: anatomical study on 84 human hearts. *Heart Rhythm*. 2008;5:1189–95.
- 23. Teuwen CP, Yaksh A, Lanters EAH, Kik C, van der Does LJME, Knops P, Taverne YJHJ, van de Woestijne PC, Oei FBS, Bekkers JA, Bogers AJJC, Allessie MA, de Groot NMS. Relevance of Conduction Disorders in Bachmann's Bundle During Sinus Rhythm in Humans. *Circ Arrhythm Electrophysiol*. 2016;9:e003972.
- 24. van Campenhout MJH, Yaksh A, Kik C, de Jaegere PP, Ho SY, Allessie M a, de Groot NMS. Bachmann's bundle: a key player in the development of atrial fibrillation? *Circ Arrhythm Electrophysiol*. 2013;6:1041–6.



SUPPLEMENTAL MATERIAL CHAPTER 11

Supplemental Figure 1. Construction of total SR map

In the upper panel, the reference electrogram as well as the electrograms recorded at mapping position RA1 at electrode 66, 67, 68, and 69 are shown. In each electrogram, an atrial potential (A) and a farfield ventricular potential (V) can be distinguished. At position RA1, 6 successive SR beats were

231

recorded. Activation maps were constructed by marking the steepest negative slope of the unipolar electrograms. In the last beat (no. 6), the steepest negative slope of all unipolar electrograms is annotated by a red line. Activation maps of all beats recorded at RA1 are displayed. In beat number 6, electrodes 66-69 are marked by a red square. For each activation map, the earliest activated electrode, as annotated in the electrograms, is the marked as t=0. In the example of beat 6, the electrode marked by the black square is the earliest activated electrode, local activation times of electrodes 66, 67, 68 and 69 are respectively 15, 13, 11 and 8ms after the earliest activated electrode.

Similar to the construction of each activation map, the reference electrogram allows time alignment of the various recorded mapping positions, by correcting for the time intervals between activation maps. In this way, the total activation map, a view in which maps are thus time aligned, can be displayed. For further clarification of details of patterns of activation the corresponding isochronal maps are displayed next to the total SR map, in which isochrones are drawn at every 5ms.

A: atrial; BB: Bachmann's bundle; LA: left atrium; RA: right atrium; PVL: pulmonary veins left; PVR: pulmonary veins right; V: ventricular



12

CONDUCTION PROPERTIES ACROSS BACHMANN'S BUNDLE DURING SINUS RHYTHM: IMPACT OF UNDERLYING HEART DISEASE AND PREVIOUS ATRIAL FIBRILLATION

Christophe P. Teuwen Lisette J.M.E. van der Does Charles Kik **Elisabeth M.J.P. Mouws** Eva A.H. Lanters Paul Knops Yannick J.H.J. Taverne Ad J.J.C. Bogers Natasja M.S. de Groot

SUBMITTED

ABSTRACT

Background: Valvular heart disease (VHD) is a common risk factor for atrial fibrillation (AF) development. Conduction abnormalities (CA) across Bachmann's bundle (BB) are associated with AF. The aims of this study are to compare electrophysiological characteristics across BB during sinus rhythm (SR) between patients with ischemic heart disease (IHD) and VHD, with and without a history of AF.

Methods: High-resolution intra-operative epicardial mapping of BB with 128 or 192-unipolar electrode arrays (inter-electrode distance 2mm) was performed. Entry sites of SR wavefronts into BB were classified as right, middle and/or left. The amount and length of lines of CA was calculated.

Results: A total of 304 patients (78% male, age 66±10 years; IHD: N=193, VHD: N=111) were mapped; 40 patients (13%) had a history of AF. In 116 patients (38%) there was a mid-entry site. There was a trend towards more mid-entry sites in patients with VHD vs IHD (p=0.061), whereas patients with AF had significant more mid-entry sites than without AF (p=0.007). CA were equally present in patients with IHD and VHD (p>0.05) and a history of AF was positively associated with CA (p<0.05). Altogether, patients without a mid-entry site or long lines of CA (\geq 12mm) were unlikely to have AF (sensitivity 90%, p=0.002).

Conclusions: There are no outspoken differences in entry-sites and CA between patients with IHD and VHD. Yet, patients with AF have more entry-sites in the middle of BB and more CA compared to patients without AF. Also, absence of a mid-entry site or long line of CA is strongly associated with patients without AF.

INTRODUCTION

Propagation of electrical wavefronts during sinus rhythm (SR) occurs from the right atrium towards the left atrium through different connections such as the coronary sinus, fossa ovalis and Bachmann's bundle (BB).¹ Because of limited access to the epicardially located BB, electrical activation across BB has rarely been studied. In patients with ischemic heart disease (IHD), it was recently shown that although BB was thought to be of paramount importance for interatrial conduction from the right to left atrium during SR, it was also activated by SR wavefronts emerging in the middle and left site of the bundle.² In addition, patients with atrial fibrillation (AF) had a higher degree of conduction disorders across BB. This observation suggests a possible role of BB in development of AF which has also been proposed by other investigators.^{3,4}

The suggested role of BB in AF development was mainly based on subtle ECG changes.⁵ These ECG findings were associated with clinical outcomes such as stroke and AF (Bayés syndrome).⁵ Furthermore, pacing at BB instead of the usual right atrial appendage might be effective for prevention of AF paroxysms and progression to persistent AF, although studies showed conflicting results.^{6,7}

Valvular heart disease (VHD) is one of the major risk factors predisposing to development of AF.⁸ Conduction across BB might be affected by VHD, as VHD and conduction disorders across BB are both correlated to development of AF. Yet, the effect of underlying heart disease such as VHD on conduction across BB is so far unknown in humans, as detailed activation mapping of BB has only been described in patients with IHD. The aim of the present study was 1) to examine electrophysiological properties during SR including entry sites and conduction disorders across BB during SR, 2) to compare these properties between patients with ischemic and valvular heart disease and 3) to correlate these electrophysiological properties with the occurrence of previous AF episodes.

METHODS

Study population

A total of 304 patients of at least 18 years of age who underwent open chest cardiac surgery for coronary artery bypass graft and/or VHD (aortic or mitral valve) were included. Patients were classified into 2 groups; IHD and VHD. The latter containing patients with solely VHD and VHD in combination with IHD. Furthermore, if patients underwent surgery for both aortic and mitral valve surgery, patients were classified as mitral valve surgery as mitral valve pathology is suggested to have more effect on atrial conduction properties.





Upper panel: 192-unipolar electrode mapping array including measurements of length, inter-electrode distance and electrode diameter. The mapping array is subsequently positioned at Bachmann's bundle, by placing the array behind the aorta with the tip against the left atrial appendage. Middle panel: unipolar electrogram with steep atrial deflection (A) and far-field ventricular signal (V). After marking all atrial deflections, a color-coded activation map is constructed. The arrows depict direction of wavefront propagation. The striped star illustrates an area of simultaneous excitation/focal wave. Lower panel: schematic overview of 192-unipolar electrode mapping array. Entry sites are denoted with R (right), M (middle) and L (left). **LAA** = left atrial appendage

Echocardiographic examination was part of standard protocol prior to the surgical procedure, whereas other imaging techniques (e.g. MRI) were not. Patients were excluded in case of paced atrial rhythm, Wolff-Parkinson-White syndrome, severe renal failure, previous open chest cardiac surgery, prior ablative therapy, hemodynamic instability (presence of assist devices, usage of inotropic) and prior radiation for chest malignancies.

This study is part of the prospective observational projects QUASAR and HALT & REVERSE which were both approved by the Medical Ethical Committee in the Erasmus Medical Center (MEC 2010-054 and MEC 2014-393).⁹ Written informed consent was provided by all patients prior to the surgical procedure.

Mapping procedure

High-resolution epicardial mapping was performed as previously described.^{2, 9} A bipolar pacemaker-wire was stitched to the right atrial free wall (terminal crest), serving as temporal reference electrode. A steal wire was fixed in the thoracic subcutaneous tissue serving as indifferent electrode. The initial 161 patients were mapped with a 128-unipolar electrode (8x16) mapping array, whereas the remaining patients were mapped with a mapping array containing 192-unipolar electrodes (8x24) (inter-electrode distance 2.0mm).² The mapping array was positioned on BB by placing it over the interatrial roof behind the aorta with the tip against the left atrial appendage (upper panel Figure 1). Mapping of BB with the 128-electrode array was performed by shifting the array backwards towards the superior cavo-atrial junction resulting in 2 consecutive positions. Solely patients with electrical activation present at >75% of the mapping area were included. Although this may be the result of low voltage areas, limited contact of the mapping array on the myocardium cannot be excluded and therefore this cut-off value was chosen. SR was recorded during 5 seconds, including a surface ECG lead, a calibration signal of 2mV and 1000ms, unipolar epicardial electrograms and a bipolar reference electrogram.^{2,9}

Mapping data analysis

Mapping data were analyzed using our custom-made software.²⁹ The steepest negative deflection of the unipolar atrial potentials was annotated as local activation time. Based on the activation times, color-coded activation maps were automatically constructed as demonstrated in the middle panel of Figure 1. An averaged beat was subsequently created after excluding premature and aberrant beats. The averaged maps were used for analysis of patterns of activation and quantification of conduction disorders. Patterns of activation were classified according to entry-sites; right, middle and left (lower panel Figure 1). A wavefront entering the area under the mapping array from the right atrial side from where it propagates towards the left side was defined as right entry site, whereas in case this was

observed vice versa it was defined as left entry site. An area of simultaneous excitation or a wavefront emerging in the center of the mapping array as focal wave was defined as mid-entry site.² Also wavefronts entering from the anterior or posterior borders in the middle part of the mapping array, were also defined as mid-entry. For quantification of conduction disorders, difference in local activation times between 2 adjacent electrodes were determined.

Conform previous studies, conduction delay (CD) was determined as time differences of 7–11 ms (conduction velocity: <29 cm/s) between 2 adjacent electrodes. In case time difference was \geq 12 ms between 2 adjacent electrodes (conduction velocity: <17 cm/s), this area was marked as conduction block (CB).^{2,9} The amount of conduction delay and/or block was measured as a percentage of all inter-electrode conduction times. The number of lines of CD/CB and their length were measured separately. When lines of CD and CB were connected to each other, they were denoted as CDCB.

Statistical analysis

Normally distributed data are described by mean±SD, whereas skewed data are described by median (interquartile range) and categorical data as numbers and percentages. Normally distributed data are analyzed with Student's T-test or one way ANOVA, skewed data with Kruskall-Wallis test or Mann-Whitney U-test and categorical data with χ^2 or Fisher exact test when appropriate. The correlation between patient characteristics in the entire study population or IHD/VHD separately and conduction disorders was performed using Spearman rank correlation. A correlation of 0.1 - 0.3 was considered weak, 0.3 - 0.5 moderate and >0.5 strong. For further clinical interpretation of observed conduction disorders, ROC-curves from previous AF episodes were extracted to calculate CB/CDCB cut-off values for sensitivity and specificity. Subsequently, based on previous data showing an association between lines of CB ≥12 mm with development of postoperative AF, we also studied the relation of previous AF episodes and lines of CB ≥12 mm. With current findings, we added a mid-entry site to these analysis and determined sensitivity and specificity with χ^2 . A p-value <0.05 was considered statistically significant. Statistical Package of Social Sciences version 21.0 for Windows(SPSS Inc. Chicago, IL, USA) was used.

RESULTS

Study population

Study population characteristics (N=304, 237 male (78%), age 66 ± 10 years) are shown in Table 1. Mean age in the entire study population was 66 ± 10 years. Patients had either IHD (N=193, 63.5%), VHD (N=62, 20.4%) or a combination of ischemic and valvular heart

disease (N=49, 16.1%). Patients underwent cardiac surgery different valvular pathology including aortic valve stenosis (N=70, 23.0%), aortic valve insufficiency (N=20, 6.6%), mitral valve stenosis (N=3, 1.0%) and mitral valve insufficiency (N=41, 13.5%). Two-hundred thirty patients (75.7) used anti-arrhythmic drugs prior to surgical procedure; class II (N=211, 69.4%), class III (N=9, 3.0%) and class IV (N=10, 3.3%). The majority of patients had a normal left ventricular function (N=234, 77%) and only 10 patients (3%) had a moderate/severe left ventricular dysfunction. Left atrial dilatation was present in 54 patients(18%); half of them had isolated IHD.

A total of 40 patients (13%) had a history of AF; 32 paroxysmal, 7 persistent and 1 longstanding persistent. Of the latter two groups, all patients underwent electrical cardioversion prior to epicardial mapping. Comparing the presence of AF for different underlying heart disease, relatively most patients had AF in combination with mitral valve disease (N=14, 34%), aortic valve disease (N=12, 17%) and finally IHD solely (N=14, 7%). Due to a limited number of patients with (longstanding) persistent AF, further comparison is not performed between different types of AF. Mapping was performed with mean rate of 72±14 beats/min.

For further comparison of groups, patients were divided in having IHD or VHD. The right side in Table 1 demonstrates differences between these groups. Although age was comparable (65.5 ± 9.2 vs 66.8 ± 11.4), other characteristics which may potentially affect atrial conduction were different either with a higher incidence in patients with IHD including hypertension, hypercholesterolemia, diabetes mellitus, anti-arrhythmic drug usage and history of myocardial infarction (p ≤ 0.004) or a higher incidence in patients with VHD such as left atrial dilatation and a history of AF (p ≤ 0.001).

We investigated whether the underlying heart disease and/or a history of AF has a relation with the number of wavefront entry sites into BB during SR and the location of these entry sites (right, middle, left or combinations). In total, the number of entry sites was either 1 site solely in 211 patients (69%) or multiple sites (2 sites: N= 73 (24%), 3 sites: N=20 (7%)). As BB is a major route of interatrial conduction, the vast majority of patients(92%) had at least 1 wavefront entering BB from only the right (61%) or a right entry site combined with other entry sites (31%) (upper panel Figure 2). Furthermore, 116 patients (38%) had a wavefront entering BB in the middle including an entry site in the middle only (7.2%), right and middle (23.7%), middle and left (0.3%) and right, middle and left (6.9%).

Table 1. Patient characteristics

	Total	IHD	(I)VHD
Number of patients, N	304	193	111
Age, years (mean \pm SD)	66.0±10.1	65.5±9.2	66.8±11.4
Male gender, N (%)	237(78.0)	163(84.5)	74(66.7)
BSA, m ² (mean ± SD)	2.02±0.21	2.05±0.20	1.96±0.21
Hypertension, N (%)	170(55.9)	120(62.2)	50(45.0)
Hypercholesterolemia, N (%)	111(36.5)	84(43.5)	27(24.3)
Diabetes mellitus, N (%)	85(28.0)	68(35.2)	17(15.3)
AAD, N (%)	230(75.7)	166(86.0)	64(57.7)
History PCI, N (%)	70(23.0)	58(30.1)	12(10.8)
History myocardial infarction, N (%)	94(30.9)	85(44.0)	9(8.1)
Operation indication VHD, N (%)			
VHD	62(20.4)		62(55.9)
IVHD	49(16.1)		49(44.1)
Aortic valve stenosis	70(23.0)		70(63.1)
Aortic valve insufficiency	20(6.6)		20(18.0)
Mitral valve disease	3(1.0)		3(2.7)
Mitral valve insufficiency	41(13.5)		41(36.9)
Left ventricular function			
Normal	234(77.0)	146(75.6)	88(79.3)
Mild dysfunction	60(19.7)	39(20.2)	21(18.9)
Moderate dysfunction	8(2.6)	6(3.1)	2(1.8)
Severe dysfunction	2(0.7)	2(1.0)	0
Left atrial dilatation >45mm	54(17.8)	27(14.0)	27(24.3)
History of AF, N (%)	40(13.2)	14(7.3)	26(23.4)
Paroxysmal	32(10.5)	14(7.3)	18(16.2)
Persistent	7(2.3)	0	7(6.3)
Longstanding persistent	1(0.3)	0	1(0.9)

Impact of heart disease and atrial fibrillation on entry sites

Whereas the number of entry sites was comparable between patients with IHD and VHD (p=0.48), patients with AF had more often >1 entry-site than patients without a history of AF (50% vs 22%; p=0.004). Additionally, the middle panel of Figure 2 demonstrates that patients with a history of AF had more frequently a wavefront entering in the middle of BB

compared to patients without AF (58% vs 35%, p=0.007). In comparison, there was only a trend towards a higher incidence of mid entry sites in patients with VHD compared to IHD (p=0.061).





Upper panel: frequency pie illustrating all different entry sites in the entire study population including right entry site only (green) and other entry sites (red). Middle panel: frequency pies demonstrating the number of patients without a mid-entry site (blue) and with a mid-entry site (yellow) of wavefronts. The left panels illustrate the difference for underlying heart disease, the right panels for patients with/without a history of AF. Lower panel: examples of color-coded activation maps of BB during SR demonstrating different activation patterns; entry site only from the right (left upper map), right and left (left lower map) and right, middle and left (right lower map). Arrows indicate the main propagation direction of wavefronts, stars an area of simultaneous excitation/focal wave. AF = atrial fibrillation; IHD = ischemic heart disease; (I)VHD = (ischemic) valvular heart disease; L = left entry; M = mid entry; R = right entry.

Correlation between heart disease or atrial fibrillation with conduction disorders

A total of 283 (93%) patients had at least 1 area of CD, 236 (78%) patients CB and 212 (70%) patients a continuous line of CDCB. In these patients, the longest lines of CD, CB and CDCB consisted of respectively 6mm (4–8), 6mm (2–16) and 12mm (0–22) (upper panels Figure 3).

In the entire study population, a median of 1.8% (0.9–2.9) CD, 1.2% (0.3–3.2) CB and 3.2% (1.6–6.0) continuous lines of CDCB was measured, as demonstrated in the lower panels Figure 3). Although there was a significant positive correlation between the amount of CDCB and aging in the entire study population, the correlation was solely moderate (rho correlation 0.326, p<0.001). Furthermore, in patients with VHD, diabetes mellitus and left atrial dilatation was weakly correlated with the amount of CDCB, respectively rho 0.257 (p=0.007) and rho 0.282 (p=0.008), whereas the remaining patient characteristics demonstrated no correlation.



Figure 3. Incidence and extensiveness of conduction disorders

Upper panels: frequency histograms depicting the longest measured line of conduction delay (green), block (purple) and connected conduction delay and block (red) per patient.Lower panels: frequency histogram illustrating the percentage of conduction delay (green), block (purple) and combined (red) per patient. CB = conduction block; CD = conduction delay; CDCB (mm) = length of connected conduction delay and block; CDCB (%) = sum of conduction delay and block

Figure 4 demonstrates conduction disorders in patients with IHD (upper panels), VHD (lower panels), without a history of AF (left panels) and with a history of AF (right panels). As shown in Figure 4, the amount of conduction disorders is nearly comparable between patients with IHD and VHD; CB 0.9% vs 1.4% (p=0.155) and CDCB 3.0 vs 3.2% (p=0.488) in patients without a history of AF. Also in patients with a history of AF there were no significant differences between IHD and VHD; CB 2.9% vs 3.0% (p=0.90) and CDCB 6.5% vs 5.7% (p=0.79).

Yet, patients with AF, both with IHD and VHD, have a higher amount of CB and CDCB compared to patients without a history of AF, respectively IHD 0.9% vs 2.9% CB (p=0.019), 3.0% vs 6.5% CDCB (p=0.006) and VHD 1.4% vs 3.0% CB (p=0.018) and 3.2 vs 5.7% CDCB (p=0.015).

In line with these results, patients with early postoperative AF also had a higher amount of conduction disorder, respectively IHD 0.9% vs 1.7% CB (p=0.022), 2.7% vs 4.2% CDCB (p=0.026) and VHD 1.5% vs 1.7% CB (p=0.119) and 3.4 vs 3.8% CDCB (p=0.030).



Figure 4. Relation between underlying heart disease, atrial fibrillation and conduction disorders

Differences in the amount of conduction delay (green), block (yellow) and combined (red) between patients with ischemic heart disease (upper panels) and valvular heart disease (lower panels). In addition, difference in conduction disorders are shown between patients without atrial fibrillation (left panels) and with a history of atrial fibrillation (right panels). AF = atrial fibrillation; CB = conduction block; CD = conduction delay; CDCB = sum of conduction delay and block

Diagnostic value for atrial fibrillation

Figure 5 illustrates the diagnostic value of longest CB/CDCB for AF. The diagnostic value of the longest lines of CB/CDCB is shown in the ROC-curve in Figure 5 with an area under the curve of 0.697. In addition, cut-off values for high sensitivity and specificity (≥85%) are respectively 6mm and 26mm (right upper panel Figure 5).





Figure 5. Predictive value of entry-site and conduction disorders

Upper panels: Predictive value of the length of conduction disorders for previous AF episodes. The left panel depicts a ROC curve for length of lines of conduction disorders, The right panel cut-off values of the length of conduction disorders and previous AF episodes. Lower panel: Flowchart demonstrating the predictive value of mid-entry site and a line of conduction block or CDCB of 12mm or more. Table shows sensitivity and specificity. AF = atrial fibrillation; CB = conduction block; CDCB = connected conduction delay and block; Sens =sensitivity; Spec = specificity.

The diagnostic value of a mid-entry and previous AF episodes was studied. As mentioned, patients with AF had relatively more frequently a wavefront entering in the middle of BB. A total of 116 patients (38%) had a mid-entry of whom 23 patients (58%) had AF, leading to a sensitivity and specificity of respectively 58% and 65%. Also, patients with AF, as previously described, had more conduction disorders. Thirty patients (75%) with AF and 124 patients (47%) without AF had a line of CB or CDCB \geq 12 mm, resulting in a sensitivity of 75% and specificity of 53% for previous episodes of AF (both not shown in Figure 5).

When combining these results, a mid-entry or a line of CB/CDCB \geq 12 mm, nearly all patients with AF (N=36, 90%) met these criteria compared to 159 patients (60%) of patients without AF (lower panel Figure 5). Therefore, although there is a significant group of patients without AF with a mid-entry or CB/CDCB \geq 12 mm, a patient was highly unlikely to have AF in the absence of these criteria (sensitivity 90%). Absence of one of these electrophysiological criteria is strongly associated with patients without AF (p=0.002). If both a mid-entry and a line of CB/CDCB \geq 12 mm are present, sensitivity is reduced to 50% (not shown in Figure).

DISCUSSION

The current study demonstrates that both patients with IHD and VHD mainly have propagation of SR wavefronts across BB from the right towards the left atrial appendage. Yet, in over one third of patients, a wavefront emerges in the middle of BB towards surrounding sites. Furthermore, nearly all patients have conduction disorders across BB. There are no significant differences in wavefronts emerging in the middle of BB or the amount of conduction disorders between patients with IHD and VHD. In contrast, patients with previous episodes of AF have more conduction disorders and more frequently a wavefront entering BB in the middle compared to patients without a history of AF. Taking both electrophysiological properties into account, patients without a mid-entry site or long lines of conduction disorders seldom have AF.

Atrial remodeling in atrial fibrillation

Both cardiovascular and non-cardiovascular diseases contribute to development of AF. However, how these different diseases exactly contribute to AF development is still not completely unraveled. In general, several mechanisms have been proposed to underlie AF, including an ectopic rapid firing focus or reentry from which waves originate with fibrillatory conduction or conduction of multiple wavelets.¹⁰ Moreover, electrical asynchrony between the epi- and endocardial layer was recently found as potential cause for maintenance of AF.¹¹ Irrespective of the underlying mechanism, conduction abnormalities (e.g. due to atrial fibrosis) have always been found to increase AF vulnerability. In our previous study focusing

on conduction across BB in patients with IHD, we observed that patients with AF have a higher amount and longer lines of conduction disorders across BB compared to patients without AF.² As expected, the current study illustrates again that patients with AF have more and longer lines of conduction disorders. Although conduction disorders at BB may reflect pathology through the entire atrial myocardium, in our preliminary data with total atrial epicardial mapping conduction disorders seem mainly limited to BB in patients with AF which was not shown in the current study due to the extensiveness of data.¹² Yet, it remains unknown whether conduction disorders at BB facilitated development of AF or whether AF episodes further increased the amount of conduction disorders.

It is commonly known that atrial remodeling during AF enhances AF maintenance ("AF begets AF").¹³ AF initiates electrical remodeling and is considered a cause of progression to persistent AF. In brief, electrical remodeling consists of e.g. shortening of atrial refractoriness due to ion-channels adaptations.¹⁴⁻¹⁷ The remodeling is reversible; time until normal state depends on the duration of AF. Next to electrical remodeling during AF, structural remodeling has been characterized as well, such as myocyte hypertrophy, myolysis and accumulation of glycogen (dedifferentiation).¹⁴⁻¹⁷ It is still a matter of debate whether AF itself also causes degeneration of myocytes with fibrotic deposition. In the goat model of persistent AF, structural remodeling was observed without production of fibrosis after >20 weeks of persistent AF induced by rapid atrial pacing.¹⁵ In contrast, others suggest that atrial fibrosis might be enhanced during AF which in turn makes AF more persistent and therapeutic resistant.^{16,17}

The current study showed that conduction disorders are more present in patients with previous AF episodes, but the cause of the higher amount of conduction disorders is unknown. This is a non-longitudinal observational study and therefore the previous effects of conditions such as hypertension (blood pressure alterations) and atrial pressure that change over time and which may contribute to conduction disorders remain poorly understood. In addition, we did not observe clear differences in conduction disorders between patients with IHD and VHD after correction for AF history, although the incidence of AF was higher in patients with VHD conform previous many clinical studie. The similar amount of conduction disorders between IHD and VHD may be caused by the complex pathophysiology in patients with IHD (e.g. atrial ischemia, elevated left ventricular pressure, diastolic dysfunction) and VHD (e.g. myocyte loss, increased ERP due to reversible interstitial fibrosis, diastolic atrial dilatation).^{18, 19} Moreover, there were differences in patient characteristics such as gender, hypertension and diabetes mellitus that may have a confounding effect on conduction disorders. Yet, further analyses demonstrated either no significant effect or a weak significant correlation (rho <0.30) in each group.

Altogether, this leads to a chicken-and-egg situation; does VHD contribute to conduction disorders across BB predisposing to AF development? Or does AF enhance production of fibrosis resulting in a higher amount of conduction disorders across BB? Future longitudinal and experimental studies could provide more insights in these unanswered questions.

Relation between mid-entry and patients with atrial fibrillation

BB is described as an important inter-atrial connection for conduction of electrical wavefronts.⁵ As expected, BB was in the majority of our patients activated from the right to left. Yet, in line with a previous study,² we also observed SR wavefronts entering in the middle of BB. This pattern of activation was more frequently observed in patients with AF.

There are 2 possible explanations why patients with AF have a higher incidence of wavefronts activating BB from the middle area. First, patients with AF have significantly more conduction disorders across BB which are also frequently longer than in patients without AF. Due to these long lines of conduction disorders, wavefronts are forced to propagate outside BB and around these lines, subsequently entering BB in the middle ('quasi midentry') behind these lines of conduction disorders. Second, previously it was demonstrated that the interatrial septum has connections with BB that provides the possibility for wavefronts to propagate to the middle of BB.²⁰ Propagation of SR wavefronts across BB from either right to left or from the middle (septum) to surrounding areas could depend on 2 factors: distance (S) or conduction velocity (CV) from sinus node to BB. Dobrzynski et al. and Ho et al. previously described that the sinoatrial node is more a sleeve rather than a node like structure at the intercaval region.^{21, 22} In patients with AF, the sinus node origin may vary, resulting in a longer distance between the initial excitation site and the right side of BB (\uparrow S), although Li et al. did not always find a relation between origin of the sinus node (intranodal) 'pacing' area and earliest atrial activation sites.²³ Furthermore, patients with AF have more conduction disorders across BB. These conduction disorders might also be more present between the sinus node and BB such as the preferential upper sinoatrial conduction pathway.²³ As a result, wavefronts propagate slower towards the right side of BB (LCV) and, therefore, propagation occurs through a different faster route such as towards the septum and subsequently upwards to BB.

Study limitations

High-resolution epicardial mapping was performed of BB, but conduction properties of the remainder of the atria were not described. Therefore, it is unknown what the effect of conduction disorders in the remaining of the atria is on for example wavefront entry sites. Simultaneous endo- and epicardial of the entire atria could provide more insight in e.g. wavefront propagation, but this is so far technically impossible. Patients with AF episodes

were included. Yet, asymptomatic AF episodes in patients might have been missed which could result in an underestimation of the number of patients with a history of AF. In line with that, both sensitivity and specificity of a mid-entry site and long lines of conduction disorders for the presence of AF episodes could be positively/negatively affected in case none of the AF episodes were missed.

CONCLUSION

Conduction disorders are equally present between patients with IHD and VHD, but patients with AF have more and longer lines of conduction disorders. Propagation of wavefronts across BB during SR occurs mainly from the right atrial site towards left atrial site, but wavefronts also emerge in the middle of BB. Wavefronts entering BB in the middle were seen in patients with all different types of underlying heart diseases, but these were especially observed in patients with a history of AF. Altogether, a wavefront entering BB in the middle and/or long lines of conduction disorders are associated with absence of previous AF episodes.

REFERENCES

- 1. Markides V, Schilling RJ, Ho SY, Chow AW, Davies DW, Peters NS. Characterization of left atrial activation in the intact human heart. *Circulation*. 2003;107:733-739
- 2. Teuwen CP, Yaksh A, Lanters EA, Kik C, van der Does LJ, Knops P, Taverne YJ, van de Woestijne PC, Oei FB, Bekkers JA, Bogers AJ, Allessie MA, de Groot NM. Relevance of conduction disorders in bachmann's bundle during sinus rhythm in humans. *Circ Arrhythm Electrophysiol*. 2016;9:e003972
- 3. Khaja A, Flaker G. Bachmann's bundle: Does it play a role in atrial fibrillation? *Pacing Clin Electrophysiol*. 2005;28:855-863
- 4. van Campenhout MJ, Yaksh A, Kik C, de Jaegere PP, Ho SY, Allessie MA, de Groot NM. Bachmann's bundle: A key player in the development of atrial fibrillation? *Circ Arrhythm Electrophysiol*. 2013;6:1041-1046
- 5. Baranchuk A. Interatrial block and supraventricular arrhythmias: Clinical implications of bayés' syndrome. Cardiotext Publishing; 2017.
- Bailin SJ, Adler S, Giudici M. Prevention of chronic atrial fibrillation by pacing in the region of bachmann's bundle: Results of a multicenter randomized trial. J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol. 2001;12:912-917
- Nigro G, Russo V, Politano L, Della Cioppa N, Rago A, Arena G, Papa AA, Paoli LD, de Chiara A, Russo MG, Golino P, Calabro R. Does bachmann's bundle pacing prevent atrial fibrillation in myotonic dystrophy type 1 patients? A 12 months follow-up study. *Europace*. 2010;12:1219-1223
- Benjamin EJ, Levy D, Vaziri SM, D'Agostino RB, Belanger AJ, Wolf PA. Independent risk factors for atrial fibrillation in a population-based cohort. The framingham heart study. *JAMA*. 1994;271:840-844
- Lanters EAH, Yaksh A, Teuwen CP, van der Does L, Kik C, Knops P, van Marion DMS, Brundel B, Bogers A, Allessie MA, de Groot NMS. Spatial distribution of conduction disorders during sinus rhythm. *Int J Cardiol.* 2017;249:220-225
- 10. Moe GK, Abildskov JA. Atrial fibrillation as a self-sustaining arrhythmia independent of focal discharge. *Am Heart J.* 1959;58:59-70
- 11. de Groot N, van der Does L, Yaksh A, Lanters E, Teuwen C, Knops P, van de Woestijne P, Bekkers J, Kik C, Bogers A, Allessie M. Direct proof of endo-epicardial asynchrony of the atrial wall during atrial fibrillation in humans. *Circ Arrhythm Electrophysiol*. 2016;9
- 12. Van der Does LJ, Lanters EA, Teuwen CP, Mouws EM, Yaksh A, Knops P, Kik C, Bogers AJ, De Groot NM. The effects of valvular heart disease on atrial conduction during sinus rhythm. *Preliminary Results*.
- 13. Wijffels MC, Kirchhof CJ, Dorland R, Allessie MA. Atrial fibrillation begets atrial fibrillation. A study in awake chronically instrumented goats. *Circulation*. 1995;92:1954-1968
- 14. Ausma J, Wijffels M, Thone F, Wouters L, Allessie M, Borgers M. Structural changes of atrial myocardium due to sustained atrial fibrillation in the goat. *Circulation*. 1997;96:3157-3163
- Dispersyn GD, Ausma J, Thone F, Flameng W, Vanoverschelde JL, Allessie MA, Ramaekers FC, Borgers M. Cardiomyocyte remodelling during myocardial hibernation and atrial fibrillation: Prelude to apoptosis. *Cardiovasc Res.* 1999;43:947-957

- 16. Lin CS, Pan CH. Regulatory mechanisms of atrial fibrotic remodeling in atrial fibrillation. *Cell Mol Life Sci.* 2008;65:1489-1508
- 17. Frustaci A, Chimenti C, Bellocci F, Morgante E, Russo MA, Maseri A. Histological substrate of atrial biopsies in patients with lone atrial fibrillation. *Circulation*. 1997;96:1180-1184
- Aguero J, Galan-Arriola C, Fernandez-Jimenez R, Sanchez-Gonzalez J, Ajmone N, Delgado V, Solis J, Lopez GJ, de Molina-Iracheta A, Hajjar RJ, Bax JJ, Fuster V, Ibanez B. Atrial infarction and ischemic mitral regurgitation contribute to post-mi remodeling of the left atrium. *J Am Coll Cardiol.* 2017;70:2878-2889
- Goette A, Kalman JM, Aguinaga L, Akar J, Cabrera JA, Chen SA, Chugh SS, Corradi D, D'Avila A, Dobrev D, Fenelon G, Gonzalez M, Hatem SN, Helm R, Hindricks G, Ho SY, Hoit B, Jalife J, Kim YH, Lip GYH, Ma CS, Marcus GM, Murray K, Nogami A, Sanders P, Uribe W, Van Wagoner DR, Nattel S. Ehra/hrs/aphrs/solaece expert consensus on atrial cardiomyopathies: Definition, characterization, and clinical implication. *Europace*. 2016;18:1455-1490
- 20. Platonov PG, Mitrofanova L, Ivanov V, Ho SY. Substrates for intra-atrial and interatrial conduction in the atrial septum: Anatomical study on 84 human hearts. *Heart Rhythm*. 2008;5:1189-1195
- 21. Dobrzynski H, Li J, Tellez J, Greener ID, Nikolski VP, Wright SE, Parson SH, Jones SA, Lancaster MK, Yamamoto M, Honjo H, Takagishi Y, Kodama I, Efimov IR, Billeter R, Boyett MR. Computer threedimensional reconstruction of the sinoatrial node. *Circulation*. 2005;111:846-854
- 22. Ho SY, Sanchez-Quintana D. Anatomy and pathology of the sinus node. *J Interv Card Electrophysiol*. 2016;46:3-8
- 23. Li N, Hansen BJ, Csepe TA, Zhao J, Ignozzi AJ, Sul LV, Zakharkin SO, Kalyanasundaram A, Davis JP, Biesiadecki BJ, Kilic A, Janssen PML, Mohler PJ, Weiss R, Hummel JD, Fedorov W. Redundant and diverse intranodal pacemakers and conduction pathways protect the human sinoatrial node from failure. *Sci Transl Med*. 2017;9


13

EPICARDIAL BREAKTHROUGH WAVES DURING SINUS RHYTHM: DEPICTION OF THE ARRHYTHMOGENIC SUBSTRATE?

Elisabeth M.J.P Mouws

Eva A.H. Lanters Christophe P. Teuwen Lisette J.M.E. van der Does Charles Kik Paul Knops Jos A. Bekkers Ad J.J.C. Bogers Natasja M.S. de Groot

CIRCULATION: ARRHYTHMIA & ELECTROPHYSIOLOGY 2017;10(9). PII: E005145

ABSTRACT

Background: Epicardial breakthrough waves (EBW) during atrial fibrillation (AF) are important elements of the arrhythmogenic substrate and result from endo-epicardial asynchrony (EEA), which also occurs to some degree during SR. We examined the incidence and characteristics of EBW during SR and its possible value in the detection of the arrhythmogenic substrate associated with AF.

Methods: Intra-operative epicardial mapping (interelectrode distances 2 mm) of the right atrium (RA), Bachmann's bundle (BB), the left atrioventricular groove (LAVG) and the pulmonary vein area (PVA) was performed during SR in 381 patients (289 male, 67±10 years) with ischemic and/or valvular heart disease (IHD, (i)VHD). EBW were referred to as sinus node breakthrough waves (SNBW) if they were the earliest right atrial activated site.

Results: A total of 218 EBW and 57 SNBW were observed in 168 patients (44%). EBW mostly occurred at RA (N=105, 48%) and LAVG (N=67, 31%), followed by BB (N=27, 12%) and PVA (N=19, 9%) (p<0.001). EBW occurred most often in IHD patients (N=114, 49%) compared to (i)VHD patients (N=26, 17%) (p<0.001). EBW-electrograms most often consisted of double and fractionated potentials (N=137, 63%). In case of single potentials, an R-wave was observed in 88% (N=71) of EBW, as opposed to 21% of SNBW (N=5) (p<0.001). Fractionated EBW-potentials were more often observed at RA and BB (p<0.001).

Conclusions: During SR, EBW are present in over a third of patients, particularly in thicker parts of the atrial wall. Features of SR EBW indicate that muscular connections between endo and epicardium underlie EBW and that a slight degree of EEA required for EBW to occur is already present in some areas during SR. Hence, an anatomical substrate is present, which may enhance the occurrence of EBW during AF, thereby promoting AF persistence.

INTRODUCTION

Epicardial breakthrough waves (EBW) during atrial fibrillation (AF) result from endoepicardial asynchrony (EEA) and are important elements of the arrhythmogenic substrate.^{1,2} In patients with persistent AF, a 4-fold higher incidence of EBW was observed compared to patients with induced AF.² During AF, EBW appear frequently, are non-repetitive and have a widespread distribution over the right and left atrium.³ In addition, clearly identifiable R-waves were observed in EBW fibrillation potentials recorded at the breakthrough origin, distinguishing EBW from ectopic focal activity giving rise to potentials consisting of only an S-deflection.² Based on these observations, EBW are presumed to be the result of transmural conduction through muscular bundles connecting the endo- with the epicardial layer, as has been demonstrated in several experimental studies.^{4,5}

Schuessler et al. performed simultaneous endo- and epicardial activation mapping during sinus rhythm (SR), pacing and AF in isolated canine atria and observed EBW.⁴ During AF, it was assumed that these EBW were the result of transmural reentry using muscle bundles allowing conduction between the endo- and epicardial layers.⁴ Transmural reentry as the underlying mechanism of EBW was indeed confirmed by Gray et al. using transillumination recordings in the Langendorff perfused sheep heart.⁵

For transmural conduction to occur, a certain degree of EEA is mandatory.² Recent simultaneous endo- and epicardial mapping studies in humans have demonstrated a high degree of EEA in patients with AF up to 56% of the recorded atrial sites.^{6,7} EEA does not only exist during AF, but also during SR, particularly in areas with a thicker atrial wall.⁴ Local activation times measured at opposite endo- and epicardial recording sites showed differences up to 13 ms.⁴ The oblique transmural angle of wavefronts propagating through the atrial wall and the presence of areas of conduction disorders, for example caused by deposition of fibrotic tissue, enhance EEA.⁸⁻¹²

We hypothesized that EEA during SR, resulting in the presence of EBW, is more pronounced in patients with electrical or structural remodeled atria due to e.g. underlying heart disease or episodes of AF.

We therefore conducted a high-resolution epicardial mapping study in order to examine the incidence and characteristics of EBW during SR in a large cohort of patients with ischemic, valvular or combined heart disease (IHD, VHD, (i)VHD), with or without a history of AF.

METHODS

Study population

The study population consisted of 381 successive patients undergoing elective open heart surgery in the Erasmus Medical Center Rotterdam with a minimum age of 18 years. Patients underwent either coronary artery bypass grafting, aortic or mitral valve surgery or a combination of valvular and bypass grafting surgery. This study was approved by the institutional medical ethical committee (MEC2010-054/MEC2014-393)^{13,14} and written informed consent was obtained from all patients.

Postoperative rhythm monitoring by ECG and holter recordings, derived from the moment of arrival on the intensive care unit until the fifth postoperative day or until hospital discharge, were used for detection of early postoperative AF. Clinical data was extracted from electronic patient files.

Mapping procedure

Epicardial high-resolution mapping was performed prior to commencement to extracorporal circulation, as previously described in detail.¹⁵ A bipolar epicardial pacemaker wire, serving as a temporal reference electrode, was stitched to the RA free wall. A steel wire fixed to subcutaneous tissue of the thoracic cavity served as indifferent electrode.

Epicardial mapping was performed using a 128- unipolar electrode array, which was later replaced by a 192- unipolar electrode array (electrode diameter respectively 0.65mm or 0.45mm, interelectrode distances 2 mm). Mapping was conducted by shifting the electrode array along predefined areas of the RA and LA between anatomical borders in a systematic order, covering the entire atrial epicardial surface, as illustrated in the upper left panel of Figure 1. The RA was mapped in 4 consecutive horizontal lines (RA1-4) from the cavotricuspid isthmus towards the RAA, perpendicular to the inferior and superior caval vein (ICV and SCV). Mapping of BB was performed from the tip of the left atrial appendage (LAA) towards the superior cavo-atrial junction. The pulmonary vein (PVA) area was mapped from the sinus transversus along the borders of the right and left pulmonary veins (PVR and PVL) down towards the atrioventricular groove. The left atrioventricular groove (LAVG) was mapped from the lower border of the left inferior pulmonary vein (LA1) towards the LAA (LA2).

At every mapping site, 5 seconds of SR were recorded, including a surface ECG lead, a calibration signal of 2mV and 1000ms, a bipolar reference electrogram, and all unipolar epicardial electrograms.¹⁵

Activation mapping of the atrial epicardium

The upper left panel of Figure 1 shows all mapping locations, including RA1-4, BB, LA1-2, PVR and PVL, on a schematic posterior view of the atrial surface. The steepest negative slope of atrial potentials recorded at every electrode was annotated in order to construct a local activation map during 5 seconds of SR; atrial extrasystolic beats were excluded from analysis.^{2,6,16}

When the time difference between 2 adjacent electrodes was <12ms (17ms for oblique distances), the electrode site was added to the territory of the surrounding wave. This cutoff value was based on previous studies reporting an effective atrial conduction velocity for continuous waves of 17cm/s.¹⁶ Time differences of respectively \geq 7 and \geq 12 ms between adjacent electrodes are marked as areas of conduction delay (CD) and block (CB).

Epicardial breakthrough waves

EBW were defined as new wavefronts arising in the middle of the mapping area which could not be explained by propagation of a wavefront in the epicardial plane. Similar to EBW during AF, EBW during SR had to meet the following criteria, which have previously been described in detail:^{2,3,6,16}

- the breakthrough site must be located at least 2 electrodes away from the border of the mapping array. In case of electrograms of poor quality recorded from the edge of the mapping array, at least 1 reliable activation time should be available between the breakthrough site and the border of the mapping area;
- the breakthrough site had to be activated earlier than all surrounding electrodes, unless the breakthrough site was the earliest activated site of a new wavefront arising after a line of conduction block, as shown in the example in the lower panel of Figure
 If electrodes adjacent to the origin were activated simultaneously, all electrodes surrounding this area should also be activated later;
- 3) the breakthrough site had to be present in every successive SR beat;
- electrograms in the breakthrough region should not be distorted by e.g. artefacts or QRS complexes;
- slope, amplitude and duration of potentials at the breakthrough origin had to be respectively ≥0.05 V/sec, ≥0.2mV and ≤35 ms, as previously described.⁶





Figure 1. Methods

Upper panel: epicardial mapping scheme and classification of the atrial surface in atrial regions. Lower panel: examples of activation maps with EBW; isochrones are drawn at 5ms intervals; thick black lines indicate lines of conduction block; origin of EBW is demonstrated by asterixes; arrows display the main wave trajectories. Note that the EBW emerging in the left activation map and the lower EBW emerging in the right activation map are both activated earlier than all surrounding electrodes, as opposed to the upper EBW in the right activation map. This latter EBW emerges as the origin of the new wavefront behind a line of conduction block and therefore is not activated earlier than all surrounding electrodes.

BB: Bachmann's bundle; ICV: inferior caval vein; IIC: inferior intercaval; IL: inferolateral; LA: left atrium; LAVG: left atrioventricular groove; PVA: pulmonary vein area; PVL: pulmonary veins left; PVR: pulmonary veins right; RA: right atrium; SCV: superior caval vein; SIC: superior intercaval; SL: superolateral

EBW of which the origin was also the earliest activated site of the RA were assumed to be the result of sinus node activity and will be referred to as sinus node breakthrough waves (SNBW). These SNBW will be described separately. Spatial distribution of EBW was examined by assigning them to atrial regions, as displayed in the upper right panel of Figure 1, including the superior intercaval, inferior intercaval, superolateral and inferolateral (SIC, IIC, SL, IL) region of the RA; BB; LAVG and PVA.

Prematurity indices of SNBW and EBW were calculated by dividing the averaged SNBW and EBW cycle length (CL) by the average SR CL based on 5 seconds of recorded SR and presented as a percentage.

Statistical analysis

Normally distributed data are described by mean±SD(minimum-maximum) and analysed with a student's T-test or a one way ANOVA. Our patient population is of sufficient size to also perform t-tests or ANOVA on data following a skewed distribution, since the distribution of their means in multiple sample tests will follow normality. However, representation of these skewed data by means and standard deviations may give a misleading view. Therefore, we chose to describe skewed data by median(minimum-maximum) and analysed these data with non-parametric tests, i.e. Kruskal-Wallis test or Mann-Whitney U test. Categorical data are expressed as numbers and percentages and analysed with χ^2 or Fisher exact test when appropriate. A p-value <0.05 was considered statistically significant.

RESULTS

Study population

Characteristics of the study population (N=381, 289 male (76%), age 67±10years) are summarized in Table 1. Patients either had only IHD (N=231, 61%), only VHD (N=85, 22%) or I/VHD (N=65, 17%). VHD (N=150, 39%) was categorized by the predominant valvular lesion and consisted of aortic valve stenosis (N=82, 22%), mitral valve insufficiency (N=58, 15%), aortic valve insufficiency (N=9, 2%) or mitral valve stenosis (N=1, 0.3%). A minority of patients (N=59, 16%) had a history of AF, which was more prevalent in patients with mitral valve disease (N=23, 39%) compared to patients with aortic valve disease (N=19, 21%) or only IHD (N=17, 7%)(p<0.001). Most patients had a normal left ventricular function (LVF) (N=289, 76%) and the majority used class II (N=259, 68%) or III (N=16, 4%) antiarrhythmic drugs. Patients were mapped with either a 128-polar (N=219, 57%) or a 192-polar electrode array (N=162, 43%). Mean SR cycle length (CL) was 858±176(473-1458)ms.

Table 1. Patient characteristics

Number of patients	381
Age	67±10(21-84)
Male	289(76)
BSA	2.0±0.2(1.5-2.8)
Underlying heart disease	N(%)
IHD	231(61)
VHD	85(22)
I/VHD	65(17)
Valvular Heart Disease	150 (39)
Aortic Valve Stenosis	82(22)
Mild	2(1)
Moderate	19(5)
Severe	61(16)
Aortic Valve Insufficiency	9(4)
Mild	1(1)
Moderate	5(2)
Severe	3(1)
Mitral Valve Stenosis	1(1)
Severe	1(1)
Mitral Valve Insufficiency	58(12)
Moderate	16(4)
Severe	42(12)
Left Atrial Dilation >45mm	77(20)
History of AF	59(16)
Paroxysmal	43(11)
Persistent	15(4)
Longstanding persistent	1(1)
Left ventricular function	
Normal	289(76)
Mild dysfunction	68(18)
Moderate dysfunction	22(6)
Severe dysfunction	2(1)
Antiarrhythmic drugs	283(74)
Class I	2(1)
Class II	259(68)
Class III	16(4)
Class IV	4(1)

*BSA: body surface area; IHD: ischemic heart disease; VHD: valvular heart disease; I/VHD: ischemic and valvular heart disease

For all performed analyses as described in the results section there were no differences between patients with VHD or I/VHD, therefore these two patient groups were combined and referred to as (i)VHD.

Incidence of epicardial breakthrough waves

Figure 2 shows 6 examples of color-coded activation maps in which the origin of the SNBW or EBW is indicated by a white asterisk; arrows display main trajectories of breakthrough waves. These EBW activate a relative large area before merging with the SR wavefront propagating in the epicardial plane. The upper middle panel of Figure 2 shows an EBW located at BB, in which the peripheral wavefront enters the mapping array from the lower left side. An EBW emerges just below the center of the mapping array, which merges with the peripheral wavefront at 11ms and activates the remaining surface towards the upper part of the mapping array. Similar patterns of activation and merging of wavefronts can be seen in the other panels of Figure 2. Unipolar potentials recorded at the origin of the breakthrough sites and the 8 surrounding electrodes are shown next to the activation maps and will be discussed in the next paragraph.

EBW may also occur after a line of conduction block, as exemplified in the lower right activation map shown in Figure 1. Here, an EBW first emerges in the center of the mapping array and activates the surrounding atrial surface. In the upper right part of the mapping area, the area behind the long line of conduction block (thick black line) is 58 ms later activated by another EBW.

A total of 275 EBW were observed in 168 patients (44%), of which 57 (21%) occurring at the RA were SNBW, as their origin was the earliest activated site during SR. The remaining 218 EBW were observed in 140 patients (37%), including 105 EBW (48%) at the RA, 27 (12%) at BB and 86 (40%) at the LA. A minority of 28 EBW (13%) occurred after a line of conduction block.

The upper panel of Figure 3 illustrates the incidence of EBW (left panel) and the number of EBW per patient (right panel) in subjects without or with AF. EBW occurred in 123 patients (38%) without a history of AF compared to 17 subjects (29%) with AF (p=0.109). Seventynine patients (25%) without AF had only 1 EBW, compared to 9 patients (15%) with AF, as displayed in the upper right panels of Figure 3. A combination of \geq 2 EBW occurred in 44 patients (14%) without AF and 8 patients (14%) with AF. There was no difference in the number of EBW per patient between subjects without and with a history of AF (p=0.518). As displayed in the lower panels of Figure 3, EBW were present in 114 patients (49%) with IHD, compared to 26 patients(17%) with (i)VHD (p<0.001). Multiple EBW were more often observed in patients with IHD (N=46, 20%) compared to (i)VHD patients (N=6, 4%) (p<0.001). When distinguishing aortic valve disease (AVD) from mitral valve disease (MVD) and IHD, there was a gradual increase in the incidence of EBW from 13% (N=12)) in AVD patients to 24% (N=14) in MVD patients and 49%(N=114) in IHD patients (p<0.001).



Figure 2. Examples of sinus node breakthrough waves and epicardial breakthrough waves

Examples of color-coded activation maps with SNBW and EBW at RA, LA and BB: the origin of the EBW is indicated with an asterisk. Arrows display the main wave trajectory of the breakthrough. Unipolar electrograms acquired from the breakthrough site (asterisk) and its 8 surrounding electrodes are displayed next to the corresponding activation maps. Black lines indicate areas with conduction block.

Panels represent activation patterns of areas at the RA, BB and LA. The mapping area is activated by wavefronts traveling in the epicardial plane as well as by new focal wavefronts arising in the middle of the mapping area (asterisk). The upper left panel displays an SNBW with S morphology, the remaining panels display EBW with electrograms consisting of single, double and fractionated potentials.

BB: Bachmann's bundle; EBW: epicardial breakthrough wave; LA: left atrium; RA: right atrium; SNBW: sinus node breakthrough wave.





Upper panels: incidences and frequency histograms of EBs in patients without and with AF separately. Lower panels: incidences and frequency histograms of EBs in patients with IHD and (i)VHD separately.

AF: atrial fibrillation; EBW: epicardial breakthrough wave; IHD: ischemic heart disease; (i)VHD: (ischemic and) valvular heart disease

Table 2 displays the amount of CD and CB as a percentage of the entire mapped atrial surface. Patients with EBW showed higher amounts of CD (No EBW: 1.23(0.17-4.00); EBW: 1.59(0.21-4.00), p<0.001) and CB (No EBW: 1.10(0.00-6.59); EBW: 1.50(0.07-5.10), p<0.001). Also, the amount of CD was higher in IHD patients (1.42(0.18-4.00)) than in (i)VHD patients (1.27 (0.17-4.00) p=0.028). However, when comparing the amount of conduction delay and block between AVD, MVD and IHD patients separately, no difference was observed (AVD: 1.25 (0.17-4.00); MVD: 1.33 (0.30-2.93); IHD: 1.42 (0.18-4.00), p=0.077). Amount of conduction block was similar for the various disease states, as shown in Table 2.

Condition	%CD(min-max)	%CB(min-max)
No EBW	1.23(0.17-4.00)	1.10(0.00-6.59)
EBW	1.59(0.21-4.00)	1.50(0.07-5.10)
p-value	<0.001	<0.001
No AF	1.33(0.17-3.82)	1.23(0.04-6.59)
AF	1.56(0.30-4.00)	1.32(0.00-4.70)
p-value	0.065	0.183
IHD	1.42(0.18-4.00)	1.26(0.04-4.48)
(i)VHD	1.27(0.17-4.00)	1.20(0.00-6.59)
p-value	0.028	0.923
AVD	1.25(0.17-4.00)	1.14(0.10-6.07)
MVD	1.33(0.30-2.93)	1.36(0.00-6.59)
IHD	1.42(0.18-4.00)	1.26(0.04-4.48)
p-value	0.077	0.418

Table 2. Conduction delay and block

AF: atrial fibrillation; AVD: aortic valve disease; CB: conduction block; CD: conduction delay; EBW: epicardial breakthrough wave; MVD: mitral valve disease; IHD: ischemic heart disease; (i)VHD: (ischemic and) valvular heart disease.

Electrogram morphology of epicardial breakthrough waves

Examples of EBW and their unipolar electrograms recorded at the origin of the breakthrough sites and the 8 surrounding electrodes are shown in Figure 2. A large variation in the amplitude and morphology of unipolar electrograms recorded at EBW origins was observed, including single potentials with only an S-wave (upper left panel), single potentials with an rS or RS morphology (upper middle and right panel), double potentials (lower left and middle panel) and fractionated potentials (lower right panel).

Incidences of electrogram morphologies recorded at the origin of SNBW and EBW are shown in Figure 4. Electrograms at the origin of 57 SNBW consisted of single (N=24, 42%), double (N=16, 28%) or fractionated potentials (N=17, 30%). In case of a single potential, the majority showed only an S-wave (N=19, 79%), whereas 21% (N=5) showed an rS-wave morphology, as displayed in the middle left panel of Figure 4.

Electrograms at the origin of 218 EBW consisted of single (N=81, 37%) or fragmented potentials (N=137, 63%), which were either double (N=89, 41%) or fractionated (N=48, 22%) (upper left panel Figure 4). Single potentials were either without (N=10, 12%) or with an R-wave (N=71, 88%). Those with an R-wave showed an RS (N=21, 30%) or rS (N=50, 70%) morphology, as shown in the middle left panel of Figure 4.

Electrogram morphology differed significantly between EBW occurring behind a line of conduction block and EBW that did not occur behind a line of block (p<0.001), as shown in the upper right panel of Figure 4. More than half of the unipolar electrograms recorded at the origin of EBW presenting after conduction block consisted of fractionated potentials (N=15, 54%), whereas this was only 17% (N=33) of EBW occurring in areas without conduction block. The incidence of double potentials was similar between EBW in areas without conduction block and those occurring behind conduction block (N=78, 41% and N=11, 39% respectively). Single potentials were far more often observed in EBW not arising after a line of conduction block (N=79, 42%) compared to EBW after block lines (N=2, 7%).

In addition, electrograms of EBW origins recorded at the RA and BB more often showed double and fractionated potentials than electrograms recorded at the LA (p<0.001), as shown in the middle right and lower left panel of Figure 4. No difference in electrogram morphology was observed between patients without and with AF (p=0.882), nor between patients with IHD and with (i)VHD (p=0.207) (lower right panel of Figure 4).

Spatial distribution of epicardial breakthrough waves

As summarized in Table 3, EBW were most prevalent at the RA (N=105), followed by the LA(N=86) and BB (N=27). Most EBW at RA occurred in the SIC region (N=56, 53%), followed by the SL (N=23, 22%) and IIC region (N=21, 20%). Only a minority of EBW at RA occurred at the IL region (N=5, 5%). Of the EBW observed at LA (N=86), most were located at the LAVG (N=67, 78%) in comparison to the PVA (N=19, 22%).



Figure 4. Electrogram morphology of sinus node breakthrough waves and epicardial breakthrough waves

Upper left panel: Incidence of single, double and fractionated potentials in SNBW, EBW(all), EBW without conduction block and EBW after conduction block separately. Upper right panel: distribution of electrogram morphologies recorded at SNBW and EBW origins. Lower left panel: relative incidences of EBW with single, double and fractionated potentials for each atrial region separately. Lower right panel: relative incidences of EBW with single, double and fractionated potentials in patients without and with AF and in patients with IHD and (i)VHD. AF: atrial fibrillation; BB: Bachmann's bundle; EBW: epicardial breakthrough wave; IHD: ischemic heart disease; (i)VHD: (ischemic and) valvular heart disease; IIC: inferior intercaval; IL: inferolateral; LAVG: left atrioventricular groove; PVA: pulmonary vein area; SNBW: sinus node breakthrough wave; SIC: superior intercaval; SL: superolateral.

Most patients had EBW at a single atrial site (N=88, 63%), whereas in 52 patients (37%), EBW were observed at multiple atrial sites (range 2-6). As shown in Table 4, a combination of multiple EBW occurred most frequently at the SIC region (N=13, 25), followed by a combination of multiple EBW at the LAVG (N=8, 15%) and a combination of the LAVG and BB (N=7, 13%). As indicated in Table 3, the spatial distribution of EBW over RA, LA and BB was similar between patients with and without AF and between patients with IHD and (i)VHD.

	Total	No AF	AF	P-value	IHD	(i)VHD	P-value
No of pts	381	322	59		231	150	
Pts with EBW	140(37)	123(38)	17(29)	0.109	114(49)	26(17)	<0.001
No of EBW	218	188	30		182	36	
RA regions	105(48)	92(49)	13(43)	0.568	87(48)	18(50)	0.809
SIC	56(26)	49(26)	7(23)	0.751	44(24)	12(33)	0.251
IIC	21(10)	18(10)	3(10)	0.942	17(9)	4(11)	0.742
SL	23(11)	20(11)	3(10)	0.916	22(12)	1(3)	0.097
IL	5(2)	5(2)	0(0)	0.366	4(2)	1(3)	0.832
BB	27(12)	22(12)	5(17)	0.443	25(14)	2(6)	0.173
LA regions	86(40)	74(39)	12(40)	0.947	70(38)	16(44)	0.502
PVA	19(9)	16(9)	3(10)	0.788	17(9)	2(6)	0.462
LAVG	67(31)	58(31)	9(30)	0.925	53(29)	14(39)	0.246

Table 3. Incidence of epicardial breakthrough waves per mapping site

*AF: atrial fibrillation; EBW: epicardial breakthrough waves; (i)VHD: (ischemic and) valvular heart disease; RA: right atrium; SIC: superior intercaval; IIC: inferior intercaval; SL: superolateral; IL: inferolateral; BB: Bachmann's bundle; LA: left atrium; PVA: pulmonary vein area; LAVG: left atrioventricular groove.

1.000

5							
Mapping site	SIC	IIC	SL	IL	BB	PVA	LAVG
SIC	13(25)						
IIC	5(10)	0(0)					
SL	1(2)	0(0)	3(6)				
IL	1(2)	2(4)	0(0)	0(0)			
BB	3(6)	4(8)	3(6)	0(0)	3(6)		
PVA	3(6)	2(4)	2(4)	1(2)	4(8)	0(0)	
LAVG	6(12)	4(8)	3(6)	2(4)	7(13)	4(8)	8(15)

Table 4. Incidence of combinations of predilection sites in 52 patients with multiple epicardial breakthrough waves

*SIC: superior intercaval; IIC: inferior intercaval; SL: superolateral; IL: inferolateral; BB: Bachmann's bundle; PVA: pulmonary vein area; LAVG: left atrioventricular groove.



Figure 5. Prematurity of epicardial breakthrough waves and sinus node breakthrough waves

Left panel: CL of SR-, SNBW- and EBW- origins (minimum- interquartile range-maximum). Right panels: frequency histogram of prematurity indices of SNBW and EBW.

CL: cycle length; EBW: epicardial breakthrough wave; SNBW: sinus node breakthrough wave; SR: sinus rhythm.

Prematurity of epicardial breakthrough waves

The left panel of Figure 5 displays CL recorded at the origins of SR, SNBW and EBW. Median SR CL was 862ms and, as expected, did not differ from median SNBW CL (869ms) and EBW CL (854 ms) (p=0.606). SNBW and EBW CL were highly correlated with SR CL (Pearson rho 0.986; p<0.001 and Pearson rho 0.904 p<0.001 respectively). Median prematurity indices of SNBW and EBW were respectively 100% and 100%, as visualized in the right panels of Figure 5.

Early postoperative atrial fibrillation

Postoperative ECG holter recordings were available for 350 patients (92%). For the remaining 31 patients (8%), ECG's were available for detection of AF. A total of 140 patients (37%) developed early postoperative AF, of whom in 109 patients (78%) AF was de novo. The

presence of EBW during SR did not predispose for the development of early postoperative AF (p=0.732). Also, neither the number of EBW nor the type of EBW, i.e. EBW occurring after conduction block, was associated with development of postoperative AF (p=0.968 and p=0.605 respectively).

DISCUSSION

Key findings

EBW occur frequently during SR and were observed in over one third of the patients. They particularly emerged in thicker regions of the atria, such as the RA and the LAVG near the LAA. The majority of unipolar SR-electrograms recorded at EBW origins consisted of either double or fractionated potentials, indicating local asynchronous activation. Additionally, the vast majority of single potentials of EBW had a clearly identifiable R-peak, indicating propagation of a wavefront from deeper layers within the atrial wall towards the epicardium. These observations suggest that muscular connections between endo- and epicardium underlie EBW and that a slight degree of EEA, necessary for the occurrence of EBW, is already present during SR.

Features of epicardial breakthrough waves during sinus rhythm

EBW during SR were observed in a large number of patients. Of the EBW observed at RA, a considerable number represented the earliest activated site during SR (i.e. SNBW). Although some electrograms recorded at the SNBW origin contained potentials with a small R-wave, the vast majority consisted of potentials with an S-wave morphology. This finding supports the hypothesis that these SNBW most likely resulted from automatic cellular discharge, hence sinus node activity.

In contrast, the vast majority of electrograms recorded at the origin of EBW that were not the result of sinus node activity showed clearly identifiable R-waves, indicating the presence of depolarization waves approaching the epicardial surface. This feature suggests that these EBW originated from deeper layers of the atrial wall.

We observed a high incidence of double and fractionated potentials at EBW origins, indicating asynchronous activation of adjacent cardiomyocytes.¹⁷ Durrer et al. reported that epicardial excitation patterns reflect the movement of endocardial and intramural fronts, as the activation front does not actually spread over the epicardial surface, but excitation spreads from endocardium to epicardium.¹⁸ Therefore, he assumed that epicardial activation patterns generally reflect endocardial excitation, in which slight variations in wall thickness,

for instance due to presence of muscle bundles or due to pathological processes such as fibrotic depositions, may account for asynchronous activation of closely adjacent epicardial areas.¹⁸

The higher incidence of EBW in IHD patients may be explained by extensive areas of myocardial ischemia and fibrotic depositions at the atrial myocardium associated with the presence of coronary artery disease, -leading to areas of slowing of conduction, conduction block and enhanced local dispersion of refractoriness.^{19,20}

Our observations support the hypotheses that EBW are indeed the result of structural remodeling due to underlying cardiac diseases. If areas of conduction block occur in the 2-dimensional epicardial plane, it is likely they are also present in 3-dimensional endo-epicardial plane. The resulting EEA then enables transmural conduction to occur. E B W are presumed to result from EEA and are an important element of the arrhythmogenic substrate underlying AF. Previous studies reported that the incidence of EBW during AF is considerably higher in patients with longstanding persistent AF in comparison to electrically induced AF^{2,16} and that during AF, EBW appear throughout the entire atrium in a non-repetitive manner without evident predilection sites.^{3,7}

The fact that EBW during AF were mostly non-repetitive events is likely a direct result of the beat to beat variation in atrial activation patterns during AF. Consequently, EBW appear on various sites, depending on excitability of the epicardial layer at the specific moment that wavefronts propagate through the asynchronously activated endo-epicardial layer. The key feature of SR is that every beat results in more or less the same activation pattern. Thus, the SR wavefront of every beat will reach electrically dissociated sites from the same direction. In the presence of a muscular connection between the endo- and epicardial layer, the wavefront appears at the same epicardial site during each consecutive SR beat, as we observed in our mapping data.

One could argue that EBW occurring during each consecutive SR beat are in fact the result of ectopic transmural foci, which also create unipolar potentials with small R-waves. However, our study showed that CL of EBW and CL of SNBW did not differ from CL of consecutive beats recorded at the origin of SR and that prematurity indices of EBW and SNBW were 100%. When EBW would be the result of focal discharge, competition with the sinus node would be expected; CL would then likely be shorter and a certain degree of prematurity would be present.

Spatial distribution of epicardial breakthrough waves during sinus rhythm

Most EBW occurred at the RA, which corresponds with the more chaotic architecture of RA compared to LA. Wall thickness of RA is much less uniform than of LA, due to the terminal crest and its pectinate muscles which constitute a considerable proportion of RA.²¹ RA wall thickness varies from 5-8mm at the terminal groove to about 2mm at the anterior and posterior side of the vestibulum of the tricuspid valve.²¹ This chaotic architecture caused by alternating thick and thin areas facilitates EEA and thus transmural conduction from the endo- to the epicardial layer and vice versa, as demonstrated previously in sheep atria.⁵ In support of our hypothesis, double and fractionated potentials were more frequently observed at RA and BB as opposed to the LA.

Epicardial breakthrough waves: depiction of the arrhythmogenic substrate?

Features of EBW electrogram morphology in combination with the repetitive occurrence of EBW during SR, their higher prevalence in patients with IHD and the fact that they occur mostly on thicker atrial regions such as the RA, all indicate the presence of an anatomical substrate. This anatomical substrate can be physiological, such as the mere fact that the presence of myocardial bundles cause certain areas of the atrial wall to be slightly thicker and therefore result in EEA, enabling EBW to occur.

To a certain extent, the presence of a limited number of EBW merely as a result of EEA due to physiological differences in wall thickness in otherwise electrically and structurally normal atria are assumed to have limited impact on the SR activation pattern as the EBW will be integrated in the large broad SR wavefront.

However, this physiological substrate can be enforced by pathophysiological processes, such as fibrosis, enhancing EEA. During AF, the presence of multiple wavelets increases EEA, promoting EBW to occur. In addition, AF induced structural remodeling further enhances the degree of EEA, and thus the appearance of EBW. This vicious cycle of EEA stimulating EBW and vice versa may promote AF persistence.

When observing multiple EBW spread over the atria, this may be an indicator of an extensive arrhythmogenic substrate and might be a future parameter in predicting outcome of AF therapy. When the arrhythmogenic substrate is more extensive throughout the atria, therapies addressing focal sources are likely to fail.

Limitations

In the present study, incidences of EBW were similar between patients with and without a history of AF. This might be due to the limited number of patients with (longstanding) persistent AF in this study, as most patients had a history of paroxysmal AF in whom less electrical and structural remodeling is expected. A small amount of EBW occurred after conduction block, defined as a difference of ≥ 12 ms in local activation time between two adjacent electrodes. Theoretically, these EBW could be the result of very slow conduction and thus be a discontinuous conduction wave.¹⁶Also, we could only perform epicardial mapping and thereby we cannot correlate presence of EBW to endocardial breakthroughs.

CONCLUSION

EBW not only occur during AF, but also during SR. Features of EBW, as demonstrated in the present study, provide further evidence of transmural conduction as the underlying mechanism. EBW are the result of a certain degree of EEA and the presence of an anatomical substrate, which may be particularly enforced by ischemic heart disease. Although a direct association with AF episodes could not be determined, it is likely that further aggravation of structural remodeling enhances local conduction disorders and thus EEA. This will, in the presence of muscular connections between the endo-epicardial layer, facilitate transmural propagation of wavefronts, resulting in EBW and hence, development of AF.

REFERENCES

- Eckstein J, Zeemering S, Linz D, Maesen B, Verheule S, van Hunnik A, Crijns H, Allessie M a, Schotten U, Jens Eckstein, MD, PhD*; Stef Zeemering, MSc*; Dominik Linz, MD; Bart Maesen, MD; Sander Verheule, PhD; Arne van Hunnik, BSc; Harry Crijns, MD, PhD; Maurits A. Allessie, MD, PhD; Ulrich Schotten, MD P. Transmural conduction is the predominant mechanism of breakthrough during atrial fibrillation: evidence from simultaneous endo-epicardial high-density activation mapping. *Circ Arrhythm Electrophysiol*. 2013;6:334–41.
- de Groot N, Houben R, Smeets J, Boersma E, Schotten U, Schalij M, Crijns H, Allessie M. Electropathological Substrate of Longstanding Persistent Atrial Fibrillation in Patients With Structural Heart Disease: Epicardial Breakthrough. *Circulation*. 2010;122:1674–1683.
- 3. Lanters EAH, Allessie MA, de Groot NMS. Dynamics of Focal Fibrillation Waves during Persistent Atrial Fibrillation. *Pacing Clin Electrophysiol*. 2015;39:403–4.
- 4. Schuessler RB, Kawamoto T, Hand DE, Mitsuno M, Bromberg BI, Cox JL, Boineau JP. Simultaneous epicardial and endocardial activation sequence mapping in the isolated canine right atrium. *Circulation*. 1993;88:250–63.
- 5. Gray RA, Pertsov AM, Jalife J. Incomplete Reentry and Epicardial Breakthrough Patterns During Atrial Fibrillation in the Sheep Heart. *Circulation*. 1996;94:2649–2661.
- de Groot N, van der Does L, Yaksh A, Lanters E, Teuwen C, Knops P, van de Woestijne P, Bekkers J, Kik C, Bogers A, Allessie M. Direct Proof of Endo-Epicardial Asynchrony of the Atrial Wall During Atrial Fibrillation in Humans. *Circ Arrhythmia Electrophysiol*. 2016;9:e003648.
- van der Does LJME, Kik C, Bogers AJJC, Allessie MA, de Groot NMS. Dynamics of Endo- and Epicardial Focal Fibrillation Waves at the Right Atrium in a Patient With Advanced Atrial Remodelling. *Can J Cardiol.* 2016;32:1260.e19-1260.e21.
- 8. Houben RPM, de Groot NMS, Smeets JLRM, Becker AE, Lindemans FW, Allessie MA. S-wave predominance of epicardial electrograms during atrial fibrillation in humans: indirect evidence for a role of the thin subepicardial layer. *Heart Rhythm*. 2004;1:639–47.
- 9. Goudis CA, Kallergis EM, Vardas PE. Extracellular matrix alterations in the atria: insights into the mechanisms and perpetuation of atrial fibrillation. *Europace*. 2012;14:623–30.
- Kumar S, Teh AW, Medi C, Kistler PM, Morton JB, Kalman JM. Atrial remodeling in varying clinical substrates within beating human hearts: Relevance to atrial fibrillation. *Prog Biophys Mol Biol.* 2012;110:278–294.
- 11. Verheule S, Wilson E, Everett T, Shanbhag S, Golden C, Olgin J. Alterations in atrial electrophysiology and tissue structure in a canine model of chronic atrial dilatation due to mitral regurgitation. *Circulation*. 2003;107:2615–22.
- 12. Burstein B, Nattel S. Atrial fibrosis: mechanisms and clinical relevance in atrial fibrillation. *J Am Coll Cardiol*. 2008;51:802–9.
- van der Does LJME, Yaksh A, Kik C, Knops P, Lanters EAH, Teuwen CP, Oei FBS, van de Woestijne PC, Bekkers JA, Bogers AJJC, Allessie MA, de Groot NMS. QUest for the Arrhythmogenic Substrate of Atrial fibRillation in Patients Undergoing Cardiac Surgery (QUASAR Study): Rationale and Design. J Cardiovasc Transl Res. 2016;9:194–201.

- 14. Lanters EAH, van Marion DMS, Kik C, Steen H, Bogers AJJC, Allessie MA, Brundel BJJM, de Groot NMS. HALT & REVERSE: Hsf1 activators lower cardiomyocyt damage; towards a novel approach to REVERSE atrial fibrillation. *J Transl Med*. 2015;13:347.
- 15. Yaksh A, van der Does LJ, Kik C, Knops P, Oei FB, van de Woestijne PC, Bekkers J a, Bogers AJ, Allessie M a, de Groot NM. A novel intra-operative, high-resolution atrial mapping approach. *J Interv Card Electrophysiol.* 2015;44:221–5.
- 16. Allessie MA, de Groot NMS, Houben RPM, Schotten U, Boersma E, Smeets JL, Crijns HJ. Electropathological substrate of long-standing persistent atrial fibrillation in patients with structural heart disease: longitudinal dissociation. *Circ Arrhythm Electrophysiol*. 2010;3:606–15.
- 17. Gardner PI, Ursell PC, Fenoglio JJ, Wit AL. Electrophysiologic and anatomic basis for fractionated electrograms recorded from healed myocardial infarcts. *Circulation*. 1985;72:596–611.
- 18. Durrer D, Van Dam R, Freud G, Janse MJ, Meijler FL, Arzbaecher RC. Total Excitation of the Isolated Human Heart. *Circulation*. 1970;41:899–912.
- 19. Nguyen TP, Qu Z, Weiss JN. Cardiac fibrosis and arrhythmogenesis: the road to repair is paved with perils. *J Mol Cell Cardiol*. 2014;70:83–91.
- 20. Heusch G, Libby P, Gersh B, Yellon D, Böhm M, Lopaschuk G, Opie L. Cardiovascular remodelling in coronary artery disease and heart failure. *Lancet (London, England)*. 2014;383:1933–43.
- 21. Wang K, Ho SY, Gibson DG, Anderson RH. Architecture of atrial musculature in humans. *Br Heart J*. 1995;73:559–65.



14

QUANTIFICATION OF THE ARRHYTHMOGENIC EFFECTS OF SPONTANEOUS ATRIAL EXTRASYSTOLE USING HIGH-RESOLUTION EPICARDIAL MAPPING

Christophe P. Teuwen Charles Kik Lisette J.M.E. van der Does Eva A.H. Lanters Paul Knops **Elisabeth M.J.P. Mouws** Ad J.J.C. Bogers Natasja M.S. de Groot

CIRCULATION: ARRHYTHMIA & ELECTROPHYSIOLOGY 2018;11(1). PII: E005745

ABSTRACT

Background: Atrial extrasystoles (AES) can initiate atrial fibrillation (AF). However, the impact of spontaneous AES on intra-atrial conduction is unknown. The aims of this study were to examine conduction disorders provoked by AES and to correlate these conduction differences with patient characteristics, mapping locations and type of AES.

Methods: High-resolution epicardial mapping (electrodes N=128 or N=192; inter-electrode distance: 2mm) of the entire atrial surface was performed in patients (N=164; 69.5% male; age 67.2±10.5 years) undergoing open-chest cardiac surgery. AES were classified as premature, aberrant or prematurely aberrant. Conduction delay (CD) and block (CB) were quantified during SR and AES and subsequently compared.

Results: Median incidence of CD and CB during SR was 1.2% (interquartile 0 – 2.3%) and 0.4% (interquartile 0–2.1%). In comparison, the median incidence of CD and CB during 339 AES was respectively 2.8% (interquartile 1.3–4.6%) and 2.2% (interquartile 0.3–5.1%) and differed between the types of AES (prematurely aberrant > aberrant > premature). The degree of prematurity was not associated with a higher incidence of conduction disorders (p > 0.05). In contrast, a higher degree of aberrancy was associated with a higher incidence of conduction disorders; AES emerging as epicardial breakthrough provoked most conduction disorders (p ≥ 0.002). AES caused most conduction disorders in patients with diabetes mellitus and left atrial dilatation (p < 0.05).

Conclusions: Intra-operative high-resolution epicardial mapping showed that conduction disorders are mainly provoked by prematurely aberrant AES, particularly in patients with left atrial dilation and diabetes mellitus or emerging as epicardial breakthrough.

INTRODUCTION

Atrial extrasystoles (AES) are common interruptions of sinus rhythm (SR). Not only have AES been observed in patients with cardiovascular diseases but also in healthy individuals.^{1, 2} Although AES are common, they may also trigger episodes of atrial fibrillation (AF).^{3, 4} AES triggering AF most often originate from sleeves within the pulmonary veins (PV).⁵ Isolation of the PV is therefore a potential curative treatment modality to prevent AF recurrences, especially in patients with paroxysmal AF.^{6,7}

Mapping studies have demonstrated that programmed electrical atrial stimulation, mimicking AES, causes conduction block and dispersion in refractoriness which in turn facilitates development of AF.^{8, 9} It is generally assumed that spontaneous AES provoke conduction disorders and that the extensiveness of conduction disorders is positively correlated with the degree of prematurity and degree of aberrancy. However, the degree and extensiveness of heterogeneity in conduction provoked by spontaneous AES have never been examined. Also, it is unknown whether the severity of conduction disorders provoked by AES differs between various atrial regions. The impact of AES on conduction may also be influenced by patient characteristics such as underlying heart disease or atrial dilatation.

The goal of this study was therefore to examine the severity of conduction disorders provoked by 'spontaneous' AES in a large cohort of patients with various heart diseases using intra-operative, high-resolution mapping of the atria.

METHODS

Study population

This study is part of the QUASAR (QUest for Arrhythmogenic Substrate of Atrial fibRillation) and the HALT & REVERSE project (<u>H</u>sf1 <u>A</u>ctivators <u>L</u>ower cardiomyocyte damage: <u>T</u>owards a novel approach to <u>REVERSE</u> atrial fibrillation).^{10, 11} Both projects were approved by the Medical Ethical Committee in the Erasmus Medical Center (MEC 2010-054 and MEC 2014-393) and adhered to the declaration of Helsinki principles. Written informed consent was obtained from all patients prior to the surgical procedure.

Intra-operative, epicardial mapping was performed in patients without and with a history of AF undergoing elective coronary artery bypass grafting (CABG), aortic valve surgery, mitral valve surgery or combinations. Only patients with spontaneous AES during the mapping procedure were selected for this study; clinical data were retrieved from electronic records.

Epicardial mapping procedure

Epicardial mapping was performed before extra-corporal circulation.¹¹ A bipolar pacemaker wire was attached to the terminal crest serving as a reference electrode and a steel wire was fixed to subcutaneous tissue in the thorax and used as an indifferent electrode. Both atria were mapped with custom-built mapping arrays which contained 128 or 192 unipolar electrodes (electrode diameter: 0.45mm) with an inter-electrode distances of 2.0mm (array surface: 14x30mm and 14x46mm).¹²

The mapping procedure was performed by moving the mapping array over predefined locations which included the right atrium (RA), Bachmann's bundle (BB), the area between the PV and remaining surface of the left atrium (LA) (upper left panel Figure 1).^{10,11} The RA was mapped perpendicular to the caval veins from the cavo-tricuspid isthmus up to the right atrial appendage. BB was mapped with the tip against the left atrial appendage, across the roof of the LA, behind the aorta towards the superior cavo-atrial junction. The right and left PV were mapped along the sinus oblique fold towards the atrioventricular groove. The remainder of the LA was mapped from the lower border of PV along the atrioventricular groove towards the LA appendage.

Five seconds of SR were recorded at every mapping location once a regular rhythm was confirmed, including unipolar epicardial electrograms, a bipolar reference electrogram, a surface electrocardiogram and a calibration signal (amplitude 2 mV, duration 1000ms). Recordings were sampled with a rate of 1kHZ, amplified (gain 1000), filtered (bandwidth 0.5-400 Hz), analogue-to-digital converted (16-bits) and stored on a hard disk.

Analysis of mapping data

Color-coded activation maps were created by marking the steepest negative deflection of unipolar electrograms and used to create color-coded activation maps during SR, AES and reconstruction of activation patterns of the entire atrial surface as illustrated in the lower left and upper right panel in Figure 1. Calculation of the amount of conduction delay (CD) and conduction block (CB) as percentage of the entire mapping array was performed as previously described in detail (lower right panel Figure 1).^{10, 12} CD and CB were defined as differences in activation times between 2 adjacent electrodes of respectively \geq 7ms (conduction velocity <29cm/s) and \geq 12ms (conduction velocity <17cm/s), which is conform previous studies.^{10, 12}

The amount of CD and CB was quantified for all AES and corresponding SR beat at that same mapping site. The degree of conduction disorders provoked by AES was determined by calculating the percentage of CD, CB and sum of CD and CB (CD+CB) during SR and AES. The difference in the amount of CD, CB and CD+CB (Δ CD, Δ CB, Δ CD+CB) was considered as conduction disorders provoked by AES.



Figure 1. Overview mapping

Upper left panel: schematic representation of the atria and mapping positions at the right atrium (RA 1-4), Bachmann's bundle (BB), left atrium (LA 1-2), around the right and left pulmonary veins (RPV and LPV).

Upper right panel: color-coded total activation map of the atria illustrating patterns of activation during sinus rhythm. The black arrows indicate main direction of propagation.

Lower left panel: color-coded activation maps demonstrating a SR wavefront propagating upwards across the mapping area during SR and in the opposite direction during an AES (black outlined). Corresponding conduction disorder maps are shown in the lower right panel. In both maps, lines of conduction delay and block are depicted in respectively blue and red.

Classification of atrial extrasystolic beats

AES were classified into three different types: 1) premature (upper panel Figure 2), 2) aberrant (middle panel) or 3) prematurely aberrant (lower panel). As the degree of prematurity of the first beat of every recording could not be assessed, they were excluded from analysis.

Premature AES are defined as beats with a cycle length >25% shorter than the preceding beat measured at the same mapping site, but with a comparable propagation direction as during SR (e.g. a wavefront from the top down under the mapping array during both SR and AES). Excitation between 0–25% was considered as normal (standard variation). Aberrant AES are non-premature beats with a different propagation direction compared to SR at the same mapping site (e.g. a wavefront from the top down under the mapping array during SR and from right to left during AES). Prematurely aberrant AES are defined as a combination of the two aforementioned types: a cycle length >25% shorter than the preceding beat with a different propagation direction.

The degree of aberrancy is defined as the difference in propagation direction of the wave front between AES and SR and is classified as mild (opposite direction: Δ -angle=180°), moderate (Δ -angle=45° or Δ -angle=135°) and severe (perpendicular direction: Δ -angle=90°). When an AES emerged as an epicardial breakthrough (EB), the degree of aberrancy cannot be determined as the breakthrough wave spreads in multiple directions;^{13, 14} these AES were therefore classified separately. The degree of aberrancy can also not be determined when AES caused asynchronous excitation of the mapping area due to for example the presence of multiple lines of CB. These AES were therefore labeled separately as 'complex patterns of activation'.

Statistical analysis

Normally distributed data are expressed as mean±standard deviation, whereas skewed data are described as median (interquartile range). Comparison of the severity of conduction disorders between different groups including underlying heart disease and atrial mapping site was done by using non-parametric Wilcoxon rank test.

During SR, due to skewed data, the top-quartile (>5.0%) of CD+CB was used as cut-off value for uni- and multivariate binary logistic regression models (not clustered data) to identify clinical determinants associated with conduction disorders. During AES, the impact of prematurity and aberrancy on conduction disorders was calculated. Due to skewness in prematurity, the degree of prematurity was classified into 4 different groups including >25%, 36-45%, 46-55% and >55%.



Premature

Lower panel: Color coded-activation maps measured at the left atrium during SR. The fourth beat is a prematurely aberrant beat. The activation map of the AES (indicated by the black border) demonstrates a pattern of activation from the opposite side with a prematurity rate of 69.5% (627/902ms).

800 ms

14

Univariate comparison of the incidence of CD+CB between all prematurity classes was performed using Kruskal Wallis test. Wilcoxon rank test was used to compare incidences of CD+CB between the various classes of prematurity separately. Likewise, the effects of aberrancy were analyzed.

The association of patient characteristics (e.g. age, gender, diabetes mellitus, underlying heart disease), mapping sites and types of AES with the increase in conduction disorders during AES was analyzed using Generalized Estimated Equations (GEE) due to the clustered data within a patient.¹⁵ Analyses were done for all three different types of AES separately; premature, aberrant and prematurely aberrant. For these analyses, AES were ranked per patient. As a result of non-normally distributed data, differences in conduction disorders were binary scored by setting the top-quartile for each group as "high" differences in conduction disorders. We used the GEE model with 'logit' link-function for the binary responses. Based on the Goodness of Fit in the Quasi Likelihood function, an independent structure was chosen. Uni- and multivariate analyses using GEE were then performed using determinants of interest based on significance and/or clinical relevance. Statistical Package of Social Sciences version 21.0 for Windows (SPSS Inc. Chicago, IL, USA) was used.

RESULTS

Study population

Patient (N=164; 69.5% male; age 67.2 \pm 10.5 years) characteristics are summarized in Table 1. They underwent either CABG (N=83; 50.6%), aortic valve with or without CABG (N=44; 26.8%) or mitral valve with or without CABG surgery (N=37; 22.6%). Only 9 (5.5%) patients had moderate left ventricular dysfunction and one (0.6%) severe. LA dilatation was observed in 39 (23.8%) patients. Class III anti-arrhythmic drugs were used by only 3 (1.8%) patients. Twenty-five (15.2%) patients had a history of AF including paroxysmal (N=19, 11.6%), persistent (N=5, 3.0%) and longstanding persistent AF (N=1, 0.6%). All patients with persistent AF underwent per-operatively an electrocardioversion and were subsequently mapped during SR.

No. of patients (N)	164
Age, years (mean±SD)	67.2±10.5
Male gender, N (%)	114 (69.5)
BMI, kg/m ² (mean±SD)	27.2±4.4
Hypertension, N (%)	88 (53.7)
Hypercholesterolemia, N (%)	54 (32.9)
Diabetes Mellitus, N (%)	42 (25.6)
Peripheral Vascular Disease, N (%)	7 (4.2)
Echocardiography	
LVF, N (%)*	
Normal function	122 (74.7)
Mild dysfunction	32 (19.5)
Moderate dysfunction	9 (5.5)
Severe dysfunction	1 (0.6)
Dilated LA (>45mm)	39 (23.8)
History of AF, N (%)	25 (15.1)
Paroxysmal	19 (11.6)
Persistent	5 (3.0)
Longstanding Persistent	1 (0.6)
Operation indication, N (%)	
CABG	83 (50.6)
Aortic Valve (+ CABG)	44 (26.8)
Mitral Valve (+ CABG)	37 (22.6)

Table 1. Patient characteristics

N = number; SD = standard deviation; AF = atrial fibrillation; BMI = Body Mass Index; CABG = coronary artery bypass grafting; LA = left atrium; LVF = left ventricular function

Conduction disorders during sinus rhythm

A total of 339 AES were recorded; 47 AES occurred at the same site and therefore a total of 292 corresponding SR beats were included. The median amount of CD and CB in all SR beats was respectively 1.2% (0–2.3) and 0.4% (0–2.1). CD+CB (1.8% (0.4–5.0%)) during SR was higher at BB (OR 4.4, 95% CI 1.4 – 13.6; p=0.01) and RA (OR 3.3, 95% CI 1.1 – 9.2; p=0.03) compared the PV area, as demonstrated in the right columns of the Table in Supplement 1 (multivariate analyses). Also, patients with LA dilatation (OR 2.1, 95% CI 1.1 – 4.2; p=0.03) and a history of AF (OR 2.6, 95% CI 1.1 – 6.4; p=0.03) had more CD+CB during SR.

Conduction disorders provoked by atrial extrasystoles

Overall, median CD and CB during AES was respectively 2.8% (1.3–4.6) and 2.2% (0.3–5.1). AES included premature (N=50, 14.7%), aberrant (N=135, 39.8%) and prematurely aberrant (N=154, 45.4%). The majority of AES were mapped at the RA (N=156; 46%); the remaining AES were recorded at BB (N=70; 21%), LA (N=59; 17%) and PV (N=54; 16%).

The left and middle panels in Figure 3 illustrate incidences of CD (upper panels) and CB (lower panels) during SR and AES in all patients. Differences in incidences in the various degrees of CB and CD between SR and AES beats are depicted in the right panels and clearly demonstrate that the more severe degrees of both CD and CB occurred more frequently during AES. However, for all AES, the median increase in incidence of CD is only 1.4% (0 – 3.1%) and of CB is 0.9% (0–3.1%) compared to SR.





Bar graphs depicting conduction delay (upper panels) and conduction block (lower panels). The graphs demonstrate conduction disorders during sinus rhythm (green) and atrial extrasystole (orange). The right panels depict the difference in conduction delay or conduction block between atrial extrasystole and sinus rhythm beats (% atrial extrasystole – % sinus rhythm).

288
The effect of prematurity on conduction disorders

Compared to SR, both CD and CB occurred more frequently during premature AES (CD: 1.8% (0.5-3.7) vs. 0.9% (0-1.9); p=0.001, CB: 0.6% (0-2.9) versus 0.2% (0-1.4); p=0.043). The upper panel in Figure 4 depicts the severity of conduction disorders (CB+CD) during SR (green) and premature AES (red) for the different degrees of prematurity (>25%, 36–45%, 46–55% and >55%) separately. There was no clear rise in incidence of CD+CB during premature AES compared to SR with increasing prematurity, when comparing the groups with different prematurity separately (>25%: p=0.20, 36–45%: p=0.03, 46–55%: p=0.25, >55%: p=0.046). Thus, CD+CB did not differ between beats with the highest degree of prematurity (>55%; N=6) and the remaining premature beats, respectively 2.1% vs. 1.3% (p=0.19).

Prematurely aberrant beats had a median incidence of CD and CB of respectively 3.6% (1.9–5.4) and 3.0% (0.9–6.5), whereas corresponding SR beats had a lower incidence of CD and CB, respectively 1.3% (0–2.3; p<0.001) and 0% (0–2.2; p<0.001). The lower panel of Figure 4 demonstrates that, compared to SR, CD+CB during prematurely aberrant beats was higher for all degrees of prematurity (all classes: p<0.001). However, there were no differences between the various degrees of prematurity of aberrant beats in CD+CB (p=0.51); the incidence of CD+CB was comparable for the highest degree of prematurity (>55%) and the remaining prematurely aberrant AES (CD+CB: 4.0% vs. 3.9%; p=0.73). In addition, the degree of prematurity was not associated with the degree of aberrancy (p=0.65).

The effect of aberrancy on conduction disorders

The effect of aberrancy without premature excitation on conduction disorders is illustrated in the upper panel of Figure 5. The occurrence of CD+CB during AES differed between the degrees of aberrancy (p<0.001); a higher degree of aberrancy resulted in more CD+CB. AES with mild aberrancy compared to the SR beat resulted in a comparable incidence of conduction disorders (CD+CB SR 2.7% vs. AES 4.8%, p=0.08) whereas AES with severe aberrant conduction (1.6% vs. 4.4%; p<0.001), complex activation pattern (1.7% vs. 5.3%, p<0.001) or emerging as EB (3.5% vs. 12.2%; p=0.001) provoked more conduction disorders.

The lower panel in Figure 5 depicts conduction disorders during SR and prematurely aberrant AES for all degrees of aberrancy. The incidence of CD+CB differed between the degrees of aberrancy; a higher degree of aberrancy was associated with more pronounced conduction disorders (p=0.021). There was no difference in the incidence of CD+CB between SR and AES with mild aberrant propagation (4.7% vs 5.5%, p=0.06). Most conduction disorders were provoked by AES emerging as EB (1.4% vs. 10.8%, p=0.002) and complex patterns of activation (3.4% vs. 10.0%, p<0.001).





Conduction disorders during sinus rhythm (green circles) and atrial extrasystolic beats (red circles) for different classes of prematurity. Upper panel: conduction disorders of premature beats and the corresponding sinus rhythm beats. Lower panel: conduction disorders of premature beats with aberrancy and the corresponding sinus rhythm beats.

In general, prematurely aberrant AES provoked more conduction disorders than premature (p<0.001) and aberrant (p=0.005) AES, whereas the incidence of conduction disorders caused by aberrant and premature AES were similar (p=0.07).



Figure 5. Effect of aberrancy on conduction disorders

Conduction disorders are shown during sinus rhythm (blue circles) and atrial extrasystole (yellow circles) for different degrees of aberrancy. Upper panel: conduction disorders during aberrant beats and corresponding sinus rhythm beats. Lower panel: conduction disorders of prematurely aberrant beats and the corresponding sinus rhythm beats.

EB = epicardial breakthrough

ercholesterolemia lilatation - ory of AF - operative AF ration CABG* Aortic valve	2.5 (1.1 – 5.8) 1.3 (0.56 – 2.9) 4.6 (1.8 – 11.7) 2.0 (0.83 – 4.8) 1.3 (0.56 – 2.8)	0.03 0.56 0.001 0.12 0.57	2.9 (1.0 – 8.4) 5.6 (1.7 – 18.8)	0.05 0.005
ercholesterolemia lilatation	1.3 (0.56 – 2.9) 4.6 (1.8 – 11.7) 2.0 (0.83 – 4.8) 1.3 (0.56 – 2.8)	0.56 0.001 0.12 0.57	5.6 (1.7 – 18.8)	0.005
lilatation ory of AF operative AF ration CABG* Aortic valve	4.6 (1.8 – 11.7) 2.0 (0.83 – 4.8) 1.3 (0.56 – 2.8)	0.001 0.12 0.57	5.6 (1.7 – 18.8)	0.005
ory of AF operative AF ration CABG* Aortic valve	2.0 (0.83 – 4.8) 1.3 (0.56 – 2.8)	0.12 0.57		
operative AF ration CABG* Aortic valve	1.3 (0.56 – 2.8)	0.57		
ration CABG* Aortic valve				
CABG* Aortic valve				
Aortic valve				
	1.3 (0.49 – 3.2)	0.64		
Mitral valve	1.9 (0.70 – 5.2)	0.21		
naturity (≤46%)	1.1 (0.43 – 2.7)	0.89		
al site				
Right atrium	1.1 (0.37 – 3.2)	0.88		
BB	2.0 (0.56 – 7.1)	0.28		
Pulmonary veins	1.4 (0.40 – 5.2)	0.57		
Left atrium†				
rrancy				
Mild‡				
Moderate	1.6 (0.31 – 8.2)	0.58	2.0 (0.42 – 9.9)	0.37
Severe 2	2.3 (0.41 – 12.6)	0.35	3.1 (0.63 – 15.7)	0.16
EB	5.7 (1.1 – 28.5)	0.03	7.0 (1.4 – 35.0)	0.02
Complex 2	2.9 (0.54 – 15.2)	0.22	3.1 (0.55 – 18.3)	0.20

Table 2. Patient characteristics and mapping sites during prematurely aberrant extrasystoles

univariate

1.2 (0.53 - 2.8)

0.36 (0.15 - 0.88)

Variables affecting conduction during Prematurely aberrant AES (OR 95% CI) §

multivariate

0.40 (0.14 - 1.1)

p-value

0.08

p-value

0.64

0.03

§ Generalized Estimating Equation

Chapter 14

ΔCD+CB: ≥8.2

Male gender

Age (≥76.5 years)

Impact of patient characteristics on conduction disorders

During premature AES, the highest incidence of ∆CD+CB occurred at the PV (univariate OR 18.0, 95% CI 1.2 - 274; p=0.04; multivariate OR 10.9; 95% CI 1.3 - 86.1; p=0.02), as demonstrated in Supplement 2. Most conduction disorders provoked by premature beats occurred in patients with diabetes mellitus (multivariate 5.2; 95% Cl 1.2 – 22.7; p=0.03). A higher degree of prematurity was not associated with Δ CD+CB (p>0.05) after correction for diabetes or mapping location (not shown in Supplement).

During aberrant AES, the highest incidence of Δ CD+CB was again observed between the PV (multivariate OR 5.3; 95% Cl 1.3 – 21.0; p=0.02), as shown in the Table of Supplement 3. In the entire atrium, AES emerging as EB provoked most conduction disorders (multivariate OR 26.2, 95% Cl 4.9 – 140; p<0.001).

During prematurely aberrant AES, conduction disorders occurred less in male patients (OR 0.36, 95% CI 0.15 – 0.88; p=0.03), patients with diabetes (OR 2.5, 95% CI 1.1 – 5.8; p=0.03) and LA dilatation (OR 4.6, 95% CI 1.8 – 11.7; p=0.001) (Table 2). Prematurely aberrant AES emerging as EB provoked most conduction disorders (OR 5.7, 95% CI 1.1 – 28.5; p=0.03). After correction for all degrees of aberrancy and patient characteristics as given in Table 2, diabetes, LA dilatation and AES emerging as EB were still positively associated with the highest incidence of conduction disorders (p≤0.05).

DISCUSSION

Key findings

High-resolution epicardial mapping in patients undergoing open chest cardiac surgery demonstrated that particularly prematurely aberrant AES provoked conduction disorders. Increasing prematurity of AES did not result in a higher incidence of conduction disorders. However, the degree of aberrancy was associated with extensiveness of CD and CB. (Prematurely) Aberrant AES emerging as EB caused most conduction disorders. Conduction during AES was mainly impaired in patients with diabetes or LA dilatation. In case of premature or aberrant AES, the highest incidence of conduction disorders occurred between the PV.

Refractoriness in premature beats

Local dispersion in refractoriness results in asynchronous activation of cardiomyocytes which is in turn associated with a higher vulnerability to develop reentry tachycardias.^{16,17} Spach et al. observed that in isolated human atrial bundles premature stimuli resulted in increased dispersion in refractoriness and provoked arrhythmogenic conduction.¹⁸ This was caused by remodeling of cellular connections leading to decreased sodium inflow and occurred more frequently in aging atrial bundles.¹⁸

However, in our study population, a higher prematurity rate or aging was not associated with an increase in conduction disorders. A possible explanation for the low impact of AES prematurity on conduction disorders could be that there were only a limited number of premature beats with the highest degree of prematurity or the fact that the degree of prematurity was still insufficient to cause additional conduction abnormalities. Prior studies investigating the impact of AES on intra-atrial conduction delivered atrial extra stimuli after fixed rate pacing with cycle lengths of less than <300ms. Luck et al. assessed the refractory period in patients with normal sinus node function (heart rates 62–89/min) during endovascular electrophysiology studies and measured a mean effective and functional refractory period of respectively 270ms and 310ms.19 Although some AES in our study emerged with a degree of prematurity >55%, it is most likely that the majority of premature (aberrant) AES occurred far beyond the refractory period. The limited effect of solely aging observed in our study population is most likely due to the presence of multiple other factors affecting intra-atrial conduction such as smoking, diabetes mellitus and atrial dilatation.

Aberrant conduction and non-uniform anisotropic conduction

Conduction velocity in longitudinal direction exceeds that of conduction in transverse direction, giving rise to anisotropic conduction. Spach et al. demonstrated that in aged isolated non-uniform anisotropic muscle fibers, premature stimuli resulted in very slow transverse conduction velocity, which may provide a substrate for reentry in small areas.²⁰ In a consecutive study, they showed that anisotropic conduction could lead to unidirectional CB, even during excitation after the refractory period.²¹ Premature excitation from other areas than the sinus node provoked more conduction disorders and even reentry,²¹ which is in line with our observations. The synergistic effect of prematurity and aberrancy is therefore most likely the result of spatial differences in refractoriness and non-uniform anisotropic conduction. As aberrantly propagating premature AES cause most conduction disorders, theoretically any premature aberrant AES originating from random points in the atria except the sinus node may cause significant conduction disorders thereby resulting in initiation of AF.

In our study, a higher degree of aberrancy resulted in a higher incidence of conduction disorders. These findings suggest that during SR wavefronts propagate along 'the way with the lowest capacitance', thus propagate mainly in the longitudinal direction of myocardial fibers. During aberrant AES, conduction changes more to the transverse direction, resulting in an increase in the amount of conduction disorders. Conduction disorders during AES occurred particularly in patients with diabetes mellitus and LA dilatation. Rats with diabetes mellitus have more interstitial fibrosis, slowing of conduction, increased heterogeneity, longer duration of action potential and increased spatial dispersion than rats without

diabetes mellitus.²² These electrophysiological alterations were associated with a higher vulnerability for development of atrial tachyarrhythmia and are similar to alterations in humans with atrial stretch.^{23,24}

Epicardial breakthrough waves

In a previous report by De Groot et al., breakthroughs of fibrillation waves were described as key elements of the arrhythmogenic substrate underlying persistence of AF.¹² In patients with longstanding persistent AF, the incidence of EB waves occurred 4 times more frequently during persistent AF compared to acute AF. In a consecutive study, these focal waves appeared to be the result of asynchronous excitation of the endo- and epicardial layers.²⁵ Hence, EB waves indicate advanced structural remodeling of the atrial wall. EB are assumed to maintain AF, as electrical asynchrony between the endo- and epicardium favors fibrillation waves to propagate from one layer to the other, thereby functioning as AES for the opposite layer.

In the current mapping study during SR, most AES emerging as EB occurred at the RA and BB. The pathway of a wavefront during an AES most likely differs from that during SR. The alternative pathway may encounter unidirectional CB in either the endo- or epicardial layer as a result of disruption of intercellular connections due to e.g. fibrosis. Subsequently, electrical asynchrony occurs between the endo- and epicardial layer. A wavefront may then propagate from the endo- to epicardial layer appearing as either an endo- or epicardial breakthrough. This breakthrough wavefront can theoretically spread in all directions but will most likely be blocked in one or more directions due to enhanced non-uniform anisotropic properties of atrial tissue. This in turn increases the vulnerability for initiation of AF due to an increased likelihood of reentry around areas of conduction block within or between the endo- or epicardial layer.

Limitations

A limitation is that the arrhythmogenic effects of AES could only be studied at one single mapping site and not at the entire atria at the same time and thus the effect of each AES on excitation of the entire atria remains unknown. However, a measurement at one site gives an impression of the conduction disorders in the whole atrial area. Also, the origin of AES cannot be determined, as mapping can solely be performed at one atrial site at a time. In order to determine the effect and origin of each spontaneous AES on total atrial activation time, total simultaneous atrial mapping should be performed which is so far technically not possible. In addition, placing the mapping array on the atria may initiate an AES due to mechanical effect, yet this effect was minimized by starting the mapping procedure

when a regular rhythm was confirmed. The cut-off for premature excitation is arbitrary, but nevertheless a higher prematurity seemed to have little effect on conduction. This effect might also not be observed due to the limited number of 'very' premature AES.

CONCLUSION

High-resolution epicardial mapping during open chest cardiac surgery showed that particularly prematurely aberrant AES provoked arrhythmogenic conduction disorders. The arrhythmogenic effect was mainly caused by aberrant conduction rather than premature excitation. AES emerging as EB had the highest impact on conduction disorders. Conduction disorders provoked by prematurely aberrant AES are more pronounced in patients with known risk factors associated with AF such as diabetes mellitus and LA dilatation. These findings emphasize the importance of suppressing AES in order to prevent development of AF.

REFERENCES

- Conen D, Adam M, Roche F, Barthelemy JC, Felber Dietrich D, Imboden M, Kunzli N, von Eckardstein A, Regenass S, Hornemann T, Rochat T, Gaspoz JM, Probst-Hensch N and Carballo D. Premature atrial contractions in the general population: frequency and risk factors. *Circulation*. 2012;126:2302-8.
- 2. Folarin VA, Fitzsimmons PJ and Kruyer WB. Holter monitor findings in asymptomatic male military aviators without structural heart disease. *Aviat Space Environ Med*. 2001;72:836-8.
- 3. Killip T and Gault JH. Mode of Onset of Atrial Fibrillation in Man. Am Heart J. 1965;70:172-9.
- 4. Bennett MA and Pentecost BL. The pattern of onset and spontaneous cessation of atrial fibrillation in man. *Circulation*. 1970;41:981-8.
- Haissaguerre M, Jais P, Shah DC, Takahashi A, Hocini M, Quiniou G, Garrigue S, Le Mouroux A, Le Metayer P and Clementy J. Spontaneous initiation of atrial fibrillation by ectopic beats originating in the pulmonary veins. *N Engl J Med.* 1998;339:659-66.
- 6. Oral H, Knight BP, Tada H, Ozaydin M, Chugh A, Hassan S, Scharf C, Lai SW, Greenstein R, Pelosi F, Jr., Strickberger SA and Morady F. Pulmonary vein isolation for paroxysmal and persistent atrial fibrillation. *Circulation*. 2002;105:1077-81.
- 7. Calkins H, Reynolds MR, Spector P, Sondhi M, Xu Y, Martin A, Williams CJ and Sledge I. Treatment of atrial fibrillation with antiarrhythmic drugs or radiofrequency ablation: two systematic literature reviews and meta-analyses. *Circ Arrhythm Electrophysiol*. 2009;2:349-61.
- 8. Duytschaever M, Danse P, Eysbouts S and Allessie M. Is there an optimal pacing site to prevent atrial fibrillation?: an experimental study in the chronically instrumented goat. *J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol.* 2002;13:1264-71.
- 9. Kumagai K, Ogawa M, Noguchi H, Yasuda T, Nakashima H and Saku K. Electrophysiologic properties of pulmonary veins assessed using a multielectrode basket catheter. *J Am Coll Cardiol*. 2004;43:2281-9.
- 10. Lanters EA, van Marion DM, Steen H, de Groot NM and Brundel BJ. The future of atrial fibrillation therapy: intervention on heat shock proteins influencing electropathology is the next in line. *Neth Heart J.* 2015;23:327-33.
- 11. Yaksh A, Kik C, Knops P, Roos-Hesselink JW, Bogers AJ, Zijlstra F, Allessie M and de Groot NM. Atrial fibrillation: to map or not to map? *Neth Heart J*. 2014;22:259-66.
- 12. de Groot NM, Houben RP, Smeets JL, Boersma E, Schotten U, Schalij MJ, Crijns H and Allessie MA. Electropathological substrate of longstanding persistent atrial fibrillation in patients with structural heart disease: epicardial breakthrough. *Circulation*. 2010;122:1674-82.
- 13. Mouws E, Lanters EAH, Teuwen CP, van der Does L, Kik C, Knops P, Bekkers JA, Bogers A and de Groot NMS. Epicardial Breakthrough Waves During Sinus Rhythm: Depiction of the Arrhythmogenic Substrate? *Circ Arrhythm Electrophysiol*. 2017;10.
- Teuwen CP, Yaksh A, Lanters EA, Kik C, van der Does LJ, Knops P, Taverne YJ, van de Woestijne PC, Oei FB, Bekkers JA, Bogers AJ, Allessie MA and de Groot NM. Relevance of Conduction Disorders in Bachmann's Bundle During Sinus Rhythm in Humans. *Circ Arrhythm Electrophysiol*. 2016;9:e003972.

297

- 15. Kleinbaum DG and Klein M. Logistic Regression. A Self-Learning Text *Logistic Regression for Correlated Data: GEE.* 3rd ed.: New York: Springer; 2010: 489-538.
- 16. Allessie MA, Bonke FI and Schopman FJ. Circus movement in rabbit atrial muscle as a mechanism of tachycardia. II. The role of nonuniform recovery of excitability in the occurrence of unidirectional block, as studied with multiple microelectrodes. *Circ Res.* 1976;39:168-77.
- 17. Anyukhovsky EP, Sosunov EA, Chandra P, Rosen TS, Boyden PA, Danilo P, Jr. and Rosen MR. Ageassociated changes in electrophysiologic remodeling: a potential contributor to initiation of atrial fibrillation. *Cardiovasc Res.* 2005;66:353-63.
- 18. Spach MS, Heidlage JF, Dolber PC and Barr RC. Mechanism of origin of conduction disturbances in aging human atrial bundles: experimental and model study. *Heart Rhythm.* 2007;4:175-85.
- 19. Luck JC and Engel TR. Dispersion of atrial refractoriness in patients with sinus node dysfunction. *Circulation*. 1979;60:404-12.
- 20. Spach MS, Dolber PC and Heidlage JF. Influence of the passive anisotropic properties on directional differences in propagation following modification of the sodium conductance in human atrial muscle. A model of reentry based on anisotropic discontinuous propagation. *Circ Res.* 1988;62:811-32.
- 21. Spach MS, Dolber PC and Heidlage JF. Interaction of inhomogeneities of repolarization with anisotropic propagation in dog atria. A mechanism for both preventing and initiating reentry. *Circ Res.* 1989;65:1612-31.
- 22. Watanabe M, Yokoshiki H, Mitsuyama H, Mizukami K, Ono T and Tsutsui H. Conduction and refractory disorders in the diabetic atrium. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol*. 2012;303:H86-95.
- 23. Chen YJ, Tai CT, Chiou CW, Wen ZC, Chan P, Lee SH and Chen SA. Inducibility of atrial fibrillation during atrioventricular pacing with varying intervals: role of atrial electrophysiology and the autonomic nervous system. *J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol*. 1999;10:1578-85.
- 24. Tse HF, Pelosi F, Oral H, Knight BP, Strickberger SA and Morady F. Effects of simultaneous atrioventricular pacing on atrial refractoriness and atrial fibrillation inducibility: role of atrial mechanoelectrical feedback. *J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol*. 2001;12:43-50.
- de Groot N, van der Does L, Yaksh A, Lanters E, Teuwen C, Knops P, van de Woestijne P, Bekkers J, Kik C, Bogers A and Allessie M. Direct Proof of Endo-Epicardial Asynchrony of the Atrial Wall During Atrial Fibrillation in Humans. *Circ Arrhythm Electrophysiol*. 2016;9.

SUPPLEMENTAL MATERIAL CHAPTER 14

	Variables affecting conduction during Sinus Rhythm (OR 95% CI) ‡				
CD+CB:>5.0	univariate	univariate p-value mult		tivariate p-value	
Age (≥76 years)	0.84 (0.44 – 1.6)	0.61	0.83 (0.42 – 1.6)	0.58	
Male gender	1.4 (0.69 – 2.7)	0.38	1.2 (0.57 – 2.5)	0.62	
Hypertension	1.2 (0.67 – 2.1)	0.57			
Diabetes	1.5 (0.83 – 2.7)	0.18	1.3 (0.60 – 2.7)	0.53	
Hypercholesterolemia	1.2 (0.68 – 2.1)	0.54			
LA dilatation	1.8 (0.96 – 3.4)	0.07	2.1 (1.1 – 4.2)	0.03	
History of AF	1.5 (0.79 – 3.0)	0.21	2.6 (1.1 – 6.4)	0.03	
Postoperative AF	0.80 (0.45 - 1.4)	0.44			
Operation indication					
CABG	1.8 (0.81 – 3.9)	0.15	2.7 (0.87 – 8.1)	0.09	
Aortic valve	1.7 (0.73 – 3.9)	0.22	0.22 2.4 (0.78 – 7.6)		
Mitral valve*					
Atrial site					
Right atrium	2.6 (0.85 - 8.1)	0.10 3.3 (1.1 – 9.2)		0.03	
Bachmann's bundle	3.6 (1.1 – 11.4)	0.03	4.4 (1.4 – 13.6)	0.01	
Pulmonary veins†					
Left atrium	1.2 (0.32 – 4.4)	0.80	1.2 (0.36 – 4.1)	0.76	

Supplement 1. Patient characteristics and mapping sites during sinus rhythm

AF=atrial fibrillation; CABG=coronary artery bypass grafting; CB=conduction block; CD=conduction delay; LA=left atrium.

* control group compared to CABG and aortic valve surgery

† control group compared to right atrium, Bachmann's bundle and left atrium

‡ Binary logistic regression

	Variables affecting	Variables affecting conduction during Premature AES (OR 95% CI) ‡			
ΔCD+CB: ≥3.4	univariate	p-value	multivariate	p-value	
Age (≥74.3 years)	1.9 (0.49 – 7.2)	0.36			
Male gender	0.50 (0.13 – 1.9)	0.31			
Hypertension	1.1 (0.30 – 4.1)	0.87			
Diabetes	3.2 (0.83 – 12.0)	0.09	5.2 (1.2 – 22.7)	0.03	
Hypercholesterolemia	0.93 (0.22 – 3.9)	0.93			
LA dilatation	1.1 (0.22 – 5.3)	0.93			
History of AF	2.2 (0.54 – 9.1)	0.27			
Postoperative AF	0.69 (0.19 – 2.6)	0.58			
Prematurity (<50%)	1.1 (0.24 – 4.9)	0.93			
Operation					
CABG*					
Aortic valve	2.0 (0.37 – 10.6)	0.43			
Mitral valve	1.0 (0.17 – 6.5)	0.97			
Atrial site					
Right atrium	4.2 (0.45 – 39.3)	0.21			
Bachmann's bundle	3.0 (0.15 - 60.4)	0.47			
Pulmonary veins	18.0 (1.2 – 274)	0.04	10.9 (1.3 – 86.1)	0.02	
Left atrium†					

Supplement 2. Patient characteristics and mapping sites during premature extrasystoles

AF=atrial fibrillation; CABG=coronary artery bypass grafting; CB=conduction block; CD=conduction delay; LA=Left atrium.

* control group compared to mitral valve and aortic valve surgery

t control group compared to right atrium, Bachmann's bundle and pulmonary vein area

‡ Generalized Estimated Equations

	Variable affecting conduction during Aberrant AES (OR 95% CI) \S					
ΔCD+CB: ≥5.2	univariate	p-value	multivariate	p-value		
Age (≥74.7 years)	0.94 (0.35 – 2.5)	0.89				
Male gender	0.67 (0.26 – 1.7)	0.41				
Hypertension	0.50 (0.20 – 1.3)	0.14				
Diabetes	1.8 (0.70 – 4.7)	0.23	1.7 (0.58 – 5.0)	0.33		
Hypercholesterolemia	0.88 (0.32 – 2.4)	0.80				
LA dilatation	1.6 (0.63 – 4.0)	0.33				
History of AF	0.73 (0.23 – 2.4)	0.60				
Postoperative AF	1.8 (0.74 – 4.5)	0.19				
Operation						
CABG	1.2 (0.47 – 3.2)	0.69				
Aortic valve	1.2 (0.37 – 3.7)	0.79				
Mitral valve*						
Atrial site						
Right atrium	1.3 (0.37 – 4.8)	0.66				
BB	1.3 (0.39 – 4.3)	0.68				
Pulmonary veins	3.0 (0.64 – 14.1)	0.16	0.16 5.3 (1.3 – 21.0)			
Left atrium†						
Aberrancy						
Mild‡						
Moderate	0.51 (0.09 – 2.9)	0.45	0.85 (0.13 – 5.4)	0.86		
Severe	0.84 (0.13 – 5.5)	0.86	1.4 (0.25 – 8.0)	0.70		
EB	13.7 (2.2 – 83.1)	0.005	26.2 (4.9 – 140)	< 0.001		
Complex	1.4 (0.27 – 7.3)	0.69	3.2 (0.65 – 15.3)	0.15		

C I I 1	D 12 1 1	· · ·	• •.		
Supplement 3	Patient charact	eristics and m	anning sites	: during aperra	nt extrasystoles
Supplement	i i uticiti cituruci	cristics and m	apping sites	a anning aberra	in charasystores

AF=atrial fibrillation; BB=Bachmann's bundle CABG=coronary artery bypass grafting; CB=conduction block; CD=conduction delay; Complex=complex pattern of activation; EB=epicardial breakthrough; LA=left atrium.

* control group compared to mitral valve and aortic valve surgery

† control group compared to right atrium, Bachmann's bundle and pulmonary vein area

‡ control group compared to moderate, severe, complex aberrancy and epicardial breakthrough

§ Generalized Estimated Equations



15

IMPACT OF THE ARRHYTHMOGENIC POTENTIAL OF LONG LINES OF CONDUCTION SLOWING AT THE PULMONARY VEIN AREA

Elisabeth M.J.P. Mouws

Lisette J.M.E. van der Does Charles Kik Eva A.H. Lanters Christophe P. Teuwen Paul Knops Ad J.J.C. Bogers Natasja M.S. de Groot

SUBMITTED

ABSTRACT

Background: The presence of areas of conduction delay (CD) or block (CB), is associated with higher recurrence rates after ablative therapy for atrial fibrillation (AF). Thus far, there are no reports on quantification of the extensiveness of CD and CB at the pulmonary vein area (PVA) and their clinical relevance.

Methods: Intra-operative high-density epicardial mapping of PVA (N≈450 sites, interelectrode distances: 2 mm) was performed during sinus rhythm (SR) in 268 patients (196 male (73%), 67±11 (21-84) years) with and without preoperative AF. For each patient, extensiveness of CD (17-29 cm/s) and CB (<17 cm/s) was assessed and related to the presence and type of AF.

Results: CD and CB occurred in respectively 242 (90%) and 183 patients (68%). AF patients showed a higher incidence of continuous CDCB lines (AF: N=37, 76%; No AF: N=132, 60%; p=0.046), a two-fold number of lines per patients (CD: 7 (0-30) vs 4 (0-22), p<0.001; CB: 3 (0-11) vs 1 (0-12), p=0.003; CDCB: 2 (0-6) vs 1 (0-8), p=0.004) and a higher incidence of CD or CB lines \geq 6 mm and CDCB lines \geq 16 mm (p=0.011, p=0.025, p=0.027 respectively).

Within groups of AF types, a large inter-individual variation in extensiveness of CD and CB was present. Extensiveness of CD, CB, CDCB could not distinguish between the different AF types.

Conclusions: AF patients more often present with continuous lines of adjacent areas of CD and CB, whereas in patients without AF, lines of CD and CB are shorter and more often separated by areas with normal intra-atrial conduction. Between patients with a history of paroxysmal and persistent AF, however, a considerable overlap in the amount of conduction abnormalities at the PVA was observed.

INTRODUCTION

The pulmonary vein area (PVA) has been of particular interest in the pathophysiology of atrial fibrillation (AF) ever since Haissaguere et al. demonstrated bursts of rapid ectopic beats as triggers for spontaneous AF.¹ Since then, treatment strategies for AF mainly focus on isolation of the pulmonary vein area by endocardial and/or epicardial ablation. Yet, recurrence rates are considerable for both patients with paroxysmal and persistent AF and are likely the result of either reconduction or transition of AF from a trigger driven to a more substrate driven disease.²

To date, AF recurrences after ablation procedures remain difficult to predict. Yet, fibrosis at the left atrial posterior wall, resulting in conduction delay or block, appears to be associated with higher recurrence rates.^{3,4} It has been suggested that assessment of electropathology - including low voltages, fractionation and conduction abnormalities - during SR at the PVA may facilitate identification of target sites for ablation or can be used to predict AF recurrences after ablative therapy.⁵⁻⁹

In several mapping studies, a line of conduction block (CB) running vertically between the right and left pulmonary veins during SR was identified.^{10–12} This CB line varied between patients in its continuity and could in some patients be altered by pacing, indicating that it was partly functional in nature. ^{10–12} Furthermore, this line was more frequently observed in patients with AF or mitral valve regurgitation.^{11,12} Based on histological findings in postmortem hearts, the authors suggested that abnormal conduction was the result of a change in myocardial fiber direction.¹⁰ Aside from this line of CB, other areas of conduction disorders were observed in only a minority of patients.^{10–12} However, the degree and extent of conduction abnormalities during SR at the PVA have never been quantified and correlated with the different types of AF as defined by the ESC guidelines.¹³

The goal of the present intra-operative high-resolution epicardial mapping study was therefore to detect and quantify conduction abnormalities at the PVA in a large cohort of patients during sinus rhythm (SR) and to investigate the association with AF persistence.

METHODS

Study population

The study population consisted of 268 successive adult patients undergoing elective open heart surgery in the Erasmus Medical Center Rotterdam. Patients underwent either coronary artery bypass grafting, aortic or mitral valve surgery, or a combination of valvular and bypass grafting surgery. Correspondingly, patients were categorized as having ischemic heart disease (IHD) or (ischemic and) valvular heart disease ((i)VHD). This study was approved by the institutional medical ethical committee (MEC2010-054/MEC2014-393).^{14,15} Written informed consent was obtained from all patients and clinical data was extracted from electronic patient files.

Mapping procedure

Epicardial high-resolution mapping was performed prior to commencement to extracorporal circulation, as previously described in detail.^{16,17} A temporary bipolar epicardial pacemaker wire was stitched to the RA terminal crest, serving as a temporal reference electrode. The indifferent electrode consisted of a steel wire fixed to subcutaneous tissue in the sternotomy incision, as shown in the upper panel of Figure 1. Epicardial mapping was performed during SR using a 128- or a 192-electrode array (electrode diameter respectively 0.65mm or 0.45mm, interelectrode distances 2 mm; Figure 1). In case patients were in AF, they underwent SR mapping after undergoing intra-operative electrocardioversion.

The PVA, consisting of the LA posterior and inferior wall, was mapped sequentially from the sinus transversus along the borders of the right and left pulmonary veins (PVR and PVL) down towards the atrioventricular groove, as illustrated in the lower left panel of Figure 1. Five seconds of SR were recorded at all mapping sites, including a surface ECG lead, a calibration signal of 2mV and 1000ms, a bipolar reference electrogram, and all unipolar epicardial electrograms. Recordings were sampled with a rate of 1kHZ, amplified(gain 1000), filtered (bandwidth 0.5-400 Hz), analogue-to-digital converted(16-bits) and stored on a hard disk.¹⁸

Activation mapping of the pulmonary vein area

Local activation maps of PVR and PVL during SR were constructed by annotating the steepest negative slope of atrial potentials recorded at every electrode. Atrial extrasystolic beats and/or aberrant beats were excluded from analysis, as well as activation maps with areas of simultaneous activation, which was defined as areas in which conduction velocity exceeds 200cm/s.

To be consistent with a large number of prior published mapping studies, lines of CD and CB were defined as time differences (Δ t) of respectively 7-11ms and \geq 12ms between adjacent electrodes, corresponding with effective conduction velocities of 17 to <29cm/s for CD and <17cm/s for CB respectively.¹⁹⁻²²

A typical example of color-coded local activation maps recorded at the PVA of one patient with IHD is shown in the lower right panel of Figure 1. Corresponding lines of CD and CB are shown next to the activation maps, in which thick blue lines represent lines of CD and thick red lines represent lines of CB. CD, CB and continuous CDCB lines are categorized in classes per 2mm, ranging from 2mm till \geq 26mm. Additionally, in patients with lines of CD, CB and CDCB, length of the longest line was measured in order to analyze differences in prevalences between patient groups. As illustrated in the activation maps displayed in Figure 1, the PVA of this patient contains four 2mm CD lines, one 4mm CD line and one 6mm CD line, one 2mm CB line and one 10mm continuous CDCB line.







Upper panels: mapping of the pulmonary vein area with a 192-electrode array and corresponding electrogram recorded during 5 seconds of SR. Lower panels: schematic view of the pulmonary vein area (PVA) (left) and activation maps and conduction delay/block map (right, CD: blue lines, CB: red lines).

A: atrial, V: ventricular, LAA: left atrial appendage, SCV: superior caval vein, ICV: inferior caval vein, PVL: pulmonary veins left, PVR: pulmonary veins right, LS: left superior, LI: left inferior, RS: right superior, RI: right inferior, CD: conduction delay, CB: conduction block

Statistical analysis

Normally distributed data are described by mean±SD(minimum-maximum) and analyzed with a student's T-test or a one-way ANOVA. Skewed data are described by median(minimum; interquartile range; maximum) and analyzed with Kruskal-Wallis test or a Mann-Whitney U test. Categorical data are expressed as numbers and percentages and analysed with χ^2 or Fisher exact test when appropriate. To identify differences in incidences of longer CD and CB lengths between patient groups, ROC-curves were constructed and cut-off values were based on a sensitivity value >50% and a 1-specificity value <50%. Cut-off points for length of lines as indicated by ROC-curves were \geq 6mm for both lines of CD and CB and \geq 16mm for continuous lines of CDCB. Multivariate regression analysis was performed to identify independent predictors for CD and CB. A p-value <0.05 was considered statistically significant.

RESULTS

Study population

Characteristics of the study population (N=268, 196 male (73%), 67±11(21-84) years) are summarized in Table 1. Patients had either IHD (N=157, 59%) or (i)VHD (N=111, 41%; only valvular disease: N=63 (24%)), consisting of aortic stenosis (N=69, 26%) or mitral insufficiency (N=36, 13%) for the majority of patients. LA dilation was present in 58 patients (22%) and 49 patients (18%) had a history of AF, including paroxysmal (N=38, 14%) and persistent (N=11, 4%) AF. The majority of patients had a normal left ventricular function (N=203, 76%). Class II antiarrhythmic drugs (AAD) were used by 183 patients (68%) and class III AAD by 12 patients (5%).

Incidence of conduction delay and conduction block

The majority of patients showed lines of CD (N=242, 90%) and CB (N=183, 68%) at the PVA during SR. The number of lines of CD was significantly higher than CB (respectively median of 4(0-30) versus 1(0-12); p<0.001) though the maximum length of CB lines were longer (CD: 6(2;4-10;20); CB: 8(2;4-12;44); p<0.001), as shown in Figure 2. A clear turning point was observed at a length of \geq 8mm, from which point on, the incidence of CB lines exceeded the incidence of CD lines. Moreover, lines of CD \geq 22mm did not occur at all, whereas lines of CB reached even a maximum of 44mm. Most patients also had continuous lines of CDCB (N=169, 63%, median no. 1(0-6)); the maximum length of CDCB lines was 14(4-72)mm; CDCB lines \geq 26mm occurred in only 12% of the population (N=32).

Number of patients	268
Age	67±11(21–84)
Male	196(73)
Underlying heart disease	N(%)
IHD	157(59)
(i)VHD	111(41)
Aortic valve stenosis	69(26)
Aortic valve insufficiency	6(2)
Mitral valve insufficiency	36(13)
Left Atrial Dilation >45mm	58(22)
History of AF	49(18)
Paroxysmal	38(14)
Persistent	11(4)
Left ventricular function	
Normal	203(76)
Mild dysfunction	52(19)
Moderate dysfunction	11(4)
Severe dysfunction	2(1)
Antiarrhythmic drugs	197(74)
Class I	2(1)
Class II	183(68)
Class III	12(5)
Class IV	3(1)

Table 1. Patient characteristics

*BSA: body surface area; IHD: ischemic heart disease; VHD: valvular heart disease; I/VHD: ischemic and valvular heart disease.

A longitudinal line of CD or CB running vertically between the left and right pulmonary veins from superior to inferior was observed in 14 patients (5%), though this line varied in its continuity and length. Typical examples of activation maps and corresponding isochrones and CD/CB maps of these patients are shown in Figure 3. The incidence of this line was similar between patients without and with AF (p=0.295), as well as between IHD and (i) VHD patients (p=0.503). However, patients without LA dilation showed a higher incidence of this line of CDCB compared to patients without LA dilation (N=6 (10%) versus N=8 (4%) respectively, p=0.048). As displayed in Table 2, multivariate regression analysis revealed only the presence of AF episodes as an independent predictor for long lines of CD and CB at the PVA. Clinical characteristics, including IHD, (i)VHD, LA dilation, gender, older age and LV dysfunction were no independent predictors of CD or CB lines.



Figure 2. Characteristics of conduction delay and block

Activation maps showing the typical difference between lines of conduction delay (blue lines) and lines of conduction block (red lines): lines of conduction block occur less frequently, yet extent over longer lengths. A turning point was observed at a length of 8mm, as displayed in the lower panel.

CD: conduction delay, CB: conduction block. Color-classes per 10ms.



Figure 3. Longitudinal line of CD/CB between the right and left pulmonary veins

Typical examples of activation maps with a line of CD (blue lines), CB (red lines) or CDCB running downwards between the right and left pulmonary veins, varying in its continuity. Corresponding isochrone maps and CD/CB maps are shown next to the activation maps. Arrows indicate the main wave trajectory; local activation times are provided next to the arrows. Lightning bolts indicate areas of simultaneous activation. Color-classes per 10ms.

		CD			CB	
Univariate Analysis	OR	95%Cl	р	OR	95%Cl	р
Age (per year)	1.026	0.999-1.053	0.060	1.005	0.982-1.028	0.700
Male gender	0.602	0.339-1.067	0.082	0.961	0.547-1.688	0.891
(i)VHD	1.183	0.696-2.011	0.535	0.797	0.478-1.330	0.386
IHD	0.846	0.497-1.437	0.535	1.254	0.752-2.093	0.386
LA dilation	1.347	0.725-2.503	0.346	0.702	0.373-1.319	0.271
LVF (compared to normal function)						
mild dysfunction	1.390	0.726-2.659	0.320	1.162	0.620-2.179	0.640
moderate dysfunction	1.500	0.423-5.322	0.530	0.697	0.179-2.711	0.603
severe dysfunction	2.625	0.161-42.69	0.498	1.859	0.115-30.17	0.663
AF history	2.082	1.097-3.950	0.025	1.630	0.869-3.057	0.128
Multivariate Analysis	·					
Age (per year)	1.020	0.993-1.048	0.139			
Male gender						
(i)VHD						
IHD				1.370	0.792-2.370	0.260
LA dilation				0.670	0.347-1.292	0.232
LVF (compared to normal function)						
mild dysfunction						
moderate dysfunction						
severe dysfunction						
AF history	1.872	0.971-3.609	0.061	1.967	1.005-3.851	0.048
Hosmer and Lemeshow	0.808			0.778		

Table 2. Analysis of risk factors for CD and CB maximum length in the upper 50th percentile

Association between atrial fibrillation and heterogeneity in conduction

The upper panel of Figure 4 displays typical examples of activation maps and corresponding CD or CB maps obtained from a patient without AF and a patient with AF. Patients with AF more often have continuous lines of CDCB compared to patients without AF, as demonstrated in the middle left panel (AF: N=37, 76%; No AF: N=132, 60%; p=0.046). The number of lines of CD, CB and CDCB in patients with AF was approximately two-fold the number observed in patients without AF (CD: 7(0-30) vs 4(0-22), p<0.001; CB: 3(0-11) vs 1(0-12), p=0.003; CDCB: 2(0-6) vs 1(0-8), p=0.004 respectively). As demonstrated in the lower

left panel of Figure 4, the incidence of both CD and CB lines \geq 6mm was higher in patients with AF compared to patients without AF (CD: 69% (N=34) vs. 49% (N=108) p=0.011; CB: 59%(N=29) vs. 42%(N=91), p=0.025 respectively). Maximum lengths of continuous CDCB lines in patients with AF ranged from 8 to 72mm, whereas in patients without AF these lengths ranged from 4 to 42mm; CDCB lines \geq 16mm occurred more often in patients with AF (N=20(41%) versus N=50(25%), p=0.027).Hence, the presence of AF episodes was strongly associated with increased heterogeneity in conduction, marked not only by a higher incidence of CB and CDCB, but also by a higher number of lines of CD, CB and CDCB and more importantly longer lines of CD, CB and CDCB.

Thus, AF patients more often present with continuous lines of adjacent areas of CD and CB, whereas in patients without AF, lines of CD and CB are more often separated by areas with normal intra-atrial conduction.

Severity of conduction abnormalities versus clinical atrial fibrillation classification

Figure 5 provides typical examples of PVA activation combined with corresponding CD and CB maps obtained from 2 patients with paroxysmal AF and 2 patients with persistent AF; the amount of conduction abnormalities in the one patient with paroxysmal AF is even higher than in the patient with persistent AF.

The lower panel of Figure 5 shows that there is a large inter-individual variation in the amount of conduction abnormalities in both the paroxysmal and persistent AF group. There is also no difference between patients with paroxysmal AF and persistent AF in the number of CD, CB, CDCB lines (p=0.442, p=0.535 and p=0.951). Also, the incidence of CD, CB and CDCB was similar (p=0.204, p=0.835 and p=0.708); nor could ROC-curve analyses identify a cut-off value for the length of lines distinguishing patients with persistent AF from paroxysmal AF. Duration of the history of AF was similar for patients with paroxysmal and persistent AF (p=0.429).

Hence, although this is only a small group of patients, the overlap in severity of conduction abnormalities suggests that the severity of conduction abnormalities at the PVA does not seem to clearly discriminate patients with paroxysmal AF from patients with persistent AF.





Upper panels: typical examples of activation maps of a patient without AF and a patient with AF. Patients with AF show more electropathology at the PVA, as displayed in the middle and lower panels. AF patients particularly show a higher incidence of CB and continuous CDCB, a higher number of CD, CB and CDCB lines per patients and also longer lengths of CD (blue lines), CB (red lines) and CDCB lines.

AF: atrial fibrillation, CD: conduction delay, CB: conduction block, CDCB: continuous conduction delay and block. Color-classes per 10ms.



Figure 5. Overlap in electropathology between paroxysmal and persistent AF

The upper left panel shows activation maps of an IHD and VHD patient with paroxysmal AF both diagnosed 3 months prior to surgery. Corresponding CD/CB maps (CD: blue lines, CB: red lines) show a relatively small amount of CD/CB in the first patient, whereas the second patient has a large amount of CD/CB.

The upper right panel shows activation maps of patients with persistent AF. Both patients underwent mitral valve surgery and were diagnosed with persistent AF respectively 3 and 6 months prior to surgery; both patients underwent electrocardioversion to SR prior to mapping. In this case also the one patient has a relatively small amount of electropathology, whereas the other patient has a large amount of CD/CB. Hence, a considerable overlap in the amount of conduction disorders is observed between paroxysmal and persistent AF, which is also quantified in the lower panel showing the number of lines per patient and the distribution of lengths of these lines.

AF: atrial fibrillation, CD: conduction delay, CB: conduction block, CDCB: continuous conduction delay and block. Color-classes per 10ms.

DISCUSSION

Key findings

Intra-operative high-resolution epicardial mapping of the PVA during SR demonstrated that patients with AF have more and longer lines of CD, CB and continuous CDCB whereas in patients without AF, short lines (<6 mm) of CD and CB separately are more diffusely present. Furthermore, the severity of conduction abnormalities at the PVA during SR does not discriminate between patients with paroxysmal and persistent AF.

Conduction abnormalities at the pulmonary vein area

To our best knowledge, only 3 previous studies have investigated conduction abnormalities at the posterior wall of the LA in humans during SR. In an endocardial noncontact mapping study by Markides et al., conduction at the LA was analyzed during SR in 19 patients with a history of paroxysmal AF.¹⁰ They observed a vertical line of conduction block, defined in their study as a time interval of 30ms between adjacent electrodes, extending from the LA roof, descending vertically across the posterior LA wall between the left and right PVs, after which it turned septally by passing below the ostium of the RIPV.¹⁰ From here it proceeded anteriorly to cross the interatrial septum just below the oval fossa and completed its course by merging with the septal part of the mitral annulus.¹⁰ This line of conduction block was present in all patients, though varied in its continuity, particularly during pacing from different sites.¹⁰ In a minority of patients, the line of conduction block disappeared completely during pacing.¹⁰ Based on histological findings in postmortem hearts they suggested that the line of CB was caused by an abrupt change in myocardial fiber orientation at the subendocardium.¹⁰

Roberts-Thomson et al. performed epicardial mapping during SR in 34 patients without a history of AF.¹¹ They observed a similar line of functional conduction delay, defined as a conduction velocity between 10-20cm/s, running vertically between the pulmonary veins, though it only occurred in a minority of 5 patients.¹¹ In contrast to the findings of Markides et al, during pacing from superior and inferior positions at the PVA the line of CD now appeared in all patients.¹¹

In a subsequent study, epicardial mapping during SR was performed in 16 patients without a history of AF and in 5 patients with persistent AF who were electrocardioverted.¹² In 2 patients without AF, a similar vertical line of conduction delay was observed, whereas this was observed in 4 AF patients.¹² However, when pacing from different sites, the line of

conduction delay again appeared in all patients without AF and the number of CD lines increased in patients with AF to a maximum of 3 vertical lines running parallel to each other between the right and left PVs.¹²

Though the findings of Markides et al. and Roberts-Thomson et al. appear to contradict each other, it may be concluded that this line of CD was more evident in AF patients and was, at least in part, functional, as it varied during different pacing conditions. Moreover, besides the vertical line of abnormal conduction, no other lines of CD or CB were observed in these studies during SR or during pacing.

In contrast to these previous studies, we observed conduction abnormalities scattered across the PVA with no clear predilection site. Lines of CD occurred in almost all patients and CB in approximately seventy percent of the population. The fact that the aforementioned studies did not observe any other lines of CD or CB at the PVA is remarkable, especially since study populations consisted of IHD patients, AF patients and patients with LA dilation due to mitral regurgitation. In all these patients, areas of fibrosis would be expected, particularly at the LA posterior wall. Our CB criteria correspond with a conduction velocity <17cm/s, which is in the range of the CD criteria of Roberts-Thomson et al. Therefore, although our cut-off criteria are slightly more sensitive, the higher incidence of CD/CB cannot be totally explained by differences in cut-off values. A possible explanation for this discrepancy, however, could be the higher resolution of the mapping system used in current study enabling identification of lines of CD and CB with a minimum length of 2mm. Furthermore, we did not set a minimum length criterion for lines of CD and CB.

In our cohort, only a minority of patients showed a longitudinal line running downwards between the left and right pulmonary veins, which might be similar to the line observed in previous studies. However, this line varied in length and continuity and practically never consisted of a line of CB running continuously from the superior to the inferior of the posterior wall. The precise nature of this line, so far, remains unclear. If, as suggested by previous studies, a histological change in fiber direction would be the underlying cause, we would expect it to occur in the majority of patients during SR.

Conduction abnormalities and atrial fibrillation

In correspondence to previous studies, increased amounts of CD, CB and CDCB at the PVA were observed in patients with AF. In AF patients, a higher incidence of CB, continuous CDCB and an almost two-fold number of separate CD, CB and CDCB lines per patient was observed. Also, CD, CB and CDCB lines extended over larger areas.

These observations suggest a critical role for the spatial distribution of conduction abnormalities in AF development. A certain length of an area of abnormal conduction is required for reentry to occur; this phenomenon was first demonstrated by Ortiz et al. in 7 canine hearts with sterile pericarditis.²⁴ In this study, the critical role of the length of an area of functional block in the right atrial free wall was observed. In case of stable atrial flutter, a functional CB line of 24mm was observed, enabling reentry to occur.²⁴ When the cycle length decreased, areas of slow conduction disappeared, resulting in a shorter line of functional CB with a mean length of 16mm.²⁴ This resulted in unstable reentrant circuits migrating across the atrial wall, giving rise to AF.²⁴ When the atrial wall already contains continuous long lines of structural CD and CB, it is likely more vulnerable to reentry circuits to occur or for areas of functional block to connect, thereby reaching the critical length for AF initiation.

The future of atrial fibrillation therapy

Despite the fact that conduction abnormalities are more profound in patients with AF, the clinical categories of AF do not correspond with the amount of conduction disorders at the PVA during SR. In a previous study, we demonstrated a considerable intra-atrial variation in the distribution of conduction disorders across the right and left atrium, indicating that a low amount of CB at the PVA does not necessarily implicate a low amount of CB at other atrial regions.²⁵ Hence, either the arrhythmogenic substrate underlying AF is not located at the PVA in these patients or, although CD and CB measured during SR are indicators of structural conduction abnormalities, functional conduction disorders may only be revealed during triggers or AF.

To date, ablative treatment strategies for AF focus primarily on isolation of the pulmonary veins. However, recurrence rates remain unsatisfactory. Recent studies have shown the complex and heterogeneous etiology of fractionated potentials, providing a possible explanation of the low success rate of ablative therapy targeting these complex fractionated potentials.²⁶ Though the study population is relatively small, severity of conduction abnormalities at the PVA could not discriminate between patients with a history of paroxysmal and persistent AF.

Limitations

Whether general anesthesia influences conduction is yet to be investigated; however, a standard anesthetic protocol was used for all patients and SR was confirmed during all mapping procedures. Thus, possible effects of anesthesia would be equally dispersed among the patient population. The number of AF patients was relatively small; thereby, conclusions based on statistical analyses within this group comparing patients with

persistent and paroxysmal AF should be drawn cautiously. However, the amount of conduction abnormalities at the PVA in several patients with paroxysmal AF was clearly higher than in various patients with persistent AF. In addition, although LGE-MRI is a feasible technique to detect cardiac fibrosis, it was logistically and financially not possible to perform LGE-MRI prior to surgery in these patients.

CONCLUSION

Intra-operative high-resolution epicardial mapping of the PVA during SR demonstrated that presence of AF episodes is associated with continuous lines of adjacent areas of CD and CB, whereas in patients without AF, lines of CD and CB are shorter and more often separated by areas with normal intra-atrial conduction. AF patients showed a two-fold number of CD, CB and CDCB lines per patient, which also extended over longer lengths. This study demonstrated a considerable overlap in the amount of conduction abnormalities at the PVA between patients with a history of paroxysmal and persistent AF. Studies quantifying of the extensiveness of electropathology by various parameters, including conduction abnormalities, may contribute to the future development of a more accurate risk estimation of recurrent AF after ablative therapy and will thereby enable more patient tailored care in the future.

REFERENCES

- Haïssaguerre M, Jaïs P, Shah DC, Takahashi A, Hocini M, Quiniou G, Garrigue S, Le Mouroux A, Le Métayer P, Clémenty J. Spontaneous Initiation of Atrial Fibrillation by Ectopic Beats Originating in the Pulmonary Veins. http://dx.doi.org.prxy4.ursus.maine.edu/101056/NEJM199809033391003. 1998;339:659–666.
- 2. Yaksh a, Kik C, Knops P, Roos-Hesselink JW, Bogers a JJC, Zijlstra F, Allessie M, de Groot NMS. Atrial fibrillation: to map or not to map? *Neth Heart J*. 2014;22:259–66.
- 3. Ferrari R, Bertini M, Blomstrom-Lundqvist C, Dobrev D, Kirchhof P, Pappone C, Ravens U, Tamargo J, Tavazzi L, Vicedomini GG. An update on atrial fibrillation in 2014: From pathophysiology to treatment. *Int J Cardiol.* 2016;203:22–29.
- 4. Oakes RS, Badger TJ, Kholmovski EG, Akoum N, Burgon NS, Fish EN, Blauer JJEE, Rao SN, Dibella EVRR, Segerson NM, Daccarett M, Windfelder J, McGann CJ, Parker D, MacLeod RS, Marrouche NF. Detection and quantification of left atrial structural remodeling with delayed-enhancement magnetic resonance imaging in patients with atrial fibrillation. *Circulation*. 2009;119:1758–1767.
- Rolf S, Kircher S, Arya A, Eitel C, Sommer P, Sergio R, Gaspar T, Bollmann A, Altmann D, Piedra C, Hindricks G, Piorkowski C. Tailored atrial substrate modification based on low-voltage areas in catheter ablation of atrial fibrillation. *Circ Arrhythmia Electrophysiol*. 2014;7:825–833.
- 6. Vlachos K, Efremidis M, Letsas KP, Bazoukis G, Martin R, Kalafateli M, Lioni L, Georgopoulos S, Saplaouras A, Efremidis T, Liu T, Valkanas K, Karamichalakis N, Asvestas D, Sideris A. Low-voltage areas detected by high-density electroanatomical mapping predict recurrence after ablation for paroxysmal atrial fibrillation. *J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol.* 2017;28:1393–1402.
- Masuda M, Fujita M, Iida O, Okamoto S, Ishihara T, Nanto K, Kanda T, Tsujimura T, Matsuda Y, Okuno S, Ohashi T, Tsuji A, Mano T. Left atrial low-voltage areas predict atrial fibrillation recurrence after catheter ablation in patients with paroxysmal atrial fibrillation. *Int J Cardiol*. 2018;257:97–101.
- Pachon M JC, Pachon M EI, Pachon M JC, Lobo TJ, Pachon MZ, Vargas RNA, Pachon DQ V, Lopez M FJ, Jatene AD. A new treatment for atrial fibrillation based on spectral analysis to guide the catheter RF-ablation. *Europace*. 2004;6:590–601.
- 9. Roberts-Thomson KC, Kistler PM, Sanders P, Morton JB, Haqqani HM, Stevenson I, Vohra JK, Sparks PB, Kalman JM. Fractionated atrial electrograms during sinus rhythm: Relationship to age, voltage, and conduction velocity. *Heart Rhythm*. 2009;6:587–591.
- 10. Markides V, Schilling R, Ho S, Chow A, Wyn Davies D, Peters N. Characterization of Left Atrial Activation in the Intact Human Heart. *Circulation*. 2003;107:733–739.
- 11. Roberts-Thomson KC, Stevenson IH, Kistler PM, Haqqani HM, Goldblatt JC, Sanders P, Kalman JM. Anatomically Determined Functional Conduction Delay in the Posterior Left Atrium. Relationship to Structural Heart Disease. *J Am Coll Cardiol*. 2008;51:856–862.
- 12. Roberts-Thomson KC, Stevenson I, Kistler PM, Haqqani HM, Spence SJ, Goldblatt JC, Sanders P, Kalman JM. The role of chronic atrial stretch and atrial fibrillation on posterior left atrial wall conduction. *Heart Rhythm*. 2009;6:1109–1117.

- 13. Kirchhof P, Benussi S, Kotecha D, Ahlsson A, Atar D, Casadei B, Castella M, Diener HC, Heidbuchel H, Hendriks J, Hindricks G, Manolis ASA, Oldgren J, Popescu BA, Schotten U, Van Putte B, Vardas P, Agewall S, Camm J, Esquivias GB, Budts W, Carerj S, Casselman F, Coca A, De Caterina R, Deftereos S, Dobrev D, Ferro JM, Filippatos G, Fitzsimons D, Gorenek B, Guenoun M, Hohnloser SH, Kolh P, Lip GYH, Manolis ASA, McMurray J, Ponikowski P, Rosenhek R, Ruschitzka F, Savelieva I, Sharma S, Suwalski P, Tamargo JL, Taylor CJ, Van Gelder IC, Voors AA, Windecker S, Zamorano JL, Zeppenfeld K. 2016 ESC Guidelines for the management of atrial fibrillation developed in collaboration with EACTS. *Eur Heart J.* 2016;37:2893–2962.
- van der Does LJME, Yaksh A, Kik C, Knops P, Lanters EAH, Teuwen CP, Oei FBS, van de Woestijne PC, Bekkers JA, Bogers AJJC, Allessie MA, de Groot NMS. QUest for the Arrhythmogenic Substrate of Atrial fibRillation in Patients Undergoing Cardiac Surgery (QUASAR Study): Rationale and Design. J Cardiovasc Transl Res. 2016;9:194–201.
- 15. Lanters EAH, van Marion DMS, Kik C, Steen H, Bogers AJJC, Allessie MA, Brundel BJJM, de Groot NMS. HALT & REVERSE: Hsf1 activators lower cardiomyocyt damage; towards a novel approach to REVERSE atrial fibrillation. *J Transl Med.* 2015;13:347.
- Mouws EMJP, Lanters EAH, Teuwen CP, van der Does LJME, Kik C, Knops P, Bekkers JA, Bogers AJJC, de Groot NMS. Epicardial Breakthrough Waves During Sinus Rhythm. *Circ Arrhythmia Electrophysiol*. 2017;10:e005145.
- Mouws EMJP, Lanters EAH, Teuwen CP, van der Does LJME, Kik C, Knops P, Yaksh A, Bekkers JA, Bogers AJJC, de Groot NMS. Impact of Ischemic and Valvular Heart Disease on Atrial Excitation:A High-Resolution Epicardial Mapping Study. J Am Heart Assoc. 2018;7:e008331.
- Yaksh A, van der Does LJ, Kik C, Knops P, Oei FB, van de Woestijne PC, Bekkers JA, Bogers AJ, Allessie MA, de Groot NM. A novel intra-operative, high-resolution atrial mapping approach. J Interv Card Electrophysiol. 2015;44:221–225.
- de Groot N, van der Does L, Yaksh A, Lanters E, Teuwen C, Knops P, van de Woestijne P, Bekkers J, Kik C, Bogers A, Allessie M. Direct Proof of Endo-Epicardial Asynchrony of the Atrial Wall During Atrial Fibrillation in Humans. *Circ Arrhythmia Electrophysiol*. 2016;9:e003648.
- de Groot N, Houben R, Smeets J, Boersma E, Schotten U, Schalij M, Crijns H, Allessie M. Electropathological Substrate of Longstanding Persistent Atrial Fibrillation in Patients With Structural Heart Disease: Epicardial Breakthrough. *Circulation*. 2010;122:1674–1683.
- 21. Allessie MA, De Groot NMS, Houben RPM, Schotten U, Boersma E, Smeets JL, Crijns HJ. Electropathological substrate of long-standing persistent atrial fibrillation in patients with structural heart disease: longitudinal dissociation. *Circ Arrhythm Electrophysiol.* 2010;3:606–15.
- 22. Spach MS, Dolber PC, Heidlage JF. Influence of the passive anisotropic properties on directional differences in propagation following modification of the sodium conductance in human atrial muscle. A model of reentry based on anisotropic discontinuous propagation. *Circ Res.* 1988;62:811–832.
- Mouws EM, van der Does LJ, Kik C, Lanters EAH, Teuwen CP, Knops P, Bogers AJ, de Groot NMS. Visualization of Activation Patterns at the Left Atrial Posterior Wall by Intra-operative High-Density Epicardial Mapping. *submitted*. 2018;

- 24. Ortiz J, Niwano S, Abe H, Rudy Y, Johnson NJ, Waldo AL. Mapping the conversion of atrial flutter to atrial fibrillation and atrial fibrillation to atrial flutter. Insights into mechanisms. *Circ Res.* 1994;74:882–894.
- 25. Lanters EAHH, Yaksh A, Teuwen CP, van der Does LJMEME, Kik C, Knops P, van Marion DMSS, Brundel BJJMJM, Bogers AJJCJC, Allessie MA, de Groot NMSS. Spatial distribution of conduction disorders during sinus rhythm. *Int J Cardiol*. 2017;249:220–225.
- 26. van der Does LJME, Knops P, Teuwen CP, Serban C, Starreveld R, Lanters EAH, Mouws EMJP, Kik C, Bogers AJJC, de Groot NMS. Unipolar atrial electrogram morphology from an epicardial and endocardial perspective. *Heart Rhythm*. 2018;


16

NOVEL INSIGHTS IN THE ACTIVATION PATTERNS AT THE PULMONARY VEIN AREA

Elisabeth M.J.P. Mouws

Charles Kik Lisette J.M.E. van der Does Eva A.H. Lanters Christophe P. Teuwen Paul Knops Ad J.J.C. Bogers Natasja M.S. de Groot

SUBMITTED

ABSTRACT

Background: Extensiveness of conduction delay (CD) and block (CD) at the pulmonary vein area (PVA) was quantified in a previous study. We hypothesized that the combination of lines of CB with multiple concomitantly entering sinus rhythm (SR) wavefronts at the PVA may result in increased arrhythmogenicity and susceptibility to atrial fibrillation (AF).

Methods: Intra-operative high-density epicardial mapping of PVA (N≈450sites, interelectrode distances: 2mm) was performed during SR in 327 patients (241 male (74%), 67±10 (21-84) years) with and without preoperative AF. For each patient, activation patterns at the PVA were quantified, including the location of entry sites of wavefronts, direction of propagation and their relative activation times. The association between activation patterns and the presence of AF was examined.

Results: Excitation of the PVA occurred via multiple consecutive wavefronts in the vast majority of patient (N=216, 81%). In total, 561 wavefronts were observed, which mostly propagated through the septal or paraseptal regions towards the PVA (N=461, 82%). A substantial dissociation of consecutive wavefronts was observed with Δ activation times of 10.6±8.8 (0-46) ms. No difference was observed in Δ activation times of consecutive wavefronts during SR between patients without and with AF. An excitation-based risk factor model, including CD ≥6 mm, CB ≥6 mm and CDCB ≥16 mm, wavefronts via the postero-inferior to postero-superior and multiple opposing wavefront, demonstrated a 5-fold risk of AF when multiple risk factors were present.

Conclusions: In contrast to previous findings, quantification of activation patterns at the PVA on high-resolution scale demonstrated complex patterns with often multiple entry sites and a high interindividual variability. Altered patterns of activation, consisting of multiple opposing wavefronts combined with long lines of conduction slowing, were associated with the presence of AF.

INTRODUCTION

As atrial fibrillation (AF) is becoming a worldwide epidemic with significant morbidity and mortality, primary prevention remains the Holy Grail. Numerous studies have made an effort to identify individual risk factors making patients prone for AF development.

Although often neglected in this context, the sinus rhythm (SR) ECG may provide substantial information on AF risk in the individual patient. Particularly the characteristics of the p-wave are of interest, as it reflects the excitation of the left and right atrium (LA, RA). Prolongation of p-wave duration results from delayed intra- or interatrial conduction and has been identified as a predictor of AF after cardiac surgery and after cardioversion.^{1,2} Furthermore, the association between p-wave duration and AF has been observed in several cohort studies with hazard ratios up to 2.19 for p-wave durations in the 95th percentile.³⁻⁶ Controversially, shorter p-wave durations have also been associated with AF, resulting in the hypothesis that fast atrial conduction facilitates the initiation of reentry, making the atria more prone to AF.⁴

Although previous mapping studies are consistent in their findings regarding RA excitation^{7–10}, activation of the LA appears to be more diverse.^{7,8,11–16} Generally, it is assumed that earliest LA activation occurs at either the supero- or infero-paraseptal region, after which the wavefront propagates in a uniform fashion towards the postero-inferior region adjacent to the left inferior pulmonary vein.^{7,11–15} However, wavefronts propagating downwards entering via Bachmann's bundle have also been described.^{8,14–16} In addition, multiple wavefronts may enter the PVA concomitantly, which so far has not been quantified in previous studies.

In a previous epicardial mapping study of the PVA in 268 patients with ischemic heart disease (IHD) and/or valvular heart disease ((i)VHD), we quantified the extensiveness of areas of conduction delay and block and found an increased amount of conduction disorders in patients with preoperative AF episodes. Based on these observations, we hypothesize that the combination of extensive lines of conduction block with multiple concomitantly entering wavefronts entering the PVA during SR from different directions explains the increased arrhythmogenesis of this region.

In the present study, we therefore examined SR activation patterns at the LA posterior and inferior wall, assessed by intra-operative high-resolution epicardial mapping, in IHD or (i) VHD patients with and without preoperative AF.

METHODS

Study population

The study population consisted of 327 successive adult patients undergoing elective open heart surgery in the Erasmus Medical Center Rotterdam. Patients underwent either coronary artery bypass grafting, aortic and/or mitral valve surgery, or a combination of valvular and bypass grafting surgery. VHD was categorized by the most predominant valvular lesion. Correspondingly, patients were categorized as having ischemic heart disease (IHD) or (ischemic and) valvular heart disease ((i)VHD). This study was approved by the institutional medical ethical committee (MEC2010-054/MEC2014-393).^{17,18} Written informed consent was obtained from all patients and clinical data was extracted from electronic patient files.

Mapping procedure

Epicardial high-resolution mapping was performed prior to commencement to extracorporal circulation, as previously described in detail.¹⁹ A temporary bipolar epicardial pacemaker wire was stitched to the RA free wall, serving as a temporal reference electrode. A steel wire fixed to subcutaneous tissue of the thoracic cavity served as the indifferent electrode. Epicardial mapping was performed using a 128- or a 192-electrode array (electrode diameter respectively 0.65mm or 0.45mm, interelectrode distances 2 mm).

The PVA, consisting of the LA posterior and inferior wall, was mapped from the sinus transversus along the borders of the right and left pulmonary veins (PVR and PVL) down towards the atrioventricular groove, as illustrated in the left panel of Figure 1. Five seconds of SR were recorded at all mapping sites, including a surface ECG lead, a calibration signal of 2mV and 1000ms, a bipolar reference electrogram, and all unipolar epicardial electrograms. Recordings were sampled with a rate of 1kHZ, amplified(gain 1000), filtered (bandwidth 0.5-400 Hz), analogue-to-digital converted(16-bits) and stored on a hard disk.¹⁹

Classification of patterns of activation at the pulmonary vein area

Local activation maps of PVR and PVL during SR were constructed by annotating the steepest negative slope of atrial potentials recorded at every electrode.²⁰ Atrial extrasystolic beats were excluded from analysis.

In order to categorize patterns of PVA activation, a circle was drawn on the PVA, with its center located in the middle of the PVA mapping area and the 0[°] point in the upper middle, as demonstrated in the right panel of Figure 1. This circle was divided in 8 areas with 45[°] angles, enabling classification of wavefronts entering the PVA according to their entrance

site and their direction of propagation, including transverse, longitudinal or diagonal. Anatomical nomenclature was used when describing entry sites of wavefronts, as shown in the right panel of Figure 1.²¹



Figure 1. Methods

Left panel: mapping schedule of the pulmonary vein area (PVA) with an example of a PVA activation map. Arrows indication main wave trajectories. Right panel: PVA activation map at which a circle is drawn with its center located in the middle of the PVA mapping area and the 0° point in the upper middle, divided in 8 areas with 45° angles to classify entering wavefronts. Anatomical nomenclature was used when describing entry sites of wavefronts. Direction of propagation, including transverse, longitudinal or diagonal was attributed to each wavefront.

CD and CB were defined as time differences (Δ t) of respectively 7-11ms and \geq 12ms between adjacent electrodes, corresponding with effective conduction velocities of 17 to <29cm/s for CD and <17cm/s for CB respectively, which was based on previous literature.²²

Relative *SR activation times* were calculated for the first wavefront entering the PVA, defined as the time interval between the origin of SR and the first activated electrode at the PVA. In addition, *relative local activation times* of consecutive entering wavefronts were calculated, i.e. the time difference between the second and first wavefront, the third and second wavefront and so on.

A typical example of color-coded local activation maps recorded at LA posterior wall of one patient with IHD is shown in the right panel of Figure 1. In this example, the PVA is activated via three wavefronts entering at 22-67[°], 112-157[°] and 292-337[°] thus supero-paraseptal, infero-paraseptal and postero-superior respectively; all wavefronts had a diagonal direction of propagation.

Statistical analysis

Normally distributed data are described by mean±SD(minimum-maximum) and analysed with a student's T-test or a one-way ANOVA. Categorical data are expressed as numbers and percentages and analysed with χ^2 or Fisher exact test when appropriate. Univariate analysis of PVA activation-based risk factors for AF was performed by binary logistic regression analysis, after which a risk factor score was obtained with univariate variables with a p-value <0.100. A p-value <0.05 was considered statistically significant.

RESULTS

Study population

Characteristics of the study population (N=327, 241 male (74%), 67±10(21-84) years) are summarized in Table 1. Activation mapping of PVA was performed by either a 128-polar (N=162) or a 192-polar electrode array (N=165). Patients were diagnosed with IHD (N=194, 59%) or (i)VHD (N=133, 41%), consisting of aortic stenosis (N=80, 60%) or mitral insufficiency (N=45, 34%) for the majority of patients. LA dilation was present in 68 patients (21%) and 62 patients (19%) had a history of AF, including paroxysmal (N=47, 14%), persistent (N=14, 4%) and longstanding persistent AF (N=1, 1%). The majority of patients had a normal left ventricular function (N=247, 76%). Class II antiarrhythmic drugs (AAD) were used by 226 patients (69%) and class III AAD by 15 patients (5%).

Entry sites of wavefronts at the pulmonary vein area

In 59 patients (18%), PVA activation maps showed areas of simultaneous activation, which was defined as areas in which conduction velocity exceeds 200cm/s (sample rate 1 kHz). These maps will therefore be analyzed separately and described in the paragraph 'Simultaneous Activation'.

Number of patients	327		
Age	67±10(21-84)		
Male	241(74)		
Underlying heart disease	N(%)		
IHD	194(59)		
(i)VHD	133(41)		
Aortic valve stenosis	80		
Aortic valve insufficiency	7		
Mitral valve stenosis	1		
Mitral valve insufficiency	45		
Left Atrial Dilation >45mm	68(21)		
History of AF	62(19)		
Paroxysmal	47(14)		
Persistent	14(4)		
Longstanding persistent	1(1)		
Left ventricular function			
Normal	247(76)		
Mild dysfunction	62(19)		
Moderate dysfunction	16(5)		
Severe dysfunction	2(1)		
Antiarrhythmic drugs	243(74)		
Class I	3(1)		
Class II	226(69)		
Class III	15(5)		
Class IV	4(1)		

Table 1. Patient characteristics

AF: atrial fibrillation; IHD: ischemic heart disease; VHD: valvular heart disease; I/VHD: ischemic and valvular heart disease.

In the remaining 268 patients, the PVA was activated by a total of 561 wavefronts, of which their distribution of entry sites is demonstrated in Figure 2. Typical examples of activation maps demonstrating the variation of entry sites are displayed; the arrows indicate the main direction of wavefront propagation.

Most wavefronts propagated through the septal or paraseptal regions towards the PVA (N=461, 82%). A minority of wavefronts entered the PVA via the supero-posterior site (i.e. near the left atrial appendage; N=20, 4%) or via the superior or inferior site (i.e. the LA roof or floor; N=29, 5% and N=29, 5% respectively). Wavefronts entering via the posterior (N=13, 2%) or the postero-inferior LA (N=9, 2%) were rarely observed.



Figure 2. Examples of activation patterns at the pulmonary vein area

Typical examples of activation patterns at the PVA showing the large interindividual variation in entry sites of wavefronts, as well as the highly variable combinations of entry sites and directions of wavefront propagation. Arrows indicate the main wave trajectory. Activation of the PVA occurred by either 1 wavefront (example B and D) or multiple wavefronts (examples A, C, E, F and G).

Direction of wavefront propagation

Directions of wavefront propagation are summarized in the upper panel of Figure 3. As expected, wavefronts propagate within the mapping area primarily from their entry site towards the center of the mapping area without a change in activation direction.

For example, most wavefronts entering supero-paraseptally propagate with a diagonal direction (N=116, 89%), whereas wavefronts entering at the septal region most often show a transverse direction of propagation (N=110, 98%).

Activation patterns at the pulmonary vein area

Excitation of the PVA occurred via two peripheral entry sites in most patients (N=150, 56%), as shown in the lower panel of Figure 3. In the remaining patients, activation occurred via 1 (N=52, 19%), 3 (N=57, 21%), 4 (N=8, 3%) or even 6 peripheral entry sites (N=1, 0.4%). In case of one entry site (N=52), the wavefront entered PVA most frequently at the septal (N=27, 52%) or infero-paraseptal region (N=20, 39%), as exemplified in activation maps B and D of Figure 2; one super-paraseptal entry site was observed in only one patients and the remaining 4 patients showed activation via one non-(para)septal wavefront.

In patients with multiple entering wavefronts (N=216), only 2 patients did not have any paraseptal or septal wavefronts. The upper panel of Figure 4 shows the most frequently occurring combinations of entry sites in patients with two or three incoming wavefronts; combinations occurring <5 times are summarized as 'other'. In patients with two entry sites, both wavefronts entered via the (para)septal region in 117 patients (78%), whereas in 33 patients (21%) a para(septal) and a non-(para)septal wavefront was observed. In patients with three entry sites (N=57), a larger variety of combinations was observed and additional non-(para)septal wavefronts.

Hence, the vast majority of patients (N=262, 98%) showed activation of the PVA via at least one septal or paraseptal wavefront, yet, activation patterns at the PVA including the location of entry sites and number of entry sites, show considerable variation between patients.

16









Upper panel: per entry site the relative distribution of the direction of propagation is displayed. Lower panel: number of entry sites per patient in our cohort.





Figure 4. Combinations of entry sites and wavefront dissociation

Upper panel: Relative distribution of combinations of entry sites in patient with 2 or 3 entry sites.

Lower panel: Distribution of relative local activation times of sequential SR wavefronts. As shown in this plot, a high degree of wavefront dissociation was observed with a mean delta activation time of 10.6ms up to a maximum of even 46ms.



Dissociation of wavefronts at the pulmonary vein area

Relative SR activation times of entering wavefronts are provided in Table 2; earliest activation at the PVA most frequently occurred at (para)septal region, ranging from 67ms to 77 ms after the onset of SR. As expected, relative SR activation times of earliest PVA activation via the posterior site were longer with mean conduction times up 92ms after SR onset (Table 2).

Consecutive wavefronts were observed in 216 patients (81%), in whom the second wavefront was observed 11±9ms after the first entering wavefront. A third wavefront was observed in 66 patients, which entered the PVA 9±8ms after the second wavefront. As displayed in Table 2, fourth, fifth and sixth wavefronts were observed in a minority of patients.

The lower panel of Figure 4 displays the relative local activation times between consecutive wavefronts entering the PVA; mean delta activation time was $10.6\pm8.8(0-46)$ ms. No difference was observed in delta activation times of consecutive wavefronts of patients without and with AF (p=0.515). Also, when analyzing the mean delta activation time in each individual patient, no difference was observed between patients without and with AF (p=0.568).

Earliest Activation First Wavefront (N=268)*	N(%)	Local Activation Time (ms)
22-67 ⁰	37(14)	69±19(38-110)
67-112 ⁰	84(31)	67±18(22-107)
112-157 ⁰	132(49)	77±17(43-117)
157-202 ⁰	7(3)	92±16(71-111)
202-247 ⁰	1(0.4)	40
247-292 ⁰	1(0.4)	80
292-337 ⁰	3(1)	80±19(58-95)
337-22 ⁰	3(1)	72±6(68-78)
Second Wavefront	216(81)	+11±9(0-46) after first wavefront
Third Wavefront	66(25)	+9±8(0-46) after second wavefront
Fourth Wavefront	9(3)	+8±2(3-10) after third wavefront
Fifth Wavefront	1(0.4)	+2 after fourth wavefront
Sixth Wavefront	1(0.4)	+1 after fifth wavefront

Table 2. Relative sinus rhythm activation times and local activation times of subsequent wavefronts

*Patients with areas of simultaneous activation excluded

Epicardial breakthrough waves at the pulmonary vein area

In 13 patients (5%), activation of the PVA occurred partly by an epicardial breakthrough wave (EBW). Characteristics of epicardial breakthrough waves at the entire LA and RA epicardial surface have been described in detail in a previous study.²³ In the 2 of the 6 patients that did not show any peripheral wave via (para)septal regions, a large area of the PVA was already excited by an epicardial breakthrough wave and the remainder was activated by a peripheral wavefront entering via non-(para)septal regions.

Simultaneous activation of the pulmonary vein area

Examples of activation maps with areas of simultaneous activation (white lightning bolt) separated by a longitudinal line of CD/CB are displayed in the lower panel of Figure 5. In these activation maps, black lines represent lines of CB and isochrones are drawn at 10ms intervals. The corresponding CD (blue) and CB (red) maps are shown next to the activation maps. Fifty-nine patients (18%) showed areas of simultaneous activation; of which the incidence did not differ between patients without and with AF (17% versus 21%, p=0.507) and between IHD and (i)VHD patients (19% versus 17%, p=0.559).

In 29 of these patients (49%), multiple areas of simultaneous activation were observed, which were separated by a long line of CD, CB or CDCB. Most frequently, CDCB lines >24mm were observed (N=24, 41%). In 19 patients (32%) a longitudinal line of CD or CB running vertically between the left and right pulmonary veins from superior to inferior was observed.

Arrhythmogenicity of altered excitation at the pulmonary vein area

Conduction abnormalities at the PVA have been described in detail in a previous article including 268 patients, which demonstrated that AF patients more often had lines of CD \geq 6mm, CB \geq 6mm and CDCB \geq 16mm and that a longitudinal line of CD/CB running between the right and left pulmonary veins occurred in only 5% (N=14) of patients without simultaneous activation compared to 32% (N=19) of patients with simultaneous activation described in the present study (p<0.001).

In relation to AF development, several additional characteristics of excitation were analyzed, as displayed in Table 3. Besides CD≥6mm, CB≥6mm and CDCB≥16mm, wavefronts entering the PVA via the postero-inferior to postero-superior region (i.e.202-337°) showed a trend to a higher incidence in patients with AF (OR 1.98, p=0.087). Moreover, multiple wavefronts entering the PVA opposite to each other occurred more often in AF patients (OR 2.68, p=0.028).



Figure 5. Examples of simultaneous activation

Examples of activation maps showing large areas of simultaneous activation. Corresponding CD and CB maps show that a long line of abnormal conduction is present, running in between the left and right pulmonary veins. This line separates the mapping area in multiple large regions that are being activated simultaneously.

Next to the activation maps, potentials from both sides of the block line are provided, showing clear potentials, which contain a R- and S-peak and are not distorted by noise. As demonstrated, potentials adjacent to the line of CD and CB are fractionated.

A joint risk factor score was calculated based on these 5 risk factors of altered excitation, which showed a significant increase in the incidence of AF when the number of risk factors increased, as shown in Table 3. Incidence of AF increased from 8% of patients with 0 risk factors of altered excitation to 30% of patients with 3 risk factors and 26% of patients with \geq 4 risk factors of altered excitation (p=0.007).

Univariate	OR	95%CI	р
CD≥6	2.29	1.18-4.44	0.014*
CB≥6	2.04	1.09-3.83	0.027*
CDCB≥16mm	2.06	1.08-3.93	0.029*
Longitudinal CD/CB line	1.89	0.56-6.19	0.313
Simultaneous activation	1.26	0.63-2.52	0.507
≥2 Entry sites	0.60	0.29-1.24	0.166
Entry site 202-337 ^o	1.98	0.91-4.31	0.087*
Opposing Wavefronts	2.68	1.11-6.42	0.028*
Perpendicular Wavefronts	0.75	0.40-1.39	0.362
Epicardial Breakthrough Waves	1.37	0.36-5.15	0.648
Risk factor model			
0 risk factors (comparative category)	-	-	-
1 risk factor	1.88	0.66-5.40	0.235
2 risk factors	3.72	1.23-10.91	0.017
3 risk factors	5.26	1.89-14.62	0.001
≥4 risk factors	4.11	1.10-15.35	0.036

Table 3. Univariate analysis of risk factors and risk factor model for atrial fibrillation

*Risk factors added to the risk factor model

DISCUSSION

Key findings

Intra-operative high-density epicardial mapping enabled novel extensive quantification of SR activation patterns at the PVA in a large cohort of patients. Our data demonstrates that during SR multiple wavefronts enter the PVA concomitantly in the majority of patients. Also, wavefronts entering the LA posterior wall from the posterior (*non-septal*) side have not been

previously described. Interestingly, these rarely observed entry sites more often occur in AF patients. Furthermore, multiple areas of simultaneous activation with conduction velocities >200cm/s were observed, which were often separated by large lines of CB.

Activation of the pulmonary vein area

In a previous high-resolution mapping study we described activation patterns at the RA, BB and the left atrioventricular groove (LAVG).²⁴ Activation of the LAVG via wavefronts propagating from the left atrial appendage and the postero-superior side towards the postero-inferior side was demonstrated, suggestive for conduction via BB.²⁴ Also, as activation of the LAVG via the infero-paraseptal wall was observed, which can be interpreted as wavefronts propagating via the limbus of the fossa ovalis or the coronary sinus ostium.²⁴

Previously, only a few human mapping studies of the LA posterior wall had been performed, often containing a small number of patients.^{7,8,12–14}

These studies showed conflicting results with regard to the location of earliest activation. In the majority of the population examined by Roberts-Thomson et al., earliest activation occurred at the inferior paraseptal region, while Markides et al., Tapanainen et al. and Lemery et al. reported earliest LA activation mainly occurring at the postero-superior and superior regions.^{7,8,12-14}

Although these studies provided insight in and examples of activation patterns at the LA posterior wall, no systematic quantification of entry sites and activation patterns was conducted. Thereby, examining the possible arrhythmogenicity of complex activation patterns including multiple entry sites of concomitant entering wavefronts and their dissociation was not possible.

In the present study, activation patterns of the PVA (i.e. the LA posterior and inferior wall) were examined in detail in a large population undergoing high-density mapping. Particularly, we demonstrated the high incidence of PVA activation via multiple separate wavefronts, which occurred in the majority of patients. As expected, most wavefronts entered via the septal and paraseptal sides, though wavefronts entering PVA from the posterior have also been observed.

Earliest LA activation occurred most frequently at the infero-paraseptal region, which is in correspondence to the findings of Roberts et al.^{12,13}

Simultaneous activation

In almost a fifth of the population, areas of simultaneous activation were observed, of which the exact etiology could not be determined. Electrograms recorded at areas with simultaneous activation showed clear potentials with an R-peak and S-deflection that were not distorted by noise. Thus, technical insufficiencies of the mapping system do not seem to be the underlying cause. Moreover, the clear R-peak indicates the presence of depolarization waves propagating towards the mapping electrode, approaching the epic ardial surface.

We hypothesized that there might be multiple concomitant large EBW, which are not recognized as such because of our strict criteria for epicardial breakthrough waves as described previously.²³ In order not to overestimate the incidence of EBW, our EBW criteria include that the EBW should be activated earlier than all surrounding electrodes. When multiple EBW would occur at the same time this criterion cannot be met. This way, when multiple EBW would arise concomitantly within the same region, their origins are that close to each other that it may appear as large areas of simultaneous activation.

Arrhythmogenicity of activation patterns

Previous studies on the arrhythmogenicity of the PVA mainly focused on the pulmonary veins as a source of ectopic triggers with the potential to initiate AF.^{25,26} The pulmonary veins have also been reported as structures that may have a critical role in AF maintenance by abnormal automaticity, triggered activity or localized reentry.^{27,28} In a recent study by Lee et al. the right superior pulmonary vein-LA junction was mapped epicardially in 18 patients undergoing cardiac surgery.²⁶ At the junction of the pulmonary vein with the LA, functional lines of CD and CB were observed in the majority of patients and were mainly orientated across the short axis of the vein.²⁶ In some patients, when pacing from the pulmonary veins, multiple lines of CD and CB developed and complex activation patterns developed with adjacent areas of the junction being simultaneously activated by wavefronts propagating in opposite directions. These circuitous activation patterns may create a substrate for reentry.²⁶

So far, presence of multiple concomitant wavefronts at the posterior and inferior LA wall and its association with AF development remained unknown. In the present study, we demonstrated the highly variable activation of the PVA, including multiple entering wavefronts with a high degree of wavefront dissociation up to 46ms. Wavefront dissociation is a well-known attribute to arrhythmogenicity, since it facilitates the appropriate circumstances for reentry to occur.²⁹

Although we could not confirm our hypothesis that AF patients may have a larger degree of wavefront dissociation, uncommon patterns of activation did occur more often in AF patients. The incidence of AF showed a gradual increase in correspondence with an increased amount of risk factors of altered excitation. The combination of long lines of CD, CB or continuous CDCB with additional wavefronts coming from the posterior LA led to a more than 5-fold risk of AF compared to patients without these features.

Limitations

Whether general anesthesia influences conduction is yet to be investigated; however, a standard anesthetic protocol was used for all patients and SR was confirmed during all mapping procedures. Thus, possible effects of anesthesia would be equally dispersed among the patient population. With our closed beating heart procedure, mapping of activation patterns at the interatrial septum unfortunately was not possible.

CONCLUSION

Intra-operative high-density epicardial mapping demonstrated and quantified the highly variable patterns of activation at the PVA. In the majority of patients, at least two wavefronts enter the PVA concomitantly. Earliest epicardial activation most often occurred at the inferoparaseptal region 77±17ms after the SR origin. Altered patterns of activation, consisting of wavefronts entering via the posterior (non-septal) side and multiple opposing wavefronts combined with long lines of conduction slowing, were associated with the presence of AF. An excitation-based risk factor model was established, demonstrating an up to 5-fold risk of AF when multiple risk factors were present.

REFERENCES

- Steinberg JS, Zelenkofske S, Wong SC, Gelernt M, Sciacca R, Menchavez E. Value of the P-wave signal-averaged ECG for predicting atrial fibrillation after cardiac surgery. *Circulation*. 1993;88:2618–22.
- 2. Budeus M, Hennersdorf M, Perings C, Wieneke H, Erbel R, Sack S. Prediction of the recurrence of atrial fibrillation after successful cardioversion with P wave signal-averaged ECG. *Ann Noninvasive Electrocardiol*. 2005;10:414–9.
- 3. Soliman EZ, Prineas RJ, Case LD, Zhang Z m., Goff DC. Ethnic Distribution of ECG Predictors of Atrial Fibrillation and Its Impact on Understanding the Ethnic Distribution of Ischemic Stroke in the Atherosclerosis Risk in Communities (ARIC) Study. *Stroke*. 2009;40:1204–1211.
- Nielsen JB, Kühl JT, Pietersen A, Graff C, Lind B, Struijk JJ, Olesen MS, Sinner MF, Bachmann TN, Haunsø S, Nordestgaard BG, Ellinor PT, Svendsen JH, Kofoed KF, Køber L, Holst AG. P-wave duration and the risk of atrial fibrillation: Results from the Copenhagen ECG Study. *Heart Rhythm*. 2015;12:1887–1895.
- Macfarlane PW, Murray H, Sattar N, Stott DJ, Ford I, Buckley B, Jukema JW, Westendorp RGJ, Shepherd J. The incidence and risk factors for new onset atrial fibrillation in the PROSPER study. *Europace*. 2011;13:634–9.
- 6. Magnani JW, Johnson VM, Sullivan LM, Gorodeski EZ, Schnabel RB, Lubitz SA, Levy D, Ellinor PT, Benjamin EJ. P wave duration and risk of longitudinal atrial fibrillation in persons ≥ 60 years old (from the Framingham Heart Study). Am J Cardiol. 2011;107:917–921.e1.
- 7. Lemery R, Birnie D, Tang ASL, Green M, Gollob M, Hendry M, Lau E. Normal atrial activation and voltage during sinus rhythm in the human heart: an endocardial and epicardial mapping study in patients with a history of atrial fibrillation. *J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol*. 2007;18:402–8.
- Tapanainen JM, Jurkko R, Holmqvist F, Husser D, Kongstad O, Mäkijärvi M, Toivonen L, Platonov PG. Interatrial right-to-left conduction in patients with paroxysmal atrial fibrillation. *J Interv Card Electrophysiol*. 2009;25:117–22.
- Sakamoto S, Yamauchi S, Yamashita H, Imura H, Maruyama Y, Ogasawara H, Hatori N, Shimizu K. Intra-operative mapping of the right atrial free wall during sinus rhythm: variety of activation patterns and incidence of postoperative atrial fibrillation. *Eur J Cardiothorac Surg.* 2006;30:132–9.
- 10. Boineau JP, Canavan TE, Schuessler RB, Cain ME, Corr PB, Cox JL. Demonstration of a widely distributed atrial pacemaker complex in the human heart. *Circulation*. 1988;77:1221–1237.
- 11. Boineau JP, Schuessler RB, Hackel DB, Miller CB, Brockus CW, Wylds a C. Widespread distribution and rate differentiation of the atrial pacemaker complex. *Am J Physiol*. 1980;239:H406-15.
- 12. Roberts-Thomson KC, Stevenson I, Kistler PM, Haqqani HM, Spence SJ, Goldblatt JC, Sanders P, Kalman JM. The role of chronic atrial stretch and atrial fibrillation on posterior left atrial wall conduction. *Heart Rhythm*. 2009;6:1109–1117.
- 13. Roberts-Thomson KC, Stevenson IH, Kistler PM, Haqqani HM, Goldblatt JC, Sanders P, Kalman JM. Anatomically Determined Functional Conduction Delay in the Posterior Left Atrium. Relationship to Structural Heart Disease. *J Am Coll Cardiol*. 2008;51:856–862.

- 14. Markides V, Schilling R, Ho S, Chow A, Wyn Davies D, Peters N. Characterization of Left Atrial Activation in the Intact Human Heart. *Circulation*. 2003;107:733–739.
- 15. David M. Harrild, Craig S. Hen. A Computer Model of Normal Conduction in the Human Atria. *Circ Res.* 2000;87:e25–e36.
- 16. Durrer D, Van Dam R, Freud G, Janse MJ, Meijler FL, Arzbaecher RC. Total Excitation of the Isolated Human Heart. *Circulation*. 1970;41:899–912.
- van der Does LJME, Yaksh A, Kik C, Knops P, Lanters EAH, Teuwen CP, Oei FBS, van de Woestijne PC, Bekkers JA, Bogers AJJC, Allessie MA, de Groot NMS. QUest for the Arrhythmogenic Substrate of Atrial fibRillation in Patients Undergoing Cardiac Surgery (QUASAR Study): Rationale and Design. J Cardiovasc Transl Res. 2016;9:194–201.
- Lanters EAH, van Marion DMS, Kik C, Steen H, Bogers AJJC, Allessie MA, Brundel BJJM, de Groot NMS. HALT & REVERSE: Hsf1 activators lower cardiomyocyt damage; towards a novel approach to REVERSE atrial fibrillation. *J Transl Med*. 2015;13:347.
- Yaksh A, van der Does LJ, Kik C, Knops P, Oei FB, van de Woestijne PC, Bekkers JA, Bogers AJ, Allessie MA, de Groot NM. A novel intra-operative, high-resolution atrial mapping approach. J Interv Card Electrophysiol. 2015;44:221–225.
- 20. Spach MS, Dolber PC. Relating extracellular potentials and their derivatives to anisotropic propagation at a microscopic level in human cardiac muscle. Evidence for electrical uncoupling of side-to-side fiber connections with increasing age. *Circ Res.* 1986;58:356–71.
- Anton KKMD, David BMD, D SBM, Borggrefe M, Campbell RWF, D M, D FGM, Klein G, Langberg J, Marchlinski F, D JJRM, Saksena S, Thiene G. ESCWGA / NASPE / P Experts Consensus Statement : Living Anatomy of the Atrioventricular Junctions . A Guide to Electrophysiologic Mapping. J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol. 1999;10:1162–1170.
- 22. Spach MS, Dolber PC, Heidlage JF. Influence of the passive anisotropic properties on directional differences in propagation following modification of the sodium conductance in human atrial muscle. A model of reentry based on anisotropic discontinuous propagation. *Circ Res.* 1988;62:811–832.
- 23. Mouws EMJP, Lanters EAH, Teuwen CP, van der Does LJME, Kik C, Knops P, Bekkers JA, Bogers AJJC, de Groot NMS. Epicardial Breakthrough Waves During Sinus Rhythm. *Circ Arrhythmia Electrophysiol*. 2017;10:e005145.
- 24. Mouws EMJP, Lanters EAH, Teuwen CP, van der Does LJME, Kik C, Knops P, Yaksh A, Bekkers JA, Bogers AJJC, de Groot NMS. Impact of Ischemic and Valvular Heart Disease on Atrial Excitation:A High-Resolution Epicardial Mapping Study. J Am Heart Assoc. 2018;7:e008331.
- Haïssaguerre M, Jaïs P, Shah DC, Takahashi A, Hocini M, Quiniou G, Garrigue S, Le Mouroux A, Le Métayer P, Clémenty J. Spontaneous Initiation of Atrial Fibrillation by Ectopic Beats Originating in the Pulmonary Veins. *http://dx.doi.org.prxy4.ursus.maine.edu/101056/NEJM199809033391003*. 1998;339:659–666.
- Lee G, Spence S, Teh A, Goldblatt J, Larobina M, Atkinson V, Brown R, Morton JB, Sanders P, Kistler PM, Kalman JM. High-density epicardial mapping of the pulmonary vein-left atrial junction in humans: Insights into mechanisms of pulmonary vein arrhythmogenesis. *Heart Rhythm*. 2012;9:258–264.

344

- 27. Arora R, Verheule S, Scott L, Navarrete A, Katari V, Wilson E, Vaz D, Olgin JE. Arrhythmogenic substrate of the pulmonary veins assessed by high-resolution optical mapping. *Circulation*. 2003;107:1816–21.
- 28. Haïssaguerre M, Sanders P, Hocini M, Jaïs P, Clémenty J. Pulmonary veins in the substrate for atrial fibrillation: the "venous wave" hypothesis. *J Am Coll Cardiol*. 2004;43:2290–2.
- 29. Allessie MA, De Groot NMS, Houben RPM, Schotten U, Boersma E, Smeets JL, Crijns HJ. Electropathological substrate of long-standing persistent atrial fibrillation in patients with structural heart disease: longitudinal dissociation. *Circ Arrhythm Electrophysiol*. 2010;3:606–15.





GENERAL DISCUSSION

Elisabeth M.J.P. Mouws

GENERAL DISCUSSION

Arrhythmogenesis in congenital heart disease

Atrial and ventricular tachyarrhythmias carry a high morbidity, especially in patients with congenital heart disease (CHD) who are more prone to arrhythmia development than the general population.¹ Arrhythmias in the CHD population have been investigated in various studies, yet incidences vary due to differences in follow-up time and means of detection. It has been estimated that approximately 50% of 20 year-olds with CHD will develop atrial tachyarrhythmias during their lifetime.¹ Ventricular tachyarrhythmias occur less frequent, with a reported incidence of sustained ventricular arrhythmias of 0.1%–0.2% per year in adults with CHD.^{2,3}

CHD-specific mechanisms of atrial and ventricular tachyarrhythmias

In CHD patients, development of atrial and ventricular tachyarrhythmia may have multiple underlying causes that differ from non-CHD patients. First of all, most CHD patients have some extent of volume or pressure overload, which often is present for years. Several experimental and clinical studies have been performed examining the influence of volume overload on the development of regular supraventricular tachycardia (SVT) and atrial fibrillation (AF). Hirose et al.⁴ performed an experimental study in which 8 rabbits were exposed to chronic volume overload by an arteriovenous shunt formation and 8 non-exposed rabbits formed the control-group; RA dilation was objectified by echocardiography. Subsequently, a Langendorff-perfusion model was established, in which optical mapping of the right and left atrial (RA, LA) posterior and free wall during pacing from the mapping site has elegantly demonstrated how chronic volume overload leads to conduction slowing at the dilated atrium. Although the general activation pattern was similar in the hearts exposed to volume overload and the controls, significant isochronal crowding indicating slowing of conduction was observed in the volume overload exposed hearts. Moreover, tachy-pacing could not initiate atrial tachycardia (AT) in the control hearts, whereas in 7 of the volumeexposed hearts, sustained AT could easily be initiated. The activation patterns of the AT showed either focal (44%) or reentrant activation (56%). Almost all these AT originated from the posterior LA, at which also the highest activation frequency was observed.

Based on these findings, the authors suggested a critical role of the posterior LA in AT development in dilated atria, since the LA posterior wall is relatively thin and thereby more prone to stretch-induced dilation. In addition, various clinical studies demonstrated decreased early repolarization periods and increased dispersion of atrial refractoriness due to either acute or chronic volume overload and identified this as pro-arrhythmic feature

leading to an increased vulnerability for AF.⁵⁻⁸ A more extensive discussion of the possible mechanisms underlying AF is provided in paragraphs 'Triggers of atrial fibrillation' and 'Substrates of atrial fibrillation' listed below.

Aside from the risk of SVT and AF due to chronic volume overload, ventricular tachycardia (VT) may also arise. In addition to the above mentioned mechanisms, continuous volume or pressure overload leads to dilation of the myocardial wall, which comes along with fibrotic depositions and mostly interstitial fibrosis.^{9,10}. Electrophysiological studies in patients with tetralogy of Fallot (ToF) have demonstrated that VT in this population can be the result of reentry mechanisms, for which local conduction delay of block is required to provide a critical isthmus.^{9,10} Moreover, studies have demonstrated recorded fractionated potentials at the right ventricle, indicative of local heterogeneous conduction.^{9,10} When a certain threshold of ventricular dilation and subsequently slowing of conduction is reached, marked by a QRS \geq 180 ms, patients have a high risk for VT and sudden cardiac death, though they may still be asymptomatic.^{9,10} In addition, studies have suggested that myocardial stretch leads to reduced excitability of the myocardial cells due to opening of stretch-activated channels or increased membrane capacitance.^{5,11}

Besides chronic pressure and volume overload, CHD patients also have arrhythmogenic substrates in the form of scar tissue. Intra-atrial reentrant tachycardia (IART) most often originate from the RA¹², usually involving the right atriotomy scar, inserted prosthetic materials such as atriopulmonary conduits, intra-atrial baffles or septal patches. IART originating from the LA occur less frequently and have mainly been reported in patients with atrial septal defect (ASD), transposition of the great arteries (TGA), univentricular heart (UVH) and ToF. Specifically in ToF patients, right atriotomy scars causing slowing of conduction have been reported, which may enable a reentry pathway between the atriotomy site and the inferior caval vein.^{13–15} Also, inserted prosthetic material and patches may cause slowing of conduction.¹⁶ In addition, these unexcitable structures may also form the boundaries of pathways within the reentrant circuit. Furthermore, adjacent to suture lines, (non-automatic) focal atrial tachyarrhythmias have been reported.^{16,17}

VT in CHD patients are often caused by macro-reentry around areas of scar tissue or suture lines created during cardiac surgery. For instance among ToF patients (Figure 1) who were operated in the early years of ToF correction, many may have an extensive RV scar, which has been reported as an important factor in the development of reentrant VT, as was demonstrated by Zeppenfeld et al.^{2,18}

The high arrhythmogenic potential of scar tissue lays particularly in the border zones surrounding a large area of fibrosis, and not so much the scar itself.¹⁹ The scar itself usually consists of compact fibrosis which is a large and dense area of collagen without myocytes. Therefore, areas of compact fibrosis have the least arrhythmogenic potential.¹⁹ On the contrary, the border zone regions of scar tissue consist of areas of patchy fibrosis and severe interstitial fibrosis, which leads to separation of myocardial bundles by collagen strands over long distances.¹⁹ These sites thereby have a high potential for reentry to occur, as the myocardial bundles are only sparsely interconnected leading to slow heterogenous conduction. In addition, diffuse fibrosis, consisting of short collagen septa between myocardial bundles, also show increased arrhythmogenic potential by decreasing the gap-junctions between parallel orientated myocytes.19 This way, transverse conduction is slowed and anisotropy increases.



Figure 1. Tetralogy of Fallot and transanullar patch creation

Left panel: the 4 characteristic features of tetralogy of Fallot, including an overriding aorta, a ventricular septal defect (VSD), a stenosis of the right ventricular outflow tract (RVOT) and right ventricular (RV) hypertrophy. Right upper panel: opened pulmonary trunk in which the pulmonary is incised across the annulus. Right lower panel: transannular patch placed over the pulmonary trunk and infundibulum in order to increase the annular diameter.

Reducing volume overload in Tetralogy of Fallot

Particularly in ToF patients, chronic pressure and volume overload play an important role in arrhythmogenesis. Surgical correction by creating a non-obstructive right ventricular outflow tract (RVOT) with the use of extensive transannular patching (Figure 1) as performed since the early 70's comes along with substantial pulmonary regurgitation (PR), leading to RV dilation and thereby QRS prolongation. Although right ventricular function (RVF) can be preserved for years while PR is manifest, at a certain point compensatory mechanisms fail, leading to a decrease in the RV mass-to-volume ratio, an increased end-systolic volume and a decrease in ejection fraction.^{20,21}

Since the late 90's, there is an increased awareness of the deteriorating effects of chronic pulmonary regurgitation in these patients and as a result, the surgical approach has changed from primarily creating a non-obstructive RVOT to an increasing aim of preservation of a functional, yet non-stenotic, pulmonary valve. Although valve sparing total ToF correction potentially contains a higher risk for re-stenosis, recent studies have shown predominantly positive results compared to transannular patching.

In a study by Hickey et al., a cohort of >400 ToF patients underwent total ToF correction since 2000.²² A majority of 68% of the cohort underwent valve-sparing surgery, which was partly due to their departmental strategy to preferentially avoid transannular patching (TAP) even at the expense of multiple cardiopulmonary bypass runs.²² The remainder of 32% of the cohort received a transannular patch.²² As a consequence of their strategy preferring a valve sparing approach, 43% of the TAP group first underwent valve sparing surgery, which was intra-operatively revised during second, third or even fourth cardiopulmonary pumpruns.²² After valve sparing surgery, 14% of the valve sparing cohort showed \geq moderate PR and after a median of 5.6 years follow-up this was 67% compared to 95% in the TAP cohort.²² Patients undergoing valve sparing ToF correction showed less increase in RV end-diastolic dimension than those undergoing correction with TAP creation.²²

Our data obtained from a cohort of 177 ToF patients operated in the current era is in correspondence with the findings of Hickey et al. regarding a substantial decrease in development of postoperative ≥moderate PR when performing valve sparing surgery (**Chapter 7**). However, pursuing a valve sparing approach was less liberal in our center and was applied in 32% of patients. In general, one must outweigh the benefits of a valve sparing correction versus the risk of intra-operative revision and TAP conversion requiring additional cardiopulmonary pump-runs, including additional cardioplegia and cross-clamp time. Particularly, since the effects of valve sparing surgery on long-term ventricular preservation and arrhythmia development are not clear yet.

Coexistence and order of appearance of tachyarrhythmias

To date, coexistence of various tachyarrhythmias and their order of appearance in CHD patients had never been examined. In this thesis, we demonstrated that atrial and ventricular brady- and tachyarrhythmias were present in >60% of patients with various CHD and coexistence of these arrhythmias was present in over a third of the population (**Chapter 3**). Moreover, an overall pattern was observed when considering the time from first surgical procedure to onset of arrhythmia, in which regular arrhythmias preceded irregular arrhythmia and atrial arrhythmias preceded ventricular tachyarrhythmias.

Previous studies have postulated several mechanisms leading to coexistence of various tachyarrhythmias. SVT may facilitate development of AF by shortening of the refractory period of the atria due to SVT induced electrical remodeling.^{23,24} As a consequence, the atria can be excited by fibrillation waves with short intervals, for instance derived from the pulmonary vein area.^{23,24} The fact that SVT presented first in most patients of our cohort which was then followed by AF development underlines this theory. Furthermore, AF may in turn shorten ventricular refractoriness and thereby increase susceptibility to VT.²⁵

Tachyarrhythmia progression and impact on survival

In addition to a high prevalence of coexistence of tachyarrhythmias, our data also demonstrated the fast progression of AF in these patients from paroxysmal to persistent or permanent AF (**Chapter 6**). Moreover, AF in ToF patients is often a progressive disease at a relatively young age and both rhythm-control and rate-control therapy are often ineffective in preventing this. Fast progression of AF among CHD patients may be explained by more extensive areas of impaired intra-atrial conduction due to interposition of fibrotic tissue caused by surgical procedures and ongoing pressure or volume overload.²⁶ Previous mapping and electrophysiology studies have demonstrated areas of intra-atrial conduction delay or dispersion in refractoriness in both patients without and with CHD.^{27–30} These areas are presumed to facilitate perpetuation of AF. In addition, triggered activity might be increased by enhanced atrial wall stress. Together, these factors may certainly fasten the progression of AF to persistent forms; mechanisms underlying AF development are discussed in the paragraphs 'Triggers of atrial fibrillation' and 'Substrates of atrial fibrillation' listed below.

Our data also demonstrated that the presence of sustained arrhythmia was associated with decreased survival time. A possible explanation for this correlation may lay in the consequences of tachyarrhythmia induced myocardial structural and contractile remodeling. Arrhythmia-induced cardiomyopathy is defined as a decrease in left ventricular function caused by either atrial or ventricular tachyarrhythmias and even by frequent ventricular ectopy.³¹ Tachyarrhythmia may initiate and exacerbate heart failure. The most well-known tachyarrhythmia in this context is AF. The incidence of AF has been reported up to 50% among patients with heart failure.³² In patients with focal AT, arrhythmia induced cardiomyopathy occurs in up to 10% of adult patients and 28% of pediatric patients.³³⁻³⁵ Frequent ventricular ectopy and non-sustained VT have been reported to result in cardiomyopathy in 9 to 34% of patients.³⁶⁻³⁸

The cellular effects of tachyarrhythmia resulting in LV deterioration are highly comparable to rapid pacing, which has been well studied in various animal models. During the first week of tachycardia pacing in animals, LV dilation occurs and a decrease in LV ejection fraction is observed.^{39–42} Yet, as a result of compensatory mechanisms, this does not affect cardiac output or systemic blood pressure yet.^{39–42} However, from the second week onwards, several characteristics will develop, including LV dilation, a drop in LV ejection fraction, elevation of central venous pressure, elevation of pulmonary capillary wedge pressure and elevated systemic vascular resistance.^{39–44} After several weeks, heart failure will occur.³¹

The alterations that occur after approximately one week of tachyarrhythmia are also accompanied by several alterations in neurohormonal signaling pathways; plasma atrial natriuretic peptide and B-type natriuretic peptide increase and the renin-angiotensinaldosteron system is activated.^{45–48} These alterations presumably reflect a shift from a compensated phase to a decompensated phase. Furthermore, the adrenergic and cytokine system are activated, resulting in vasoconstriction and the release of inflammatory cytokines such as tumor necrosis factor alpha; these changes likely contribute to myocardial dysfunction.^{31,49}

In addition, changes occur in the calcium handling and myofilament responses to calcium, leading to inadequate excitation-contraction coupling and thereby leading to myocyte contractile dysfunction.^{50–53}Aside from remodeling on the myocyte level, the extracellular matrix also undergoes substantial changes. A loss of fibrillar collagen content and distribution is observed, which also leads to loss of myocyte support and their alignment at the LV wall.^{54–56} In contrast to timespan of cellular alterations leading to tachyarrhythmia induced cardiomyopathy in animals being days to weeks, the timespan in humans in months to years.

Particularly CHD patients are more prone for the development of heart failure. Nowadays, heart failure is becoming the most prevalent cause of death among CHD patients. As demonstrated by our data, sustained tachyarrhythmias are highly prevalent. Given the

above described mechanisms, it may be presumed that tachyarrhythmias in these patients initiate, further aggravate and fasten ventricular deterioration and thereby influence survival time of these patients.

Unraveling the mechanism of atrial fibrillation

High-resolution epicardial mapping studies

Mapping of atrial conduction already began in the late 1960's and was primarily done to facilitate surgical ablation.^{57,58} However, mapping of AF did not reveal a stable arrhythmogenic substrate to ablate and clinical use of mapping systems in operating theatres was quickly abandoned. However, intra-operative mapping continued to be of scientific interest, particularly in the quest to unravel the underlying mechanism of AF and subsequently to develop novel, individualized AF therapies.

Typically, AF progresses from a trigger driven disease to a substrate driven disease, due to which AF progresses from paroxysmal to persistent forms.⁵⁹ Substrate formation is largely under the influence of atrial electrical and structural remodeling.⁶⁰ These processes of remodeling have been demonstrated to be also caused by AF itself; a phenomena well known under the concept of "AF begets AF" introduced by Wijffels et al.⁶¹ Remodeling processes facilitating the stability of AF include decreased atrial effective refractory periods, increased spatial heterogeneity of refractory periods and loss of normal rate adaptation of refractory periods.⁶¹

The past decades, several epicardial and endocardial mapping studies were performed during AF and proposed either AF rotors⁶², multiple independent wandering fibrillation waves^{63,64}, endo-epicardial asynchrony^{27,65,66} or a combination of these as underlying mechanism of AF persistence. So far, the exact pathophysiological understanding of AF, however, still remains controversial, while improved understanding of the underlying mechanism of AF in the individual patient is critical for the development of treatment modalities for AF. Moreover, in order to understand electropathology related with AF, it is essential to fully comprehend the 'normal' sinus rhythm (SR).

In this thesis we performed intra-operative high-resolution mapping studies (Figure 2) of the entire atrial epicardial surface during SR to gain extensive insights into the human physiology of SR and its potentially arrhythmogenic variations.



Figure 2. High-Resolution Epicardial Mapping

Upper panels: 192-electrode array used in our high-resolution epicardial mapping studies. Middle panel: electrocardiogram derived from the recordings of 1 electrode. An atrial (A) and farfield ventricular (V) signal are visible in each recording. Lower left panel: color-coded local activation maps of each recorded atrial region; color-classes per 5ms. Lower right panel: color-coded, time aligned total SR activation maps of the entire right and left atrium including Bachmann's bundle; color-classes per 10ms.

BB: Bachmann's bundle, LA: left atrium, RA: right atrium, PVL: pulmonary veins left, PVR: pulmonary veins right.

Triggers of atrial fibrillation

In 1998, Haissaguere et al. demonstrated bursts of rapid ectopic beats as triggers for spontaneous AF.²⁸ Since atrial extrasystoles (AES) triggering AF most often originate from sleeves within the pulmonary veins, pulmonary vein isolation has become the corner stone of AF ablative therapy.⁶⁷

Although it is generally assumed that spontaneous AES provoke conduction disorders and that the extensiveness of conduction disorders is positively correlated with the degree of prematurity and degree of aberrancy, this had never been examined and quantified.

Our data demonstrated that particularly prematurely aberrant AES provoked conduction disorders and that those emerging as epicardial breakthrough waves (EBW) caused most conduction disorders (**Chapter 14**). Yet, the degree of prematurity had little additional effect on the amount of conduction disorders.

In previous studies, Spach et al. demonstrated how premature stimuli cause increased dispersion in refractoriness in isolated human myocardial bundles.⁶⁸ This increase in dispersion of refractoriness was caused by altered cellular connections which in turn lead to a decrease in sodium influx.⁶⁸ These alternations in turn could provoke arrhythmia.⁶⁸⁻⁷⁰ As demonstrated by Luck et al., the effective and functional refractory period in humans with normal sinus node function is approximately 270ms and 310ms respectively.⁷¹ This means that a large amount of premature beats occurs far beyond the refractory period, which could be insufficient to cause additional conduction disorders.

Regarding aberrant conduction, Spach et al. demonstrated the features of anisotropic conduction, which entails that conduction velocity in the longitudinal fiber direction is higher than conduction velocity in the transverse fiber direction.⁷² In myocardial fibers with non-uniform anisotropy, they demonstrated that premature stimuli resulted in slow transverse conduction, providing a substrate for reentry.⁷² In addition, they observed that premature stimuli from other regions then the sinus node area provoked more conduction disorders.⁷³

The fact that in our study a higher degree of aberrancy resulted in a higher incidence of conduction disorders suggests that, during SR, wavefronts propagate along 'the way with the lowest capacitance' and thus propagate mainly in the longitudinal direction of myocardial fibers. During aberrant AES, conduction changes more to the transverse direction, resulting in an increase in the amount of conduction disorders. Similarly, when AES emerge as EBW, conduction theoretically spreads in all directions, but likely encounters areas of conduction delay or block in one or more directions due to enhanced non-uniform anisotropic properties of atrial tissue. This in turn increases the vulnerability for initiation of AF due to an increased likelihood of reentry around areas of conduction block within or between the endo- or epicardial layer. Presumably, spatial differences in refractoriness and non-uniform anisotropy play an important role in the likelihood of AES to initiate AF.

Substrates of atrial fibrillation

Conduction delay and block

Several mechanisms may underlie the presence of areas of conduction delay and conduction block, which can be roughly summarized in 3 categories including 1) slow conduction due to reduced membrane excitability, 2) slow conduction due to decreased cell-cell coupling and 3) slow conduction due to tissue structure.⁷⁴

Slow conduction due to reduced membrane excitability can be explained for a large part by reduced inflow of Na⁺ due to less available Na-channels.⁷⁴ This phenomena is present for example during acute ischemia and during tachycardia, but it can also be the result of certain genetic disorders causing loss of sodium channel function.⁷⁴ When the number of available sodium channels decreases, conduction velocity and the safety factor, which is defined as the ratio of the maximum current that can be delivered by a cell and the current that is needed for the action potential – and thereby conduction - to occur, also gradually decrease.⁷⁴ At a certain point, the number of available sodium channels falls below a critical value, after which the gradual decrease of conduction velocity and safety factor both switch to a rapid drop.⁷⁴ When eventually the safety factor falls below 1, hence the required current is more than the amount of current that can be delivered, conduction can no longer sustain.⁷⁴

Slow conduction due to decreased cell-to-cell coupling occurs in both physiological as pathophysiological conditions. Physiologically, cell-cell coupling in the transverse direction is less than in the longitudinal direction, resulting in uniform anisotropy.⁷⁴ Rapid cell-cell uncoupling, however, occurs during pathophysiological conditions such as acute ischemia and in the case of ventricular hypertrophy for instance,⁷⁴ The underlying cause of cell-cell uncoupling may be either adjusted conductance of gap junctions (e.g. due to hypoxia, acidification of ischemia), or an increased intracellular Ca²⁺ concentration, or by decreased cellular expression of gap-junctions.⁷⁴ When cell-cell uncoupling occurs, conduction velocity decreases gradually, similar as during reduced membrane excitability.⁷⁴ However, safety factor first increases to a maximum when a factor 100 cell-cell uncoupling is reached.⁷⁴ This phenomena can be explained by the fact that when cell-cell coupling reduces, the depolarizing current is more constrained to downstream cells with less electronic load.⁷⁴ This results in depolarization of individual cells with a high safety margin, albeit at very slow conduction velocity with discontinuous propagation of conduction.⁷⁴After this peak in safety factor, again similar to the state of reduced membrane excitability, a sharp reduction in safety factor occurs resulting in conduction block when safety factor becomes <1.74

Slow conduction can also be caused by altered tissue structure consisting of complex branching structures presumably leading to zig-zag-like discontinuous propagation of conduction.⁷⁴ In these complex branching structures, large tissue segments with side branches are connected to each other by small tissue segments without side branches.⁷⁴ When conduction propagates from the small connecting tissue segment toward the large branch tissue segment, a small mass has to excite a large mass, which leads to dispersion of local currents.⁷⁴ The large branch is activated after a conduction delay and conduction velocity in the main strand is decreased.⁷⁴ Once the large branch tissue mass is excited, conduction can propagate further to the next small interconnecting segment.⁷⁴ Hence, these side branches contain a pull and push effect for conduction, resulting in slow but safe propagation.⁷⁴ However, when these branches are damaged and thereby unexcitable, this results in conduction block of the entire region.

In this thesis, we first examined patterns of physiological conduction and demonstrated that patients with a history of AF showed longer total activation times during SR of the entire RA and LA epicardial surface including BB. This prolongation of activation times was mainly due to prolongation of conduction at RA and BB, rather than at LA (**Chapter 11**). This finding was suggestive of areas of local slowing of conduction, which may also present itself in areas of conduction delay (<29cm/s) and conduction block (<17cm/s).

In subsequent mapping studies, we indeed observed a higher amount of CD and CB at BB (**Chapter 12**) and at the PVA (**Chapter 15**) in patients with AF, who particularly showed longer lines of conduction block. At BB, longitudinal long lines of conduction block hamper conduction from right to left at BB, resulting in activation of BB via other pathways. The predominance of these alternative routes of conduction particularly in VHD patients may be the result of damage to the thick and thin septa surrounding BB myocytes.⁷⁵ It has been suggested that increased atrial stretch delays conduction along BB.⁷⁵ We hypothesize that this layer is more likely to be damaged first by chronic atrial stretch which is more pronounced in VHD patients. Damage to this layer may thereby slow BB conduction and give rise to the predominance of activation patterns via alternative routes of interatrial conduction.

This hypothesis was further supported by the observation that in patients with conduction via only PVA, conduction via BB is considerably slower – up to 31 ms – than via PVA.

Particularly patients with either AF, LA dilation or mitral valve disease showed longer total excitation times of the atria, which was all mostly influenced by conduction times along BB. Although MVD, LA dilation and AF are closely intertwined, our findings suggest that atrial activation times are particularly affected at BB and RA by remodeling due to the presence of AF, which might be secondarily enforced by atrial stretch as a result of MVD.

At the PVA, we observed that patients with AF have more and longer lines of CD, CB and continuous CDCB whereas in patients without AF, short lines of CD and CB separately are more diffusely present. Despite the fact that conduction abnormalities are more profound in patients with AF, the clinical categories of AF did not correspond with the amount of conduction disorders at the PVA during SR. In a previous study, we demonstrated a considerable intra-atrial variation in the distribution of conduction disorders across the right and left atrium, indicating that a low amount of CB at the PVA does not necessarily implicate a low amount of CB at other atrial regions.⁷⁶ Hence, the arrhythmogenic substrate underlying AF is either not located at the PVA in these patients or, although CD and CB measured during SR are indicators of structural conduction abnormalities, functional conduction disorders may only be revealed during triggers or AF.

Our findings at BB and PVA suggest a critical role for the spatial distribution of conduction abnormalities in AF development, requiring a certain length of an area of abnormal conduction for reentry to occur, which was also proposed in a previous experimental study by Ortiz et al. In case of stable atrial flutter, a functional CB line of 24mm was observed, enabling reentry to occur.⁷⁷ When the cycle length decreased, areas of slow conduction disappeared, resulting in a shorter line of functional CB and leading to unstable reentrant circuits migrating across the atrial wall, giving rise to AF.⁷⁷ We presume that when the atrial wall already contains continuous long lines of structural CD and CB, it is likely more vulnerable for reentry circuits to occur or for areas of functional block to connect, thereby reaching the critical length for AF initiation.

Epicardial breakthrough waves

The arrhythmogenic potential of areas of CD and CB lays largely in its aggravation of endoepicardial asynchrony (EEA) (Figure 3), defined as a difference in activation time between opposing sites at the endo- and epicardial layer. The resulting dissociation of the endo- and epicardial layer is one of the proposed mechanisms of AF, as it enables conduction to crossover from the endocardium to the epicardium and vice versa, leading to an ongoing pingpong phenomena.^{27,65,66,78,79}
During AF, so-called 'focal waves' or 'epicardial breakthrough waves', defined as new wavefronts arising at the epicardial surface that cannot be explained by wavefront propagation in the epicardial plane, were indeed frequently observed and noted as a key factor in the underlying substrate.²⁷ Whether these EBW could also occur during SR and whether this may be enforced by underlying heart disease was, thus far, unknown. Previous studies, however, had demonstrated the slightly oblique transmural orientation of propagating wavefronts through the myocardium.⁸⁰ Also, small differences between activation times of the epicardium and endocardium exist due to the presence of the underlying trabecular network which leads to local differences in wall thickness.⁷⁸ When the atria are completely healthy, these difference are assumed to be so small that the atrial wall functions rather as a 2D surface instead of the complex the 3D shape that it is. However, progressive structural remodeling leads to increased dissociation of epicardial and endocardial activation patterns.

High-resolution mapping of the entire atrial epicardial surface as presented in this thesis indeed showed the presence of EBW during SR (**Chapter 13**). Furthermore, characteristics of these EBW were all in favor of transmural conduction as the underlying mechanism. Surprisingly, we observed a higher incidence of EBW in IHD patients rather than VHD patients during SR. Also, the amount of CD and CB as a percentage of the entire atrial surface was higher in IHD than in VHD patients. A possible explanation for this observation is that IHD patients have more patchy (replacement) fibrosis due to ischemia, resulting in larger and denser areas of fibrotic depositions leading to EEA, whereas VHD patients are more likely to have interstitial fibrosis between the muscle bundles.

The importance of spatial distribution and degree of fibrotic depositions in the dynamics of fibrillatory waves and the location of potential EBW was also proposed in a study among heart failure patients by Tanaka et al.⁸¹ In their study, they demonstrated that heart failure patients more often had large areas of patchy fibrosis and, as a result, more often showed a breakthrough activation pattern during AF than patients without heart failure.⁸¹ During AF, these fibrous patches acted as anchors for reentrant circuits, impaired continuous wave propagation and leaded to breakthrough waves and fractionation of electrograms.⁸¹

Features of EBW electrogram morphology in combination with the repetitive occurrence of EBW during SR, their higher prevalence in patients with IHD and the fact that they occur mostly on thicker atrial regions such as the RA, all indicate the presence of an anatomical substrate. This anatomical substrate can be physiological, such as the mere fact that the presence of myocardial bundles cause certain areas of the atrial wall to be slightly thicker and therefore result in EEA, enabling EBW to occur. To a certain extent, the presence of a limited number of EBW merely as a result of EEA due to physiological differences in wall thickness in otherwise electrically and structurally normal atria are assumed to have limited impact on the SR activation pattern as the EBW will be integrated in the large broad SR wavefront. However, this physiological substrate can be enforced by pathophysiological processes, such as fibrosis, enhancing EEA.

During AF, the presence of multiple wavelets increases EEA, promoting EBW to occur. In addition, AF induced structural remodeling further enhances the degree of EEA, and thus the appearance of EBW. This vicious cycle of EEA stimulating EBW and vice versa may promote AF persistence. When observing multiple EBW spread over the atria, this may be an indicator of an extensive arrhythmogenic substrate and might be a future parameter in predicting outcome of AF therapy. When the arrhythmogenic substrate is more extensive throughout the atria, therapies addressing focal sources are likely to fail.



Figure 3. Endo-epicardial asynchrony

Local activation maps recorded at the epicardium and endocardium of the right atrial free wall are shown in the upper panel. Note the asynchrony in the epicardial activation pattern versus the endocardial activation patterns. This endo-epicardial asynchrony may lead to epicardial breakthrough waves as depicted in the lower panel.

362

Atrial regions of interest

Bachmann's bundle

We demonstrated the influence of underlying heart disease on the patterns of activation at the right and left atrium and Bachmann's bundle (**Chapter 11**) (Figure 4). Patients with valvular heart disease (VHD) particularly showed central entry sites of wavefronts at BB, instead of wavefronts propagation from right to left as expected in normal atria. Furthermore, VHD patients showed altered patterns of right-to-left interatrial conduction, for which activation pathways via the fossa ovalis and the coronary sinus ostium were more often involved.

In previous studies, muscular connections between BB and the interatrial septum were demonstrated, which can excite the center of BB.^{82–85} These muscular connections enable wavefronts to conduct via interatrial pathways such as the limbus of the fossa ovalis, the coronary sinus and interatrial bundles both superior and inferior along BB.^{84,85} SR wavefronts may then propagate upwards in the interatrial septum and activate the central area of BB.

We hypothesized that BB is vulnerable for stretch related damage, causing local conduction delay and block. In a subsequent study (**Chapter 12**), as described in the paragraph 'conduction delay and block', we indeed observed that AF patients had a higher amount of conduction disorders at BB, particularly showing longer lines of longitudinal conduction block than patients without a history of AF, resulting in BB excitation via other pathways. Abnormal conduction at BB has been associated with AF in previous studies by Bayes de Luna et al., who demonstrated that patients with interatrial conduction block at BB had a far higher incidence of AF compared to matched controls.^{86,87} Vice versa, in a study among 308 hospitalized patients who developed AF, advance interatrial block was present in 52% compared to 18% of 308 age- and gender-matched control patients without AF.⁸⁸ It is suggested that interatrial block, occurring at BB, is a reflection of alterations in the electrophysiological atrial properties at larger scale, which predisposes to AF development.

Pulmonary vein area

The pulmonary vein area (PVA) has been of particular interest in the pathophysiology of AF ever since Haissaguere et al. demonstrated bursts of rapid ectopic beats as triggers for spontaneous AF.²⁸ Since then, treatment strategies for AF mainly focus on isolation of the pulmonary vein area by endocardial and/or epicardial ablation. However, knowledge on 'normal' activation of the PVA, surprisingly, was lacking. Although previous mapping studies are consistent in their findings regarding RA excitation^{85,89–91}, activation of the LA appears to be more diverse, yet no other studies had ever quantified these variable activation patterns.^{6,85,89,92–96}



Figure 4. Bachmann's bundle

192-electrode array positioned at Bachmann's bundle of a post-mortem heart.

Ao: aorta, PA: pulmonary artery, ICV: inferior caval vein, LA: left atrium, RA: right atrium, LAA: left atrial appendage, LSPV: left superior pulmonary vein, RSPV: right superior pulmonary vein.

Our high-resolution mapping data enabled extensive quantification of conduction disorders and activation patterns at the PVA (**Chapter 15** and **Chapter 16**). As mentioned previously, at the PVA, we observed that patients with AF have more and longer lines of CD, CB and continuous CDCB whereas in patients without AF, short lines of CD and CB separately are more diffusely present. Based on these observations, we hypothesized that the combination of extensive lines of conduction block with multiple concomitantly entering wavefronts entering the PVA during SR from different directions might explain the increased arrhythmogenesis of this atrial region.

Indeed, we observed a large interindividual variety of PVA excitation, mostly occurring via multiple entering wavefronts. In addition, AF patients showed more uncommon patterns of activation, including wavefronts entering from the posterior and postero-superior and –inferior regions. Yet, more importantly, consecutive wavefronts showed a large spatiotemporal dissociation with a mean delta activation time of 10.6±8.8ms. Wavefront dissociation is a well-known attribute to arrhythmogenicity, since it facilitates the appropriate circumstances for reentry to occur.⁶⁵ However, we could not confirm our hypothesis that AF patients may have a larger degree of wavefront dissociation.

Incidence of AF showed a gradual increase in correspondence with an increased amount of risk factors of altered excitation. The combination of long lines of CD, CB or continuous CDCB with additional wavefronts coming from the posterior LA led to a more than 5-fold risk of AF compared to patients without these features.

CONCLUSIONS

In summary, data as presented in this thesis provides novel insights in arrhythmogenesis in patients undergoing cardiac surgery. Based on our findings we can draw the following conclusions:

- VPB, Vcouplets and Vruns occurred frequently after CABG, with respective incidences of 100%, 83% and 49%, yet, the risk of sustained VT or VF in the early postoperative phase is nihil.
- In adult CHD patients, (supra)ventricular arrhythmias are present in 73% of patients; coexistence of multiple atrial and/ or ventricular arrhythmias occurred in half of them.
- In CHD patients, regular arrhythmias tend to precede irregular arrhythmias and atrial arrhythmias precede ventricular tachyarrhythmias.
- Sustained tachyarrhythmias occur in a third of adult ToF patients, of whom 40% also shows coexistence of multiple tachyarrhythmias.
- Presence of sustained tachyarrhythmias is associated with decreased survival time in ToF patients.
- ToF patients develop AF at a relatively young age and show rapid progression of the arrhythmia.
- Transatrial-transpulmonary ToF correction has excellent survival, yet the high incidence of moderate and severe PR during follow-up is worrisome.
- Valve sparing ToF correction drastically reduces the incidence of PR.
- Arrhythmia surgery in CHD patients results in freedom from late AF recurrence for a small majority of patients.

- Compared to IHD patients, VHD patients more often show activation of Bachman's bundle (BB) via a central input, likely resulting from wavefront propagation upwards through the interatrial septum.
- Compared to IHD patients, VHD patients more often show activation of the left atrioventricular groove via interatrial conduction through the coronary sinus ostium and the oval fossa.
- Presence of AF is positively associated with conduction abnormalities at BB, particularly long lines of conduction disorders >12mm and a central entry site at BB predisposes for AF.
- During SR, Features of EBW electrograms support the hypothesis of transmural conduction due to endo-epicardial asynchrony as their underlying mechanism.
- During SR, EBW occur more often in IHD patients.
- AES presenting as an EBW provoke most conduction disorders.
- Presence of AF episodes was strongly associated with increased heterogeneity in conduction during SR.
- AF patients more often present with continuous lines of adjacent areas of CD and CB at the PVA, whereas in patients without AF, lines of CD and CB are more often separated by areas with normal intra-atrial conduction.
- The clinical AF classification as currently used in practice could not predict the extensiveness of electropathology measured during sinus rhythm at the PVA.
- Excitation of the PVA during SR occurred via multiple consecutive wavefronts in the vast majority of patient.
- The PVA is an atrial region containing substantial dissociation of consecutive wavefronts even during SR.

Future prospects in order to unravel arrhythmogenesis in cardiac surgery

In general, it is of utmost importance to initiate and continue long-term follow-up studies on specific cohorts of CHD patients with early surgery, als with regard to arrhythmia development. Specifically, since valve sparing total ToF correction is increasingly being performed, long-term follow-up is necessary in order to unravel the presumed beneficial effects of preservation of the pulmonary valve on arrhythmia development and ventricular deterioration. Knowledge on AF development and its timespan of progression is essential in these patients since they are at risk for ventricular deterioration at a relatively young age, which can also be aggravated by arrhythmia development, particularly AF.^{97–99} In order to gain more insight in the mechanisms of AF development and possible alterations in the conduction system due to the congenital defect, high-resolution mapping studies are currently being initiated in adult and infant CHD patients undergoing primary surgery as well. Data of these patients are likely to provide new insights in the possible increased arrhythmogenic state of CHD patients.

Furthermore, recurrence rates after ablative treatment strategies for AF currently remain unsatisfactory. The exact pathophysiological understanding of AF is controversial as several studies have suggested AF rotors as the underlying mechanism, whereas other studies report on the presence of multiple independent wandering fibrillation waves and endo-epicardial asynchrony as underlying mechanism of AF persistence.^{27,100-102}

Based on the assumption that atrial fibrosis plays an important role in the pathogenesis of AF, several methods have been developed for the detection of fibrotic tissue, of which voltage mapping and focusing on complex fractionated potentials is largely used in clinical practice. However, signal voltages depend on a variety of factors, including the activation vector, angle of the catheter with regard to the tissue, size of the electrode, interelectrode distance, extent of tissue contact, filtering, mapping density and mapping resolution.¹⁰³ Furthermore, recent studies have shown the complex and heterogeneous etiology of fractionated potentials, providing a possible explanation of the low success rate of ablative therapy targeting these complex fractionated potentials.¹⁰⁴

In clinical practice, knowledge of the extensiveness of electropathology measured by quantification of electrical parameters on high-resolution scale will lead to better clinical decision making regarding AF therapy. In case of severe and widespread electropathology, cardiologists and cardiothoracic surgeons might better decide not to perform an (surgical) ablation, as success is unlikely.

Currently, mapping data of a large cohort of patients undergoing MAZE-surgery is being examined, of which we expect novel insights in the mechanisms of AF and its risk of recurrence. The results of this study may likely provide the first steps towards risk stratification of AF recurrence in clinical practice. Ultimately, real-time processing of intraoperative epicardial signals would provide a helpful tool to intra-operatively decide whether to perform MAZE surgery or not, based on extensiveness of electropathology. In addition, development of a minimally-invasive high-resolution mapping tool would serve the same goal for endovascular ablative therapy. In these cases where ablative therapy is likely to fail, novel drug therapies aimed at altering the AF substrate by reversing structural remodeling would be more beneficial than catheter ablation. Recently, it was demonstrated that structural damage results from derailment in cardiomyocyte proteostasis, which includes protein expression, function and clearance.¹⁰⁵ Also, this derailment could be normalized by overexpression of heat shock proteins (HSP).¹⁰⁶⁻¹⁰⁸ HSP expression can be enhanced by administration of L-glutamine.^{106,107} L-glutamine induces the expression of HSP70 and HSP27 in the heart by enhancing the binding of the transcription factor to the promotor sequence of HSP genes.^{109,110} Currently, a prospective cohort study was initiated in which the effect of L-glutamine on HSP levels and its relation to AF burden are being examined.

REFERENCES

- Khairy P, Van Hare GF, Balaji S, Berul CI, Cecchin F, Cohen MI, Daniels CJ, Deal BJ, Dearani JA, Groot N de, Dubin AM, Harris L, Janousek J, Kanter RKJKJKJ, Karpawich PP, Perry JC, Seslar SP, Shah MJ, Silka MJ, Triedman JK, Walsh EP, Warnes CA, de Groot N, Dubin AM, Harris L, Janousek J, Kanter RKJKJKJ, Karpawich PP, Perry JC, Seslar SP, Shah MJ, Silka MJ, Triedman JK, Walsh EP, Warnes CA. PACES/HRS Expert Consensus Statement on the Recognition and Management of Arrhythmias in Adult Congenital Heart Disease. *Can J Cardiol*. 2014;30:1–64.
- 2. Zeppenfeld K. Ventricular tachycardia in repaired congenital heart disease. *Herzschrittmachertherapie* + *Elektrophysiologie*. 2016;27:131–136.
- 3. Khairy P. Ventricular arrhythmias and sudden cardiac death in adults with congenital heart disease. *Heart*. 2016;1–7.
- 4. Hirose M, Takeishi Y, Miyamoto T, Kubota I, Laurita KR, Chiba S. Mechanism for atrial tachyarrhythmia in chronic volume overload-induced dilated atria. *J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol*. 2005;16:760–769.
- 5. Ravelli F, Masè M, Del Greco M, Marini M, Disertori M. Acute atrial dilatation slows conduction and increases AF vulnerability in the human atrium. *J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol*. 2011;22:394–401.
- Roberts-Thomson KC, Stevenson I, Kistler PM, Haqqani HM, Spence SJ, Goldblatt JC, Sanders P, Kalman JM. The role of chronic atrial stretch and atrial fibrillation on posterior left atrial wall conduction. *Heart Rhythm*. 2009;6:1109–1117.
- Eckstein J, Zeemering S, Linz D, Maesen B, Verheule S, van Hunnik A, Crijns H, Allessie MA, Schotten U, Eckstein J, Zeemering S, Linz D, Maesen B, Verheule S, Hunnik A van, Crijns H, Allessie MA, Schotten U. Transmural conduction is the predominant mechanism of breakthrough during atrial fibrillation: evidence from simultaneous endo-epicardial high-density activation mapping. *Circ Arrhythm Electrophysiol.* 2013;6:334–41.
- Walters TE, Lee G, Spence S, Larobina M, Atkinson V, Antippa P, Goldblatt J, O'Keefe M, Sanders P, Kistler PM, Kalman JM. Acute atrial stretch results in conduction slowing and complex signals at the pulmonary vein to left atrial junction: Insights into the mechanism of pulmonary vein arrhythmogenesis. *Circ Arrhythmia Electrophysiol*. 2014;7:1189–1197.
- 9. Decker JA, Kim JJ. Management of arrhythmias in patients with a tetralogy of Fallot. *Cardiol Young.* 2013;23:888–895.
- Gatzoulis MA, Till JA, Somerville J, Redington AN. Mechanoelectrical Interaction in Tetralogy of Fallot. *Circulation*. 1995;95:231–237.
- 11. Kuijpers NHL, ten Eikelder HMM, Bovendeerd PHM, Verheule S, Arts T, Hilbers PAJ. Mechanoelectric feedback leads to conduction slowing and block in acutely dilated atria: a modeling study of cardiac electromechanics. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol*. 2007;292:H2832-53.
- 12. de Groot NMS, Atary JZ, Blom NA, Schalij MJ. Long-Term Outcome After Ablative Therapy of Postoperative Atrial Tachyarrhythmia in Patients With Congenital Heart Disease and Characteristics of Atrial Tachyarrhythmia Recurrences. *Circ Arrhythmia Electrophysiol*. 2010;3:148–54.

- Delacretaz E, Ganz LI, Soejima K, Friedman PL, Walsh EP, Triedman JK, Sloss LJ, Landzberg MJ, Stevenson WG. Multi atrial maco-re-entry circuits in adults with repaired congenital heart disease: entrainment mapping combined with three-dimensional electroanatomic mapping. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2001;37:1665–76.
- 14. Mah DY, Alexander ME, Cecchin F, Walsh EP, Triedman JK. The electroanatomic mechanisms of atrial tachycardia in patients with tetralogy of Fallot and double outlet right ventricle. *J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol.* 2011;22:1013–7.
- de Groot NMS, Zeppenfeld K, Wijffels MC, Chan WK, Blom NA, Van der Wall EE, Schalij MJ. Ablation of focal atrial arrhythmia in patients with congenital heart defects after surgery: Role of circumscribed areas with heterogeneous conduction. *Heart Rhythm.* 2006;3:526–535.
- Teuwen CP, Taverne YJHJ, Houck C, Götte M, Brundel BJJM, Evertz R, Witsenburg M, Roos-Hesselink JW, Bogers AJJC, de Groot NMS, Molhoek SG, Ramdjan TTTK, Helbing WA, Kammeraad JAE, Dorman HGR, van Opstal JM, Konings TC, Vriend JWJ, van der Voort P. Tachyarrhythmia in patients with congenital heart disease: Inevitable destiny? *Netherlands Hear J*. 2016;24:161–170.
- 17. Khairy P, Stevenson WG. Catheter ablation in tetralogy of Fallot. *Heart Rhythm*. 2009;6:1069–1074.
- 18. Zeppenfeld K, Schalij MJ, Bartelings MM, Tedrow UB, Koplan BA, Soejima K, Stevenson WG. Catheter ablation of ventricular tachycardia after repair of congenital heart disease: electroanatomic identification of the critical right ventricular isthmus. *Circulation*. 2007;116:2241–52.
- 19. Nguyen TP, Qu Z, Weiss JN. Cardiac Fibrosis and Arrhythmogenesis: The Road to Repair is Paved with Perils. *J Mol Cell Cardiol*. 2014;83–91.
- 20. Geva T. Indications and Timing of Pulmonary Valve Replacement After Tetralogy of Fallot Repair. *Pediatr Card Surg Annu*. 2006;9:11–22.
- 21. Bacha E. Valve-Sparing or Valve Reconstruction Options in Tetralogy of Fallot Surgery. *Semin Thorac Cardiovasc Surg Pediatr Card Surg Annu*. 2017;20:79–83.
- 22. Hickey E, Pham-Hung E, Halvorsen F, Gritti M, Duong A, Wilder T, Caldarone C, Redington A, Van Arsdell G. Annulus-Sparing Tetralogy of Fallot Repair: Low Risk and Benefits to Right Ventricular Geometry. *Ann Thorac Surg.* 2017;
- 23. Gonzalez-Zuelgaray J, Perez A. Regular supraventricular tachycardias associated with idiopathic atrial fibrillation. *Am J Cardiol*. 2006;98:1242–4.
- 24. Sparks PB, Jayaprakash S, Vohra JK, Kalman JM. Electrical Remodeling of the Atria Associated With Paroxysmal and Chronic Atrial Flutter. *Circulation*. 2000;102:1807–1813.
- 25. Denes P, Wu D, Dhingra R, Pietras RJ, Rosen KM. The Effects of Cycle Length on Cardiac Refractory Periods in Man. *Circulation*. 1974;49:32–41.
- 26. Fenelon G, Shepard RK, Stambler BS. Focal origin of atrial tachycardia in dogs with rapid ventricular pacing-induced heart failure. *J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol*. 2003;14:1093–102.
- de Groot N, Houben R, Smeets J, Boersma E, Schotten U, Schalij M, Crijns H, Allessie M. Electropathological Substrate of Longstanding Persistent Atrial Fibrillation in Patients With Structural Heart Disease: Epicardial Breakthrough. *Circulation*. 2010;122:1674–1683.

- Haïssaguerre M, Jaïs P, Shah DC, Takahashi A, Hocini M, Quiniou G, Garrigue S, Le Mouroux A, Le Métayer P, Clémenty J. Spontaneous Initiation of Atrial Fibrillation by Ectopic Beats Originating in the Pulmonary Veins. http://dx.doi.org.prxy4.ursus.maine.edu/101056/NEJM199809033391003. 1998;339:659–666.
- 29. Jalife J, Berenfeld O, Skanes A, Mandapati R. Mechanisms of atrial fibrillation: mother rotors or multiple daughter wavelets, or both? *J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol*. 1998;9:S2-12.
- 30. Kürer CC, Tanner CS, Vetter VL. Electrophysiologic findings after Fontan repair of functional single ventricle. *J Am Coll Cardiol*. 1991;17:174–81.
- 31. Gopinathannair R, Etheridge SP, Marchlinski FE, Spinale FG, Lakkireddy D, Olshansky B. Arrhythmia-Induced Cardiomyopathies: Mechanisms, Recognition, and Management. *J Am Coll Cardiol.* 2015;66:1714–28.
- 32. Maisel WH, Stevenson LW. Atrial fibrillation in heart failure: epidemiology, pathophysiology, and rationale for therapy. *Am J Cardiol*. 2003;91:2D–8D.
- 33. Medi C, Kalman JM, Haqqani H, Vohra JK, Morton JB, Sparks PB, Kistler PM. Tachycardia-Mediated Cardiomyopathy Secondary to Focal Atrial Tachycardia. *J Am Coll Cardiol*. 2009;53:1791–1797.
- 34. Ju W, Yang B, Li M, Zhang F, Chen H, Gu K, Yu J, Cao K, Chen M. Tachycardiomyopathy complicated by focal atrial tachycardia: incidence, risk factors, and long-term outcome. *J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol.* 2014;25:953–957.
- 35. Kang KT, Etheridge SP, Kantoch MJ, Tisma-Dupanovic S, Bradley DJ, Balaji S, Hamilton RM, Singh AK, Cannon BC, Schaffer MS, Potts JE, Sanatani S. Current Management of Focal Atrial Tachycardia in Children: A Multicenter Experience. *Circ Arrhythmia Electrophysiol.* 2014;7:664–670.
- 36. Hasdemir C, Yuksel A, Camli D, Kartal Y, Simsek E, Musayev O, Isayev E, Aydin M, Can LH. Late gadolinium enhancement CMR in patients with tachycardia-induced cardiomyopathy caused by idiopathic ventricular arrhythmias. *Pacing Clin Electrophysiol*. 2012;35:465–70.
- Yokokawa M, Good E, Crawford T, Chugh A, Pelosi F, Latchamsetty R, Jongnarangsin K, Armstrong W, Ghanbari H, Oral H, Morady F, Bogun F. Recovery from left ventricular dysfunction after ablation of frequent premature ventricular complexes. *Heart Rhythm*. 2013;10:172–5.
- Kawamura M, Badhwar N, Vedantham V, Tseng ZH, Lee BK, Lee RJ, Marcus GM, Olgin JE, Gerstenfeld EP, Scheinman MM. Coupling interval dispersion and body mass index are independent predictors of idiopathic premature ventricular complex-induced cardiomyopathy. *J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol*. 2014;25:756–62.
- 39. Spinale FG, Hendrick DA, Crawford FA, Smith AC, Hamada Y, Carabello BA. Chronic supraventricular tachycardia causes ventricular dysfunction and subendocardial injury in swine. *Am J Physiol Circ Physiol*. 1990;259:H218–H229.
- 40. Tomita M, Spinale FG, Crawford FA, Zile MR. Changes in left ventricular volume, mass, and function during the development and regression of supraventricular tachycardia-induced cardiomyopathy. Disparity between recovery of systolic versus diastolic function. *Circulation*. 1991;83:635–44.
- 41. Moe GW, Angus C, Howard RJ, Parker TG, Armstrong PW. Evaluation of indices of left ventricular contractility and relaxation in evolving canine experimental heart failure. *Cardiovasc Res.* 1992;26:362–6.

- 42. Armstrong PW, Stopps TP, Ford SE, de Bold AJ. Rapid ventricular pacing in the dog: pathophysiologic studies of heart failure. *Circulation*. 1986;74:1075–84.
- 43. Shannon RP, Komamura K, Stambler BS, Bigaud M, Manders WT, Vatner SF. Alterations in myocardial contractility in conscious dogs with dilated cardiomyopathy. *Am J Physiol.* 1991;260:H1903-11.
- 44. Komamura K, Shannon RP, Ihara T, Shen YT, Mirsky I, Bishop SP, Vatner SF. Exhaustion of Frank-Starling mechanism in conscious dogs with heart failure. *Am J Physiol*. 1993;265:H1119-31.
- 45. Moe GW, Grima EA, Wong NL, Howard RJ, Armstrong PW. Dual natriuretic peptide system in experimental heart failure. *J Am Coll Cardiol*. 1993;22:891–8.
- 46. Spinale FG, Holzgrefe HH, Mukherjee R, Hird RB, Walker JD, Arnim-Barker A, Powell JR, Koster WH. Angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibition and the progression of congestive cardiomyopathy. Effects on left ventricular and myocyte structure and function. *Circulation*. 1995;92:562–78.
- 47. Riegger GA, Elsner D, Kromer EP, Daffner C, Forssmann WG, Muders F, Pascher EW, Kochsiek K. Atrial natriuretic peptide in congestive heart failure in the dog: plasma levels, cyclic guanosine monophosphate, ultrastructure of atrial myoendocrine cells, and hemodynamic, hormonal, and renal effects. *Circulation*. 1988;77:398–406.
- 48. Spinale FG, de Gasparo M, Whitebread S, Hebbar L, Clair MJ, Melton DM, Krombach RS, Mukherjee R, Iannini JP, O SJ. Modulation of the renin-angiotensin pathway through enzyme inhibition and specific receptor blockade in pacing-induced heart failure: I. Effects on left ventricular performance and neurohormonal systems. *Circulation*. 1997;96:2385–96.
- 49. Bradham WS, Bozkurt B, Gunasinghe H, Mann D, Spinale FG. Tumor necrosis factor-alpha and myocardial remodeling in progression of heart failure: a current perspective. *Cardiovasc Res.* 2002;53:822–30.
- 50. Cory CR, McCutcheon LJ, O'Grady M, Pang AW, Geiger JD, O'Brien PJ. Compensatory downregulation of myocardial Ca channel in SR from dogs with heart failure. *Am J Physiol*. 1993;264:H926-37.
- 51. Mukherjee R, Hewett KW, Walker JD, Basler CG, Spinale FG. Changes in L-type calcium channel abundance and function during the transition to pacing-induced congestive heart failure. *Cardiovasc Res.* 1998;37:432–44.
- 52. Perreault CL, Shannon RP, Komamura K, Vatner SF, Morgan JP. Abnormalities in intracellular calcium regulation and contractile function in myocardium from dogs with pacing-induced heart failure. *J Clin Invest*. 1992;89:932–8.
- 53. Vatner DE, Sato N, Kiuchi K, Shannon RP, Vatner SF. Decrease in myocardial ryanodine receptors and altered excitation-contraction coupling early in the development of heart failure. *Circulation*. 1994;90:1423–30.
- 54. Spinale FG, Tomita M, Zellner JL, Cook JC, Crawford FA, Zile MR. Collagen remodeling and changes in LV function during development and recovery from supraventricular tachycardia. *Am J Physiol Circ Physiol*. 1991;261:H308–H318.
- 55. Spinale FG, Coker ML, Thomas C V, Walker JD, Mukherjee R, Hebbar L. Time-dependent changes in matrix metalloproteinase activity and expression during the progression of congestive heart failure: relation to ventricular and myocyte function. *Circ Res.* 1998;82:482–95.

372

- 56. Zellner JL, Spinale FG, Eble DM, Hewett KW, Crawford FA. Alterations in myocyte shape and basement membrane attachment with tachycardia-induced heart failure. *Circ Res.* 1991;69:590–600.
- 57. Cobb FRF, Blumenschein SDS, Sealy WCW, Boineau JP, Wagner GSG, Wallace a. GA. Successful Surgical Interruption of the Bundle of Kent in a Patient with Wolff-Parkinson-White Syndrome. *Circulation*. 1968;38:1018–1029.
- 58. Gallagher JJ, Gilbert M, Svenson RH, Sealy WC, Kasell J, Wallace a G. Wolff-Parkinson-White syndrome. The problem, evaluation, and surgical correction. *Circulation*. 1975;51:767–85.
- 59. Yaksh a, Kik C, Knops P, Roos-Hesselink JW, Bogers a JJC, Zijlstra F, Allessie M, de Groot NMS. Atrial fibrillation: to map or not to map? *Neth Heart J*. 2014;22:259–66.
- 60. Nattel S, Burstein B, Dobrev D. Atrial Remodeling and Atrial Fibrillation: Mechanisms and Implications. *Circ Arrhythmia Electrophysiol*. 2008;1:62–73.
- 61. Wijffels MC, Kirchhof CJ, Dorland R, Allessie MA. Atrial fibrillation begets atrial fibrillation. A study in awake chronically instrumented goats. *Circulation*. 1995;92:1954–68.
- 62. Lalani GG, Trikha R, Krummen DE, Narayan SM. Rotors and focal sources for human atrial fibrillation: mechanistic paradigm with direct clinical relevance. *Circ J*. 2014;78:2357–66.
- 63. Moe GK, Abildskov JA. Atrial fibrillation as a self-sustaining arrhythmia independent of focal discharge. *Am Heart J.* 1959;58:59–70.
- 64. Allessie M. Experimental evaluation of Moe's multiple wavelet hypothesis of atrial fibrillation. Cardiac Electrophysiology and Arrhythmias. *Card Electrophysiol Arrhythmias*. 1985;0:265–276.
- 65. Allessie MA, De Groot NMS, Houben RPM, Schotten U, Boersma E, Smeets JL, Crijns HJ. Electropathological substrate of long-standing persistent atrial fibrillation in patients with structural heart disease: longitudinal dissociation. *Circ Arrhythm Electrophysiol*. 2010;3:606–15.
- 66. de Groot N, van der Does L, Yaksh A, Lanters E, Teuwen C, Knops P, van de Woestijne P, Bekkers J, Kik C, Bogers A, Allessie M. Direct Proof of Endo-Epicardial Asynchrony of the Atrial Wall During Atrial Fibrillation in Humans. *Circ Arrhythmia Electrophysiol*. 2016;9:e003648.
- 67. Haïssaguerre M, Sanders P, Hocini M, Jaïs P, Clémenty J. Pulmonary veins in the substrate for atrial fibrillation: the "venous wave" hypothesis. *J Am Coll Cardiol*. 2004;43:2290–2.
- 68. Spach MS, Heidlage JF, Dolber PC, Barr RC. Mechanism of origin of conduction disturbances in aging human atrial bundles: Experimental and model study. *Heart Rhythm*. 2007;4:175–185.
- 69. Allessie MA, Bonke FI, Schopman FJ. Circus movement in rabbit atrial muscle as a mechanism of tachycardia. II. The role of nonuniform recovery of excitability in the occurrence of unidirectional block, as studied with multiple microelectrodes. *Circ Res.* 1976;39:168–77.
- Anyukhovsky EP, Sosunov EA, Chandra P, Rosen TS, Boyden PA, Danilo P, Rosen MR. Ageassociated changes in electrophysiologic remodeling: a potential contributor to initiation of atrial fibrillation. *Cardiovasc Res.* 2005;66:353–63.
- 71. Luck JC, Engel TR. Dispersion of atrial refractoriness in patients with sinus node dysfunction. *Circulation*. 1979;60:404–12.

11

- 72. Spach MS, Dolber PC, Heidlage JF. Influence of the passive anisotropic properties on directional differences in propagation following modification of the sodium conductance in human atrial muscle. A model of reentry based on anisotropic discontinuous propagation. *Circ Res.* 1988;62:811–832.
- 73. Spach MS, Dolber PC, Heidlage JF. Interaction of inhomogeneities of repolarization with anisotropic propagation in dog atria. A mechanism for both preventing and initiating reentry. *Circ Res.* 1989;65:1612–31.
- 74. Kléber AG, Rudy Y. Basic mechanisms of cardiac impulse propagation and associated arrhythmias. *Physiol Rev.* 2004;84:431–488.
- 75. van Campenhout MJH, Yaksh A, Kik C, de Jaegere PP, Ho SY, Allessie M a, de Groot NMS. Bachmann's bundle: a key player in the development of atrial fibrillation? *Circ Arrhythm Electrophysiol*. 2013;6:1041–6.
- Lanters EAHH, Yaksh A, Teuwen CP, van der Does LJMEME, Kik C, Knops P, van Marion DMSS, Brundel BJJMJM, Bogers AJJCJC, Allessie MA, de Groot NMSS. Spatial distribution of conduction disorders during sinus rhythm. *Int J Cardiol*. 2017;249:220–225.
- 77. Ortiz J, Niwano S, Abe H, Rudy Y, Johnson NJ, Waldo AL. Mapping the conversion of atrial flutter to atrial fibrillation and atrial fibrillation to atrial flutter. Insights into mechanisms. *Circ Res.* 1994;74:882–894.
- Verheule S, Eckstein J, Linz D, Maesen B, Bidar E, Gharaviri A, Schotten U. Role of endo-epicardial dissociation of electrical activity and transmural conduction in the development of persistent atrial fibrillation. *Prog Biophys Mol Biol.* 2014;115:173–185.
- 79. van der Does LJME, Kik C, Bogers AJJC, Allessie MA, de Groot NMS. Dynamics of Endo- and Epicardial Focal Fibrillation Waves at the Right Atrium in a Patient With Advanced Atrial Remodelling. *Can J Cardiol.* 2016;32:1260.e19-1260.e21.
- 80. Houben RPM, de Groot NMS, Smeets JLRM, Becker AE, Lindemans FW, Allessie MA. S-wave predominance of epicardial electrograms during atrial fibrillation in humans: indirect evidence for a role of the thin subepicardial layer. *Heart Rhythm*. 2004;1:639–47.
- Tanaka K, Zlochiver S, Vikstrom KL, Yamazaki M, Moreno J, Klos M, Zaitsev A V, Vaidyanathan R, Auerbach DS, Landas S, Guiraudon G, Jalife J, Berenfeld O, Kalifa J. Spatial distribution of fibrosis governs fibrillation wave dynamics in the posterior left atrium during heart failure. *Circ Res.* 2007;101:839–47.
- 82. Ho SY, Sanchez-Quintana D, Cabrera JA, Anderson RH. Anatomy of the left atrium: implications for radiofrequency ablation of atrial fibrillation. *J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol*. 1999;10:1525–33.
- 83. Platonov PG, Mitrofanova L, Ivanov V, Ho SY. Substrates for intra-atrial and interatrial conduction in the atrial septum: anatomical study on 84 human hearts. *Heart Rhythm*. 2008;5:1189–95.
- 84. Teuwen CP, Yaksh A, Lanters EAH, Kik C, van der Does LJME, Knops P, Taverne YJHJ, van de Woestijne PC, Oei FBS, Bekkers JA, Bogers AJJC, Allessie MA, de Groot NMS. Relevance of Conduction Disorders in Bachmann's Bundle During Sinus Rhythm in Humans. *Circ Arrhythm Electrophysiol*. 2016;9:e003972.

- 85. Tapanainen JM, Jurkko R, Holmqvist F, Husser D, Kongstad O, Mäkijärvi M, Toivonen L, Platonov PG. Interatrial right-to-left conduction in patients with paroxysmal atrial fibrillation. *J Interv Card Electrophysiol*. 2009;25:117–22.
- 86. Bayés de Luna A, Cladellas M, Oter R, Torner P, Guindo J, Martí V, Rivera I, Iturralde P. Interatrial conduction block and retrograde activation of the left atrium and paroxysmal supraventricular tachyarrhythmia. *Eur Heart J.* 1988;9:1112–8.
- Conde D, Seoane L, Gysel M, Mitrione S, Bayés De Luna A, Baranchuk A. Bayés' syndrome: The association between interatrial block and supraventricular arrhythmias. *Expert Rev Cardiovasc Ther.* 2015;13:541–550.
- 88. Agarwal YK, Aronow WS, Levy JA, Spodick DH. Association of interatrial block with development of atrial fibrillation. *Am J Cardiol.* 2003;91:882.
- 89. Lemery R, Birnie D, Tang ASL, Green M, Gollob M, Hendry M, Lau E. Normal atrial activation and voltage during sinus rhythm in the human heart: an endocardial and epicardial mapping study in patients with a history of atrial fibrillation. *J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol*. 2007;18:402–8.
- Sakamoto S, Yamauchi S, Yamashita H, Imura H, Maruyama Y, Ogasawara H, Hatori N, Shimizu K. Intra-operative mapping of the right atrial free wall during sinus rhythm: variety of activation patterns and incidence of postoperative atrial fibrillation. *Eur J Cardiothorac Surg.* 2006;30:132–9.
- 91. Boineau JP, Canavan TE, Schuessler RB, Cain ME, Corr PB, Cox JL. Demonstration of a widely distributed atrial pacemaker complex in the human heart. *Circulation*. 1988;77:1221–1237.
- 92. Boineau JP, Schuessler RB, Hackel DB, Miller CB, Brockus CW, Wylds a C. Widespread distribution and rate differentiation of the atrial pacemaker complex. *Am J Physiol*. 1980;239:H406-15.
- 93. Roberts-Thomson KC, Stevenson IH, Kistler PM, Haqqani HM, Goldblatt JC, Sanders P, Kalman JM. Anatomically Determined Functional Conduction Delay in the Posterior Left Atrium. Relationship to Structural Heart Disease. *J Am Coll Cardiol*. 2008;51:856–862.
- 94. Markides V, Schilling R, Ho S, Chow A, Wyn Davies D, Peters N. Characterization of Left Atrial Activation in the Intact Human Heart. *Circulation*. 2003;107:733–739.
- 95. David M. Harrild, Craig S. Hen. A Computer Model of Normal Conduction in the Human Atria. *Circ Res.* 2000;87:e25–e36.
- 96. Durrer D, Van Dam R, Freud G, Janse MJ, Meijler FL, Arzbaecher RC. Total Excitation of the Isolated Human Heart. *Circulation*. 1970;41:899–912.
- 97. Wolf PA, Abbott RD, Kannel WB. Atrial fibrillation as an independent risk factor for stroke: the Framingham Study. *Stroke*. 1991;22:983–8.
- 98. Wang TJ, Larson MG, Levy D, Vasan RS, Leip EP, Wolf PA, D'Agostino RB, Murabito JM, Kannel WB, Benjamin EJ. Temporal relations of atrial fibrillation and congestive heart failure and their joint influence on mortality: the Framingham Heart Study. *Circulation*. 2003;107:2920–5.
- 99. Kotecha D, Piccini JP. Atrial fibrillation in heart failure: what should we do? *Eur Heart J*. 2015;36:ehv513.
- 100. Moe GK, Rheinboldt WC, Abildskov JA. A computer model of atrial fibrillation. *Am Heart J.* 1964;67:200–20.

- 101. Allessie MA, De Groot NMS, Houben RPM, Schotten U, Boersma E, Smeets JL, Crijns HJ. Electropathological substrate of long-standing persistent atrial fibrillation in patients with structural heart disease longitudinal dissociation. *Circ Arrhythmia Electrophysiol.* 2010;3:606–615.
- 102. Buch E, Share M, Tung R, Benharash P, Sharma P, Koneru J, Mandapati R, Ellenbogen KA, Shivkumar K. Long-term clinical outcomes of focal impulse and rotor modulation for treatment of atrial fibrillation: A multicenter experience. *Heart Rhythm*. 2016;13:636–641.
- 103. Anter E, Josephson ME. Bipolar voltage amplitude: What does it really mean? *Heart Rhythm*. 2016;13:326–327.
- 104. van der Does LJME, Knops P, Teuwen CP, Serban C, Starreveld R, Lanters EAH, Mouws EMJP, Kik C, Bogers AJJC, de Groot NMS. Unipolar atrial electrogram morphology from an epicardial and endocardial perspective. *Heart Rhythm.* 2018;
- 105. Zhang D, Ke L, Mackovicova K, Der Want JJL Van, Sibon OCM, Tanguay RM, Morrow G, Henning RH, Kampinga HH, Brundel BJJM. Effects of different small HSPB members on contractile dysfunction and structural changes in a Drosophila melanogaster model for Atrial Fibrillation. J Mol Cell Cardiol. 2011;51:381–389.
- 106. Brundel BJJM, Shiroshita-Takeshita A, Qi X, Yeh Y-H, Chartier D, van Gelder IC, Henning RH, Kampinga HH, Nattel S. Induction of Heat Shock Response Protects the Heart Against Atrial Fibrillation. *Circ Res.* 2006;99:1394–1402.
- 107. Ke L, Meijering RAM, Hoogstra-Berends F, Mackovicova K, Vos MJ, Van Gelder IC, Henning RH, Kampinga HH, Brundel BJJM. HSPB1, HSPB6, HSPB7 and HSPB8 Protect against RhoA GTPase-Induced Remodeling in Tachypaced Atrial Myocytes. *PLoS One*. 2011;6:e20395.
- 108. Hu X, Van Marion DMS, Wiersma M, Zhang D, Brundel BJJM. The protective role of small heat shock proteins in cardiac diseases: key role in atrial fibrillation. *Cell Stress Chaperones*. 2017;22:665–674.
- 109. Gong J, Jing L. Glutamine induces heat shock protein 70 expression via O-GlcNAc modification and subsequent increased expression and transcriptional activity of heat shock factor-1. *Minerva Anestesiol*. 2011;77:488–95.
- 110. Hamiel CR, Pinto S, Hau A, Wischmeyer PE. Glutamine enhances heat shock protein 70 expression via increased hexosamine biosynthetic pathway activity. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol*. 2009;297:C1509-19.





ENGLISH SUMMARY

Elisabeth M.J.P. Mouws

ENGLISH SUMMARY

As a result of the aging population, the prevalence of cardiovascular diseases is increasing. Particularly atrial fibrillation (AF) is becoming a worldwide epidemic with a prevalence of 3% in the population \geq 20 years increasing up to 10% of the population \geq 70 years.¹⁻⁵ The lifetime risk for development of AF is 25% in 40-year old adults³ and estimates are that by 2030, the European Union will count 14–17 million AF patients, with 120,000–215,000 newly diagnosed patients per year.⁵

Population growth and its increasing age is also reflected in the number of patients undergoing cardiothoracic surgery. Each year, approximately 17,000 cardiothoracic surgical procedures are performed in the Netherlands and this number is steadily rising with 1% per year. Postoperative tachyarrhythmias, mainly consisting of de novo postoperative AF occurring in 15-45% of the patients^{6–9}, are a leading cause of increased morbidity and mortality after cardiac surgery. Though AF is presumed to progress from a trigger driven to a substrate driven disease, its exact pathophysiology remains unresolved. In order to understand electropathology related with AF, it is essential to gain knowledge on the variation in electrical atrial properties due to various underlying heart diseases during sinus rhythm (SR).

This thesis is aimed at unraveling arrhythmogenesis in patients with ischemic, valvular and congenital heart diseases (IHD, VHD, CHD) undergoing cardiac surgery. For this purpose, several retrospective cohort studies were performed with specific interest in coexistence and order of appearance of different atrial and ventricular arrhythmias in CHD patients. Furthermore, intra-operative high-resolution mapping studies of the entire atrial epicardial surface during SR were performed in IHD and VHD patients, providing novel insights in the influence of heart disease on myocardial conduction and the underlying mechanisms of AF development in particular.

Chapter 1 provides a general introduction to this thesis, as well as its outline. This chapter forms the background against which the research hypotheses are explained and the aims of this thesis are defined.

In **Chapter 2**, we report the incidence and predictors of ventricular dysrhythmias, including ventricular premature beats (VPB), ventricular couplets (Vcouplet) and ventricular runs (Vrun), in the early postoperative phase of 102 patients undergoing coronary artery bypass grafting surgery (CABG) who were monitored by continuous rhythm registrations. This study demonstrated that VPB, Vcouplets and Vruns occurred frequently, with respective incidences of 100%, 83% and 49%. Yet, none of the patients developed sustained

ventricular tachycardia (VT) or ventricular fibrillation (VF) in the early postoperative phase. During the course of the first five postoperative days the incidences fluctuated and were highest on the first postoperative day. Independent predictors for VPBs, Vcouplets and Vruns included male gender, mitral valve insufficiency, hyperlipidemia, and age \geq 60 years. Although incidences of VPB, Vcouplets and Vruns were high, the corresponding burdens, expressed as a percentage of the total number of complexes or total amount of recorded time, were close to zero; even patients with high burdens did not develop VT or VF. The fact that incidences were highest on the first postoperative day and diminished over time is in coherence with the hypothesis that fluid overload and postoperative sympathic activation and systemic inflammatory responses play an important role in early postoperative arrhythmogenesis.¹⁰⁻¹⁴

In contrast to elective CABG patients being particularly vulnerable for *early* postoperative atrial or ventricular ectopy due to temporary triggers, populations such as CHD patients are prone for *late* postoperative arrhythmia development due to scar formation after (multiple) surgical interventions or due the consequences of the congenital defect itself, such as chamber distension.

Coexistence of conduction system disorders and brady- and tachyarrhythmias in CHD patients is described in **Chapter 3**. A total of 168 patients visiting the outpatient clinic for check-up of their pacemaker (PM) or implantable cardioverter defibrillator (ICD) were included. Atrioventricular conduction blocks (AVCB) were present in approximately 60% of the population. Coexistence and progression of the different types of AVCB was observed in 16% of the population.

(Supra)ventricular arrhythmias were present in 73% of the patients; coexistence of multiple atrial and/ or ventricular arrhythmias occurred in half of them. Our data demonstrated that the order of appearance of brady- and tachyarrhythmias follows a general pattern, in which regular arrhythmias precede irregular arrhythmias and atrial arrhythmias precede ventricular tachyarrhythmias. Age at onset of arrhythmias was 15.5(1-65)years for SND, 29(3-65)years for SVT, 34.5(14-68)years for AF, 33(6-71) years for VT and 37(18-67) years for VF. Time intervals from the first surgical procedure to onset of arrhythmias was 12(0-52) years for SND, 17(0-58) years for SVT and 25(0-47) years for AF. VT occurred after a median of 25(6-43) years and VF after 27(8-52) years.

The majority of patients with moderate or complex CHD, such as tetralogy of Fallot (ToF), will undergo surgical correction of their cardiac defect. However, survival without palliation or correction is also possible; a rare case of excellent natural palliation in a 61-year old

unrepaired and unpalliated tetralogy of Fallot (ToF) patient is described in **Chapter 4**. She has remained completely asymptomatic over the course of years and at age 61 she still has an excellent clinical condition and exercise tolerance.

Most ToF patients, however, will undergo total ToF correction, which may or may not be preceded by palliative shunting. Over the course of years, most of them will need reoperation due to pulmonary restenosis or regurgitation and atrial or ventricular arrhythmias may arise.

The incidence and coexistence of tachyarrhythmias during long-term follow-up was examined in a cohort of 225 operated ToF patients, of which the results are described in **Chapter 5**. Mean follow-up period consisted of 35±9(16-64) years. Sustained tachyarrhythmias were observed in 32% of the population and included SVT in 22%, AF in 13%, VT in 9% and VF in 4% of patients. Almost 40% of these patients showed coexistence of multiple arrhythmias. In patients with coexistence of SVT and AF, SVT presented first in the vast majority of them. Furthermore, VT or VF was preceded by SVT or AF in over one third of cases. Although long-term survival rates of ToF patients are excellent nowadays, our study demonstrated that the presence of sustained arrhythmias significantly decreased survival time.

In a subsequent study, presented in **Chapter 6**, we further examined the progression of late postoperative AF in 29 ToF patients. AF progression was defined as transition from paroxysmal AF to (long-standing) persistent/permanent AF or from (long-standing) persistent AF to permanent AF. At the age of 44±12 years, ToF patients presented with paroxysmal (48%), persistent (45%) or permanent AF (7%). Age at AF development was 44±12years and was similar among patients who either underwent initial shunt creation or primary total ToF correction. Moreover, progression of AF occurred in 38% within 5±5 years after AF onset, despite administration of antiarrhythmic drugs.

In contrast to the early decades of intracardiac surgery, the current era of management for ToF patients involves primary total correction at a young age, usually within the first 6 months of life, via a transatrial-transpulmonary approach.

Chapter 7 describes the 15-year outcome of 177 ToF patients undergoing total ToF correction at our medical center between 2000 and 2015 via a transatrial-transpulmonary approach. Prior palliative shunting was performed in a minority of 6% of patients. The transatrial-transpulmonary approach resulted in valve sparing surgery in almost a third of the cohort. A total of 68 reinterventions were required in 51 patients (29%), 84% of reinterventions was due to pulmonary re-stenosis (PS). ToF correction at age <2months and double outlet or double chambered right ventricle variants of the ToF spectrum

were independent predictors for reintervention. Patients undergoing valve sparing ToF correction had a significant longer PR free survival than those with TAP (8.5 (95%CI 6.8-10.3) years versus 1.1 (95%CI 0.8-1.5) years. Overall mortality was 2.8%; mortality rates were higher in premature/dysmature newborns (0.7% vs 9.5%. Although the 15-year outcome of the transatrial-transpulmonary approach in terms of postoperative complications and mortality rates is excellent, the high incidence of moderate and severe PR is worrisome. Although valve sparing surgery drastically reduced the incidence of PR, this was surgically impossible in the majority of patients. This study emphasizes the importance of preservation of right and left ventricular function in order to prevent arrhythmia development, as also discussed in our editorial described in **Chapter 8**.

As CHD patients often undergo multiple surgical procedures throughout live, concomitant arrhythmia surgery can be performed in case of reluctant AF. Yet, so far, data on outcome of arrhythmia surgery in CHD patients is scarce.

Therefore, we investigated the outcome of arrhythmia surgery in 66 CHD patients, of which the results are described in **Chapter 9**. Most patients had a history of AF (70%), or a combination of AF and atrial flutter/ intra-atrial reentry tachycardia (AFL/IART) (21%), whereas a minority of 9% of included patients only had AFL/IART. Median follow-up after arrhythmia surgery was 2(1-4)years. During follow-up, AF reoccurred in 67%, of whom 22% only had early recurrences. Recurrence free survival of late AF was 4.6 years and differed significantly according to type of AF prior to surgery; late recurrence free survival at 3 year follow-up was 71% for paroxysmal AF, 45% for persistent AF and 20% for longstanding persistent AF. AFL/IART occurred in 26% of the patients after arrhythmia surgery, which were de novo in 17%. Age at arrhythmia surgery was the only independent predictor for late AF recurrence in our population. This study showed that arrhythmia surgery in CHD patients results in freedom from late AF recurrence for a small majority of patients after median follow-up of 2 years. However, recurrence rates are higher in case of (longstanding) persistent AF and older age at arrhythmia surgery.

As mentioned previously, to date the exact pathophysiology of AF remains unresolved. In order to understand electropathology related with AF, intra-operative high-resolution mapping studies of the entire atrial epicardial surface during SR were obtained to gain extensive insights into human atrial excitation during SR and its variation.

An overview of important results obtained from previous intra-operative mapping studies is provided in **Chapter 10**, in which we also discuss our novel intra-operative highresolution mapping studies, its surgical considerations and data analyses. Progression of AF is determined by the extensiveness of electropathology which is defined as conduction disorders caused by structural damage of atrial tissue. The severity of electropathology is presumably a major determinant of therapy failure in AF patients. At present, we do not have any diagnostic tool to determine the degree of electropathology in the individual patient and we can thus not select the most optimal treatment modality for the individual patient. The intra-operative measurements obtained by our high-resolution mapping approach are the golden standard measurements and form the basis for development of less invasive or even noninvasive measurements in future studies.

In **Chapter 11**, we report the results of our study on the impact of ischemic and valvular heart disease (IHD, VHD) and AF on atrial excitation patterns during SR. Intra-operative high-resolution mapping studies were performed in a cohort of 253 patients undergoing CABG or valvular heart surgery. Our results demonstrated that VHD patients more often show activation of Bachman's bundle (BB) via an input in its center, likely resulting from wavefront propagation upwards through the interatrial septum. Also, VHD patients more often showed activation of the left atrial ventricular groove via interatrial conduction through the coronary sinus ostium and the oval fossa. In contrast, IHD patients more often showed a predominance of interatrial conduction via BB only. In addition, patients with mitral valve disease (MVD), left atrial (LA) dilation, or a history of AF all showed prolonged total activation times in comparison to those without these conditions. Prolongation of total activation times was mainly located at BB and at the right atrium (RA).

We hypothesized that the altered patterns of activation are the result of damage to the thick and thin septa surrounding BB myocytes due to atrial stretch, which is more pronounced in VHD patients. Damage to this layer may slow BB conduction and give rise to the predominance of activation patterns via alternative routes of interatrial conduction. Since intra- and interatrial conduction slowing is an important factor in AF pathogenesis, knowledge on atrial excitation patterns during SR and its electro-pathological variations, as demonstrated in this study, is essential to further unravel the pathogenesis of AF.

In a subsequent study, as described in **Chapter 12**, the above mentioned hypothesis was further investigated; electrophysiological characteristics of activation across BB during SR were examined in a successive cohort of 304 patients with IHD and VHD, with and without AF. Entry sites of SR wavefronts into BB were classified as right, middle and/or left. In addition, the amount and length of lines of conduction delay and block were calculated. Indeed, patients with VHD showed a trend towards more mid-entry sites at BB compared to IHD patients. This was also the case for AF patients compared to patients without AF. Presence of AF episodes was positively associated with conduction abnormalities at BB. Furthermore, when no long lines of conduction disorders >12mm and no mid-entry site at BB was observed, presence of AF was highly unlikely.

Conduction delay and block may further aggravate endo-epicardial asynchrony (EEA), defined as a difference in activation time between opposing sites at the endo- and epicardial layer. EEA may give rise to epicardial breakthrough waves, which are new wavefronts arising at the epicardial surface that cannot be explained by wavefront propagation in the epicardial plane. EBW have been reported a key element of the AF substrate.¹⁵ In the normal atrium, a certain amount of endo-epicardial asynchrony (EEA) is already present during SR.

In **Chapter 13**, we investigated the incidence and characteristics of EBW during SR and its possible value in the detection of the arrhythmogenic substrate associated with AF. Intraoperative high-resolution epicardial mapping was performed during SR in 381 patients with ischemic or valvular heart disease. A total of 218 EBW were observed in 140 patients(37%) and occurred particularly in thicker parts of the atrial wall. Fifty-seven patients showed EBW that were also the earliest site of RA activation, which likely resulted from sinus node activity and were referred to as SNBW. EBW most occurred often in IHD patients compared to (i) VHD patients. EBW-electrograms typically consisted of double and fractionated potentials. In case of single potentials, an R-wave could clearly be distinguished in 88% of EBW, as opposed to 21% of SNBW, which underlines transmural conduction from the endocardial towards the epicardial layer as the underlying mechanism of EBW.

The higher incidence of EBW in IHD patients may be explained by extensive areas of myocardial ischemia and fibrotic depositions at the atrial myocardium associated with the presence of coronary artery disease, -leading to areas of slowing of conduction, conduction block and enhanced local dispersion of refractoriness. If areas of conduction block occur in the 2-dimensional epicardial plane, it is likely they are also present in 3-dimensional endo-epicardial plane.

Our observations support the hypotheses that EBW are indeed the result of EEA and that a slight degree of EEA required for EBW to occur is already present in some areas during SR. Hence, an anatomical substrate is present, which may be particularly enforced by ischemic heart disease.

It is likely that further aggravation of structural remodeling enhances local conduction disorders and thus EEA. This will, in the presence of muscular connections between the endo-epicardial layer, facilitate transmural propagation of wavefronts, resulting in EBW and hence, development of AF.

The relevance and arrhythmogenicity of transmural conduction resulting in EBW was further underlined by the results of our study on atrial extrasystolic beats, which is described in **Chapter 14.** In this study, 339 atrial extrasystoles (AES) were analyzed, occurring in 164

patients who underwent epicardial high-resolution mapping. Conduction delay and block were quantified during SR and during the AES, which were categorized as prematurely aberrant, aberrant and premature. Premature AES were defined as beats with a cycle length >25% shorter than the preceding beat measured at the same mapping site, but with a comparable propagation direction as during SR. Excitation between 0–25% was considered as normal (standard variation). Aberrant AES were defined as non-premature beats with a different propagation direction compared to SR at the same mapping site (e.g. a wavefront from the top down under the mapping array during SR and from right to left during AES). Prematurely aberrant AES are defined as a combination of the two aforementioned types: a cycle length >25% shorter than the preceding beat with a different propagation direction.

Secondly, the degree of aberrancy was defined as the difference in propagation direction of the wave front between AES and SR and was classified as mild (opposite direction: Δ -angle=180°), moderate (Δ -angle=45° or Δ -angle=135°) and severe (perpendicular direction: Δ -angle=90°). When an AES emerged as an epicardial breakthrough (EB), the degree of aberrancy cannot be determined as the breakthrough wave spreads in multiple directions; these AES were therefore classified separately.

This study demonstrated that AES presenting as an EBW provoked most conduction disorders. Particularly prematurely aberrant AES provoked conduction disorders. Increasing prematurity of AES did not result in a higher incidence of conduction disorders. However, the degree of aberrancy was associated with extensiveness of CD and CB. Conduction during AES was mainly impaired in patients with diabetes or LA dilatation. In case of premature or aberrant AES, the highest incidence of conduction disorders occurred between the PV.

This finding may underline the historical observation by Haissaguere et al. of rapid ectopic beats at the pulmonary vein area (PVA) as the trigger for spontaneous AF.¹⁶ Ever since, the PVA has been a topic of interest in unraveling the pathophysiology of AF. To date, treatment strategies for reluctant paroxysmal AF still mainly focused on isolation of the pulmonary vein area by endocardial or surgical ablation. Yet, recurrence rates after ablative procedures remain unsatisfactory.

In **Chapter 15**, we analyze conduction abnormalities at the PVA in a cohort with various underlying heart diseases with and without AF. We observed an increased amount of electropathology on the PVA of AF patients, compared to patients without AF. Particularly, the presence of AF episodes was strongly associated with increased heterogeneity in conduction, marked by not only a higher incidence of CB and CDCB, but also a higher number of lines of CD, CB and CDCB and more importantly longer lines of CD, CB and CDCB. AF patients more often present with continuous lines of adjacent areas of CD and

CB, whereas in patients without AF, lines of CD and CB are more often separated by areas with normal intra-atrial conduction. Interestingly, within both clinical categories of AF a large inter-individual variation in heterogeneity of conduction was observed. Hence, the overlap in severity of conduction abnormalities suggests that the severity of conduction abnormalities at the PVA does not seem to clearly discriminate patients with paroxysmal AF from patients with persistent AF.

Adding to the above described findings, we hypothesized that the combination of lines of conduction block with multiple concomitantly entering SR wavefronts at the PVA may result in increased arrhythmogenicity. Although previous mapping studies are rather consistent in their findings regarding RA excitation^{17–20}, activation of the LA appears to be more diverse and has never been systematically quantified.^{17,18,21–26}

Therefore, in a subsequent study as described in **Chapter 16**, we quantified and demonstrated activation patterns at the PVA. Excitation of the PVA occurred via multiple consecutive wavefronts in the vast majority of patient (N=216, 81%). In total, 561 wavefronts were observed, which mostly propagated through the septal or paraseptal regions towards the PVA (N=461, 82%). Moreover, a substantial dissociation of consecutive wavefronts was observed with a Δ activation time 10.6±8.8(0-46)ms. However, no difference was observed in Δ activation times of consecutive wavefronts during SR between patients without and with AF. We analyzed the predictive value of excitatory characteristics that deviated from the norm. Altered patterns of activation, consisting of wavefronts entering via the posterior (non-septal) side and multiple opposing wavefronts combined with long lines of conduction slowing, were associated with the presence of AF. An excitation-based risk factor model was established. Adding these factor to the previously identified risk factors consisting of CD≥6mm, CB≥6mm and CDCB≥16mm, we calculated a joint risk score. When multiple risk factors were present, an up to 5-fold risk of AF was observed.

REFERENCES

- Feinberg WM, Blackshear JL, Laupacis A, Kronmal R, Hart RG. Prevalence, age distribution, and gender of patients with atrial fibrillation. Analysis and implications. *Arch Intern Med.* 1995;155:469– 73.
- 2. Heeringa J, Van Der Kuip DAM, Hofman A, Kors JA, Van Herpen G, Stricker BHC, Stijnen T, Lip GYH, Witteman JCM. Prevalence, incidence and lifetime risk of atrial fibrillation: The Rotterdam study. *Eur Heart J.* 2006;27:949–953.
- Lloyd-Jones DM, Wang TJ, Leip EP, Larson MG, Levy D, Vasan RS, D'Agostino RB, Massaro JM, Beiser A, Wolf PA, Benjamin EJ. Lifetime risk for development of atrial fibrillation: The framingham heart study. *Circulation*. 2004;110:1042–1046.
- 4. Go AS, Hylek EM, Phillips KA, Chang Y, Henault LE, Selby J V, Singer DE. Prevalence of diagnosed atrial fibrillation in adults: national implications for rhythm management and stroke prevention: the AnTicoagulation and Risk Factors in Atrial Fibrillation (ATRIA) Study. *JAMA*. 2001;285:2370–5.
- 5. Kirchhof P, Benussi S, Kotecha D, Ahlsson A, Atar D, Casadei B, Castella M, Diener HC, Heidbuchel H, Hendriks J, Hindricks G, Manolis AS, Oldgren J, Popescu BA, Schotten U, Van Putte B, Vardas P, Agewall S, Camm J, Baron Esquivias G, Budts W, Carerj S, Casselman F, Coca A, De Caterina R, Deftereos S, Dobrev D, Ferro JM, Filippatos G, Fitzsimons D, Gorenek B, Guenoun M, Hohnloser SH, Kolh P, Lip GYH, Manolis A, McMurray J, Ponikowski P, Rosenhek R, Ruschitzka F, Savelieva I, Sharma S, Suwalski P, Tamargo JL, Taylor CJ, Van Gelder IC, Voors AA, Windecker S, Zamorano JL, Zeppenfeld K. 2016 ESC Guidelines for the management of atrial fibrillation developed in collaboration with EACTS. *Europace*. 2016;18:1609–1678.
- Arsenault KA, Yusuf AM, Crystal E, Healey JS, Morillo CA, Nair GM, Whitlock RP. Interventions for preventing post-operative atrial fibrillation in patients undergoing heart surgery. In: Whitlock RP, editor. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews. Chichester, UK: John Wiley & Sons, Ltd; 2013. p. CD003611.
- 7. Maisel WH, Rawn JD, Stevenson WG. Atrial fibrillation after cardiac surgery. *Ann Intern Med.* 2001;135:1061–1073.
- Mathew JP, Fontes ML, Tudor IC, Ramsay J, Duke P, Mazer CD, Barash PG, Hsu PH, Mangano DT, Investigators of the Ischemia Research and Education Foundation, Multicenter Study of Perioperative Ischemia Research Group. A Multicenter Risk Index for Atrial Fibrillation After Cardiac Surgery. JAMA. 2004;291:1720.
- 9. Ahlsson AJ, Bodin L, Lundblad OH, Englund AG. Postoperative Atrial Fibrillation is Not Correlated to C-Reactive Protein. *Ann Thorac Surg.* 2007;83:1332–1337.
- 10. Trayanova NA, Constantino J, Gurev V. Models of stretch-activated ventricular arrhythmias. J Electrocardiol. 2010;43:479–85.
- 11. Zabel M, Koller BS, Sachs F, Franz MR. Stretch-induced voltage changes in the isolated beating heart: importance of the timing of stretch and implications for stretch-activated ion channels. *Cardiovasc Res.* 1996;32:120–30.
- 12. Adameova A, Abdellatif Y, Dhalla NS. Role of the excessive amounts of circulating catecholamines and glucocorticoids in stress-induced heart disease. *Can J Physiol Pharmacol.* 2009;87:493–514.

389

- 13. Kolettis TM. Coronary artery disease and ventricular tachyarrhythmia: pathophysiology and treatment. *Curr Opin Pharmacol.* 2013;13:210–7.
- 14. Anselmi A, Possati G, Gaudino M. Postoperative inflammatory reaction and atrial fibrillation: simple correlation or causation? *Ann Thorac Surg.* 2009;88:326–33.
- de Groot N, Houben R, Smeets J, Boersma E, Schotten U, Schalij M, Crijns H, Allessie M. Electropathological Substrate of Longstanding Persistent Atrial Fibrillation in Patients With Structural Heart Disease: Epicardial Breakthrough. *Circulation*. 2010;122:1674–1683.
- Haïssaguerre M, Jaïs P, Shah DC, Takahashi A, Hocini M, Quiniou G, Garrigue S, Le Mouroux A, Le Métayer P, Clémenty J. Spontaneous Initiation of Atrial Fibrillation by Ectopic Beats Originating in the Pulmonary Veins. *http://dx.doi.org.prxy4.ursus.maine.edu/101056/NEJM199809033391003*. 1998;339:659–666.
- 17. Tapanainen JM, Jurkko R, Holmqvist F, Husser D, Kongstad O, Mäkijärvi M, Toivonen L, Platonov PG. Interatrial right-to-left conduction in patients with paroxysmal atrial fibrillation. *J Interv Card Electrophysiol*. 2009;25:117–22.
- 18. Lemery R, Birnie D, Tang ASL, Green M, Gollob M, Hendry M, Lau E. Normal atrial activation and voltage during sinus rhythm in the human heart: an endocardial and epicardial mapping study in patients with a history of atrial fibrillation. *J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol*. 2007;18:402–8.
- Sakamoto S, Yamauchi S, Yamashita H, Imura H, Maruyama Y, Ogasawara H, Hatori N, Shimizu K. Intra-operative mapping of the right atrial free wall during sinus rhythm: variety of activation patterns and incidence of postoperative atrial fibrillation. *Eur J Cardiothorac Surg.* 2006;30:132–9.
- 20. Boineau JP, Canavan TE, Schuessler RB, Cain ME, Corr PB, Cox JL. Demonstration of a widely distributed atrial pacemaker complex in the human heart. *Circulation*. 1988;77:1221–1237.
- 21. Boineau JP, Schuessler RB, Hackel DB, Miller CB, Brockus CW, Wylds a C. Widespread distribution and rate differentiation of the atrial pacemaker complex. *Am J Physiol*. 1980;239:H406-15.
- 22. Roberts-Thomson KC, Stevenson I, Kistler PM, Haqqani HM, Spence SJ, Goldblatt JC, Sanders P, Kalman JM. The role of chronic atrial stretch and atrial fibrillation on posterior left atrial wall conduction. *Heart Rhythm*. 2009;6:1109–1117.
- 23. Roberts-Thomson KC, Stevenson IH, Kistler PM, Haqqani HM, Goldblatt JC, Sanders P, Kalman JM. Anatomically Determined Functional Conduction Delay in the Posterior Left Atrium. Relationship to Structural Heart Disease. *J Am Coll Cardiol*. 2008;51:856–862.
- 24. Markides V, Schilling R, Ho S, Chow A, Wyn Davies D, Peters N. Characterization of Left Atrial Activation in the Intact Human Heart. *Circulation*. 2003;107:733–739.
- 25. David M. Harrild, Craig S. Hen. A Computer Model of Normal Conduction in the Human Atria. *Circ Res.* 2000;87:e25–e36.
- 26. Durrer D, Van Dam R, Freud G, Janse MJ, Meijler FL, Arzbaecher RC. Total Excitation of the Isolated Human Heart. *Circulation*. 1970;41:899–912.





NEDERLANDSE SAMENVATTING

Elisabeth M.J.P. Mouws

NEDERLANDSE SAMENVATTING

Ten gevolge van de vergrijzende samenleving neemt ook de prevalentie van hart- en vaatziekten toe. Vooral atriumfibrilleren (AF) wordt een wereldwijde epidemie met een prevalentie van 3% in de populatie ouder dan 20 jaar tot 10% van de bevolking ouder dan 70 jaar.¹⁻⁵ Het lifetime-risico op het ontwikkelen van AF is 25% bij 40-jarige volwassenen³ en schattingen zijn dat de Europese Unie tegen 2030 in totaal 14-17 miljoen AF-patiënten zal tellen, met 120.000-215.000 nieuw gediagnosticeerde patiënten per jaar.⁵

De bevolkingsgroei en vergrijzing worden tevens weerspiegeld in het aantal patiënten dat een cardiothoracale operatie ondergaat. Elk jaar worden ongeveer 17.000 cardiothoracale chirurgische ingrepen uitgevoerd in Nederland en dit aantal stijgt gestaag met 1% per jaar. In deze populatie zijn postoperatieve tachyaritmieën een belangrijke oorzaak van verhoogde morbiditeit en mortaliteit na hartchirurgie. Vooral de novo postoperatief AF is een groot probleem wat voorkomt in 15-45% van de patiënten.⁶⁻⁹

Hoewel wordt verondersteld dat AF overgaat van een trigger gedreven naar een substraat gedreven ziekte, is de exacte pathofysiologie nog onbekend. Om elektropathologie gerelateerd aan AF te begrijpen, is kennis over de variatie in elektrische eigenschappen van atriaal weefsel tijdens sinus ritme (SR) en elektropathologie veroorzaakt door verschillende onderliggende hartaandoeningen essentieel.

Dit proefschrift is gericht op het ontrafelen van aritmieën bij patiënten met ischemische, valvulaire en aangeboren hartaandoeningen die hartchirurgie ondergaan. Verschillende retrospectieve cohortstudies werden uitgevoerd met specifieke interesse in de coëxistentie en volgorde van verschijnen van verschillende atriale en ventriculaire aritmieën in patiënten met congenitale hartziekten (CHD). Bovendien werden intra-operatieve hoge-resolutie mappingstudies van het gehele atriale epicardiale oppervlak gedurende SR uitgevoerd. Deze studies verschaffen nieuwe informatie over de invloed van hartziekten op myocardiale geleiding en de onderliggende mechanismen van AF ontwikkeling in het bijzonder.

Hoofdstuk 1 geeft een algemene inleiding tot dit proefschrift, evenals de hoofdlijnen ervan. Dit hoofdstuk vormt de achtergrond waartegen de onderzoekshypothesen en de doelstellingen van dit proefschrift worden gevormd.

In **Hoofdstuk 2** rapporteren we de incidentie en voorspellers van ventriculaire ritmestoornissen, bestaande uit ventriculaire premature beats (VPB), ventriculaire coupletten (Vcouplet) en ventriculaire runs (Vrun), in de vroeg postoperatieve fase van 102 patiënten na coronaire bypass chirurgie (CABG). Bij deze patiënten werd continue ritmeregistratie toegepast.

Deze studie toonde aan dat VPBs, Vcoupletten en Vruns vaak voorkwamen, met een respectievelijke incidentie van 100%, 83% en 49%. Toch ontwikkelde géén van de patiënten een aanhoudende ventrikeltachycardie (VT) of ventrikelfibrilleren (VF) in de vroeg postoperatieve fase. In de loop van de eerste vijf postoperatieve dagen fluctueerden de incidenties en waren deze het hoogst op de eerste postoperatieve dag. Onafhankelijke voorspellers voor VPB's, Vcouplets en Vruns omvatten mannelijk geslacht, mitralisklepinsufficiëntie, hyperlipidemie en leeftijd >60 jaar. Hoewel de incidenties van VPB, Vcoupletten en Vruns hoog waren, was de burden, uitgedrukt als een percentage van het totale aantal complexen of de totale hoeveelheid geregistreerde tijd, bijna nul; zelfs patiënten met een hoge burden ontwikkelden geen VT of VF. Het feit dat de incidentie op de eerste postoperatieve dag het hoogst was en in de loop van de tijd afnam, is in overeenstemming met de hypothese dat vochtoverlast en postoperatieve sympathische activering en systemische ontstekingsreacties een belangrijke rol spelen bij vroege postoperatieve aritmogenese.¹⁰⁻¹⁴

In tegenstelling tot electieve CABG-patiënten die bijzonder kwetsbaar zijn voor vroeg postoperatieve atriale of ventriculaire ectopie vanwege tijdelijke triggers, zijn populaties zoals patiënten met congenitale hartziekten (CHD) vatbaar voor de ontwikkeling van laat postoperatieve aritmieën ten gevolge van littekenvorming na (meervoudige) chirurgische ingrepen of vanwege de gevolgen van het aangeboren defect.

Coëxistentie van geleidingssysteemstoornissen en brady- en tachyaritmieën bij CHDpatiënten wordt beschreven in **Hoofdstuk 3**. In totaal werden 168 patiënten die de polikliniek bezochten vanwege controle van hun pacemaker (PM) of implanteerbare cardioverter defibrillator (ICD) geïncludeerd. Atrioventriculaire geleidingsblokken (AVCB) waren aanwezig in ca. 60% van de populatie. Coëxistentie en progressie van verschillende soorten AVCB werd waargenomen bij 16% van de populatie.

(Supra)ventriculaire aritmieën waren aanwezig in 73% van de patiënten, van wie de helft ook coëxistentie van meerdere atriale en / of ventriculaire aritmieën liet zien. Onze gegevens hebben aangetoond dat de volgorde van verschijnen van brady- en tachyaritmieën een algemeen patroon volgt, waarbij regelmatige aritmieën over het algemeen voorafgaan aan onregelmatige aritmieën en atriale aritmieën voorafgaan aan ventriculaire tachyaritmieën.
De leeftijd bij aanvang van hartritmestoornissen was 15,5 (1-65) jaar voor SND, 29 (3-65) jaar voor SVT, 34,5 (14-68) jaar voor AF, 33 (6-71) jaar voor VT en 37 (18- 67) jaar voor VF. Tijdsintervallen vanaf de eerste hartoperatie tot het ontwikkelen van aritmieën waren 12 (0-52) jaar voor SND, 17 (0-58) jaar voor SVT en 25 (0-47) jaar voor AF. VT trad op na een mediaan van 25 (6-43) jaar en VF na 27 (8-52) jaar.

De meerderheid van de patiënten met 'moderate' of 'complex' CHD, zoals tetralogie van Fallot (ToF), zal een chirurgische correctie van hun hartafwijking ondergaan. Overleven zonder palliatie of correctie is echter ook mogelijk; een zeldzame casus van uitstekende natuurlijke palliatie in een 61 jarige, niet-gecorrigeerde, en niet-gepallieerde tetralogie van Fallot (ToF) patiënt wordt beschreven in **Hoofdstuk 4**. Zij is in de loop van de jaren volledig asymptomatisch gebleven en op 61-jarige leeftijd heeft ze nog steeds een uitstekende klinische conditie en inspanningstolerantie.

De meeste ToF-patiënten ondergaan echter een totale ToF-correctie, al dan niet voorafgegaan door het aanleggen van een palliatieve shunt. In de loop van jaren zullen de meeste van hen een reoperatie nodig hebben vanwege pulmonale restenose of regurgitatie en kunnen atriale of ventriculaire aritmieën optreden.

De incidentie en coëxistentie van tachyaritmieën tijdens langdurige follow-up werd onderzocht in een cohort van 225 gecorrigeerde ToF-patiënten, waarvan de resultaten worden beschreven in **Hoofdstuk 5.** De gemiddelde follow-up periode bedroeg 35 ± 9 (16-64) jaar. Aanhoudende tachyaritmieën werden waargenomen bij 32% van de populatie en omvatten SVT bij 22%, AF bij 13%, VT bij 9% en VF bij 4%. Bijna 40% van deze patiënten toonde coëxistentie van meerdere aritmieën. Bij patiënten met coëxistentie van SVT en AF, presenteerde SVT zich als eerst in de overgrote meerderheid van hen. Bovendien werd in meer dan een derde van de gevallen VT of VF voorafgegaan door SVT of AF. Hoewel de lange termijn overlevingspercentages van ToF-patiënten tegenwoordig uitstekend zijn, toonde ons onderzoek aan dat de aanwezigheid van aanhoudende aritmieën de overlevingstijd aanzienlijk verlaagde.

In een vervolgstudie, gepresenteerd in **Hoofdstuk 6**, onderzochten we de progressie van laat postoperatief AF in 29 ToF-patiënten. AF-progressie werd gedefinieerd als de overgang van paroxysmale AF naar (lang bestaand) persistent / permanent AF of van (lang bestaand) persistent AF naar permanent AF. ToF-patiënten presenteerden zich met paroxysmaal (48%), persistent (45%) of permanent AF (7%). De leeftijd op het ontstaan van AF was 44 \pm 12 jaar en was vergelijkbaar tussen patiënten die eerst een palliatieve shunt kregen en patiënten die een primaire totale TOF-correctie ondergingen. Bovendien trad progressie van AF op in 38% van de patiënten en gebeurde dit binnen 5 \pm 5 jaar na de aanvang van AF, ondanks het gebruik van antiaritmica.

In tegenstelling tot de eerste decennia van intracardiale chirurgie, ondergaan ToF-patiënten tegenwoordig een primaire totale correctie op jonge leeftijd, gewoonlijk binnen de eerste 6 maanden van het leven, via een transatriale-transpulmonale benadering.

Hoofdstuk 7 beschrijft de chirurgische follow-up van 177 ToF-patiënten die totale ToFcorrectie ondergingen in ons medisch centrum tussen 2000 en 2015 via een transatrialetranspulmonale benadering. Bij een minderheid van 6% van de patiënten werd een palliatieve shunt aangelegd voorafgaand aan de totale correctie. De transatrialetranspulmonale benadering resulteerde in klepsparende chirurgie in bijna een derde van het cohort. Een totaal van 68 reïnterventies waren vereist bij 51 patiënten (29%), 84% van de reïnterventies was te wijten aan pulmonale restenose (PS). ToF correctie op de leeftijd jonger dan 2 maanden en double outlet en double chambered right ventricle varianten van het ToF spectrum waren onafhankelijke voorspellers van noodzaak tot reinterventie. Patienten die een initiele klepsparende operatie ondergingen hadden langere PR-free survival times in vergelijking met patienten die een correctie met transannulaire patch ondergingen (8.5 (95%CI 6.8-10.3) jaar versus 1.1 (95%CI 0.8-1.5) jaar. De totale mortaliteit was 2,8%; sterftecijfers waren hoger bij premature / dysmature pasgeborenen (0,7% versus 9,5%, p <0,001).

Hoewel de 15-jaars uitkomst van de transatriale-transpulmonale benadering in termen van postoperatieve complicaties en sterftecijfers uitstekend is, is de hoge incidentie van matige en ernstige PR zorgwekkend. Hoewel klepsparende chirurgie de incidentie van PR drastisch verminderde, was dit bij de meerderheid van de patiënten chirurgisch onmogelijk. Deze studie benadrukt het belang van het behoud van de rechter en linker ventrikelfunctie om aritmieontwikkeling te voorkomen, zoals ook wordt besproken in het editorial beschreven in **Hoofdstuk 8**.

Omdat CHD-patiënten vaak meerdere chirurgische ingrepen ondergaan gedurende hun leven, kan in het geval van therapie-resistent AF concomitante ritmechirurgie worden uitgevoerd. Tot nu toe zijn de gegevens over de uitkomst van ritmechirurgie bij CHDpatiënten echter schaars.

Daarom onderzochten we de uitkomst van ritmechirurgie in 66 CHD-patiënten, waarvan de resultaten in **Hoofdstuk 9** worden beschreven. De meeste patiënten hadden een voorgeschiedenis van AF (70%), of een combinatie van AF en atriale flutter /intra-atriale

reentry tachycardie (AFL/IART) (21%), terwijl een minderheid van 9% van de opgenomen patiënten alleen AFL / IART had. De mediane follow-up na ritmechirurgie was 2 (1-4) jaar. Tijdens de follow-up herhaalde AF zich opnieuw bij 67%, van wie 22% alleen vroege recidieven had. De recidiefvrije overleving van laat AF was 4,6 jaar en verschilde aanzienlijk afhankelijk van het type AF voorafgaand aan de operatie; de recidiefvrije overleving na 3 jaar follow-up was 71% voor paroxysmale AF, 45% voor persistente AF en 20% voor langdurige persisterende AF. AFL / IART trad op in 26% van de patiënten na ritmechirugie en was de novo in 17%. Leeftijd bij ritmechirurgie was de enige onafhankelijke voorspeller voor laat AF-recidief in deze populatie. Deze studie toonde aan dat ritmechirurgie bij CHD-patiënten resulteert in vrijheid van laat AF-recidief voor een kleine meerderheid van de patiënten na een mediane follow-up van 2 jaar. Recidiefpercentages zijn echter hoger in geval van (langdurige) persisterende AF en oudere leeftijd ten tijde van ritmechirurgie.

Zoals eerder vermeld, blijft de exacte pathofysiologie van AF tot op heden onopgelost. Om elektropathologie gerelateerd aan AF te begrijpen, werden intra-operatieve hoge-resolutie mapping studies van het gehele atriale epicardiale oppervlak tijdens SR uitgevoerd om uitgebreid inzicht te krijgen in atriale excitatie tijdens SR in mensen.

Een overzicht van belangrijke resultaten verkregen uit eerdere intra-operatieve mapping studies wordt gegeven in **Hoofdstuk 10**, waarin we ook onze nieuwe intra-operatieve hogeresolutie mapping studies, de chirurgische overwegingen en data-analyses bespreken. De progressie van AF wordt bepaald door de uitgebreidheid van elektropathologie, gedefinieerd als geleidingsstoornissen veroorzaakt door structurele beschadiging van atriaal weefsel. De ernst van elektropathologie is vermoedelijk een belangrijke determinant van therapiefalen bij AF-patiënten. Op dit moment hebben we geen diagnostisch hulpmiddel om de mate van elektropathologie bij de individuele patiënt te bepalen en daarom kunnen we niet de meest optimale behandelingsmodaliteit voor de individuele patiënt selecteren. De intra-operatieve metingen verkregen door onze hoge-resolutie mapping zijn de gouden standaardmetingen en vormen de basis voor de ontwikkeling van minder invasieve of zelfs niet-invasieve metingen in toekomstige studies.

In **Hoofdstuk 11** rapporteren we de resultaten van onze studie naar de impact van ischemische en valvulaire hartziekte (IHD, VHD) en AF op atriale excitatiepatronen tijdens SR. Intra-operatieve hoge-resolutie mapping studies werden uitgevoerd in een cohort van 253 patiënten die coronaire bypass chirurgie of hartklepchirurgie ondergingen. Onze resultaten toonden aan dat VHD-patiënten vaker activatie van Bachmann's bundel (BB) via een centrale input laten zien, waarschijnlijk als gevolg van voortgeleiding van het golffront opwaarts door het interatriale septum. Ook vertoonden VHD-patiënten vaker activatie

399

van de linker atrioventriculaire groeve via interatriale geleiding door de sinus coronarius en de fossa ovalis. Daarentegen vertoonden IHD-patiënten vaker een predominantie van interatriale geleiding via enkel BB.

Bovendien vertoonden patiënten met mitraalkleplijden (MVD), linker atrium (LA) dilatatie of een geschiedenis van AF allemaal verlengde totale activatietijden in vergelijking met patiënten zonder deze aandoeningen. Verlenging van de totale activatietijden werd voornamelijk veroorzaakt op BB en het rechteratrium (RA).

Een mogelijk verklaring is dat de veranderde patronen van activering het gevolg zijn van beschadiging van de dikke en dunne septa die de BB-myocyten omringen als gevolg van atriale rek, wat meer uitgesproken is bij VHD-patiënten. Schade aan deze laag kan de BB-geleiding vertragen en aanleiding geven tot het overwicht van activeringspatronen via alternatieve routes van interatriale geleiding. Omdat vertraagde intra- en interatriale geleiding een belangrijke factor is in de pathogenese van AF, is kennis over atriale excitatiepatronen tijdens SR en de elektro-pathologische variaties, zoals aangetoond in deze studie, essentieel om de pathogenese van AF verder te ontrafelen

In een volgende studie, beschreven in **Hoofdstuk 12**, werd de bovengenoemde hypothese verder onderzocht; elektrofysiologische kenmerken van activatie over BB tijdens SR werden onderzocht in een cohort van 304 patiënten met IHD en VHD, met en zonder AF. Entrysites van SR wavefronts naar BB werden geclassificeerd als rechts, midden en / of links. Bovendien werden de hoeveelheid en lengte van lijnen van geleidingsvertraging en blok berekend. Inderdaad, patiënten met VHD vertoonden een trend naar meer centrale entry sites bij BB in vergelijking met IHD-patiënten. Dit was ook het geval voor AF-patiënten in vergelijking met patiënten zonder AF. Aanwezigheid van AF-episodes was positief geassocieerd met geleidingsafwijkingen op BB. Verder was, wanneer er geen lange lijnen van geleidingsstoornissen >12 mm en geen centrale entry sites op BB werden waargenomen, de aanwezigheid van AF hoogst onwaarschijnlijk.

Geleidingsvertraging en -blok kunnen het fenomeen van endo-epicardiale asynchronie (EEA) verder verergeren, gedefinieerd als een verschil in activeringstijd tussen tegenover elkaar gelegen plaatsen op de endo- en epicardiale laag. EEA kan aanleiding geven tot epicardiale 'breakthrough' golven (EBW); dit zijn golffronten die zichtbaar worden aan het epicardiale oppervlak en niet kunnen worden verklaard door de propagatie van het golffront in het epicardiale vlak. EBW zijn als een belangrijk element van het AF-substraat gerapporteerd in eerdere studies.¹⁵ In het normale atrium is een zekere hoeveelheid endo-epicardiale asynchronie (EEA) al aanwezig tijdens SR.

In **Hoofdstuk 13** hebben we de incidentie en kenmerken van EBW tijdens SR onderzocht en de mogelijke waarde hiervan in de detectie van het aritmogene substraat geassocieerd met AF. Intraoperatieve hoge-resolutie epicardiale mapping werd uitgevoerd tijdens SR in 381 patiënten met IHD of VHD. Een totaal van 218 EBW werd waargenomen bij 140 patiënten (37%) en trad vooral op in dikkere delen van de atriumwand. Zevenenvijftig patiënten lieten EBW zien die ook de vroegste lokatie van RA-activatie waren. Deze EBW zijn hoogstwaarschijnlijk het gevolg van activiteit van de sinusknoop en werden sinusknoop breakthrough golven (SNBW) genoemd.

EBW kwamen het meest voor bij IHD-patiënten in vergelijking met VHD-patiënten. EBWelektrogrammen bestonden typisch uit dubbele en gefractioneerde potentialen. In het geval van enkele potentialen kon een R-golf duidelijk worden onderscheiden in 88% van EBW, in tegenstelling tot 21% van SNBW, wat transmurale geleiding van de endocardiale naar de epicardiale laag als het onderliggende mechanisme van EBW onderstreept.

De hogere incidentie van EBW in IHD-patiënten kan worden verklaard door uitgebreidere gebieden van ischemie van het hart en fibrotische deposities in het atriale myocardium geassocieerd met de aanwezigheid van coronaire hartziekte. Dit leidt tot gebieden van geleidingsvertraging en geleidingsblock en toename van de lokale spreiding in refractairiteit . Als gebieden van geleidingsblok in het 2-dimensionale epicardiale vlak voorkomen, is het waarschijnlijk dat ze ook aanwezig zijn in een driedimensionaal endo-epicardiaal vlak.

Onze observaties ondersteunen de hypothesen dat EBW inderdaad het resultaat is van de EEA en dat een kleine hoeveelheid EEA die vereist is voor EBW al aanwezig is in sommige atriale gebieden tijdens SR. Derhalve is er sprake van een anatomisch substraat, dat door ischemische hartziekte in het bijzonder kan worden versterkt.

Het is waarschijnlijk dat een verdere verergering van structurele remodellering lokale geleidingsstoornissen en dus de EEA versterkt. Dit zal, in de aanwezigheid van musculaire verbindingen tussen de endo-epicardiale laag, de transmurale voorgeleiding van golffronten vergemakkelijken, resulterend in EBW en ontwikkeling van AF.

De relevantie en aritmogeniteit van transmurale geleiding resulterend in EBW werd verder onderstreept door de resultaten van ons onderzoek naar atriale extrasystolische slagen, dat wordt beschreven in **Hoofdstuk 14**. In dit onderzoek werden 339 atriale extrasystolen (AES) geanalyseerd, welke voorkwamen in 164 patiënten die epicardiale hoge resolutie mapping ondergingen. Geleidingsvertraging en -block werden gekwantificeerd tijdens SR en tijdens de AES. AES werden gecategoriseerd als prematuur aberrant, aberrant en prematuur. Premature AES werden gedefinieerd als slagen met een cycluslengte >25% korter dan de vorige slag gemeten op dezelfde locatie, maar met een vergelijkbare voortplantingsrichting als tijdens SR. Excitatie tussen 0-25% werd als normaal beschouwd (standaardvariatie). Aberrante AES werden gedefinieerd als niet-premature slagen met een andere voortplantingsrichting in vergelijking met SR op dezelfde locatie (bijvoorbeeld een golffront van boven naar onder tijdens SR en van rechts naar links gedurende AES). Premature aberrante AES worden gedefinieerd als een combinatie van de twee bovengenoemde typen: een cycluslengte> 25% korter dan de voorgaande slag met een andere voortplantingsrichting.

Ten tweede werd de mate van afwijking gedefinieerd als het verschil in voortplantingsrichting van het golffront tussen AES en SR en werd geclassificeerd als mild (tegenovergestelde richting: Δ -hoek = 180 °), matig (Δ -hoek = 45 ° of Δ - hoek = 135 °) en ernstig (loodrechte richting: Δ -hoek = 90 °). Wanneer een AES naar voren kwam als een EBW, kan de mate van afwijking niet worden bepaald aangezien een EBW zich in meerdere richtingen verspreidt; deze AES werden daarom afzonderlijk geclassificeerd.

Deze studie toonde aan dat met name premature aberrante AES geleidingsstoornissen veroorzaakten. Toenemende prematuriteit van AES resulteerde niet in een hogere incidentie van geleidingsstoornissen. De mate van aberrantie was echter wel geassocieerd met de uitgebreidheid van CD en CB. Verder veroorzaakte (premature) aberrante AES die ontstonden als EBW de meeste geleidingsstoornissen. Geleiding tijdens AES was voornamelijk verminderd bij patiënten met diabetes of LA dilatatie. In het geval van premature of aberrante AES, trad de hoogste incidentie van geleidingsstoornissen op tussen de pulmonaalvenen (PV).

Deze bevinding onderstreept de historische waarneming door Haissaguere et al. van snelle ectopische slagen in het pulmonaalvene gebied (PVA) als trigger voor spontane AF.¹⁶ Sindsdien is het PV-gebied een belangrijk focus in het ontrafelen van de pathofysiologie van AF. Tot op heden zijn de behandelstrategieën voor therapieresistent paroxismaal AF nog steeds hoofdzakelijk gericht op isolatie van het pulmonaalvene gebied door endocardiale of chirurgische ablatie. Echter, de recidiefpercentages na ablatieprocedures blijven onbevredigend.

In **Hoofdstuk 15** analyseerden we geleidingsvertraging en geledingsblock op het PVA in een cohort met verschillende onderliggende hartziekten met en zonder AF. We observeerden een verhoogde hoeveelheid elektropathologie op het PVA van AF-patiënten, in vergelijking met patiënten zonder AF. Vooral de aanwezigheid van AF-episodes was sterk geassocieerd met een verhoogde heterogeniteit in geleiding, gemarkeerd door niet alleen een hogere incidentie van CB en CDCB, maar ook een groter aantal lijnen van CD, CB en CDCB en nog

belangrijker langere lijnen van CD, CB en CDCB. AF-patiënten vertonen vaker continue lijnen van aangrenzende gebieden van CD en CB, terwijl bij patiënten zonder AF, de lijnen van CD en CB vaker worden gescheiden door gebieden met normale intra-atriale geleiding. Interessant is dat binnen beide klinische AF-categorieën een grote interindividuele variatie in heterogeniteit van geleiding werd waargenomen en daarmee ook een grote overlap in de mate van elektropathologie tussen patienten met paroxysmaal en persistent AF. Dit suggereert dat de uitgebreidheid van electropathology op PVA niet goed discrimineert tussen de huidige klinische classificaties van AF.

In aanvulling op de hierboven beschreven bevindingen, stelden we de hypothese voor dat de combinatie van geleidingslijnen blokkeert met meerdere gelijktijdig binnenkomende SRgolven aan de PVA kan resulteren in verhoogde aritmogeniciteit. Hoewel eerdere mapping studies tamelijk consistent zijn in hun bevindingen met betrekking tot RA-excitatie¹⁷⁻²⁰, lijkt activering van de LA meer divers en nooit systematisch gekwantificeerd.^{17,18,21-26}

Daarom hebben we in een volgende studie, zoals beschreven in Hoofdstuk 16, activatiepatronen op het PVA gekwantificeerd en gedemonstreerd. Excitatie van het PVA vond plaats via meerdere opeenvolgende golffronten in de overgrote meerderheid van de patiënten (N = 216, 81%). In totaal werden 561 golffronten waargenomen, die zich meestal vanuit de septale of paraseptale gebieden in de richting van het PVA voortgeleidden (N = 461, 82%). Bovendien werd een aanzienlijke dissociatie van opeenvolgende golffronten waargenomen met een Δ activatietijd van 10,6 ± 8,8 (0-46) ms. Er werd echter geen verschil waargenomen in Aactivatietijden van opeenvolgende golffronten tijdens SR tussen patiënten zonder en met AF. We analyseerden de voorspellende waarde van excitatoire kenmerken die afweken van de norm. Veranderde activatiepatronen, bestaande uit golffronten die via de posterior (non-septal) regio binnenkomen en de aanwezigheid van meerdere tegenover elkaar binnenkomende golffronten tegelijkertijd in combinatie met lange lijnen van geleidingsvertraging of –block, waren geassocieerd met AF. Een op activatie kenmerken gebaseerde risicoscore werd opgezet, waarin tevens lijnen van CD>6mm, CB>6mm en CDCB> 16mm werden meegenomen. Wanneer meerdere risicofactoren aanwezig waren, was het risico op AF tot 5-maal verhoogd.

REFERENTIES

- Feinberg WM, Blackshear JL, Laupacis A, Kronmal R, Hart RG. Prevalence, age distribution, and gender of patients with atrial fibrillation. Analysis and implications. *Arch Intern Med*. 1995;155:469– 73.
- Heeringa J, Van Der Kuip DAM, Hofman A, Kors JA, Van Herpen G, Stricker BHC, Stijnen T, Lip GYH, Witteman JCM. Prevalence, incidence and lifetime risk of atrial fibrillation: The Rotterdam study. *Eur Heart J.* 2006;27:949–953.
- Lloyd-Jones DM, Wang TJ, Leip EP, Larson MG, Levy D, Vasan RS, D'Agostino RB, Massaro JM, Beiser A, Wolf PA, Benjamin EJ. Lifetime risk for development of atrial fibrillation: The framingham heart study. *Circulation*. 2004;110:1042–1046.
- 4. Go AS, Hylek EM, Phillips KA, Chang Y, Henault LE, Selby J V, Singer DE. Prevalence of diagnosed atrial fibrillation in adults: national implications for rhythm management and stroke prevention: the AnTicoagulation and Risk Factors in Atrial Fibrillation (ATRIA) Study. *JAMA*. 2001;285:2370–5.
- 5. Kirchhof P, Benussi S, Kotecha D, Ahlsson A, Atar D, Casadei B, Castella M, Diener HC, Heidbuchel H, Hendriks J, Hindricks G, Manolis AS, Oldgren J, Popescu BA, Schotten U, Van Putte B, Vardas P, Agewall S, Camm J, Baron Esquivias G, Budts W, Carerj S, Casselman F, Coca A, De Caterina R, Deftereos S, Dobrev D, Ferro JM, Filippatos G, Fitzsimons D, Gorenek B, Guenoun M, Hohnloser SH, Kolh P, Lip GYH, Manolis A, McMurray J, Ponikowski P, Rosenhek R, Ruschitzka F, Savelieva I, Sharma S, Suwalski P, Tamargo JL, Taylor CJ, Van Gelder IC, Voors AA, Windecker S, Zamorano JL, Zeppenfeld K. 2016 ESC Guidelines for the management of atrial fibrillation developed in collaboration with EACTS. *Europace*. 2016;18:1609–1678.
- Arsenault KA, Yusuf AM, Crystal E, Healey JS, Morillo CA, Nair GM, Whitlock RP. Interventions for preventing post-operative atrial fibrillation in patients undergoing heart surgery. In: Whitlock RP, editor. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews. Chichester, UK: John Wiley & Sons, Ltd; 2013. p. CD003611.
- 7. Maisel WH, Rawn JD, Stevenson WG. Atrial fibrillation after cardiac surgery. *Ann Intern Med.* 2001;135:1061–1073.
- Mathew JP, Fontes ML, Tudor IC, Ramsay J, Duke P, Mazer CD, Barash PG, Hsu PH, Mangano DT, Investigators of the Ischemia Research and Education Foundation, Multicenter Study of Perioperative Ischemia Research Group. A Multicenter Risk Index for Atrial Fibrillation After Cardiac Surgery. JAMA. 2004;291:1720.
- 9. Ahlsson AJ, Bodin L, Lundblad OH, Englund AG. Postoperative Atrial Fibrillation is Not Correlated to C-Reactive Protein. *Ann Thorac Surg.* 2007;83:1332–1337.
- 10. Trayanova NA, Constantino J, Gurev V. Models of stretch-activated ventricular arrhythmias. J Electrocardiol. 2010;43:479–85.
- 11. Zabel M, Koller BS, Sachs F, Franz MR. Stretch-induced voltage changes in the isolated beating heart: importance of the timing of stretch and implications for stretch-activated ion channels. *Cardiovasc Res.* 1996;32:120–30.
- 12. Adameova A, Abdellatif Y, Dhalla NS. Role of the excessive amounts of circulating catecholamines and glucocorticoids in stress-induced heart disease. *Can J Physiol Pharmacol.* 2009;87:493–514.

- 13. Kolettis TM. Coronary artery disease and ventricular tachyarrhythmia: pathophysiology and treatment. *Curr Opin Pharmacol*. 2013;13:210–7.
- 14. Anselmi A, Possati G, Gaudino M. Postoperative inflammatory reaction and atrial fibrillation: simple correlation or causation? *Ann Thorac Surg.* 2009;88:326–33.
- de Groot N, Houben R, Smeets J, Boersma E, Schotten U, Schalij M, Crijns H, Allessie M. Electropathological Substrate of Longstanding Persistent Atrial Fibrillation in Patients With Structural Heart Disease: Epicardial Breakthrough. *Circulation*. 2010;122:1674–1683.
- Haïssaguerre M, Jaïs P, Shah DC, Takahashi A, Hocini M, Quiniou G, Garrigue S, Le Mouroux A, Le Métayer P, Clémenty J. Spontaneous Initiation of Atrial Fibrillation by Ectopic Beats Originating in the Pulmonary Veins. *http://dx.doi.org.prxy4.ursus.maine.edu/101056/NEJM199809033391003*. 1998;339:659–666.
- 17. Tapanainen JM, Jurkko R, Holmqvist F, Husser D, Kongstad O, Mäkijärvi M, Toivonen L, Platonov PG. Interatrial right-to-left conduction in patients with paroxysmal atrial fibrillation. *J Interv Card Electrophysiol*. 2009;25:117–22.
- 18. Lemery R, Birnie D, Tang ASL, Green M, Gollob M, Hendry M, Lau E. Normal atrial activation and voltage during sinus rhythm in the human heart: an endocardial and epicardial mapping study in patients with a history of atrial fibrillation. *J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol*. 2007;18:402–8.
- Sakamoto S, Yamauchi S, Yamashita H, Imura H, Maruyama Y, Ogasawara H, Hatori N, Shimizu K. Intra-operative mapping of the right atrial free wall during sinus rhythm: variety of activation patterns and incidence of postoperative atrial fibrillation. *Eur J Cardiothorac Surg.* 2006;30:132–9.
- 20. Boineau JP, Canavan TE, Schuessler RB, Cain ME, Corr PB, Cox JL. Demonstration of a widely distributed atrial pacemaker complex in the human heart. *Circulation*. 1988;77:1221–1237.
- 21. Boineau JP, Schuessler RB, Hackel DB, Miller CB, Brockus CW, Wylds a C. Widespread distribution and rate differentiation of the atrial pacemaker complex. *Am J Physiol*. 1980;239:H406-15.
- 22. Roberts-Thomson KC, Stevenson I, Kistler PM, Haqqani HM, Spence SJ, Goldblatt JC, Sanders P, Kalman JM. The role of chronic atrial stretch and atrial fibrillation on posterior left atrial wall conduction. *Heart Rhythm*. 2009;6:1109–1117.
- 23. Roberts-Thomson KC, Stevenson IH, Kistler PM, Haqqani HM, Goldblatt JC, Sanders P, Kalman JM. Anatomically Determined Functional Conduction Delay in the Posterior Left Atrium. Relationship to Structural Heart Disease. *J Am Coll Cardiol*. 2008;51:856–862.
- 24. Markides V, Schilling R, Ho S, Chow A, Wyn Davies D, Peters N. Characterization of Left Atrial Activation in the Intact Human Heart. *Circulation*. 2003;107:733–739.
- 25. David M. Harrild, Craig S. Hen. A Computer Model of Normal Conduction in the Human Atria. *Circ Res.* 2000;87:e25–e36.
- 26. Durrer D, Van Dam R, Freud G, Janse MJ, Meijler FL, Arzbaecher RC. Total Excitation of the Isolated Human Heart. *Circulation*. 1970;41:899–912.





APPENDICES

List of Publications PhD portfolio About the Author Dankwoord

LIST OF PUBLICATIONS

- Mouws EMJP*, Yaksh A*, Knops P, Kik C, Boersma E, Bogers AJJC, de Groot NMS. Early ventricular tachyarrhythmias after coronary artery bypass grafting surgery: is it a real burden? *Shared first authorship. *Journal of Cardiology. 2017 Sep;70(3):263-270*
- Mouws EMJP, de Groot NMS. Atrial tachyarrhythmia in congenital heart disease: beyond the suture lines. *Circulation: Arrhythmia and Electrophysiology. 2017 Sep;10(9). pii:e005697*
- 3. **Mouws EMJP**, Lanters EAH, Teuwen CP, van der Does LJME, Kik C, Knops P, Bekkers JA, Bogers AJJC, de Groot NMS. Epicardial breakthrough waves during sinus rhythm: depiction of the arrhythmogenic substrate? *Circulation: Arrhythmia and Electrophysiology. 2017 Sep;10(9). pii: e005145*
- Mouws EMJP, de Groot NMS, Bogers AJJC. Unrepaired tetralogy of Fallot in a 61 year old woman: a rare example of excellent natural palliation. *Chirurgia 2017 Dec; 30(6):247-50*
- 5. **Mouws EMJP**, Roos-Hesselink JW, Bogers AJJC, de Groot NMS. Coexistence of tachyarrhythmias in patients with tetralogy of Fallot. *Heart Rhythm. 2018 Apr;15(4):503-511*
- Ramdjan TTTK*, Mouws EMJP*, Teuwen CP, Sitorus GDS, Houck CA, Bogers AJJC, de Groot NMS. Progression of late postoperative atrial fibrillation in patients with tetralogy of Fallot. *Shared first authorship. *Journal of Cardiovascular Electrophysiology. 2018 Jan;29(1):30-37*
- Mouws EMJP, Lanters EAH, Teuwen CP, van der Does LJME, Kik C, Knops P, Bekkers JA, Bogers AJJC, de Groot NMS. Impact of ischemic and valvular heart disease on atrial excitation: a high-resolution epicardial mapping study. *Journal of the American Heart Association. 2018 Mar;7(6). pii:e008331.*
- 8. **Mouws EMJP**, Veen D, Teuwen CP, Ramdjan TTTK, Knops P, van Reeven M, Bogers AJJC, de Groot NMS. Coexistence of brady- and tachyarrhythmias in patients with congenital heart disease. Submitted

Ramdjan TTTK^{*}, **Mouws EMJP**^{*}, Kik C, Roos-Hesselink JW, Bogers AJJC, de Groot NMS. 9. Concomitant arrhythmia surgery in patients with congenital heart disease. *Shared first authorship

Interactive Cardiovascular and Thoracic Surgery. 2018, June.

- 10. Mouws EMJP, de Groot NMS, van de Woestijne PC, de Jong PL, Helbing WA, van Beynum IM, Bogers AJJC. Tetralogy of Fallot in the current era: a bright future ahead? Submitted
- 11. Mouws EMJP, van der Does LJME, Kik C, Lanters EAH, Teuwen CP, Knops P, Bogers AJJC, de Groot NMS. Impact of the arrhythmogenic potential of long lines of conduction slowing at the pulmonary vein area. Submitted
- 12. Mouws EMJP, Kik C, van der Does LJME, Lanters EAH, Teuwen CP, Knops P, Bogers AJJC, de Groot NMS. Novel insights in the activation patterns at the pulmonary vein area.

Submitted

- 13. Kik C, Mouws EMJP, Bogers AJJC, de Groot NMS. Intra-operative mapping of the atria: the first step towards individualization of atrial fibrillation therapy? Expert Review of Cardiovascular Therapy. 2017 Jul;15(7):537-545.
- 14. Teuwen CP, Kik C, van der Does LJME, Lanters EAH, Knops P, Mouws EMJP, Bogers AJJC, de Groot NMS. Quantification of the arrhythmogenic effects of spontaneous atrial extrasystole using high-resolution epicardial mapping. Circulation: Arrhythmia and Electrophysiology. 2018 Jan;11(1); pii: e005745
- 15. Lanters EAH, Yaksh A, Teuwen CP, Kik C, van der Does LJME, Mouws EMJP, Knops P, van Groningen NJ, Hokken T, Bogers AJJC, de Groot NMS. Intra-operative Inducibility of atrial fibrillation does not predict early post-operative atrial fibrillation. Journal of the American Heart Association. 2018 Mar 10;7(6). pii: e007879.
- 16. van der Does LJME, Lanters EAH, Teuwen CP, Mouws EMJP, Yaksh A, Knops P, Kik C, Bogers AJJC, de Groot NMS. The effects of valvular heart disease on atrial conduction during sinus rhythm. Submitted

410

- Teuwen CP, van der Does LJME, Kik C, Mouws EMJP, Lanters EAH, Knops P, Taverne YJHJ, Bogers AJJC, de Groot NMS. Conduction properties across Bachmann's bundle: impact of underlying heart disease and previous atrial fibrillation. Submitted
- van der Does LJME, Knops P, Teuwen CP, Serban C, Starreveld R, Lanters EAH, Mouws EMJP, Kik C, Bogers AJJC, de Groot NMS. Unipolar atrial electrogram morphology from an epicardial and endocardial perspective. *Heart Rhythm, 2018 Jun;15(6):879-887*

Book chapters

- 1. **Mouws EMJP**, de Groot NMS. Sudden cardiac death in patients with congenital heart disease. In: Vranic I, editor. Sudden cardiac death: predictors, prevalence and clinical perspectives. Nova Science Publishers; 2017. ISBN: 9781536119831
- Mouws EMJP, de Groot NMS, Tan R, Shah M. Atrial flutter in a repaired tetralogy of Fallot patient with unusual venous anatomy. In: Balaji S, Mandapati R, Webb G, editors. Arrhythmias in adult congenital heart disease – a case based approach. Elsevier; 2018 Sept. ISBN: 9780323485685

First Author Abstracts

- Mouws EMJP*, Yaksh A*, Knops P, Kik C, Boersma E, Bogers AJJC, de Groot NMS. Early ventricular tachyarrhythmias after coronary artery bypass grafting surgery: Is it a real burden? *Shared first authorship. Netherlands Heart Journal, October 2014 (22) supplement
- Mouws EMJP*, Yaksh A*, Knops P, Kik C, Boersma E, Bogers AJJC, de Groot NMS. Early ventricular tachyarrhythmias after coronary artery bypass grafting surgery: Is it a real burden? *Shared first authorship. *J Interv Card Electrophysiol (2015)42:173, 14-6 abstract 17-12 doi:10.1007/s10840-015-9975-6*
- 3. Mouws EMJP*, Yaksh A*, Knops P, Kik C, Boersma E, Bogers AJJC, de Groot NMS. Early ventricular tachyarrhythmias after coronary artery bypass grafting surgery: Is it a real burden? *Shared first authorship. Europace 2015; 17 (suppl_3): iii181-iii204, abstract P1405 doi: 10.1093/europace/euv177

abstract 01

4. Mouws EMJP*, Yaksh A*, Knops P, Kik C, Boersma E, Bogers AJJC, de Groot NMS. Early ventricular tachyarrhythmias after coronary artery bypass grafting surgery: Is it a real burden? *Shared first authorship. JAFIB, Oct 2015, special issue, subject ventricular arrhythmias, sudden death and icd,

5. Mouws EMJP, Lanters EAH, Teuwen CP, van der Does LJME, Kik C, Knops P, Bekkers JA, Bogers AJJC, de Groot NMS. Impact of ischemic and valvular heart disease on atrial excitation: a high-resolution epicardial mapping study. *Heart Rhythm 2016; 13 (55):S196-S197(abstr), abstract PO02-80 doi: 10.1016/j.hrthm.2016.03.028*

- 6. Mouws EMJP, Lanters EAH, Teuwen CP, van der Does LJME, Kik C, Knops P, Bekkers JA, Bogers AJJC, de Groot NMS. Impact of ischemic and valvular heart disease on atrial excitation: a high-resolution epicardial mapping study. Eur Heart J (2016) 37 (suppl_1): 599-983,abstract P4475 doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehw433
- 7. Mouws EMJP, Lanters EAH, Teuwen CP, van der Does LJME, Kik C, Knops P, Bekkers JA, Bogers AJJC, de Groot NMS. Impact of ischemic and valvular heart disease on atrial excitation: a high-resolution epicardial mapping study. Netherlands Heart Journal, November 2016 (25) supplement 2 ISSN: 1569-643X
- 8. Mouws EMJP, Lanters EAH, Teuwen CP, van der Does LJME, Kik C, Knops P, Bekkers JA, Bogers AJJC, de Groot NMS. Impact of ischemic and valvular heart disease on atrial excitation: a high-resolution epicardial mapping study. J Interv Card Electrophysiol (2017) 48(Suppl 1): 1, 12-4 abstract 01-12 doi:10.1007/s10840-017-0231-0
- 9. Mouws EMJP, Lanters EAH, Teuwen CP, van der Does LJME, Kik C, Knops P, Bekkers JA, Bogers AJJC, de Groot NMS. Impact of ischemic and valvular heart disease on atrial excitation: a high-resolution epicardial mapping study. Europace 19(suppl_3):iii158-iii158, June 2017, abstract P852 doi: 10.1093/ehjci/eux151.034

- 10. Mouws EMJP, Lanters EAH, Teuwen CP, van der Does LJME, Kik C, Knops P, Bekkers JA, Bogers AJJC, de Groot NMS. Impact of ischemic and valvular heart disease on atrial excitation: a high-resolution epicardial mapping study. EP Europace, Volume 20, Issue suppl_1, 1 March 2018, Pages i191, abstract 1004 doi: 10.1093/europace/euy015.553
- 11. Mouws EMJP, Lanters EAH, Teuwen CP, van der Does LJME, Kik C, Knops P, Bekkers JA, Bogers AJJC, de Groot NMS. Epicardial breakthrough waves during sinus rhythm: depiction of the arrhythmogenic substrate? Heart Rhythm 2017; 14 (55): pS303 (abstr), abstract PO03-162 doi: 10.1016/j.hrtrhm.2017.04.007
- 12. Mouws EMJP, Lanters EAH, Teuwen CP, van der Does LJME, Kik C, Knops P, Bekkers JA, Bogers AJJC, de Groot NMS. Epicardial breakthrough waves during sinus rhythm: depiction of the arrhythmogenic substrate? Europace 19(suppl_3):iii158-iii159, June 2017, abstract P853 doi: 10.1093/ehjci/eux151.035
- 13. Mouws EMJP, Lanters EAH, Teuwen CP, van der Does LJME, Kik C, Knops P, Bekkers JA, Bogers AJJC, de Groot NMS. Epicardial breakthrough waves during sinus rhythm: depiction of the arrhythmogenic substrate? European Heart Journal, 2017; 38(1)supplement, abstract O975 doi: 10.1093/eurhearti/ehx502.975
- 14. Mouws EMJP, Veen D, Teuwen CP, Ramdjan TTTK, Knops P, van Reeven M, Bogers AJJC, de Groot NMS. Coexistence of brady- and tachyarrhythmias in patients with congenital heart disease. J Interv Card Electrophysiol (2017) 48(Suppl 1): 1, 18-11 abstract 01-13 doi:10.1007/s10840-017-0231-0
- 15. Mouws EMJP, Veen D, Teuwen CP, Ramdjan TTTK, Knops P, van Reeven M, Bogers AJJC, de Groot NMS. Coexistence of brady- and tachyarrhythmias in patients with congenital heart disease. Europace 19(suppl_3):iii104-iii105, June 2017, abstract P467 doi: 10.1093/ehjci/eux141.190

16. Mouws EMJP, Veen D, Teuwen CP, Ramdjan TTTK, Knops P, van Reeven M, Bogers AJJC, de Groot NMS. Coexistence of brady- and tachyarrhythmias in patients with congenital heart disease. European Heart Journal, 2017; 38(1)supplement, abstract P743

doi:10.1093/eurheartj/ehx501.P743

- 17. Mouws EMJP, Veen D, Teuwen CP, Ramdjan TTTK, Knops P, van Reeven M, Bogers AJJC, de Groot NMS. Coexistence of brady- and tachyarrhythmias in patients with congenital heart disease. EP Europace, Volume 20, Issue suppl_1, 1 March 2018, Pages i134, abstract P770 doi: 10.1093/europace/euy015.374
- Mouws EMJP, Roos-Hesselink JW, Bogers AJJC, de Groot NMS. Coexistence of tachyarrhythmias in patients with tetralogy of Fallot. Europace 19(suppl_3):iii257-iii257, June 2017, abstract Oral-1304 doi: 10.1093/ehjci/eux155.005
- Mouws EMJP, Roos-Hesselink JW, Bogers AJJC, de Groot NMS. Coexistence of tachyarrhythmias in patients with tetralogy of Fallot. EP Europace, Volume 20, Issue suppl_1, 1 March 2018, Pages i132, abstract P765 doi: 10.1093/europace/euy015.369
- 20. Ramdjan TTTK*, Mouws EMJP*, Kik C, Roos-Hesselink JW, Bogers AJJC, de Groot NMS. Concomitant arrhythmia surgery in patients with congenital heart disease. EP Europace, Volume 20, Issue suppl_1, 1 March 2018, Pages i132–i133, abstract P767 doi: 10.1093/europace/euy015.371
- 21. Mouws EMJP, de Groot NMS, Bogers, AJJC. Longterm results of the transatrialtranspulmonary approach: are we doing better? *Journal of Cardiothoracic Surgery 2017, 12(Suppl 1):111; abstract O39 doi: 10.1186/s13019-017-0662-9*

PHD PORTFOLIO

Summary of PhD training and teaching activities

Name PhD student:	Elisabeth M.J.P. Mouws
Erasmus MC Department:	Cardiothoracic Surgery
Research School:	Cardiovascular Research School (COEUR)
PhD period:	2013-2018
Title thesis:	Unraveling Arrhythmogenesis in Cardiac Surgery
Promotors:	prof. dr. A.J.J.C. Bogers, dr. N.M.S. de Groot
Supervisors:	prof. dr. A.J.J.C. Bogers, dr. N.M.S. de Groot

1. PhD training

		Workload
	Year	(ECTS)
General academic skills		
Research Integrity	2016	0.3
Basiscursus Regelgeving en Organisatie voor Klinisch Onderzoekers	2016	1.5
Research skills		
Statistics and Research Methodology	2013	4.0
In-depth courses (e.g. Research school, Medical Training)		
Arrhythmia Research Methodology: Solving the Mysteries of Atrial Fibrillation:		
From Basic Science to Clinical Practice	2016	1.5
Heart Failure Research	2016	1.5
Cardiovascular Imaging and Diagnostics Part I	2017	0.5
Congenital Heart Disease Part I	2017	0.5
Presentations and International conferences		
The Netherlands Society of Cardiology, Fall congress, Papendal, The Netherlands 1 Oral presentation Best presentation prize in category cardiac surgery.	2014	1.3
European Cardiac Arrhythmia Society, Paris, France	2015	2.5
2 Chaired poster presentations		
Cardiostim 2015, Milan, Italy 1 Poster presentation	2015	1.9
Venice Arrhythmia, Venice, Italy 1 Chaired poster presentation	2015	1.9

20

Heart Rhythm Society, San Fransisco, U.S.A 1 Poster presentation	2016	1
European Society of Cardiology, Rome, Italy 4 Poster presentations	2016	3
The Netherlands Society of Cardiology, Fall congress, Papendal, The Netherlands 1 Oral presentation	2016	1.3
European Cardiac Arrhythmia Society, Rome, Italy 1 Oral presentation 1 Chaired poster presentation	2017	1.9
Heart Rhythm Society, Chicago, U.S.A 3 Poster presentations	2017	2.5
Cardiostim 2017, Vienna, Austria 1 Oral presentation 3 Poster presentations	2017	5.2
European Society of Cardiology, Barcelona, Spain 1 Oral presentation 1 Poster presentation	2017	3.5
European Heart Rhythm Association, Barcelona, Spain 1 Moderated poster presentation 3 Poster presentations Acknowledgement in Congress Highlights Session Awarded EHRA Travel Grant	2018	3.0
Attended Symposia, Seminars and Workshops		
Personalized Medicine Symposium	2015	0.2
Costs, Quality and Value in Cardiovascular Interventions: Implications for Clinical Decision-making and Policy Development Symposium	2015	0.2
Touch of the Future seminar on Medical Failures, Serious Gaming and ICT-tools in Medicine Symposium	2015	0.2
Research Misconduct and Publishing Ethics Symposium	2015	0.2
Innovation in the Medical World Symposium	2015	0.2
Career Choices and Time Management Workshop	2015	0.3
Seminar Discoveries in Atrial Fibrillation Pathophysiology: Implications for AF therapy	2017	0.4
Medical Business Masterclass 2017	2017	2.0
Getting Better Symposium	2017	0.2
Symposium Rotterdamse Oncologische Thoracale Studiegroep (ROTS); 8º review – doelgerichte therapie	2017	0.5
Educational Meetings department of Cardiothoracic Surgery	2016-2018	1.0
Educational Meetings department of Cardiology	2016-2017	5.1
Workteam Meetings	2017	0.6

Other Courses		
ABCDE-course	2017	1.0
Basic Life Support, Advanced Life Support	2017	1.0
Pediatric Life Support	2017	0.5
Fundamental Critical Care Support	2017	1.0

2. Teaching activities

		Workload	
	Year	(ECTS)	
Lecturing			
Education Meetings Department of Cardiothoracic Surgery	2017	1.5	
Research Meetings Translational Electrophysiology	2015-2017	1.5	
Supervision of students			
Supervising Master Thesis	2016	0.6	
Supervising Medical Students	2016-2017	1.0	

TOTAL

58.0

20

ABOUT THE AUTHOR

Elisabeth M.J.P. Mouws was born in Bergen op Zoom, the Netherlands, on December 16th, 1990. She completed secondary school (Gymnasium) at RSG 't Rijks in 2009 in the curriculum Nature & Health, after which she started her Pharmacy study at the University of Utrecht. The next year, she was admitted to the Erasmus University Rotterdam to start her Medical study, while continuing her Pharmacy study as well. In her first year of Medicine, she was selected to participate in the Honours Program of Medicine of 2011, an extracurricular program for ambitious and talented students focusing on crucial topics at the intersection of healthcare, science and society. Concomitantly, she participated in clinical research on polypharmacy and analgesics among postoperative head and neck cancer patients, resulting in her bachelor thesis in Pharmacy. During her bachelor studies, her interest in scientific research had expanded. In July 2012 she obtained her Bachelor of Science degree in Pharmacy in de specialization Drug Research and Development and in 2013 she obtained her Bachelor of Science in Medicine. When starting her Master of Science in Medicine, she concomitantly started her PhD-study, resulting in this thesis. Throughout her Bachelor and Master studies, she was active in various (clinical) student-teams. In May 2016 she graduated as a medical doctor. After working as a full-time PhD-candidate for little over a year, she started as a resident at the Department of Cardiothoracic Surgery at the Erasmus Medical Center, Rotterdam.

OVER DE AUTEUR

Elisabeth M.J.P. Mouws werd geboren in Bergen op Zoom, Nederland, op 16 december 1990. Ze voltooide de middelbare school (Gymnasium) aan RSG 't Rijks in 2009 in het profiel Natuur & Gezondheid, waarna ze haar studie Farmacie begon aan de Universiteit van Utrecht. Het jaar daarop werd ze toegelaten tot de Erasmus Universiteit Rotterdam om haar studie Geneeskunde te starten, waarnaast ze ook haar studie farmacie voortzette. In haar eerste jaar geneeskunde werd ze geselecteerd om deel te nemen aan het Honours Program of Medicine van 2011, een extra-curriculair programma voor ambitieuze en getalenteerde studenten gericht op cruciale onderwerpen op het snijvlak van gezondheidszorg, wetenschap en samenleving. Tegelijkertijd nam zij deel aan klinisch onderzoek naar polyfarmacie en analgetica bij hoofd- en hals- kankerpatiënten, wat resulteerde in haar bachelor scriptie voor Farmacie. Tijdens haar bachelor studies nam haar interesse in het wetenschappelijk onderzoek toe. In juli 2012 behaalde ze haar Bachelor of Science in Farmacie in de specialisatie Drug Research and Development en in 2013 behaalde ze haar Bachelor of Science in Geneeskunde. Tegelijk met het starten van haar Master of Science in Geneeskunde, begon ze ook met haar PhD-traject resulterend in dit proefschrift. Gedurende Chapter 20

haar Bachelor en Master studies was zij actief in verschillende (klinische) studententeams. In mei 2016 behaalde zij haar artsdiploma. Na ruim een jaar als fulltime promovenda te hebben gewerkt, is zij als arts bij de afdeling Cardiothoracale Chirurgie van het Erasmus Medisch Centrum in Rotterdam gaan werken.

DANKWOORD

Een paar honderd pagina's later ben ik inmiddels toegekomen aan het schrijven van het dankwoord; de laatste pagina's van het boekje die de mogelijkheid geven om diegenen te bedanken die me deze kans hebben gegeven, met wie ik de afgelopen jaren heb mogen samenwerken, die me af en toe van het onderzoeks- en werkleven weg moesten trekken en bovenal die mijn promotietijd tot een onvergetelijk geheel hebben gemaakt.

Allereerst wil ik **prof. dr. Bogers** bedanken. Ik had net mijn Bachelor-diploma op zak toen ik bij u aanklopte met de vraag naar onderzoeks- en PhD mogelijkheden binnen de Thoraxchirurgie. Bedankt voor het vertrouwen om mij een PhD-traject aan te bieden. De afgelopen jaren was u altijd bereid tot overleg en toegestuurde artikelen werden zorgvuldig van feedback voorzien. U wist altijd vanuit een andere invalshoek naar de artikelen te kijken en secuur de puntjes op de 'i' aan te geven. Uw vertrouwen en begeleiding hebben veel voor me betekend en ik kan oprecht zeggen dat uw leiderschap vol rust en weloverwogenheid een voorbeeld voor me zijn.

Natuurlijk had mijn proefschrift nooit tot stand kunnen komen zonder de geweldige begeleiding van **prof. dr. de Groot**. Beste Natasja, we kennen elkaar inmiddels al heel wat jaren en de samenwerking met en begeleiding van jou heb ik altijd als zeer prettig ervaren. Jij weet leiden en begeleiden als geen ander te combineren met een goede sociale band. Jouw begeleiding heeft zeker bijgedragen aan mijn wetenschappelijke en persoonlijke ontwikkeling. Het voornemen om successen te vieren - met sushi, kleding of schoenen -, zal ik ook zeker behouden. Ik had me van tevoren niet kunnen inbeelden dat ik met mijn baas, gedurende de pauze van een congres, in een 360 graden rond 3 assen draaiende attractie zou zitten; waar jij overigens toch veel beter tegen kon dan ik. Of uitgebreid in een hotelkamer discussiëren over de invalshoek van een artikel, om vervolgens midden in de nacht een eureka moment te hebben en uit bed te springen om de zojuist bedachte hypothese neer te pennen. Ik denk met veel plezier terug aan de afgelopen jaren en hoewel het hoofdstuk 'promoveren' straks afgesloten is, zal het boek 'research' zeker nog niet uitgeschreven zijn.

Daarnaast wil ik **prof. dr. F. Zijlstra**, **prof. dr. J.W. Roos**, **dr. J.A. Bekkers**, **prof. dr. R.J.M. Klautz**, **prof. dr. B.J.J.M Brundel**, **prof. dr. J.G. Maessen** en **prof. dr. ing. H. Boersma** hartelijk danken voor het zitting nemen in de Kleine en Grote Commissies.

Chapter 20

Prof. dr. ing. Boersma, hartelijk dank voor uw heldere uitleg over statistische methoden de afgelopen jaren. **Prof. dr. Roos**, bedankt voor de fijne samenwerking en uitgebreide feedback op artikelen de afgelopen jaren.

Naast de fantastische begeleiding van mijn beide promotoren hebben vele chirurgen bijgedragen aan de intra-operatieve mapping studies. In het bijzonder wil ik **Charles Kik** bedanken; sinds het begin van de mapping studies heb jij de projecten ondersteund, waarbij je vaak met nieuwe suggesties en mogelijkheden kwam. Ik wil je hartelijk bedanken voor de fijne samenwerking en de zorgvuldige feedback op alle artikelen de afgelopen jaren.

Natuurlijk wil ik alle andere mappende chirurgen, te weten **Jos Bekkers**, **Frans Oei**, **Pieter van de Woestijne**, **Wouter van Leeuwen**, **Yannick Taverne**, **Rob van der Pijl**, **Edris Mahtab**, **Margreet Bekker** en **Frank van Schaagen** ook hartelijk danken voor het laagdrempelig contact en de goede samenwerking de afgelopen jaren. Jullie bijdrage aan de mapping studies is onmisbaar en wordt zeer gewaardeerd.

Daarnaast wil ik van deze gelegenheid gebruik maken om de **anesthesisten**, **perfusionisten** en **OK-assistenten** te bedanken voor hun bijdrage. Hoewel de mapping studies soms een beroep doen op jullie geduld, hebben wij veel waardering voor jullie medewerking en flexibiliteit door de jaren heen. Ook jullie zijn een belangrijke schakel in dit geheel.

Bij een promotie-traject zijn er op de achtergrond verschillende onmisbare collega's die ervoor zorgen dat alles vlekkeloos verloopt, agenda's op elkaar afgestemd worden, coeur cursussen gevolgd kunnen worden en de ECTS-punten geregistreerd worden: **Annette Damhuis, Wilma Verhoek, Thea Sigmond, Tine de Winter** en **Erna Egelie** bedankt voor de fijne samenwerking.

Het leven op het EFO-research 'lab' gaat kortgezegd gepaard met het uitgebreid vieren van ieders verjaardag, het houden van een paaslunch, een sinterklaas-kerstfeest inclusief lootjes trekken en surprises, en het aanleren van de Nederlandse taal aan de buitenlandse PhD's. Het aanleren van de Nederlandse werktijden is nog een puntje van aandacht, but we're getting there. Tevens zijn regelmatige vrijdagmiddag borrels en sushi-uitjes van groot belang om het werkethos hoog te houden. Toen ik als master student begon op het 'EFO-lab', voelde ik me dan ook al snel thuis bij dit bruisende, gezellige groepje ambitieuze vakfanaten.

In het bijzonder wil ik **Agnes Muskens** bedanken. Agnes, de afgelopen jaren ben jij een belangrijke spil in het onderzoek geweest. Van communicatie met patiënten en het opvragen van klinische data tot het klaarmaken van sample zakjes voor de poli en wat al niet meer. Bedankt voor de geweldige samenwerking!

Dan de collega promovendi; laat ik beginnen met **Ameeta Yaksh**. Beste Ameeta, inmiddels dr. Yaksh, toen ik als student binnenkwam om mijn PhD-traject te starten, was jij degene die me de kneepjes van de telemetrie aanleerde. Hier had je een duidelijke methode voor: gewoon blijven kijken totdat je dubbelziet, dan kun je even naar de koffie automaat lopen, om daarna weer verder te gaan. De outsiders die dit lezen zullen ons wel voor gek verklaren, maar de insiders van ons hebben de telemetrie fase allemaal doorlopen en overleefd. Met jouw telemetrie begeleiding schreef ik mijn eerste artikel, wat nu het eerste hoofdstuk van dit proefschrift vormt. Ik wil je bedanken voor de samenwerking tijdens het tot stand komen van mijn proefschrift. Je hebt het niet altijd gemakkelijk gehad, maar je hebt je doel bereikt en ik wens je veel succes in je verdere carrière als cardioloog.

Bij het starten van mijn PhD-traject was het EFO-lab eigenlijk vooral een vrouwenhok. Echter, ergens in het hoekje zat nog een jongeman die op afstand 'de harem' in het gareel hield: **Christophe Teuwen**. Chris, naast dat we de afgelopen jaren veel gelachen hebben, heb ik ook erg veel gehad aan jouw waardevolle feedback op de artikelen. Tussendoor onderling overleg over statistische methoden of interpretatie van de mapping data was nooit teveel gevraagd, natuurlijk afgewisseld met een Rundfunk filmpje of wat deuntjes van merkwaardige bandjes op zijn tijd (-ik zal de songteksten hier maar niet citeren). Inmiddels heb je een mooie beurs binnengesleept en is jouw boekje ook zo goed als rond. Ik wens je veel succes in je toekomstige carrière!

Gelukkig kon Christophe zich wel gesteund voelen door de aanwezigheid van **Paul Knops**, onze technicus en tevens promovendus. Paul, jij weet voor ieder praktisch probleem wel een oplossing te bouwen. 'Lastig om steeds de stekkertjes in en uit de mapping-kast te halen? Dan maak ik toch een schakelaar'. Jouw technische kennis is zonder meer een aanwinst voor de groep. Het afgelopen jaar ben je tevens bezig geweest met het verruimen van je statistische kennis, wat af en toe tot grappige situaties heeft geleid; ik kan de p-value nu in heel ander perspectief zien. Maar alle gekheid op een stokje, bovenal vind ik het mooi hoe jij je gezin altijd op nummer 1 weet te plaatsen en ben je eigenlijk ook een beetje de vaderfiguur van de mapping-groep. Bedankt voor de fijne samenwerking en veel succes met het schrijven van je boekje.

De oude garde van het EFO-lab bestond daarnaast ook uit **Eva Lanters**. Eva, jij weet als geen ander hoe je ingewikkelde materie helder uit kunt leggen. Hoe kan het ook anders wanneer je beide ouders leraar zijn. Ook jou wil ik bedanken voor de fijne samenwerking en waardevolle feedback op alle artikelen. Als een doorgewinterde taalnazi speur jij door artikelen en voorzie jij ze van gedetailleerde feedback. Maar natuurlijk bedank ik je ook voor alle momenten van lachen, gieren en brullen op het lab, én voor de uitleg hoe het slot van het EFO-lab werkt toen ik mezelf had opgesloten. Inmiddels ben je als AIOS cardiologie aan het werk, ben je daarnaast je thesis aan het afronden en is er ook nog een kindje op komst; een drukke periode die jij als geen ander aankunt. Veel plezier en succes de komende tijd; we zien elkaar vast en zeker nog op toekomstige EFO-lab reünietjes met bijbehorende versnaperingen.

lets later werd de groep uitgebreid met **Lisette van der Does**. Door de jaren heen heb ik je steeds beter leren kennen. Verschillende congressen hebben we samen bezocht, waarin er ook tijd ingecalculeerd werd om nieuwe panty's aan te schaffen. Hoe andere vrouwen dat doen, is ons een raadsel; welgeteld 2 uur na het aantrekken van deze ondingen zitten er dan ook al meerdere ladders en gaten in. Dan maar door de stromende regen in Rome op zoek naar een winkel die panty's verkoopt, om nog enigszins netjes op congres te kunnen verschijnen. Ook de samenwerking met jou heb ik erg op prijs gesteld, jouw feedback en ruggespraak worden erg gewaardeerd. Ik wens je veel succes in je toekomstige carrière!

Een van de andere studenten die al bezig was met onderzoek tijdens de studie was **Charlotte Houck**. Charlotte, jouw oneindige liefde voor eten is ongeëvenaard. Zelden heb ik iemand zoveel zien eten en toch nog slank zien blijven. De sushi lab-uitjes zijn voor jouw geen enkel probleem en voor een zakje snoep draai jij je hand niet om. Maar naast je schrans-talent en de grappen en grollen op het lab, heb je ook een enorm talent voor onderzoek. Na al heel wat jaren als student met onderzoek bezig te zijn, ben je na je afstuderen in 2017 ook als fulltime PhD begonnen. Ik heb genoten van de samenwerking en heb veel gehad aan je feedback en overleg over data. Uiteindelijk wil je kindercardioloog worden; ik wens je veel succes met het bereiken van je doelen in je toekomstige carrière.

En dan was er nog een zeer ambitieuze pacemaker technicus die wilde gaan promoveren; **Danny Veen.** Danny, ik heb onwijs met je gelachen het afgelopen jaar. Je bent een harde werker met een goed gevoel voor humor, met die combinatie kom je er wel. Inmiddels werk je bij de industrie en ben je, wanneer je niet bij ons op het lab zit, vaak in exotische oorden te vinden. Ook jou wens ik veel succes met het schrijven je thesis en het bereiken van je toekomstige doelen. In 2017 werd onze groep uitgebreid met **Eliene Starreveld** en **Corina Serban**. Opnieuw 2 ambitieuze dames met een verschillende achtergrond. Eliene, als technisch geneeskundige houdt je je vooral bezig met de technische aspecten van signaal analyse. Een ingewikkelde klus die jij als geen ander kunt klaren. Ook jou wil ik bedanken voor de ruggespraak over artikelen en de gezelligheid op het lab.

Corina, you are by far the most ambitious veterinarian I have ever met and the person with the biggest sweet-tooth I have ever known. I will never forget the moment you broke your tooth on Redbands magical partymix. I hope that after obtaining your PhD, you will fulfill your dream in becoming an electrophysiologist for animals.

Door de jaren heen heeft de onderzoeks-groep ook verschillende internationale collega's gekend; **Ahmed Ragab**, **John Arinze** and **Gustav Sitorus**, I wish you the best of luck in completing your research and achieving all your goals for the future.

Last but not least, **Tanwier Ramdjan**. Toen ik begon op het EFO-lab ging jij net weg en hebben we om die reden weinig samengewerkt. Enkele jaren later kwam je terug om de laatste onderdelen van je boekje af te ronden en te promoveren, een zenuwslopende periode die je goed hebt doorstaan. Ik wil je bedanken voor de samenwerking en wens je veel succes in je toekomstige carrière.

Inmiddels is de PhD-groep uitgebreid met **Lianne van Staveren, Annejet Heida, Willemijn van der Does en Rohit Kharbanda**; ik wens jullie allen veel plezier en succes de komende jaren!

Naast de directe PhD-collega's, wil ik alle medeauteurs bedanken voor hun onmisbare bijdrage en waardevolle feedback op artikelen. Tevens hebben door de jaren heen veel HBO en WO studenten een bijdrage geleverd aan verschillende projecten binnen de researchgroep, waarvoor onze dank.

Een van de, misschien wel belangrijkste, recente collega's heb ik nog niet benoemd: Jacques de Hooge, onze software-engineer. Sinds 2017 ben je betrokken bij onze groep en wist je binnen no-time een fantastisch werkend programma te ontwikkelen. Wij, de promovendi, durfden het nog bijna niet te geloven toen verteld werd dat er een nieuwe software gebouwd zou worden, maar het bleek echt waar. Bedankt voor de samenwerking!

Tot slot wil ik van deze gelegenheid gebruik maken om alle familie en vrienden te bedanken voor de interesse rondom het onderzoek, maar ook vooral voor alle niet-werk gerelateerde momenten de afgelopen jaren. Zonder anderen tekort te doen, wil ik een aantal mensen in het bijzonder benoemen. Lieve **Pa** en **Ma**, jullie hebben mij altijd gesteund en geholpen waar jullie konden, tijdens mijn studie en daarna. Van het sjouwen van wasmachines over de trap naar de 4^e verdieping tot het uithalen van ramen omdat het bankstel niet door het trappengat past. Jullie hebben altijd achter mijn beslissingen gestaan, en deze waar nodig - subtiel of niet zo subtielbijgestuurd. Mijn promotietraject was vaak een abracadabra verhaal voor jullie, maar dat maakte jullie niet minder trots. Bedankt voor jullie hulp, steun en liefde.

Lieve **Patty**, grote zus, hoewel we niet zo vaak tegelijk in Halsteren zijn, is het altijd leuk je weer te zien en te horen. Na ruim 10 jaar samen te zijn met **Matthew** zijn jullie vorig jaar getrouwd en had ik de eer jullie getuige en ceremoniemeester te zijn. Jullie zagen er prachtig uit! Ik ben erg blij dat jij op deze bijzondere - en vooral stressvolle - dag mij als paranimf bij wilt staan!

Lieve **Ajla**, allereerst wil ik jou bedanken voor je vriendschap, humor en nuchterheid, gemixt met een vleugje dramatiek op z'n tijd. Ik weet nog goed dat we elkaar op de eerste schooldag van de 2^e klas van het vwo in de aula leerden kennen, nu zo'n 15 jaar geleden, waarna al snel een hechte vriendschap is ontstaan. Na het VWO gingen we beiden in een andere stad studeren; jij begon in Rotterdam en ik in Utrecht. Toch raakten we onze vriendschap niet uit het oog. Na een aantal jaren studeren terwijl we beiden nog thuis woonden, besloten we dat het ondertussen wel tijd werd om op kamers te gaan. Maar dan niet in een smerig studentenhuis. Zo gezegd zo gedaan. Na een aantal maanden zoeken, vonden we een appartement op de ideale locatie en de verhuizing kon beginnen. Ruim 4 jaar hebben we samen in het appartement gewoond en ik kan je eerlijk zeggen dat ik niemand anders als huisgenootje had gewild. In 15 jaar vriendschap hebben we veel met elkaar meegemaakt, gelachen, gehuild, gefeest en gedeeld. Inmiddels zijn we afgestudeerd, werkend en in een nieuwe fase van ons leven. Hoewel we beide drukke agenda's hebben, maken we nog steeds tijd vrij om elkaar bij te praten en een drankje te doen. Ik kijk uit naar komende 15 en nog veel meer jaren van vriendschap!

Lieve **Bianca**, we leerden elkaar in het 2^e bachelor jaar kennen via het protocollen-team van de kinderoncologie en zijn sindsdien goede vriendinnen. We hebben de afgelopen jaren veel gelachen en meegemaakt samen. Even napraten over een casus, samen eten of toch nog even de stad in. Vlak voor ik ging ANIOS'en was weer zo'n moment dat we écht even weg moesten; 3 weken later zaten we in het vliegtuig naar Kos. Een weekje zon, zee, strand, cocktailtjes en toch ook nog een beetje cultuur konden we allebei wel gebruiken. Het was een topweek! De afgelopen jaren gingen we geregeld na een lange studie-, coschap- of inmiddels werkdag nog een drankje doen of stappen, of het nu in Rotterdam was of in

Breda. Bij deze ook nog een bedankje aan je ouders voor het feit dat er altijd een slaapplekje in Breda te vinden was. Natuurlijk wil ik de rest van de stap- en festivalmaatjes ook bedanken voor alle leuke momenten tot in de late uurtjes; op nog vele toekomstige feestjes!

Tot slot de **Chimi's** van de Thoraxchirurgie; vanaf de eerste weken op de CTC was de toon gezet. Op nog vele eetavondjes en borrels in de toekomst!

Financial support for the publication of this thesis was generously provided by:

Erasmus Universiteit Rotterdam Erasmus Medisch Centrum Rotterdam Afdeling Thoraxchirurgie, Erasmus Medisch Centrum Rotterdam Afdeling Cardiologie, Erasmus Medisch Centrum Rotterdam Abbott B.V. Chipsoft Erbe Nederland B.V. Daiichi Sankyo Nederland B.V. Krijnen Medical Innovations B.V Mediq Medeco Netherlands Nederlandse Hartstichting Boehringer Ingelheim B.V.